

Identification of new genes involved in hereditary steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome using next generation sequencing and in vivo functional characterization in drosophila melanogaster

Sara De Almeida Gonçalves

▶ To cite this version:

Sara De Almeida Gonçalves. Identification of new genes involved in hereditary steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome using next generation sequencing and in vivo functional characterization in drosophila melanogaster. Urology and Nephrology. Université Sorbonne Paris Cité, 2017. English. NNT: 2017USPCB030. tel-02180575

HAL Id: tel-02180575 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02180575v1

Submitted on 11 Jul 2019

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Doctoral Thesis of

PARIS DESCARTES University

Doctoral School of Bio Sorbonne Paris Cité

Sara DE ALMEIDA GONÇALVES

A dissertation submitted in accordance with the requirements for the award of the degree of PhD in Science

Identification of new genes involved in hereditary steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome using next generation sequencing and *in vivo* functional characterization in *Drosophila melanogaster*

Defense date - 28th September, 2017

Jury panel

Pr. Alain FISCHER Dr. Clément CARRÉ Pr. Nine KNOERS Pr. Moin SALEEM Pr. Corinne ANTIGNAC

To my father

Acknowledgements

Acknowledgements

At the end of this important chapter of my life I would like to acknowledge all the people who have, directly and/or indirectly, allowed me to grow in this passionate and always partially mysterious world of science.

First and foremost I would like to thank my mentor Corinne Antignac. Thank you for guiding me through the world of genetics, methods of research, in developing my passion for science and for all the exciting discussions. Thank you for always being there, for demanding a lot but only because you cared. Thank you for your patience and your kindness with me. Thank you for your example of strength, perseverance and passion, even when obstacles come. Thank you for your kind attitude in difficult or joyful moments of my personal life. These are things that I will always be grateful of, much more so than I can express.

To Matias Simons, thank you for accepting me into your lab whilst you were still in Freiburg, where I first met the fruit fly under a stereomicroscope. Thanks for introducing me to the world of *Drosophila* and for guiding me in the *Drosophila* experiments. Thanks for all the exciting lab meetings and also for your help in the conclusion and writing of the *ADD3* and *KAT2B* paper.

To the reviewers of my thesis, Clément Carré and Nine Knoers, as well as to the other members of the jury, Alain Fischer and Moin Saleem, who have agreed to evaluate my work.

To Julie Patat, who helped me in my experiments and was brave enough to sequence the *KAT2B* gene in 73 patients and to start dangerous and new experimental procedures such as the heat-fixation (I hope you will go ahead with your patent!).

To Noëlle Lachaussée, the M2 student who worked with me in the initial phases of the *ADD3* and *KAT2B* project. Thanks for your enthusiasm, speed and energy.

To Christelle Arrondel, with whom I learned the ABC of experimental techniques at the bench! Thank you for all of your teaching and patience. To the remaining podocyte team, both present and past members: Géraldine Mollet (for your scientific advice and joyful character), Olivier Gribouval (for all your help in and outside the lab), Evelyne Huynh Cong (the queen of podocytes in culture, for all the help with protocols and experiments), Olivia Boyer (for your encouragement and help with patient data), Guillaume Dorval (the Zebrafish competitor... Drosophila is better!), Maria Serrano (now even closer to me), Laurine Buscara, Frances Tilley (you know I do not want to kill you, don't you?) and Giulia Menara. To Kalman Tory and his endless good humor! May all of your work reveal more and more of this octopus cell! To Daniel Pouly from the cystinosis team, for his "Audi stylé", nanotubes, "né-front" and other amazing "Carambar-like" jokes).

To Fred Bernard and Maria Rujano, the top Drosophilists that guided me in the passionate world of *Drosophila*. To the rest of the Simons team, including those who have already left, Simon Gerber (hope to see you soon again), Clara Guida (who still worked with me on the other side of the Atlantic, breaking the hearts of adult flies), Virginie Hauser and Zvoni Marelja (now you are the only one to keep the good old humor in the lab!!!) ...and to the more recent members of the lab: Valentina

Marchesin and Magda Cannata Serio (the Italian team) Mathilda Bedin, Gwenn Le Meur, Laure Villoing-Gaudè, Albert Pérez. Thanks to all of you for making my days always more joyful!

To Marion Delous, with whom I shared my office and my jokes day after day (imagine how tough that can be for one person alone!). Thank you for not despairing! Thank you for our scientific discussions and for checking each of my scientific projects, publications, posters and oral presentations as if they were your own!

To Rebecca Ryan, thank you for reading my thesis, for your scientific and English-native-speaker advice. Thanks for encouraging me in the dark days, especially during the writing of the sphingolipids chapter, and for your great creativity (if you ever doubt it you can just look at your knitted creations!).

To the other teams of the lab and their PIs: Sophie Saunier, Alexandre Benmerah, Cécile Jeanpierre. Thank you for your kindness and nice discussions. To the old ones, starting with Albane Bizet (who is at least 1000 years old), who looked after me from the very beginning, gave me a place to stay when I was homeless and always helped me with tough experimental procedures; to Flora Legendre (always with a nice smile to me); to Gweltas Odye, even though we fight each other ("you know I have never loved you!") I could not be without your "chat malade" and your "débiles" jokes; and to the young ones in the lab, Hugo Garcia (may the force be with you on your new leader position in the S.F. group), Louise Reilly (may the force be with you to defeat Hugo Garcia in the S.F. group and continue making cakes), petite Marie Dupont (viva le bigeminism!), Lara De Tomasi (after all your laugh is not awkward), Charline Henry (bon courage!), Esther Porée (if you want to reconsider you can still enter the S.F. group).

To the secret friends group (you know who you are!). Thank you for your unconditional friendship and amazing cakes!

To the ones that were in the lab when I started but have already left - Maxence Macia (the sweetest friend), Valentina Grampa (my dearest Italian friend, my house mate and the one I was "témouine" of), Zuza Andrzejewska, Lucie Thomas, Fabien Nevo, Nathalie Nevo. For most of you we continue linked by the outside-lab life (yes, there is one!).

To Meriem Garfa-Traoré and Nicolas Goudin, for their help with confocal microscopy. Without you (and Rebecca Ryan) there would have been no prize for the best funny picture of the YRII congress.

To Antonio Gomes da Costa, who understood my passion for research and allowed me to start this PhD.

Lastly, my gratefulness to all my family and friends: Thomas, thank you for enduring the thesisstress with me, for the endless thesis formatting and for all your kindness to me; Mariana and mum, thank you for your infinite patience and support; Teresa, Cristina, Ines, Cristininhas, Fili, Mariana, Eunice, Filipas, Mordi, and all the others that I do not mention here, thank you for your everlasting friendship.

Abstract

Abstract

Nephrotic syndrome (NS) is a kidney disease characterized by disruption of the glomerular filtration barrier and the massive loss of proteins into the urine. Although in the majority of cases treatment with steroids leads to remission of the disease, in 15-20% of cases the disease is not responsive to this therapy and is classified as steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS). SRNS is a clinical condition with high morbidity leading to progressive renal failure as well as multiple metabolic and cardiovascular complications. Extensive research over the last 20 years has identified more than 40 SRNS causing genes that are crucial for function of the podocyte, a highly specialized kidney epithelial cell. However, the mutated gene is still unknown in about half of the familial cases. We have used exome sequencing to identify new genes mutated in SRNS. In order to prove the pathogenicity of the identified mutations we used the *Drosophila* model, assessing defects of fly viability and the structure and function of nephrocytes, podocyte like-cells. My thesis work consists of two projects.

Firstly, we identified biallelic mutations in a new candidate gene, *SGPL1*, encoding the sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase, in individuals presenting SRNS with facultative adrenal insufficiency, ichthyosis, neurological defects and immunodeficiency. SGPL1 is the main catabolic enzyme of sphingolipids, irreversibly degrading sphingosine 1-phosphate into phosphoethanolamine and hexadecenal. In flies, these mutations were shown to decrease viability, induce nephrocyte defects and lead to the accumulation of sphingoid bases due to the loss of SGPL1 catabolic activity. Together, these results indicate that the identified *SGPL1* mutations are pathogenic and cause a new syndromic form of SRNS.

Moreover, in a second project, we defined the contribution of homozygous mutations found in two different genes, *ADD3* and *KAT2B*, to a complex phenotype found in affected individuals from one consanguineous family. These individuals presented with neurological defects, cataracts, mild skeletal defects, cardiomyopathy and SRNS. *ADD3* encodes adducin γ , an F-actin capping protein that also links the actin cytoskeleton to the spectrin based membrane skeleton, while *KAT2B* encodes the lysine acetyltransferase 2B, mainly known for acetylation of histones and modulation of transcriptional programs. We found additional nonrelated patients carrying only biallelic *ADD3* mutations that presented a partially overlapping syndrome but with no cardiac or renal manifestations. In the *Drosophila* model we found that both *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations impaired fly viability and that the *ADD3* mutation also impaired fly motor function. However, only the *KAT2B* mutation induced functional defects in *Drosophila* heart and nephrocytes. Altogether, these results suggest that *ADD3* mutations are responsible for a neurological phenotype with facultative cataracts and skeletal defects while the *KAT2B* mutation induces heart and kidney defects.

These results highlight the *Drosophila* as a good *in vivo* model to test the pathogenicity of the mutations found in SRNS candidate genes.

Table of Figures

Table of Figures

Figure 1. The glomerulus and the glomerular filtration barrier.

Figure 2. Ultrastructure of the podocyte.

Figure 3. Podocyte structure in normal conditions and upon injury.

Figure 4. Ultrastructural changes accompanying podocyte injury and detachment.

Figure 5. Mechanisms underlying idiopathic nephrotic syndrome.

Figure 6. Histologic Variants of FSGS.

Figure 7. Progression of glomerular diseases.

Figure 8. Parietal epithelial cells participate in the progression of glomerulosclerosis.

Figure 9. The slit diaphragm zipper-like structure.

Figure 10. New EM techniques suggest a novel slit diaphragm structure.

Figure 11. Main molecular components of the slit diaphragm.

Figure 12. The life cycle of *Drosophila melanogaster* and its chromosomes.

Figure 13. Simplified evolutionary patterns of essential genes and their association with Mendelian disorders.

Figure 14. Genetic strategies used in Drosophila for the study of human diseases.

Figure 15. Some of the strategies for genetic manipulation in Drosophila.

Figure 16. Homology between human and Drosophila excretory systems.

Figure 17. Molecular homology between the components of the podocyte and the nephrocyte slit diaphragm.

Figure 18. Distribution of endocytic vesicles in nephrocytes.

Figure 19. Nephrocyte subpopulations in Drosophila.

Figure 20. Nephrocyte foot process effacement.

Figure 21. Chemical structure of sphingolipids.

Figure 22. Overview of the sphingolipid metabolism.

Figure 23. Cellular localization and trafficking pathways of sphingolipids.

Figure 24. Nucleosome structure.

Figure 25. Lysine acetylation is balanced by HATs and HDACs.

List of Abbreviations

List of Abbreviations

ABC	ATP-binding cassette
APOL1	Apolipoprotein L1
ARHGAP24	Rho-GTPase-activating protein 24
ARHGDIA	Rho GDP-dissociation inhibitor 1
ASMase	Acid sphingomyelinase
ATG9A	Autophagy related protein 9A
BDSC	Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center
bHLH	Basic Helix Loop Helix
C1q	Complement C1q
C3	Complement C3
CD2AP	CD2 associated protein
Cerases	Ceramidases
CerS	Ceramide synthases
CERT	Ceramide transfer protein
CHD2	chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 2
ChIP	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation
CNS	Central nervous system
CoRL	Cells of renin lineage
CRB2	Crumbs homolog 2
CRISPR	Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats
DAD	Auto-regulatory domain
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DID	Diaphanous inhibitory domain
DMS	Diffuse mesangial sclerosis
DNMT	DNA methyltransferase
Dpp	Decapentaplegic
DZNep	S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase inhibitor 3-deazaneplanocin A
EM	Electron microscopy
EMS	ethylmethanesulfonate
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ESRD	End-stage renal disease
EZH2	Enzyme enhancer of zeste homolog 2
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FIB-SEM	Focused ion beam-scanning electron microscopy
FSGS	Focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis
GAP	GTP activating factors
Gb3	Globotriaosylceramide
GBM	Glomerular basement membrane
GDIs	Guanine dissociation inhibitors
GEFs	Guanine nucleotide exchange factors
GFB	Glomerular filtration barrier
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GLA	Alpha-galactosidase A
Grb2	Growth factor receptor-bound protein 2

GWAS	Genome-wide association studies
HAT	Histone acetyltransferase
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
НЕК	Human embryonic kidney
lgM	Imunoglobulin M
INF2	Inverted formin 2
	In motif containing GTPase-activating protein
	c lun N torminal kinasos
	Un N terminal protein kinase
JUINK	Jun-N-terminal protein kinase
KANKZ	KN motif and ankyrin repeat domain-containing protein 2
KAI	Lysine acetyl-transferase
KAT2A	Lysine acetyl transferase 2A
KAT2B	Lysine acetyl transferase 2B
KD	Knock down
KDAC	Lysine deacetylase
Kirre	Kin-of-irre
КО	Knock out
LOF	Loss of function
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAGI2	Membrane-associated guanylate kinase 2
MCD	Minimal change disease
mDia	Mammalian diaphanous related formin
MELAS	Mitochondrial encenhalomyonathy lactic acidosis and stroke-like enisodes
MEE	Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
mTOR	Mammalian target of ranamycin
NCS	Nove generation sequencing
NGS	Next generation sequencing
	Nephrotic syndrome
NTR3	Neurotrophic tyrosine kinase receptor, type 3
N-WASP	Neural Wiskott-Aldrich-syndrome
РАК	p21 activated kinase
PAN	Puromycin aminonucleoside nephrosis
PCAF	P300/CBP associated factor
PDGF	Platelet derived growth factor
PE	Phosphoethanolamine
PECs	Parietal epithelial cells
РНВ	Prohibitin
РІЗК	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PP2A	Protein phosphatase 2A
PTM	Post translational modifications
PTPRO	Protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type O
RFP	Red fluorescent protein
RNAi	RNA interference
RPA	Replication protein A
S1P	Sphingosine 1 phosphate
S1PR	S1P recentors
	snhingosine 1 nhosnhate lyase 1
	Schimko Immuno Ossoous Dyenlasia
2100	Schimke Immuno-Osseous Dyspiasia

SMARCAL1	SWI/SNF Related, Matrix Associated, Actin Dependent Regulator of Chromatin, subfamily A-Like 1
SMases	Sphingomyelinases
SMPDL-3b	Sphingomyelinase-like phosphodiesterase 3b
Sns	Sticks-and-stones
Sparc	Secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine
SPHK	Sphingosine kinases
SPNS2	Spinster 2
SRNS	Steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome
SSNS	Steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome
SUPAR	Soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TRPC6	Transient receptor potential channel, subfamily C, member 6
UAS	Upstream activating sequence
VDRC	Vienna Drosophila Resource Center
VEGF	Vascular endothelium growth factor
WAVE	WASP-family verprolin-homologous protein
WES	Whole exome sequencing
Wg	Wingless
WGS	Whole genome sequencing
WT1	Wilms tumour 1
ZO-1	Zonula occludens-1

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	3
Abstract	7
Table of Figures	11
List of Abbreviations	15
Table of Contents	21
Foreword	25
Review of the Literature	29
The glomerulus and the glomerular filtration barrier	
The podocyte	33
The nephrotic syndrome	
Immune forms of nephrotic syndrome: the circulating permeability factor	37
Histologic variants of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome	
Mechanisms of podocyte injury and glomerulosclerosis	41
Podocyte detachment, incapacity for cell division and glomerulosclerosis	41
Podocyte regeneration by stem cells	43
The podocyte slit diaphragm, lipid rafts and actin cytoskeleton	46
The slit diaphragm	46
Podocyte lipid rafts	52
The podocyte actin cytoskeleton and its regulation	52
Genetics of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome	57
Genetic susceptibility factors and oligogenism	60
Mendelian forms: Non-syndromic vs syndromic SRNS	63
NGS and the need for high-throughput functional testing in model organisms	64
The Drosophila model as a tool to study podocytopathies and more	66
Drosophila for the study of human diseases	66
The Drosophila excretory system – an analogy to the human kidney	71
The nephrocyte as a model for human podocytopathies	76
Sphingolipids and kidney disease	80
Sphingolipids and their metabolism	80
Bioactive sphingolipids and their regulation	82
Sphingolipids in podocyte biology	87
Epigenetic regulation and podocyte homeostasis	91

Epigenetic mechanisms	91
Epigenetic regulation in podocytes	95
Results and Discussion	99
Part I	101
A new syndromic form of SRNS caused by SGPL1 mutations	101
Article: Mutations in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase cause nephrosis with ichthyosis and adre insufficiency	nal 103
Summary of the findings and discussion	141
Phenotypic variability	142
Mechanisms of the disease in different organs	145
Potential therapies	151
Part II	153
ADD3 and KAT2B, two novel SRNS candidate genes?	153
Article: A homozygous mutation in <i>KAT2B</i> extends the spectrum of <i>ADD3</i> -dependent intellected disability syndrome.	ual 155
Summary of the findings and discussion	199
ADD3 mutations	200
KAT2B mutations	203
Synergic/additive effect between ADD3 and KAT2B loss of function mutations?	205
Possible pathogenic mechanism mediated by ADD3 loss of function	206
Possible pathogenic mechanisms mediated by KAT2B loss of function in podocytes	207
Conclusion of ADD3 and KAT2B project	208
Conclusion	209
Bibliography	213

Foreword

Foreword

In the last twenty years, genetic studies on familial forms of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS) have allowed the identification of mutations in more than 40 genes that are crucial for the function of the podocyte, a highly specialized epithelial cell that lies in the glomerular filtration barrier (GFB). However, in more than half of the familial cases of SRNS, the underlying molecular defect is still unknown. The era of next-generation sequencing (NGS) brought new opportunities for the cases where a molecular diagnosis had not been established, however it also came with new challenges, in particular to address the functional impact of multiple rare and private variants. In this thesis we have used the *Drosophila* model to answer this need. Its short life cycle and the availability of advanced genetic tools make it an attractive model for studying the pathogenicity of mutations found in new candidate genes. Moreover, flies have nephrocyte cells which are homologous to podocytes, allowing us to specifically address the impact of the mutations found in SRNS patients.

In the introductory chapter of this thesis I start by detailing the general physiology and structure of the GFB and particularly of the podocyte, and reviewing the concept of SRNS as well as the mechanisms known to be involved in the podocyte response to injury and progression of glomerular disease. I then briefly review the structure of the podocyte slit-diaphragm, a modified cell junction that allows maintenance of the permselectivity of the GFB, and the podocyte actin cytoskeleton. This is followed by the genetics of the podocytopathies with a focus on the syndromic forms of the SRNS. I then present the advances and pitfalls of NGS techniques and the main advantages of the *Drosophila* model, focusing on the nephrocytes and their similarities to podocytes. I finish the introduction by exposing two novel thematics related to the two SRNS candidate genes discovered during this thesis: the complex sphingolipid metabolism and functions, and the fine-tuning of the DNA genomic information conferred by the epigenetic machinery. In both cases I give a special emphasis to the relationship of these mechanisms to the podocyte.

The results and discussion chapter is divided into two main parts, each focusing on one of the two different projects of this thesis. For each project, results are presented in the form of a journal manuscript and a summary of the findings and discussion then follows. In the first project we have identified mutations in *SGPL1*, encoding sphingosine -1-phosphate lyase, as a cause of a new syndromic form of SRNS, where the main extra-renal features were adrenal insufficiency, ichthyosis, immunodeficiency and neurological defects. We defined the pathogenicity of the mutations and started to address the impact of SGPL1 loss of function on the metabolism of sphingolipids and on the function of the nephrocytes. In the discussion I mainly focus on the phenotypic heterogeneity of

the disease and the possible underlying pathogenic mechanisms in the affected organs. In the second project we have defined the pathogenicity of biallelic mutations found in *ADD3* and *KAT2B* in affected individuals from one consanguineous family presenting a complex syndromic form of nephrotic syndrome. I discuss the contribution of *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations to the patient phenotype, the potential pathogenic mechanisms in the podocyte, as well as the difficulties that we found during the project.

This thesis will finish with a brief conclusion that highlights the great advantages but also the pitfalls that can be encountered when using the *Drosophila* model in human genetics.

All the work in this thesis was done under the direction of Corinne Antignac, my thesis supervisor, and Matias Simons, who shared with us his expertise on the *Drosophila* model and with whom we closely collaborated.

Review of the Literature

The glomerulus and the glomerular filtration barrier

The main role of the kidney is the regulation of the hydric, acid-base and ion balance and excretion of toxic compounds produced by cell metabolism. To achieve these functions the kidney depends on small functional structures called nephrons, which number up to ~1x10⁶ per human kidney. Each nephron is composed of a glomerulus (**Figure 1**), responsible for the plasma filtration, and tubules that further modify this primary filtrate through secretion and reabsorption of small molecules, electrolytes and water, to finally produce urine.

Each day the kidney filters approximately 180 L of plasma. Blood enters the glomerulus through a small pre-glomerular arteriole (afferent arteriole) that then branches into a series of capillaries that form the glomerular capillary tuft. These then join again in another arteriolar, post-glomerular, vessel (efferent arteriole). This specialized vascular bed allows the fine-tuning of hydrostatic pressure inside the capillaries, the main driving force for filtration. Blood is thus filtered across the glomerular filtration barrier (GFB) to produce the primary urine.

The GFB has three layers. The first is formed by the fenestrated endothelium of glomerular capillaries. The meshwork-like glomerular basement membrane (GBM) forms the second layer, while the final layer is formed by specialized epithelial cells, termed podocytes, which extend foot processes that interdigitate and organize into a network that covers the outer surface of the capillary loops (**Figure 1**).

The main function of the GFB is to maintain permselectivity. This means that in normal homeostatic conditions the GFB is able to freely allow the passage of water, ions, by-products of cellular metabolism and small proteins but not blood cells or high molecular weight proteins. All three layers participate in this function (Kalluri 2006). The fenestrated endothelial cells prevent the passage of the blood cellular elements and the negative charge of the endothelial glycocalyx impedes the filtration of negatively charged molecules. Moreover the GBM dense meshwork also constitutes an obstacle to the passage of high molecular weight proteins. The GBM is around 300 nm in thickness, and is mainly composed of laminins, collagen IV, agrin and nidogen (Suh and Miner 2013, Lennon, Randles et al. 2014). Podocytes make the final layer and play a key role in GFB permeability. Interestingly, it has been proposed that filtration itself generates a local electric field at the GFB that also prevents the plasma proteins from entering or crossing the glomerular filter, explaining why the GFB does not clog (Moeller and Tenten 2013).

Besides the endothelial cells and podocytes, mature glomeruli also contain mesangial cells which are embedded in the mesangial matrix and are classically known to contribute to the structural integrity of the capillary loops and to participate on the regulation of glomerular hemodynamics. Moreover, lining the glomerular Bowman's capsule, we find the parietal epithelial cells for which new roles have been ascertained in recent decades (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. The glomerulus and the glomerular filtration barrier. (A) Structure of the glomerulus. The glomerulus contains a capillary tuft that receives its blood supply from the afferent arteriole. Podocytes line the outer aspect of the capillaries and their cell bodies float in the Bowman's space. Mesangial cells are embedded in the mesangial matrix and provide structural support to the capillary tuft. The Bowman capsule delimitates the glomerulus and is lined by parietal epithelial cells. **(B)** The glomerular filtration barrier. Plasma is filtrated through the glomerular filtration barrier that is composed of three layers: the fenestrated endothelial cells, the glomerular basement membrane (GBM) and the podocytes. Podocyte foot processes encircle the capillary loops. Adapted from Shankland, *et al.* 2014 and Patrakka *et al.* 2010.

The space between the glomerular tuft and the Bowman's capsule is named the urinary or Bowman's space, and corresponds to the compartment into which the plasma filtrate (also called primary urine) first passes. Low molecular weight proteins that pass the GFB are then reabsorbed in the first segment of the nephron tubule, the proximal tubule, by epithelial cells with dense microvilli at their apical surface.

The podocyte

Podocytes are highly specialized epithelial cells that sit in the GBM, wrapping around the capillary loops. Podocytes attach to the outer aspect of the GBM mainly by integrins (α 3 β 1 integrin that binds to laminin and integrin- α 1 β 1 and α 2 β 2 that bind to type IV collagen) (Mathew, Chen et al. 2012) but also through α and β dystroglicans that link podocyte actin to GBM laminin, and syndecans (Perico, Conti et al. 2016).

Podocytes have a large cell body that floats in the urinary space and elongated cellular extensions called the podocyte processes (**Figure 2**). The first thick elongations are called the primary processes and their cytoskeleton is mainly composed of microtubules. These further divide into secondary processes, from which actin-rich foot processes project. Podocyte foot processes completely encircle the capillary loops and are linked to their neighbors by slit diaphragms, a modified adherens junctions (Tryggvason, Patrakka et al. 2006). The slit diaphragm is classically viewed as a zipper-like structure with pores that allow the passage of water and small solutes but limit the passage of large molecular weight proteins (Gagliardini, Conti et al. 2010). An anionic glycocalix composed of glycosaminoglycans and sialoproteins, including podocalyxin, covers the podocyte surface, is important for maintaining the structure of the foot processes (Kerjaschki, Sharkey et al. 1984, Pavenstadt 1998) and has recently been shown to also play a role in the size selectivity of the GFB (Lawrence, Altenburg et al. 2017).



Figure 2. Ultrastructure of the podocyte. Podocytes are structurally divided in cell body (CB), primary and secondary processes (P) and foot processes. (A) Scanning electron microscopy images showing the CB, P and foot processes. Note that foot processes interdigitate with neighboring foot processes from another cell (individually colored in purple, green and red). (B and C) Transmission electron microscopy images (B) foot processes encircle the capillary loops (Cap). Arrows point to foot processes directly protruding from the podocyte CB. (C) Note the presence of a thin grey line between neighboring foot processes, corresponding to the slit diaphragm (black arrow heads), and the electron dense actinbundle in the apical cytoplasm of foot processes (yellow arrow heads) (D) SEM images of the basal surface of podocytes. Bar scales, 1 µm in (A), (B); 200 nm in (C), (D). US, urinary space. Adapted from Ichimura et al. 2015.
Podocytes have to withstand the shear stress from the flow of filtrate and are continuously exposed to potential toxins from the plasma filtrate. This particular situation demands high plasticity and dynamics that depend on a finely regulated cytoskeleton. In fact podocytes express mechanosensors that can respond to physical stimuli like shear stress (Huber, Schermer et al. 2007). These cells have several other important functions, namely to synthesize many extracellular matrix components of the GBM, such as type IV collagen; to help to physically support the capillary loop; and to interact with other glomerular cells, namely endothelial cells and mesangial cells, in order to guarantee their normal function. A paradigmatic example of cell to cell interaction is the production by the podocytes of the soluble vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) that traverses the GBM counter-flow in order to act on VEGF receptors on the endothelial cell, *conditio sine qua non* the fenestrated endothelial cells swell and detach from the GBM as nicely shown by S. Qwaggin group, using a conditional KO of *Vegf* in podocytes (Eremina, Sood et al. 2003, Eremina, Jefferson et al. 2008). The same dependence on VEGF produced in podocytes has also been shown for mesangial cells (Eremina, Cui et al. 2006). Mesangial cells are also regulated by podocyte production of PDGF (van Roeyen, Eitner et al. 2011).

The nephrotic syndrome

Any disruption of the filtration barrier leads to loss of glomerular permselectivity and urinary protein loss. When the loss of proteins is massive, this leads to secondary alterations in plasma protein levels and their turnover, alterations in lipid metabolism, endocrine disturbances and hemostasis defects. Nephrotic syndrome (NS) is thus defined as the constellation of the following clinical findings: massive proteinuria (>3.5 g/day), hypoalbuminemia (<3.0 g/dL), its clinical symptom - edema, and hypercholesterolemia (Nishi, Ubara et al. 2016). NS is a condition which carries high morbidity due to cardiovascular complications, such as thrombosis, increased infection risk and malnutrition. Moreover, when NS persists and does not respond to therapy this leads to progressive scarring of the glomeruli, a process called glomerulosclerosis, and secondary fibrosis of the tubular-interstitial compartment. Glomerulosclerosis will ultimately lead to renal failure and end-stage renal disease (ESRD), and patients will need dialysis or kidney transplant to survive. Glomerular diseases leading to secondary glomerulosclerosis are a major health problem in the Occidental world and account for ≈85% of all ESRD (Tharaux and Huber 2012).

Extensive research over the past decades has highlighted the main role of the podocyte in NS. In fact, although Mendelian cases of NS are very rare (Boyer O 2016), genetic studies have made a major

contribution to this field with the identification of mutations in genes encoding proteins crucial for podocyte function. Moreover, the ultrastructural phenotype common to all NS forms is podocyte foot process effacement with slit diaphragm disruption (**Figure 3**).



Figure 3. Podocyte structure in physiological conditions and upon injury. (A) Upper panel: In physiological conditions the GFB, composed of fenestrated endothelial cells (EC), GBM and podocytes, is able to prevent the spill of proteins into the urine. Lower panel: SEM and TEM images showing healthy podocytes and foot processes (FP), as well as the slit diaphragm (SD) and fenestrated endothelium (E) and a Schematic of normal podocyte foot processes **(B)** Upper panel: In nephrotic syndrome there is podocyte foot process effacement and protein leakage into the urine. Lower panel: SEM and TEM images showing podocyte foot process effacement and loss of SD. The corresponding schema shows a continuous sheet of cytoplasm instead of the well defined foot process. HMW, high molecular weight; BS, Bowman's space; CL, Capillary lumen. Adapted from Lin *et al.* 2016 and Mundel *et al.* 2010.

The process of foot process effacement depends on the rearrangement of the podocyte cytoskeleton in response to noxious stimuli and some authors consider that it may have developed as a mechanism to improve the attachment of these cells to the underlying GBM (Kriz, Shirato et al. 2013). If the noxious stimulus is transient, podocytes can recover their morphology and foot processes, as it occurs in self-remitting or steroid-sensitive NS. However, if the injury is persistent and/or severe enough, foot process effacement is followed by detachment of the podocyte foot processes from the GBM, the formation of pseudocysts and ultimately the detachment of these cells into the Bowman space and the nephron tubules, with resultantly high numbers of podocytes detectable in the urine (Kriz, Shirato et al. 2013). *In vivo* studies in the rat model have shown that areas of the GFB with damaged podocytes seem to have high permeability to proteins (Peti-Peterdi and Sipos 2010). The ultrastructural changes have been clearly described by Kriz et al. (Kriz, Shirato et al. 2013) and are summarized in **Figure 4**.



Figure 4. Ultrastructural changes accompanying podocyte injury and detachment. GBM is highlighted in yellow, capillary lumens in green and spaces between GBM and detaching podocytes in pink **(A)** Normal podocytes **(B)** Podocyte effacement in response to injury, formation of pseudocysts (stars) and microvillous transformation of the podocyte apical membrane (arrow head) **(C and D)** Podocyte detachment leaving areas of bare GBM. Bar scales, 1 µm in (A) 3 µm in (B and C); 5 µm in (D). Adapted from Kriz *et al.* 2013.

NS may be a primary or secondary glomerular disorder, in the latter case associated with metabolic disorders such as diabetes, infections (i.e. HIV, HBV, HCV), immune disorders (i.e. systemic lupus erythematosus) drugs (pamidronate, interferon), toxins or malignancy (Eddy and Symons 2003). Among primary disorders, idiopathic NS is characterized by the absence of inflammation and immune deposits in biopsy samples and is most commonly found in children but can also be found in adults. According to the age of apparition, NS can be further classified in congenital NS (<3 months); infant (3 months–12 months); early childhood (13 months–5 years); late childhood (6–12 years); adolescent (13–18 years); and adult (>18 years old) (Brown, Pollak et al. 2014).

Idiopathic NS has two main pathophysiological mechanisms: (1) a structural defect of the GFB, as it occurs in genetic diseases, and which will be the object of this thesis; (2) an immune defect believed to be a circulating permeability factor of lymphocyte origin that secondarily leads to podocyte damage (Antignac 2002) (**Figure 5**). In both cases the clinical presentation of the disease is similar but some differences allow their distinction: the presence of other affected organs, and the onset before one year of age, all suggest a genetic defect (Hinkes, Mucha et al. 2007), while response to immunosuppressive therapy and early relapse after kidney transplant suggest an immune defect (Ding, Koziell et al. 2014).

Whatever the underlying defect, idiopathic NS is always initially treated with a course of corticoids and, depending on the patients' response to this immunosuppressive therapy, it can be further classified into steroid-sensitive NS (SSNS) – if symptoms completely remit – or steroid-resistant NS (SRNS) – if symptoms persist. SSNS accounts for 80-90% of idiopathic NS and usually does not result

in renal failure. SRNS, which represents 10-20% of idiopathic NS, shows a worse prognosis progressing to ESRD if no response is obtained with other classes of immunosuppressors (Cattran and Rao 1998). Though SSNS and most SRNS cases are immunological in nature, a small percentage of SRNS cases have a genetic/structural cause (**Figure 5**) (Hinkes, Mucha et al. 2007, Ding, Koziell et al. 2014, Sadowski, Lovric et al. 2015, Boyer O 2016).



Figure 5. Mechanisms underlying idiopathic nephrotic syndrome. Immune dysfunction underlies steroid-sensitive forms and a subset of steroid-resistant forms, namely those that respond to treatment with other immunosuppressive drugs and those that recur after transplantation. The subset of SRNS patients that have an underlying molecular defect typically do not respond to any immunosuppressive drug and do not recur after transplantation. Adapted from Antignac *et al.* 2002.

Immune forms of nephrotic syndrome: the circulating permeability factor

Several lines of evidence suggest that an immune defect is the cause of most cases of SSNS and of SRNS relapse after transplantation, these include the response to immunosuppressive therapy, the NS relapse after infectious or allergic stimuli and the occurrence of NS with Hodgkin's disease, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, or thymoma. Initial studies suggested that the immune defect was of T-lymphocyte origin (Shalhoub 1974). In fact, decreased T-regulatory cells and altered cytokine profiles have been identified in children with idiopathic NS (Araya, Diaz et al. 2009, Le Berre, Bruneau et al. 2009, Prasad, Jaiswal et al. 2015). The role of B-cells has also been suggested due to the efficacy of treatment with the monoclonal anti-CD20 antibody in affected individuals with steroid-dependent or frequent relapsing NS, however their exact role in the pathogenesis of the disease remains unknown (lijima, Sako et al. 2014). Recently, hematopoietic stem/progenitor CD34-positive cells transferred from humans with idiopathic NS to immunocompromised mice have been shown to cause

proteinuria and podocyte effacement after three weeks (Sellier-Leclerc, Duval et al. 2007). However, the precise immune dysfunction mechanism remains unknown.

Several findings support the existence of a circulating permeability factor of immune origin, such as the proteinuria recurrence after kidney transplantation which occurs in about 30% of SRNS cases. This can occur within minutes to hours, and can be temporarily treated with plasmapheresis and immunoadsorption (Hoyer, Vernier et al. 1972). Studies in the rat model and case reports from humans have shown that when recurrence occurs following a kidney transplant and the organ is then grafted back to another recipient (or another rat strain), no proteinuria develops (Le Berre, Godfrin et al. 2002, Gallon, Leventhal et al. 2012). Moreover, kidneys from patients with SSNS that are transplanted into a patient with another type of kidney disease do not have recurrence of proteinuria (Gallon, Leventhal et al. 2012). In addition, serum from patients with NS is able to induce podocyte defects and proteinuria when injected into rats (Zimmerman 1984).

Several candidates have been proposed as circulating permeability factors. In cases of segmental glomerulosclerosis and chronic kidney disease, soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (SUPAR) seemed to be the main candidate (Wei, El Hindi et al. 2011, Hahm, Wei et al. 2017). However, others have contested these findings and shown that high plasma SUPAR levels are mainly dependent on renal function (Meijers, Maas et al. 2014) and are a biomarker of cardiovascular disease (Lyngbaek, Marott et al. 2013, Meijers, Poesen et al. 2015), reflecting subclinical immunological activity and inflammation, but are not a mediator of a single disease entity (Meijers and Sprangers 2014).

Histologic variants of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome

In idiopathic NS three main types of non-specific histological lesions can be identified: minimal change disease (MCD), focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) and diffuse mesangial sclerosis (DMS). MCD and FSGS in particular have been proposed to correspond to two different morphological manifestations of the same underlying pathogenic process of podocyte injury (Maas, Deegens et al. 2016). These authors propose that there are several factors that will determine whether or not MCD will later evolve into FSGS lesions, including extent of injury, vulnerability of podocytes, other potential noxious factors and the response to therapy. In fact, clinical data suggest that patients with NS that are unresponsive to therapy or have a known molecular defect of genetic origin, can initially have findings of MCD by biopsy, and later develop FSGS (Tejani, Phadke et al. 1985). Moreover, the dose dependent development of FSGS lesions in the puromycin

aminonucleoside nephrosis (PAN) model and in other models of transient proteinuria, support the hypothesis that MCD and idiopathic FSGS are different manifestations of the same underlying injury and related to the severity of podocyte loss (Pippin, Brinkkoetter et al. 2009). This of course does not exclude the fact that several and not a single cause of podocyte injury exists.

Rodent models used for MCD and FSGS aim to induce podocyte injury and proteinuria. While in MCD the objective is to obtain a response that is transient and mild, FSGS lesion models are severe or prolonged enough to lead to the scarring process. Podocyte injury can be induced by antibodies directed against podocyte epitopes (endogenous or ectopically expressed) or by toxic agents. The last ones include the adriamycin and PAN models, protamine sulfate, and many others (Frenk, Antonowicz et al. 1955, Bertani, Poggi et al. 1982, Diamond and Karnovsky 1986, Leeuwis, Nguyen et al. 2010).

Minimal Change Disease

The pathological features include normal glomeruli on light microscopy and absence of immune deposits by immuno-fluorescence but the finding of widespread foot process effacement on electron microscopy. Clinically this lesion is associated to a higher rate of disease remission in response to corticotherapy and maintenance of kidney function (Mason 2010).

Focal and Segmental Glomerulosclerosis

FSGS is characterized by the sclerosis of a subset of the glomeruli (focal) and a portion of the glomerular tuft (segmental). Histologically a segmental obliteration of the glomerular capillaries by extracellular matrix can be observed (D'Agati 2008), as well as hyalinosis, corresponding to the accumulation of entrapped plasma proteins. Cellular adhesions, also called synechiae, can be formed between the Bowman capsule and the sclerosing segment. By electron microscopy, in addition to podocyte foot process effacement, regions of podocyte detachment can be observed. Immuno-fluorescence can show IgM and C3 deposits, corresponding to plasma proteins entrapped in areas of hyalinosis. With progression of the disease a more global and widespread glomerulosclerosis can be observed (D'Agati, Kaskel et al. 2011), and this is accompanied by tubular atrophy and interstitial fibrosis that is thought to result from the continuous exposure of the tubular cells to an excessive load of proteins (Eddy and Giachelli 1995). FSGS is associated with a higher likelihood of steroid resistance and progression to ESRD (Appel 2010). FSGS lesions have been further subdivided

in 5 subtypes according to the Columbia classification proposed in 2004 (D'Agati, Fogo et al. 2004) that is based on the localization of the lesions (urinary pole *vs* glomerular hilus (vascular pole)), the glomerular cellularity and presence of vascular collapse. These variants include: not-otherwise-specified (NOS), tip, peri-hilar, collapsing and cellular (**Figure 6**), and each is associated to a specific clinical prognosis, that is the best for tip lesions and the worst for the collapsing variants (D'Agati, Kaskel et al. 2011).



Figure 6. Histologic variants of FSGS. (A) Collapsing variant showing capillary collapse and podocyte hypertrophy **(B)** Tip variant showing a segmental lesion of the glomerular tuft next to the urinary pole **(C)** Peri-hilar variant showing sclerosis and hyalinosis of the vascular pole. Adapted from Lim *et al.* 2016.

Diffuse Mesangial Sclerosis

Typically this lesion presents with mesangial matrix expansion that may be accompanied by podocyte hypertrophy over the capillary tufts (Habib, Gubler et al. 1993). In later stages widening of the GBM, global sclerosis of the glomeruli and tubular atrophy with interstitial fibrosis may supervene. Immuno-fluorescence can show non-specific deposit of IgM, C3 and C1q. By EM the common lesion to all forms of NS, foot process effacement, is observed. DMS is mostly seen in cases of Denys-Drash and Frasier syndromes (caused by *WT1* mutations) Galloway-Mowat syndrome (caused by *WDR73* mutations), Pierson syndrome (caused by *LAMB2* mutations) as well as in cases of isolated SRNS associated to *PLCE1* mutations (Hinkes, Wiggins et al. 2006).

Mechanisms of podocyte injury and glomerulosclerosis

Podocyte detachment, incapacity for cell division and glomerulosclerosis

Research in recent years seems to concede that podocyte depletion is the main initiator of the glomerulosclerosis process. Apoptotic death of podocytes seems to be a quite rare event in vivo (Kriz and Lemley 2015), while detaching podocytes have been found in several models of glomerular disease (Kriz, Shirato et al. 2013). The detachment is preceded by foot process effacement, and ultimately leads to the loss of viable podocytes into the urine (Kriz, Shirato et al. 2013). The remaining podocytes theoretically have two possible mechanisms of adaptation in order to cover the denuded GBM at the sites of podocyte loss: either hypertrophy or hyperplasia. However, podocytes are terminally differentiated cells; as such they are unable to proliferate or to respond to the decrease in cell number by cell division (D'Agati, Kaskel et al. 2011). In fact, it has been shown that podocytes forced to exit cell cycle arrest become polyploid and eventually enter a cellular event called mitotic catastrophe (Liapis, Romagnani et al. 2013). The cell division process itself demands complex alterations of the cytoskeleton and cell morphology. In the context of a cell that is exposed to the permanent shear stress of fluid flow across the GFB, these alterations likely also lead to reduced adhesion of the podocyte to the basement membrane and expose the cell to the risk of detachment. In fact binucleated podocytes, thought to result from an incomplete mitosis, have been observed in several types of glomerular disease and show foot process effacement (Nagata, Yamaguchi et al. 1995, Vogelmann, Nelson et al. 2003, Kriz, Shirato et al. 2013, Liapis, Romagnani et al. 2013, Hodgin, Bitzer et al. 2015). In rodent models it has been shown that in response to antibody-complement mediated podocyte injury the levels of cyclin A and cyclin dependent kinase 2 increase (Shankland, Floege et al. 1997), driving these cells to G2/M phases. However, this is limited by a simultaneous increase in cyclin kinase inhibitors such as p21 and p27 (Shankland, Floege et al. 1997), leading to an aborted mitosis. Moreover, the lack of aurora kinase B in mature podocytes also disables the formation of an efficient mitotic spindle (Lasagni, Ballerini et al. 2010). Recently in vitro studies on mouse immortalized podocytes grown in non-permissive conditions (and thus leading to differentiation) showed that re-entry in S phase due to stress stimuli induces binucleation and leaves these cells more susceptible to death by a secondary injury (Hagen, Pfister et al. 2016).

Even in normal physiological circumstances there is a continuous loss of podocytes, which can be found in urine of healthy individuals, although at a relatively low level when compared to individuals with glomerular disease. In the adult kidney each glomerulus has approximately 600 podocytes and the normal loss of podocytes has been calculated to be about 1-2 podocytes per glomerulus per year (Hodgin, Bitzer et al. 2015). In fact, in kidneys from older individuals the density of podocytes is lower than in young kidneys and this is accompanied by a compensatory mechanism of podocyte hypertrophy (Hodgin, Bitzer et al. 2015).

If an inciting injury is strong or prolonged enough to decrease the podocyte number past a threshold level where glomerular survival is no longer possible, glomerular scarring occurs. (Wiggins 2007) (Figure 7). In experimental rodent models where podocytes were genetically modified to become susceptible to specific toxins (i.e. Diphtheria toxin or Pseudomonas exotoxin), it has been shown that the loss of more than 40% of podocytes leads to glomerulosclerosis with proteinuria and renal failure (Matsusaka, Xin et al. 2005, Wharram, Goyal et al. 2005). Moreover, after the initial lesion, there is a secondary autonomous process that maintains injury and loss of the remnant podocytes (Sato, Wharram et al. 2009, Matsusaka, Sandgren et al. 2011). This could be related to increased shear stress on the remaining podocytes and accumulation of oxidative stress and DNA damage. Interestingly, the ability of podocytes to resist injury may depend on the capacity to resist genotoxic stress. This conclusion came from a study that analyzed why susceptibility to adriamycin-induced glomerulosclerosis occurred only in certain mouse strains. Adriamycin is a cytotoxic drug which has pleiotropic effects, such as introduction of double strand DNA breaks, topoisomerase inhibition, mitochondrial DNA depletion, lipid peroxidation and disruption of the cytoskeleton. Gharavi's group demonstrated that susceptible strains had a recessive loss of function mutation on Prkdc gene that encodes a nuclear DNA double strand break repair protein. Decreased expression of Prkdc rendered resistant mice strains susceptible to adriamycin-induced glomerulosclerosis and in vitro podocytes more susceptible to adriamycin induced apoptosis and to mitochondrial DNA depletion (Papeta, Zheng et al. 2010).



Figure 7. Progression of glomerular diseases. (A) Normal glomerulus; podocytes are shown in blue, parietal epithelial cells in green. The GBM is shown in black **(B)** Initial lesion: Podocyte-denuded capillary attach to Bowman's capsule. **(C)** Progression of the sclerotic process. The adhesion has spread to neighboring capillaries resulting in collapse or in hyalinosis (shown as a thick black line) of the involved capillaries. A paraglomerular space (shown in yellow) containing the sclerotic tuft remnants is formed. **(D)** Late stage of the sclerotic process. A small "intact" tuft still remains. Fibroblasts invade the sclerotic area, resulting in fibrous organization. Adapted from Kriz *et al.* 1998.

Podocyte regeneration by stem cells

In the last two decades, the discovery of renal stem cells has shed some light upon the possibility of podocyte replacement. There are two different types of renal cells that can possibly generate podocytes, the parietal epithelial cells (PECs) and the cells of renin lineage (CoRL). Besides kidney stem cells, there are also several lines of evidence that point to bone marrow stem cells as possible precursors of podocytes.

PECs, a double-edged sword: podocyte regeneration vs glomerulosclerosis

PECs line the Bowman's capsule and morphologically resemble squamous epithelial cells. During development, PECs and podocytes have a common mesenchymal cell origin, and then differentiate into two different cell types. Although not much is known about PEC function, they are known to express tight junction molecules (claudin-1, zonula occludens-1, and occludin) and to have a barrier function against the spill of proteins from the primary urine into the interstitial space (Ohse, Chang et al. 2009). Whether PECs are able to regenerate podocytes is a controversial subject. Some PECs express CD24 and CD133 stem cell markers (Ronconi, Sagrinati et al. 2009) and have a known regenerative capacity (Sagrinati, Netti et al. 2006). Interestingly, PECs express differentiation or stem cell markers according to their location on the Bowman's capsule. Those located far from the vascular pole exhibit only stem cell markers and those that are near exhibit only podocyte markers (i.e. nestin, and podocalyxin), while both markers are expressed between the two locations (Ronconi, Sagrinati et al. 2009). Genetic lineage tracing experiments have given non consensual results for the regeneration of podocytes from PECs (Berger, Schulte et al. 2014, Sakamoto, Ueno et al. 2014) (Wanner, Hartleben et al. 2014). In fact, podocyte regeneration seems to depend on the type of glomerular injury and the kidney age. i.e. in juvenile mice where PECs were genetically traced, a subpopulation of these cells was described to migrate along the Bowman's capsule and to express progenitor cell markers and podocyte markers, integrating the population of podocytes resident on the glomerular tuft (Appel, Kershaw et al. 2009). However, in adult mice, spontaneous migration or migration induced by lesion (glomerular hypertrophy by partial nephrectomy) was no longer seen (Berger, Schulte et al. 2014). In human kidneys analogous observations were made, among the PECs, podocyte markers have scattered expression until 2 years of age, but not on PECs from 7 year old individuals (Berger, Schulte et al. 2014). In another lineage tracing experiment, no regeneration occurred in ageing mice or after nephron reduction, however regeneration did occur in response to acute podocyte loss induced in the diphtheria toxin model (Wanner, Hartleben et al. 2014), and this finding was replicated in another mouse model of acute podocyte depletion (Eng, Sunseri et al. 2015).

If the regeneration of podocytes from PECs is still a controversial subject, several lines of evidence have firmly established that an excessive proliferative response by PECs after glomerular injury can lead to the formation of glomerular lesions such as cellular or fibrous crescents and collapsing lesions in FSGS (Lasagni and Romagnani 2010). During injury, PECs can undergo phenotypic changes that have been described by the general term of "activation" (Shankland, Smeets et al. 2014). These include changes in morphology (larger cytoplasm and nucleus) as well as increased migration, proliferation and synthesis of extra-cellular matrix, and *de novo* expression of marker proteins, such as CD44 (a cell surface adhesion receptor) (Shankland, Smeets et al. 2014). In several mouse models of glomerular injury using genetic lineage tracing of PECs, and in human transplant biopsies, it has been shown that activated PECs can migrate to the glomerular tuft through adhesion sites formed between the tuft and the Bowman capsule, and produce extracellular matrix, contributing to the development of sclerosis (Appel, Kershaw et al. 2009, Smeets, Kuppe et al. 2011, Smeets, Stucker et al. 2014). Interestingly the presence of activated PECs may distinguish between the sclerosing lesions of FSGS and the absence of fibrosis in MCD, with the former showing invasion of the glomerular tuft by CD44 positive PECs (Smeets, Stucker et al. 2014). A very detailed study on human biopsies of several types of glomerular disease using multiple markers for PECs, activated PECs and podocytes has clearly defined that the earliest lesion is the formation of a cellular bridge between the Bowman's capsule and the glomerular tuft, formed by PECs that deposit matrix in the tuft, which is followed by the migration of PECs onto the tuft and the formation of fibrotic adhesions or early sclerotic lesions, and finally the formation of advanced sclerotic lesions, where a larger part of the tuft is covered by PECs that continue to deposit extracellular matrix (Kuppe, Grone et al. 2015) (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Parietal epithelial cells participate in the progression of glomerulosclerosis. (A) Severe injury leading to fulminant loss of podocytes (B) Activation and migration of PECs to the glomerular tuft through synechiae formed between the denuded GBM and the Bowman's capsule (C) Late stages of glomerulosclerosis showing a monolayer epithelium of PECs covering the glomerular basement membrane. PECs further synthesize extracellular matrix that leads to complete sclerosis. Adapted from Nagata *et al.* 2016.

A recent study has shown that for effective podocyte regeneration in response to a glomerular injury, PECs activation has to be followed by differentiation and expression of podocyte markers, otherwise, the maintenance of activated PECs leads to glomerulosclerosis. In a mouse model of FSGS with genetic lineage tracing of PECs, these authors demonstrated that if activated PECs successfully differentiated into podocytes the disease remitted, while glomerulosclerosis occurred if these cells were not able to differentiate (Lasagni, Angelotti et al. 2015). Promisingly, enhancing the activity of endogenous retinoic acid, that controls differentiation in podocytes, with a glycogen synthase kinase3 inhibitor significantly increased the trans-differentiation of PECs into podocytes and increased disease remission (Lasagni, Angelotti et al. 2015). Currently several other molecules that target molecular pathways associated with PEC proliferation, activation and extracellular matrix production are being further studied in animal models (Miesen, Steenbergen et al. 2017).

CoRL and bone marrow derived stem cells

CoRL are vascular smooth cells that under normal conditions produce renin and are localized to the juxtaglomerular compartment, between afferent and efferent arterioles. These cells have been found to be able to lose their characteristic endocrine and contractile functions and differentiate into several adult cell types, including mesangial cells (Thoma 2014, Castellanos-Rivera, Pentz et al. 2015), pericytes (Castellanos-Rivera, Pentz et al. 2015, Pippin, Kaverina et al. 2015), vascular smooth cells (Castellanos-Rivera, Pentz et al. 2015, Pippin, Kaverina et al. 2015) , erythropoietin-producing cells, hematopoietic immune-like cells (Castellanos Rivera, Monteagudo et al. 2011), PECs and podocytes (Shankland, Pippin et al. 2014). In a rodent model of acute podocyte depletion, cell fate tracing of CoRL and *in vivo* time lapse imaging showed that these cells populate the glomeruli and differentiate in PECs and podocytes (Kaverina, Kadoya et al. 2017). The same has been shown in models of chronic podocyte depletion (Pippin, Kaverina et al. 2015).

Other sources of podocyte progenitors have been described such as the bone marrow-derived stem cell source, as evidenced by the presence of 7% of podocytes derived from a male recipient on a female kidney allograft (Becker, Hoerning et al. 2007). Moreover, injection of bone marrow-derived stem cells ameliorates adriamycin induced FSGS lesions (Uchida, Kushida et al. 2017). However, discrepant results have been found in other studies (Meyer-Schwesinger, Lange et al. 2011), arguing for the need of more intensive investigation in this field before considering bone marrow-derived stem cells as definite podocyte progenitors.

The podocyte slit diaphragm, lipid rafts and actin cytoskeleton

The slit diaphragm

The slit diaphragm was first visualized by electron microscopy (EM) in 1955 (Yamada 1955) and it was only in 1974 that with better EM techniques the classic view of the slit diaphragm as a zipper-like structure was described (Rodewald and Karnovsky 1974, Karnovsky and Ryan 1975). In this model the slit diaphragm molecules from neighboring foot processes are thought to cross the extracellular space and are arranged in a dense midline, corresponding to the overlapping region of their extracellular domains (**Figure 9**). The pores between these strands, of about 12 nm, would be small enough to prevent the passage of albumin or higher molecular weight proteins. In the same year, the loss of the slit diaphragms and the process of foot process effacement in response to podocyte injury were also described (Robson, Giangiacomo et al. 1974). These findings provided a strong link between slit diaphragm loss, foot process effacement and proteinuric glomerular diseases.



Figure 9. The slit diaphragm zipper-like structure. Nephrin molecules from neighboring foot processes interact at the center of the slit, forming a zipper-like structure with pores on both sides of the central density. Adapted from Patrakka *et al.* 2007.

In recent decades genetic studies have contributed to a better understanding of the molecular composition of the slit diaphragm. In 1998, through a positional cloning approach, researchers identified the first gene known to be mutated in congenital cases of NS, *NPHS1*, encoding for the transmembrane Immunoglobulin superfamily protein nephrin (Kestila, Lenkkeri et al. 1998). In subsequent years nephrin was identified as the backbone molecule of the slit diaphragm filter (Ruotsalainen, Ljungberg et al. 1999, Wartiovaara, Ofverstedt et al. 2004). This was followed by the identification of *NPHS2* (Boute, Gribouval et al. 2000), encoding podocin, a slit diaphragm associated protein. This is the most frequently mutated gene in familial cases of NS (Bouchireb, Boyer et al. 2014). In the following years other critical components of the slit diaphragm such as the Immunoglobulin superfamily nephrin like protein-1 (Neph1), as well as proteins linking the slit diaphragm to the actin cytoskeleton, were discovered.

Very recently, development of different fixation and EM techniques, such as cryoelectrontomography and focused ion beam-scanning electron microscopy (FIB-SEM), permitted a review of the classical zipper-like structure of the slit diaphragm (Burghardt, Hochapfel et al. 2015, Grahammer, Wigge et al. 2016). Instead of a monolayer of nephrin and Neph1 that establish homo or heterophilic interactions, the slit diaphragm seems to have superposed layers of these transmembrane proteins. Both molecules seem to completely span the interpodocytary space and do not form homo or heteromeric interactions between them, contrary to the previous belief (Burghardt, Hochapfel et al. 2015, Grahammer, Wigge et al. 2016). Neph1 forms the bottom layers, close to the GBM, spanning a distance of 23 nm, nephrin molecules on the other hand form the upper layers and span a distance of around 45 nm. Both molecules are separated by a distance of 7 nm. (Figure 10). The absence of a well-defined pore structure with certain dimensions raises the question on how this structure contributes to the permselectivity of the GFB, a question that will most certainly be addressed in the coming years, and that should take into account other slit diaphragm proteins.



Figure 10. New EM techniques suggest a novel slit diaphragm structure. The slit diaphragm is suggested to be a multilayered, bipartite protein scaffold. (A) High-pressure freezing and plastic electron tomography (PET) show several strands crossing the space between different FP. The narrower end of the slit is toward the GBM, while the broader end is towards the Bowman's space (blue arrowheads mark shorter strands and red arrowheads correspond to longer strands). (B) Transversal view showing a quasiperiodical distribution of the slit layers (C) 3D reconstitution showing foot process bridging strands color-coded depending on their length (red 40 nm, attributed to nephrin, blue 25 nm, attributed to Neph1) (D) Transversal view. Adapted from Grahammer *et al.* 2016.

The slit diaphragm is a specialized type of cell junction that exhibits characteristics of both tight junctions, expressing proteins such as ZO-1, occludin and cingullin (Schnabel, Anderson et al. 1990, Fukasawa, Bornheimer et al. 2009), and of adherens junctions, expressing P-cadherin or α , β , γ catenin proteins (Reiser, Kriz et al. 2000, Lehtonen, Lehtonen et al. 2004). During podocyte development the slit diaphragm is not the first type of cellular junction to be formed. The first cellular junction is an apical tight junction (at the S stage) when podocyte precursors form a cobblestone-like epithelium (Ruotsalainen, Patrakka et al. 2000, Ichimura, Kakuta et al. 2017). Later in development these junctions migrate to the more baso-lateral aspect of the podocyte membrane (Ichimura, Kakuta et al. 2017) and become enriched with adherens junction proteins, nephrin and

other proteins from the Immunoglobulin superfamily (Goto, Yaoita et al. 1998). During this process the podocyte junctions become wider, suggesting that nephrin proteins serve a repulsive action to maintain open pores of a certain diameter. Interestingly, in disease conditions a reverse phenomenon is seen, where slit diaphragms are replaced by tight junctions and podocytes retract their foot processes and regain the typical epithelial cobblestone appearance (Kurihara, Anderson et al. 1992, Kriz, Shirato et al. 2013).

Besides the well-known filter function, slit diaphragm proteins also serve as a linker to the podocyte actin cytoskeleton and form a signaling platform that allows integration of extracellular signals, such as shear stress and mechanical forces, paracrine and autocrine signals, and intracellular signals (Grahammer, Schell et al. 2013). These functions contribute to plasticity of foot processes and to podocyte homeostasis.

Components of the slit diaphragm and activation of cellular signaling

The slit diaphragm proteins are linked to a large complex composed of multiple proteins that facilitate coupling with the underlying actin cytoskeleton and signal transduction (Figure 11). Underlining the complexity of this structure, proteins associated to the slit diaphragm continue to be identified in genetic studies of Mendelian SRNS. This is the case of Crumbs homolog 2 (CRB2), shown to colocalize with slit diaphragm proteins and be required for nephrin trafficking (Ebarasi, Ashraf et al. 2015), and more recently the membrane-associated guanylate kinase 2 (MAGI2) that interacts with nephrin and also regulates slit diaphragm dynamics (Bierzynska, Soderquest et al. 2017). On this section I will briefly describe some of the most well known slit diaphragm-associated proteins, most of them encoded by genes mutated in SRNS.



Main molecular Figure 11. components of the slit diaphragm. Some of the most well known slit diaphragm proteins as well as their spatial organization are depicted in the figure. The slit diaphragm and its associated proteins form a signaling hub that control actin cytoskeleton intracellular and signaling. Adapted from Grahammer et al. 2013.

Nephrin

Nephrin is a type 1 transmembrane protein. The cytoplasmic 150 amino acid domain has several tyrosine-based motifs. It is followed by a transmembrane domain and an extracellular portion of around 44 nm that contains a fibronectin type III domain and eight C2-type immunoglobulin domains. The tyrosine motifs in the intracellular portion of the protein can bind and be phosphorylated by tyrosine protein kinases such as Fyn (Verma, Wharram et al. 2003). Interestingly in mouse models, *Fyn* KO leads to decreased nephrin phosphorylation and disrupted foot processes (Verma, Wharram et al. 2003). The phosphorylated tyrosine residues serve as binding sites for the Nck adaptor protein, known to activate regulators of the actin cytoskeleton such as the neural Wiskott-Aldrich-syndrome (N-WASP), and p21 activated kinase (PAK) (Jones, Blasutig et al. 2006) (Verma, Kovari et al. 2006, Zhu, Attias et al. 2010). Interestingly the small GTPases RAC1 and Cdc42 can interact with N-WASP, P21 and other nephrin partners (Brandt and Grosse 2007, Harita, Kurihara et al. 2009). Phosphorylated nephrin also binds the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), then stimulating AKT, which controls cell growth and survival as well as actin remodeling (Huber, Hartleben et al. 2003, Canaud, Bienaime et al. 2013).

Nephrin can also interact with Iq motif containing GTPase-activating protein (IQGAP) that is able to recruit the actin related protein (Arp) 2/3 complex (Liu, Liang et al. 2015). Other molecules that are known to lead to FSGS in murine models or in humans, like CD2AP and PTPRO, are also known to interact with nephrin (Li, Lemay et al. 2004, Aoudjit, Jiang et al. 2011, Ozaltin, Ibsirlioglu et al. 2011). All these findings link nephrin signaling to the underlying actin cytoskeleton and to survival signals that may modulate podocyte morphology and homeostasis.

Neph1

Like nephrin, Neph1 protein belongs to the Ig superfamily proteins, sharing a similar structure. In comparison to nephrin its extracellular region has only 5 C2-type immunoglobulin domains and no fibronectin domain, spanning only 20 nm. Neph1 has an important role in maintaining a healthy GFB as shown by the development of congenital NS in constitutive *Neph1* KO mice (Donoviel, Freed et al. 2001, Grahammer, Wigge et al. 2016), which was not the case for the KO of its paralogs *Neph-2* nor *Neph-3*, that do not seem to be expressed in the kidney (Grahammer, Wigge et al. 2016). Through its intracellular C-terminal domain Neph1 also establishes several important interactions with scaffolding molecules, such as ZO-1 (Mallik, Arif et al. 2012), and polarity regulators such as the

aPKC/Par3/Par6 complex (Hartleben, Schweizer et al. 2008). Neph1 and nephrin directly interact (Garg, Verma et al. 2007). Similar to nephrin, Neph 1 phosphorylation also modulates interaction with other partners, such as Grb2, and plays a major role in regulating the actin cytoskeleton (Garg, Verma et al. 2007).

<u>Podocin</u>

Podocin is a 42KDa protein from the stomatin family. It is anchored to the membrane by its hydrophobic central part and usually bends in a hairpin configuration, with both C-terminus and N-terminus facing the cytosol (Roselli, Gribouval et al. 2002). It has podocyte-specific expression and localizes to lipid rafts (Roselli, Gribouval et al. 2002). As further discussed (see "Podocyte Lipid Rafts" chapter) it is involved in the recruitment of cholesterol through its prohibitin-like (PHB) domain as well as other protein partners. These partners include nephrin, CD2AP and TRPC6 (Schwarz, Simons et al. 2003, Huber, Schermer et al. 2007). All assemble in a macromolecular complex that forms the signaling platform of the slit diaphragm.

CD2AP

Although CD2AP protein was first studied because of its ability to stabilize the interactions between T-cells and antigen-presenting cells, the main phenotype of the *Cd2ap* KO mouse turned-out to be congenital NS and early renal failure (Shih, Li et al. 1999). CD2AP is a scaffold protein known to interact with F-actin, nephrin and podocin (Schwarz, Simons et al. 2001). It has three SH3 domains and a proline-rich motif that binds to F actin capping protein (CAPZ), and a C-terminal coiled coil domain (Edwards, Zwolak et al. 2014). The SH3 domains and the proline rich motif allow CD2AP to establish interactions both with slit diaphragm partners and with regulatory proteins of the cytoskeleton such as CAPZ synaptopodin and Rac1 (Faul, Asanuma et al. 2007, van Duijn, Anthony et al. 2010). However, to date autosomal recessive mutations in the *CD2AP* gene have been described in only one family (Lowik, Groenen et al. 2007).

TRPC6

Transient receptor potential channel, subfamily C, member 6 (TRPC6) is a non-selective cation channel of the TRPC subfamily, that drives cell depolarization. TRPC6 is sensitive to diacylglycerol

50

(DAG) and allows calcium entry into the cell (Hofmann, Obukhov et al. 1999) that in turn modulates secondary cascades, resulting in integration or amplification of cell signals (Dryer and Reiser 2010). In podocytes TRPC6 is known to interact with nephrin and podocin, also localizing to lipid rafts (Huber, Schermer et al. 2006, Lei, Lu et al. 2014) and forms a tetrameric ion channel that may respond to changes in pressure or fluid flow. Increase in intracellular calcium through TRPC6 has been shown to stimulate RhoA activity thereby modulating the actin cytoskeleton and the foot process shape (Moller, Flesche et al. 2009, Jiang, Ding et al. 2011).

TRPC6 was found to be mutated in autosomal dominant SRNS (Reiser, Polu et al. 2005, Winn, Conlon et al. 2005). Most of the mutations are gain-of-function mutations that induce a continuous activation of TRPC6 and positive calcium influx into the cell, leading to apoptosis *in vitro* (Reiser, Polu et al. 2005, Winn, Conlon et al. 2005). Consistent with a gain-of-function mechanism, *Trpc6* KO mice have no overt renal phenotype however podocyte-specific overexpression of TRPC6 leads to FSGS (Krall, Canales et al. 2010, Li, Ding et al. 2017). However, recently, dominant negative mutations of TRPC6 have also been described (Riehle, Buscher et al. 2016), suggesting that both TRPC6 hyper and hypo-activation can lead to disease in humans. Interestingly *TRPC6* mutations have variable penetrance and healthy carriers have been observed (Sun, Ng et al. 2015). This could be explained by differences in genetic background (Sun, Ng et al. 2015).

<u>FAT1</u>

FAT1 is a type 1 transmembrane protein that belongs to the cadherin family, harboring 33 cadherin repeats, a laminin G domain, and 2 EGF domains in its extracellular region. FAT1 has been shown to be crucial for the podocyte slit diaphragm formation in mouse models (Ciani, Patel et al. 2003) and co-localizes with other slit diaphragm proteins (Inoue, Yaoita et al. 2001). *In vitro* FAT1 has been shown to participate in Ena/VASP-dependent regulation of cytoskeleton dynamics (Moeller, Soofi et al. 2004) and *Fat1* KO mice exhibit effacement of foot processes and defects in eye and central nervous system development (Ciani, Patel et al. 2003). Recently, mutations in *FAT1* have been described in four families and cause a glomerular disease with either diffuse mesangial sclerosis or minimal change disease associated with tubular ectasia. Moreover there is facultative neurological involvement and patients may develop different kinds of tumors (Gee, Sadowski et al. 2016).

Podocyte lipid rafts

The plasma membrane is a fluid lipid bilayer with micro-domains of increased rigidity due to the enrichment of cholesterol, glycolipids and sphingolipids. These structures, called the lipid rafts, are highly dynamic and regulate membrane fluidity, membrane protein trafficking and protein clustering, facilitating the initiation of downstream signaling (Simons and Ikonen 1997). Many receptors of the tyrosine kinase family and their effectors are enriched in these micro-domains and this seems to be critical for the type and duration of the downstream signal and the cellular outcomes (Pike 2003). Interestingly, in podocytes some slit diaphragm proteins are known to localize to lipid raft domains and podocin plays a central role in this compartmentalization. In fact podocin PHB domain (a 150 amino acid domain similar to the one found in the mitochondrial protein prohibitin) is able to bind and recruit cholesterol. Along with cholesterol binding, podocin also binds to TRPC6 channels as well as other slit diaphragm proteins, allowing their recruitment to the podocyte lipid raft (Schwarz, Simons et al. 2001, Huber, Schermer et al. 2006). Moreover, the regulation of the activity of TRPC6 channels is dependent on the interaction with podocin and cholesterol (Huber, Schermer et al. 2006, Huber, Schermer et al. 2007). This creates protein-cholesterol super-complexes in the plasma membrane that are critical to mechanosensation and transduction of mechanical stimuli into ion fluxes to the intracellular space (Huber, Schermer et al. 2007). This macromolecular structure is highly similar to the C. elegans mechano-sensory apparatus of touch receptor neurons, where the podocin homolog Mec-2 organizes a cholesterol-rich platform that assembles ion channels, transmembrane proteins and linkers to the cytoskeleton (Huber, Schermer et al. 2007).

The podocyte actin cytoskeleton and its regulation

Regulation of the actin cytoskeleton is critical to maintain the complex podocyte architecture. Factors that promote an overly rigid cytoskeleton or one that is too dynamic may perturb podocyte morphology and function. In accordance, several proteins that directly or indirectly participate in actin cytoskeleton dynamics are known to be mutated in familial forms of SRNS (Perico, Conti et al. 2016). In podocytes the cell body and primary and secondary processes are mainly composed of intermediate filaments and microtubules; while foot processes have long actin bundles that extend longitudinally and a subcortical actin ring (Faul, Asanuma et al. 2007). Besides the cyto-architectural function of actin filaments, these structures can also serve as trackers for the transport of several molecules and play a major role in cell migration and adhesion. Recently, the importance of the microtubule cytoskeleton in podocyte biology was highlighted by our laboratory, as mutations in *WDR73* and *TTC21B* were found in hereditary NS and shown to disrupt the microtubule organization in podocytes (Colin, Huynh Cong et al. 2014, Huynh Cong, Bizet et al. 2014). This chapter describes the main players on podocyte actin cytoskeleton, with special relevance for the ones found to be associated to SRNS in humans.

The small RhoGTPases RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42

The mechanism for actin filament assembly and disassembly is highly regulated by several protein families. Among them, the family of small RhoGTPases, including the RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 proteins, plays a very important role. These proteins are active when binding to GTP and inactive when bound to GDP. Their activation status is in turn regulated by three different proteins: At the level of the plasma membrane, the guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) exchange a GDP molecule for a GTP molecule, activating the RhoGTPases. The GTP activating factors (GAP) inactivate the RhoGTPases by hydrolysis of the GTP molecule. The guanine dissociation inhibitors (GDIs) prevent the activation of the RhoGTPases by binding them in the cytosolic compartment, not allowing their activation by GEFs at the plasma membrane. RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 exert their actions in a tightly regulated manner. In a simplified way, RhoA is known to signal through its effectors formins and ROCK, promoting the formation of contractile actomyosin. Although Rac1 and Cdc42 can also trigger formin activation, they are mostly known to promote Arp2/3-dependent branched actin structures, through WAVE and N-WASP, respectively (Arnold, Stephenson et al. 2017).

Interestingly, each of these RhoGTPases has been shown to play a role in podocyte function. Synaptopodin, a protein well known for its main role on the organization of the podocyte actin cytoskeleton, regulates the activation of RhoA and Cdc42 (Asanuma, Yanagida-Asanuma et al. 2006, Yanagida-Asanuma, Asanuma et al. 2007).

RhoA activation has been linked to worsen glomerular lesions in some rodent models of glomerular disease, such as diabetic nephropathy (Komers, Oyama et al. 2011) or PAN-induced nephropathy in rats (Shibata, Nagase et al. 2006). In addition mutations in *KANK2*, encoding KN motif and ankyrin repeat domain-containing protein 2, were found in humans with NS and shown to lead to RhoA activation *in vitro* (Gee, Zhang et al. 2015).

Rac1 deregulation has also been linked to podocyte injury. An inactivating mutation in *ARHGAP24*, encoding the Rho-GTPase-activating protein 24, has been found in one family with FSGS and *in vitro* silencing of ARHGAP24 in podocytes increased activation of Rac1 and Cdc42 (Akilesh, Suleiman et al. 2011). Moreover, FSGS due to biallelic inactivating mutations in *ARHGDIA*, encoding the Rho GDP-

dissociation inhibitor 1, a GDI that prevents the activation of RhoGTPases, has been described by several groups (Gee, Saisawat et al. 2013, Gupta, Baldwin et al. 2013). *In vitro ARHGDIA* mutations induce Rac1 activation (Gee, Saisawat et al. 2013, Gupta, Baldwin et al. 2013, Auguste, Maier et al. 2016) and pharmacological inhibition of Rac1 activity in *Arhgdia* KO mice or in morpholino loss-of-function zebrafish models, improved kidney lesions (Shibata, Nagase et al. 2008, Gee, Saisawat et al. 2013). In a transgenic mouse line where constitutively active Rac1 was selectively expressed in podocytes, proteinuria and foot process effacement developed (Yu, Suleiman et al. 2013). However while podocyte specific deletion of *Rac1* in mice protected against the acute podocyte lesion induced by protamine, in a long term model of hypertensive glomerular disease it actually aggravated proteinuria and glomerulosclerosis (Blattner, Hodgin et al. 2013). These studies suggest that Rac1 activity can have either beneficial or deleterious effects depending on the context and the activation level.

Cdc42 has more recently been shown to be important for podocyte homeostasis. In fact, although neither *Rac1* nor *RhoA* podocyte specific KO in mice led to foot process effacement or proteinuria, *Cdc42* KO led to collapsing FSGS and induced abnormal junctional complexes in podocytes (Scott, Hawley et al. 2012).

INF2

Mutations in *INF2*, encoding the inverted formin 2, cause an autosomal dominant form of FSGS in early adulthood (Brown, Schlondorff et al. 2010) potentially associated with a Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy (Boyer, Nevo et al. 2011). INF2 is an effector of Cdc42 and is able to promote linear actin polymerization through the so-called formin homology domains (FH1 and FH2). INF2 can also promote the depolymerization of actin microfilaments (Chhabra and Higgs 2006). INF2 belongs to the group of "diaphanous formins" that have the particularity of auto-inhibition *via* interaction between an N-terminal diaphanous inhibitory domain (DID) and a C-terminal diaphanous auto-regulatory domain (DAD) (Chhabra and Higgs 2006). Interestingly all the mutations leading to FSGS are located on the DID domain. INF2 DID domain can also bind to the DAD domain of the "mammalian diaphanous related formin" mDia and inhibit its Rho-activated actin polymerization, lamellipodial dynamics and trafficking of slit diaphragm proteins from the ER to the plasma membrane (Sun, Schlondorff et al. 2013). Interestingly, INF2 can also interact with the slit diaphragm associated protein IQGAP1 (Bartolini, Andres-Delgado et al. 2016).

α -actinin-4

The α -actinin proteins crosslink actin filaments and act as scaffolds for the assembly of larger protein complexes. These proteins have an actin binding domain, a rod domain, responsible for the crosslinking activity of actin filaments, and a calmodulin-like domain that regulates the actin crosslinking activity through calcium binding. Mutations in *ACTN4*, encoding α -actinin-4, lead to autosomal dominant FSGS (Kaplan, Kim et al. 2000) that manifests in adulthood. The mutations are localized to the actin binding domain and lead to an increased affinity for actin that becomes independent of calcium regulation (Weins, Schlondorff et al. 2007). This leads to the formation of α actinin-4/F-actin aggregates as observed in cell culture models (Weins, Schlondorff et al. 2007). Transgenic mice expressing *Actn4* mutations develop a kidney disease similar to that found in humans (Michaud, Lemieux et al. 2003, Henderson, Al-Waheeb et al. 2008). Interestingly, *Actn4* constitutive KO mice develop podocyte foot process effacement and glomerulosclerosis, but similar to humans no other organ is affected (Kos, Le et al. 2003). This suggests that recessive loss-offunction mutations in *ACTN4* could be potentially found in humans.

Myosin 1E

MYO1E, encoding myosin 1E, has been found to be mutated in recessive forms of SRNS (Mele, latropoulos et al. 2011, Sanna-Cherchi, Burgess et al. 2011). It is a ubiquitously expressed non-muscle class I myosin. These proteins have a single motor domain, a neck domain that binds to calmodulin light chains, and a cargo binding tail domain. Moreover, in podocytes non-muscle myosins are known to form a complex with actin and utrophin that attaches to the basement membrane through α and β dystroglycans (Faul, Asanuma et al. 2007, Nabet, Tsai et al. 2009). *Myo1e* KO mice develop glomerular disease and proteinuria as well as GBM widening (Krendel, Kim et al. 2009) and *in vitro* silencing of myosin 1E in conditionally immortalized podocytes leads to actin cytoskeleton rearrangement and changes in migration, proliferation and decreased adhesion to basement membrane components (Mao, Wang et al. 2013). Moreover, silencing of myosin 1E also disrupts endocytosis (Mao, Wang et al. 2013), which can be explained by its interaction with the endocytic proteins dynamin and synaptojanin (Krendel, Osterweil et al. 2007).

Interestingly, mutations in another myosin, the non-muscle myosin IIa heavy chain, encoded by *MYH9*, cause an autosomal dominant disease of which the main features are

macrothrombocytopenia and leukocyte inclusions, and in a few cases a glomerulopathy (Singh, Nainani et al. 2009).

Anillin

ANLN was recently found to be mutated in two families with autosomal dominant FSGS (Gbadegesin, Hall et al. 2014). Anillin is an F actin binding protein that is known to be important for cell division (Watanabe, Okawa et al. 2010) and cell growth (Suzuki, Daigo et al. 2005). Suggesting its importance for the maintenance of the slit-diaphragm structure in podocytes, in several other types of epithelial cells anillin plays a main role on the maintenance of an apical actomyosin belt and on the regulation of cell-cell junctions, through the control of Rho-GTP and adducin-γ distribution at cell-cell contacts (Reyes, Jin et al. 2014, Wang, Chadha et al. 2015). In podocytes, it is known to interact with key proteins for the actin cytoskeleton, such as RhoA, CD2AP and mDIA2 (Monzo, Gauthier et al. 2005, Watanabe, Okawa et al. 2010, Reyes, Jin et al. 2014). Interestingly, the identified human mutations decrease the interaction with its binding partner CD2AP and overexpression of mutant anillin in immortalized podocytes leads to increased podocyte motility, compared to the WT (Gbadegesin, Hall et al. 2014).

Genetics of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome

To date, mutations in more than 40 genes have been identified as a cause of Mendelian SRNS in humans, defining SRNS as a disease with high genetic heterogeneity. These genes encode proteins essential for podocyte actin cytoskeleton and slit diaphragm associated proteins (as reviewed in the previous chapter), but also genes crucial for the microtubule cytoskeleton organisation, adhesion of podocytes to the underlying basement membrane, proteins related to cell polarity, transcription factors, nuclear envelop proteins, and genes essential for mitochondrial or even lysosomal function. All these are detailed in **Table 1**.

In a recent study where 27 known genes for SRNS were tested for the presence of mutations in 1.783 unrelated families worldwide (2016 individuals), a monogenic cause was detected in roughly 30% of the cases with disease onset before 25 years of age (Sadowski, Lovric et al. 2015). Overall the *NPHS2* gene was the most frequently mutated gene between 1 and 18 years of age (Sadowski, Lovric et al. 2015). As described in previous studies (Hinkes, Mucha et al. 2007, Santin, Bullich et al. 2011, McCarthy, Bierzynska et al. 2013), successful identification of the underlying causal mutation was higher when SRNS manifested in the first 3 months of life (\approx 70%) and gradually decreased with increasing age, being only 11% between 13 and 18 years old (Sadowski, Lovric et al. 2015). These findings support the concept that later in life some SRNS cases may be multifactorial in nature, with multiple genetic variants influencing susceptibility to the disease in response to noxious environmental factors.

The most frequently mutated genes in congenital and infantile NS are *NPHS1*, *NPHS2*, *WT1*, *LAMB2* and *PLCE1*, and their mutations are of autosomal recessive transmission (Sadowski, Lovric et al. 2015). Autosomal dominant mutations in *INF2* and *TRPC6* are more frequent in young adults and have incomplete penetrance and variable expressivity (Brown, Pollak et al. 2014, Sadowski, Lovric et al. 2015). The fact that AD diseases present later in life and have a more variable phenotype is not restricted to SRNS or kidney diseases, and likely depends on other genetic as well as environmental factors.

Table 1. Genes	s implicated i	n primary	GFB defects	leading to SRNS
----------------	----------------	-----------	--------------------	-----------------

Gene	Protein	Mode of inheritance	Clinical phenotype	Reference
Encoding pro				
NPHS1	Nephrin	AR	CoNS and infantile SRNS	(Kestila, Lenkkeri et al. 1998)
NPHS2	Podocin	AR	Infantile and childhood SRNS	(Boute, Gribouval et al. 2000)
CD2AP	CD2-associated protein	AR	Infantile SRNS	(Kim, Wu et al. 2003)
TRPC6	Short transient receptor	AD	Juvenile and adult-onset FSGS	(Winn, Conlon et al. 2005)
	potential channel 6			
FAT1	FAT atypical cadherin 1	AR	Childhood SRNS	(Gee, Sadowski et al. 2016)
MAGI2	Membrane-Associated	AR	CoNS, childhood-onset SRNS	(Bierzynska, Soderquest et al.
	Guanylate Kinase Inverted 2			2017)
CRB2	Crumbs homolog 2	AR	Early-onset SRNS	(Ebarasi, Ashraf et al. 2015) (Slavotinek, Kaylor et al. 2015)
Encodina pro	teins related to the cytoskeleton	L		(Slavotiller, Raylor et al. 2013)
ACTN4	α-actinin-4	AD	Juvenile and adult-onset FSGS	(Kaplan, Kim et al. 2000)
INF2	Inverted formin-2	AD	Juvenile and adult-onset FSGS	(Brown, Schlondorff et al. 2010)
MYO1E	Unconventional myosin IE	AR	FSGS	(Mele, latropoulos et al. 2011)
МҮН9	Myosin, heavy chain 9	AD	FSGS Macrothrombocytopenia	(Ghiggeri, Caridi et al. 2003)
			with sensorineural deafness,	
			Epstein syndrome, Sebastian	
			syndrome, Fechtner syndrome	
ARHGAP24	Rho-GTPase-activating protein 24	AD	Infantile and juvenile FSGS	(Akilesh, Suleiman et al. 2011)
ARHGDIA	Rho GDP-dissociation inhibitor	AR	CoNS	(Gupta, Baldwin et al. 2013)
ANLN	Anillin	AD	Adult onset FSGS	(Gbadegesin, Hall et al. 2014)
KANK1/2/4	Kidney ankyrin repeat-	AR	Childhood SSNS/SRNS	(Gee, Zhang et al. 2015)
	containing protein 1/2/4			
TTC21B	Tetratricopeptide repeat domain 21B	AR	Nephronophthisis , FSGS	(Huynh Cong, Bizet et al. 2014)
WDR73	WD repeat domain 73	AR	Galloway-Mowat syndrome, SRNS/FSGS	(Colin, Huynh Cong et al. 2014)
Encoding nuc	lear proteins	I		
WT1	Wilms tumour protein	AD	Denys–Drash syndrome, Frasier syndrome or isolated SRNS	(Pelletier, Bruening et al. 1991)
LMX1B	LIM homeobox transcription	AD	Nail patella syndrome	(Dreyer, Zhou et al. 1998)
	factor 1β			
PAX2	Paired box gene 2	AD	Adult-onset FSGS, Renal coloboma syndrome	(Barua, Stellacci et al. 2014), (Amiel, Audollent et al. 2000)
MAFB	MAF BZIP Transcription Factor B	AD	Carpo-tarsal osteolysis progressive ESRD	(Zankl, Duncan et al. 2012)
LMNA	Lamin A/ C	XD	Familial partial lipodystrophy, FSGS	(Thong, Xu et al. 2013)
NXF5	Nuclear RNA export factor 5	XR	SRNS/FSGS cardiac conduction disorder	(Esposito, Lea et al. 2013)
NUP93	Nucleoporin 93kD	AR	Infantile SRNS	(Braun, Sadowski et al. 2016)
NUP205	Nucleoporin 205kD	AR	Infantile SRNS, BAV	(Braun, Sadowski et al. 2016)
XPO5	Exportin 5	AR	Infantile SRNS	(Braun, Sadowski et al. 2016)
NUP107	Nucleoporin 107kD	AR	Early childhood-onset SRNS/FSGS	(Miyake, Tsukaguchi et al. 2015)
SMARCAL1	SWI/SNF-related matrix-	AD	Schimke immuno-osseous	(Boerkoel, Takashima et al. 2002)
	associated actin-dependent		dysplasia	
	regulator of chromatin			
	subfamily A-like protein 1			

Encoding GB				
LAMB2	Laminin subunit β2	AR	CoNS (either isolated or as an aspect of Pierson syndrome)	(Zenker, Aigner et al. 2004)
ITGB4	Integrin β4	AR	Epidermolysis bullosa	(Vidal, Aberdam et al. 1995)
ITGA3	Integrin α3	AR	Epidermolysis bullosa, Interstitial lung disease, SRNS/FSGS	(Nicolaou, Margadant et al. 2012)
CD151	CD151 tetraspanin	AR	Epidermolysis bullosa, Sensorineural deafness, ESRD	(Karamatic Crew, Burton et al. 2004)
Encoding mit	cochondrial proteins			
COQ2	4-hydroxybenzoate- polyprenyltransferase, mitochondrial	AR	Early onset SRNS, coenzyme Q_{10} deficiency	(Diomedi-Camassei, Di Giandomenico et al. 2007)
COQ6	Ubiquinone biosynthesis monooxygenase COQ6	AR	SRNS with sensorineural deafness	(Heeringa, Chernin et al. 2011)
PDSS2	Decaprenyl- diphosphatesynthase subunit 2	AR	SRNS, coenzyme Q ₁₀ deficiency	(Lopez, Schuelke et al. 2006)
ADCK4	AarF domain containing kinase 4	AR	Childhood-onset SRNS, CoQ10 deficiency	(Ashraf, Gee et al. 2013)
MTTL1	Mitochondrial Leu (UUR) tRNA	AR	MELAS, diabetes, deafness and glomerular lesions	(Goto, Nonaka et al. 1990)
Encoding lyse				
SCARB2	Lysosome membrane protein 2	AR	Action myoclonus and renal failure	(Berkovic, Dibbens et al. 2008)
Encoding oth				
PLCE1	1-phosphatidylinositol 4,5- bisphosphate phosphodiesterase ε1	AR	Infantile and early childhood SRNS	(Hinkes, Wiggins et al. 2006)
PTPRO	Receptor-type tyrosine-protein phosphatase O	AR	SRNS	(Ozaltin, Ibsirlioglu et al. 2011)
EMP2	Epithelial membrane protein 2	AD	Childhood SRNS/SSNS	(Gee, Ashraf et al. 2014)
DGKE	Diacylglycerol kinase-ε	AR	Atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome, membranoproliferative lesions	(Lemaire, Fremeaux-Bacchi et al. 2013)

Abbreviations: CoNS, congenital nephrotic syndrome; MELAS, mitochondrial encephalomyopathy, lactic acidosis and stroke-like episodes.

Genetic susceptibility factors and oligogenism

Several genetic susceptibility factors for FSGS have been identified in recent years through genomewide association studies (GWAS) or other high throughput techniques. GWAS permits analysis of the genome in large populations of interest and may provide evidence for non-rare variants linked to specific traits. The most significant advance in this field was the discovery of the *apolipoprotein L1* (*APOL1*) risk variants for FSGS in African Americans with HIV or hypertension (Genovese, Friedman et al. 2010). The risk alleles, commonly designated *G1* and *G2*, are enriched in West Africa originating populations as a result of the resistance to Trypanosomiasis in carriers of one of the alleles (Thomson, Genovese et al. 2014). However, the presence of both alleles greatly increases the risk of primary FSGS (odd ratio (OR) =17), HIV associated FSGS (OR=29) and hypertensive nephropathy (OR=7) in African Americans (Genovese, Friedman et al. 2010, Kopp, Nelson et al. 2011). The presence of two risk alleles is frequent in this population (13%) and can account for the high prevalence of FSGS and chronic kidney disease which has long been known to be characteristic of this ethnic group. The mechanisms behind the increased risk are still not completely understood but recent studies suggest that it could be related to activated inflammasomes, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress or autophagy defects (Heymann, Winkler et al. 2017).

In another study, researchers investigated the genetic susceptibility to FSGS on a population of European ancestry, where APOL1 variants are quite rare (0.03%). They used a combined approach of gene panel high-throughput sequencing, targeting 2.500 podocyte expressed genes, and functional testing in mice with a susceptible genetic background, that could model FSGS as an oligogenic disease (Yu, Artomov et al. 2016). These mice were heterozygous for two podocyte genes, *Cd2ap* and *Synpo*, and developed FSGS in 25-50% of cases at 6 months (Huber, Kwoh et al. 2006). Six potential FSGS susceptibility genes (*WNK4*, *DLG5*, *KAT2B*, *KANK1*, *KANK2*, and *ARHGEF17*) identified by gene panel sequencing were silenced using a podocyte-specific and doxicycline inducible transactivator of the specific shRNA in the double heterozygous *Cd2ap*, *Synpo* mice. The development of significantly higher proteinuria with the silencing of the candidate gene allowed the identification of *WNK4*, *KANK1*, and *ARHGEF17* as new FSGS susceptibility genes (Yu, Artomov et al. 2016). *KAT2B* silencing led to a trend for higher proteinuria but not reaching statistical significance, as well as areas of podocyte foot process effacement. Interestingly *KANK1* and *KANK2* recessive mutations had previously been identified in several families with steroid-sensitive or steroid-dependent NS (Gee, Zhang et al. 2015).

These studies highlight the importance of considering oligogenic inheritance and genetic epistasis to, at least partially, explain intrafamilial phenotypic variability. In recent years these cases have come

into focus due to the increased availability of next generation sequencing (NGS) techniques which have allowed sequencing of multiple genes. For example, in a family diagnosed with Alport syndrome due to hemizygous mutations in COL4A5, the early onset and severity of the disease in two cases in the same family led to the discovery of additional homozygous mutations in MYO1E a known podocytopathy gene (Lennon, Stuart et al. 2015). Moreover, in several cohorts of SRNS patients, heterozygous variants in one additional SRNS gene were also found for a few affected individuals (Lowik, Levtchenko et al. 2008, Voskarides, Arsali et al. 2012, Bullich, Trujillano et al. 2015) and in some cases associated with a more severe phenotype, suggesting the existence of genetic epistasis (Voskarides, Arsali et al. 2012, Bullich, Trujillano et al. 2015). Outside the kidney field there are several examples of digenic or oligogenic inheritance. Analysis of 11 known genes of congenital hypothyroidism by NGS revealed oligogenic involvement in 39 of 177 unrelated patients, but no enrichment on rare variants in these genes were found in 3.583 controls (de Filippis, Gelmini et al. 2017). Margolin et al. reported that the syndrome of hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, ataxia, and dementia can be caused by the combination of mutations in RNF216 and OTUD4, both encoding proteins related to ubiquitination, and leading to a more severe disease than RNF216 mutations alone (Margolin, Kousi et al. 2013). Others have reported digenic inheritance on facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy type 2 (Lemmers, Tawil et al. 2012). In this case, a mutation in SMCHD1, encoding the protein structural maintenance of chromosomes flexible hinge domain containing 1 (SMCHD1), leads to an epigenetic modification on the previously known disease locus D4Z4-array and to increased expression of the encoded protein DUX4, resulting in facioscapulohumeral dystrophy (Lemmers, Tawil et al. 2012). Recently, another group described digenic inheritance for hypoplastic left heart syndrome. Interestingly, in this case, potentially causal genes were evidenced by a genetic screen in mice, and two of these genes were then found to be mutated in one affected patient (Liu, Yagi et al. 2017).

Interestingly, oligogenism may not only be the cause of a more severe disease phenotype of a well defined clinical entity, but may also explain the existence of other phenotypic manifestations outside the known spectrum for a given disease. In fact, recently, Posey et al. reviewed 2076 patients referred for whole-exome-sequencing and found that 4.9% of the patients had two to four molecular diagnostics, involving known disease associated genes, each leading to a different phenotype (Posey, Harel et al. 2017). Others have also reported rare "syndromes" where the phenotype is actually the result of mutations in two different and unrelated genes. This is the case of the very rare "Fitzsimmons syndrome" (Armour, Smith et al. 2016) and may also apply to other syndromes reported in OMIM database, which do not have a molecular diagnosis. Due to the existence of

oligogenism, some authors state that reports of "phenotype expansion" of a rare disease can be sometimes the result of co-occurrences of mutations in different genes (Boycott and Innes 2017).

While genes already associated to well defined clinical entities may be easily identified by exome sequencing and the resulting phenotype clearly delineated in patients, even in cases of oligogenism, the finding of variants in genes previously not linked to a disease poses a big challenge. For this, using large-scale international data sharing may prove to be of great value, allowing the identification of very rare unknown variants and their common phenotypes. This is the case of Genematcher (https://genematcher.org/) (Sobreira, Schiettecatte et al. 2015) or Matchmaker Exchange 7 (http://www.matchmakerexchange.org/) (Philippakis, Azzariti et al. 2015).

Mendelian forms: Non-syndromic vs syndromic SRNS

In monogenic SRNS, mutations in specific genes, such as *NPHS1*, *NPHS2*, *PLCE1*, *ACTN4*, *INF2*, *TRPC6*, *MYO1E* or *ADCK4*, among others, result in a kidney restricted phenotype, and are classified as nonsyndromic SRNS. However, mutations in one single gene can also lead to additional organ involvement besides the kidney. When multiple organs are affected we can speak of syndromic SRNS. Extra-renal manifestations may be even more prominent or present earlier than the kidney defect itself. In most cases the affected organ is the central nervous system, but the genital tract, eye, muscle, heart, bone and the immune system can also be affected.

There are multiple genes associated with syndromic SRNS, detailed in **Table 1**, including genes encoding transcription factors such as *WT1* and *LMX1B*, chromatin remodeling proteins such as *SMARCAL1*, proteins from the nuclear envelope *NXF5* or *NUP*93, mitochondrial proteins, i.e. *COQ2*, *COQ10*, *PDSS2*, or the mitochondrial leucine tRNA encoded by *MT-TL1*, lysosomal proteins such as *SCARB2*, GBM components or adhesion molecules, such as *LAMB2* and *ITGA3*, and some cytoskeleton proteins such as *WDR73*, *INF2* and *MYH9*. Multiple cellular pathways are thus associated to podocytopathies, underlining the complexity of these cells and the importance of considering other biological pathways besides the ones directly linked to the actin cytoskeleton or the slit diaphragm.

In some instances the affected organs correspond to the expression pattern of the mutated gene, as occurs for LAMB2. However, this is not always the case. For example, mutations in genes that are ubiquitously expressed may result in only a podocyte specific effect, as for *ACTN4*, *TRPC6*, *MYO1E* or *ADCK4* genes (Kaplan, Kim et al. 2000, Winn, Conlon et al. 2005, Sanna-Cherchi, Burgess et al. 2011, Ashraf, Gee et al. 2013), or affect just a few other organs besides the kidney, such as *INF2* (neuropathy) (Brown, Schlondorff et al. 2010), *NFX5* (cardiac conduction defects) (Esposito, Lea et al. 2013) or *WDR73* (neurological defects) (Colin, Huynh Cong et al. 2014). This finding may be due to the absence of redundant or modifier pathways in the affected cell or tissue, or alternatively the affected cell/tissues may have a particularly high dependence on the implicated function or pathway.

NGS has allowed to better understand the complexity of the syndromic forms of SRNS and also highlighted its phenotypic variability. This is the case for the mutations found in the transcription factor WT1. Although classically associated to Frasier and Denys Drash syndromes, with prominent involvement of the kidney in both sexes and genital tract particularly in males (Pelletier, Bruening et al. 1991, Barbaux, Niaudet et al. 1997), recent cases of isolated SRNS have been identified, where no gonadal involvement is reported in XY patients (Mucha, Ozaltin et al. 2006).

NGS and the need for high-throughput functional testing in model organisms

Classically, studies aiming to identify new candidate genes associated with rare diseases have used linkage analysis to distinguish the disease locus, followed by Sanger sequencing of the genes within the locus in order to determine the gene harboring the disease causing mutations. The success of this type of research was based on the presence of a sufficient number of genetically informative kindred that could narrow the genetic locus to a manageable length for direct Sanger sequencing. Rare and potentially pathogenic variants that were found using this strategy were usually limited to one gene. Moreover, due to the high number of affected individuals within one or several families that had allowed the establishment of a small disease locus, there was such a strong genetic basis that not much doubt remained regarding their causality. Examples of the strength of this strategy are the discovery of *NPHS1* (Kestila, Lenkkeri et al. 1998) and *NPHS2* (Boute, Gribouval et al. 2000) genes, or *INF2* (Brown, Schlondorff et al. 2010) and *TRPC6* (Winn, Conlon et al. 2005), responsible for most cases of AR or AD SRNS, respectively.

Compared to the classic technique of Sanger sequencing, massive parallel NGS methods now offer faster sequencing of a targeted group of genes (gene panel sequencing), the coding part of the genome by whole exome sequencing (WES), or the entire genome by whole genome sequencing (WGS). In clinical practice diagnostic panels of known genes associated to SRNS are routinely used and offer similar accuracy to Sanger sequencing with vastly superior efficiency and speed and inferior cost.

WES or WGS are the techniques of choice for cases where no mutation has been found in known SRNS genes, hence justifying the search of potential pathogenic variations in new candidate genes. These techniques allow the fast and cost effective sequencing of thousands of genes in families that were previously insufficiently informative from a genetic point of view. Since 2009 (Ng, Turner et al. 2009), this great technological advance has allowed the discovery of mutations in multiple novel genes for Mendelian diseases, and specifically in SRNS.

However, variants found using these methods in single families with a small number of affected individuals with a presumably hereditary disease must be interpreted with caution. In fact, the human genome has a huge number of rare and private variants (Coventry, Bull-Otterson et al. 2010, Lupski, Belmont et al. 2011) and determining their pathogenicity is challenging. Although there are several statistical tools and online databases and softwares that help analysing and prioritizing variants, such as SIFT (http://sift.jcvi.org/), Polyphen (http://genetics.bwh.harvard.edu/pph2/), Mutation Taster (http://www.mutationtaster.org/) and SDM

(http://mordred.bioc.cam.ac.uk/~sdm/sdm.php) (Liu, Jian et al. 2011, Petrovski, Wang et al. 2013, Lek, Karczewski et al. 2016), understanding the pathogenicity of the variants relies on functional studies. This highlights the need for the development of model organisms that ideally allow a fast high-throughput analysis of the variant pathogenicity.

Mouse models have been used extensively in renal research and are clearly a powerful model organism. However, murine studies are quite time consuming and expensive, even with the new regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats/Cas9 (CRISPR/Cas9) technique. Moreover the analysis of more complex genetic traits can prove to be even more difficult in this model. In addition, although mice and humans have a high genetic homology, there are several examples where no phenotype has been found in mice despite the fact that mutations in the gene are actually disease causative in humans, namely for *PLCE1* (Wang, Oestreich et al. 2005). This may be due to different tissue expression pattern in rodents or to redundant functions between paralog genes that can be completely overlapping in mice but less in humans.

The Zebrafish is an alternative vertebrate model organism. In fact, renal research in the recent decades has highlighted strong similarities with the mammalian renal system as well as its potential to study kidney genetic diseases and renal regeneration. Its main disadvantage may be their genome duplication that can lead to a high degree of redundancy between genes, complicating KO studies.

In the next chapter I will expose the advantages of the *Drosophila* model for the study of genetic renal diseases, in particular podocytopathies.

The *Drosophila* model as a tool to study podocytopathies and more...

Drosophila for the study of human diseases

D. melanogaster is a powerful model organism. Its short life cycle (10 days at 25°C) (**Figure 12**) allows for the rapid generation of transgenic flies, to efficiently perform genetic combinations, and to generate a large number of individuals. The cost of keeping fly stocks is much lower than that of other model organisms such as mice or zebrafish. Moreover, since the beginning of the 20th century, a large array of molecular biological tools has been developed for this model organism.



Figure 12. The life cycle of *Drosophila melanogaster* and its chromosomes. (A) At 25°C the life cycle of fruit flies is around 10 days: Embryonic development lasts 21h; hatched larvae (1st instar) take 1 day to molt into 2nd instar larvae and these take 1 more day to molt into 3rd instar larvae; 3rd instar larvae pupariate at the 5th day of the life cycle and undergo metamorphosis; 10 days after, adult flies emerge from the pupal case and are sexually mature after 8 hours. These times are doubled when flies are raised at 18°C. (B) Representation of *Drosophila* male and female mitotic chromosomes, showing one pair of heterosomes and three autosomal chromosomes (II-IV). (C) Schematic representation of *Drosophila* polytene chromosomes, which have a banding pattern that is used for cytogenetic mapping of gene loci (black numbers). The 2nd and 3rd chromosomes are further divided in left (L) and right (R) by the centrosome (dot). Adapted from Prokop *et al.* 2013.

In *Drosophila* a high degree of phylogenetic conservation is known for genes that control fundamental biological processes. This was extended to human disease genes by a study where a detailed cross-genomic analysis was done between all human disease genes in OMIM (Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man, https://www.omim.org/) and the *Drosophila* genome. The authors found that 75% of human disease genes have a homolog in flies (Reiter, Potocki et al. 2001).

Compared to humans, flies have a lower genomic redundancy, i.e. only one or few genes code for several members of a protein family in mammals. Interestingly, it has been shown that genes that are essential for viability in *Drosophila* and have several human homologs are much more likely to cause Mendelian diseases (Yamamoto, Jaiswal et al. 2014). These authors propose that when a single essential fly gene has multiple copies in humans, the homologs will have partially redundant functions and are therefore not likely to be embryonic lethal in humans but prone to a particular disease upon loss of function (**Figure 13**). Nevertheless, this rule does not apply in all cases, as in several late onset degenerative diseases, such as Parkinson or Alzheimer, the homolog fly gene is not essential for fly viability.



Figure 13. Simplified evolutionary patterns of essential genes and their association with Mendelian disorders. Evolutionary relationships between essential fly genes and human genes based on common ancestry. In the cases of genes with only one human homolog (grey, gene A), these are likely to play essential roles in flies and in humans leading to early lethality or very severe congenital diseases. For conserved essential genes in which one fly gene is related to multiple homologs in humans (green genes, B1,B2,B3) there is enrichment of organ specific diseases due to tissue specific expression in vertebrates and/or because each vertebrate homolog takes non-redundant functions. Adapted from Wangler *et al.* 2015.

In general terms, there are three main ways of studying human disease in flies: 1) reverse genetics, 2) diagnostic strategy (recently established to help discover human disease-causing genes) and 3) forward genetics (Ugur, Chen et al. 2016) (**Figure 14**).

Reverse genetics is the approach used to discover the functions of genes of interest and study their phenotypes *in vivo*. It applies to cases where the desired outcome is the understanding of the molecular mechanisms or functions of genes that are associated with human diseases. For this purpose loss or gain of function studies are used, either creating new mutants or using already existing mutants and transgenic flies available at international stock centers (i.e. Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center (BDSC), Vienna *Drosophila* Resource Center (VDRC)). In addition, the pathogenic mechanism of specific human mutations can be assessed by overexpression of the WT or the mutant gene in a specific tissue (Feany and Bender 2000) or more recently using the CRISPR/Cas9 strategy.

Diagnostic genetics correspond to a subtype of reverse genetics. In this case the *Drosophila* model is used to assess the pathogenicity of new mutations that have been identified in human diseases (either in new candidate genes or in already known candidate genes, if the pathogenicity of the mutations is not established). First, the expression of the fly homolog is silenced and the phenotype is assessed. Subsequently the WT or the human or fly gene harboring the identified mutation is expressed and causality is determined if the rescue is achieved by the WT but not the mutated gene (Bellen and Yamamoto 2015, Wangler, Yamamoto et al. 2015).

Forward genetics on the other hand, begins with a large unbiased screen in flies using RNA interference (RNAi) screens, chemical mutagenesis (ethylmethanesulfonate (EMS)) or transposonmediated mutagenesis, and then looking for a specific phenotype of interest. Subsequently mutated genes that lead to the phenotype of interest are identified using libraries of genetic deletions that cover the whole fly genome. This strategy can help to identify new genes linked to a disease or discover unsuspected underlying biological mechanisms.



Figure 14. Genetic strategies used in *Drosophila* **for the study of human diseases.** Three types of strategies are proposed and described in the schema. New human disease candidate genes and mutations found by whole exome sequencing (WES) can be studied using the diagnostic strategy. Adapted from Ugur *et al.* 2016.

Besides assessing the pathogenicity of a mutation or understanding the molecular mechanisms of a disease, the fly model can also be used to perform second site modifier screens in order to identify loci that may enhance or suppress the disease phenotype (Pagliarini and Xu 2003). This may be particularly helpful for studying diseases with variable expressivity or penetrance, where oligogenism is suspected. Moreover, flies can be used for drug screening of large libraries of chemical compounds (Steffan, Bodai et al. 2001).

In flies, observation of cells and tissues *in vivo* or *ex vivo* is relatively easy due to the small organ size and low complexity. Analysis of cardiac disease in flies, for instance, can be feasible. The simple anatomy of the fly heart, a heart tube, although not suitable to model problems specific to the 4 chambers of mammalian hearts, has a very conserved mechanism of development through evolution and is experimentally amenable to physiological testing and manipulation (Wessells and Bodmer 2004, Wessells, Fitzgerald et al. 2004).

All these factors have allowed the fly model to be successfully used for the discovery of mechanisms underlying several human diseases, such as developmental disorders, neurological disorders and cancer (Bier 2005).

Genetic Tools in Drosophila

Of all animal models, *Drosophila* has one of the most advanced molecular genetics tool kits. The fly genome was one of the first to be sequenced and all genes are annotated in public databases (FlyBase; http://flybase.org/). Tools include transgenesis with transposable elements, targeted gene expression systems such as the bipartite GAL4:UAS, libraries of genetic deletions covering the whole fly genome, RNAi constructs (Mohr 2014) for virtually all *Drosophila* genes, as well as the recent CRISPR/Cas9 that can allow the targeted disruption of a gene and the knock-in of mutations (Beumer and Carroll 2014) (**Figure 15**). Transgenic flies carrying a genetic construct of interest can also be obtained by using the PhiC31 integrase system. A plasmid containing the gene or cDNA of interest flanked by attB sites and a phenotypic marker is injected into an attP-containing docking site fly strain with PhiC31 activity. Phi-C31 integrase then mediates sequence directed irreversible integration of the genetic construct and mutants are selected through the presence of the phenotypic marker.

Cell type-specific gene manipulation through the use of the GAL4:UAS system is also possible (Brand and Perrimon 1993). GAL4:UAS is a bipartite expression system that relies on transcriptional activation by the yeast protein GAL4 to express a genetic construct placed downstream of multiple
GAL4 binding sites (**Figure 15**). Large collections of different promoter elements driving the expression of GAL4 (drivers) are available and allow the expression of the genetic construct in a tissue- or even cell-specific pattern. Through manipulation with molecular switches (i.e. GAL80 suppressor) gene expression can also be turned on or off. This allows a temporally controlled switch of the gene of interest and hypotheses can be tested even in the context of a lethal phenotype.

Another advantage of *Drosophila* is the existence of balancer chromosomes, these are genetically modified chromosomes, lethal or causing sterility in homozygosis, that do not allow recombination and that carry easily identifiable phenotypic markers. Balancer chromosomes thus allow to maintain a stock with mutations that would be otherwise lethal, or to know the genotype of flies from a mating scheme by looking to the phenotypic markers, without having to perform classic genotyping.



Figure 15. Some of the strategies for genetic manipulation in *Drosophila*. (A) Loss of function (LOF) alleles for a candidate gene can be obtained from large public *Drosophila* collections and from other laboratories. Chemical mutagenesis with EMS leads to point mutations (red flash). Transposable elements insertions (green triangle) can lead to gene disruption or deletion alleles via imprecise excision. More recently CRISPR/Cas9 strategy has also been used to create LOF alleles or to introduce specific mutations in the genes of interest, allowing to study the effect of these variants at endogenous levels of protein expression. (B) GAL4:UAS binary system for expressing a gene of interest with spatial and temporal control. Transgenic flies carry a cDNA for the gene of interest, under the control of the yeast upstream activating sequence (UAS). A huge collection of 'driver lines' are available, which express the yeast GAL4 transcriptional activator (purple) in different tissues. A genetic cross brings these elements together, activating the expression of the cDNA when the GAL4 binds to the UAS sequence. (C) GAL4:UAS binary system for the KD of a gene via RNA interference (RNAi). Transgenic RNAis strains for nearly all *Drosophila* genes are available in public stock collections. The GAL4 driver will define the tissue specificity of the KD. Adapted from Wangler *et al.* 2017.

The Drosophila excretory system – an analogy to the human kidney

The renal excretory system in flies is considered to be composed of nephrocyte cells that filter hemolymph and then endocytose and metabolize the filtered macromolecules, and the Malpighian tubules, which excrete ions and water, regulating the fly hydro-electrolytic equilibrium (Helmstadter and Simons 2017) (Figure 16). Contrary to the vertebrate kidney where these two functions are coupled in one sole unit, the nephron, these two components are physically separated in flies. Functionally, the nephrocyte represents the podocyte and the first segment of the mammalian tubule (proximal tubule), responsible, respectively, for filtration and the reabsorption of small molecular weight proteins and other small molecules that pass the GFB. The Malpighian tubule on the other hand, represents the more distal parts of the nephron that finely regulate the water and ion balance by complex ion pump dependent mechanisms. This thesis will mainly focus on the nephrocyte and its similarities to the podocyte.



Figure 16. Homology between human and *Drosophila* **excretory systems. (A,B)** Schematic drawings of the mammalian nephron and the *Drosophila* excretory system. In *Drosophila*, filtration and endocytosis occurs in the nephrocyte while fluid and ion secretion is performed by the Malpighian tubule. **(C,D)** Schematic drawings of foot processes (FP) and slit diaphragms (SD) of podocytes (left) and nephrocytes (right), highlighting their similarity. **(E-H)** SEM and TEM pictures of the mammalian nephrocyte (mouse samples) **(E,F)** and the *Drosophila* nephrocyte (**G,H**). **(I)** Main functions of the nephrocyte include filtration of hemolymph followed by endocytosis of low molecular weight proteins and toxins that undergo further metabolism or storage in the nephrocyte. **(J)** Detailed schematic of the nephrocyte with its basement membrane (BM), SD and deep labyrinthine channels. Note the active endocytic machinery at the foot process lateral membranes leading to the formation of prominent "vacuoles". Adapted from Simons *et al.* 2009 and Denholm *et al.* 2009.

The nephrocyte and the nephrocyte filtration barrier

Although nephrocytes have been known since the end of the 19th century (Kovalevskij 1892), it has been less than a decade since these cells were proposed to be podocyte-like cells with a slit diaphragm. It was in 2009 that Weavers et al., followed by Zhang et al. in the same year, performed a detailed ultrastructural, molecular and functional study of the nephrocyte (Weavers, Prieto-Sanchez et al. 2009, Zhuang, Shao et al. 2009). Nephrocytes were found to have extensive invaginations of the plasma membrane that create the so-called "labyrinthine channels" and, between them, structures analogous to the podocyte foot processes (**Figure 16**). These structures are linked by slit diaphragms that are composed of the homologous proteins of the mammalian slit diaphragm. These comprise the imunoglobulin-superfamily proteins Kin-of-irre (Kirre) corresponding to Neph1 and Sns (Sticksand-stones) corresponding to nephrin, as well as slit diaphragm adaptor proteins such as Mec2, corresponding to podocin, Cindr corresponding to CD2AP and other partners described in **Figure 17**.



Figure 17. Molecular homology between the components of the podocyte and the nephrocyte slit diaphragm. Shown are the main components of both the human and *Drosophila* slit diaphragm. The correspondence between the human and the fly homologs is depicted in the figure. Adapted from Helmstädter *et al.* 2017.

The interactions of these proteins in *Drosophila* closely replicate the mammalian ones. Interestingly Sns, Kirre and related proteins from the imunoglobulin-superfamily serve as cell-recognition molecules and participate in several cellular interactions, such as myoblast fusion, axonal pathfinding and target recognition, controlling the exact positioning of primary pigment cells and interommatidial cells in the compound eye. Loss of one of these homologs leads to misalignment of the ommatidia and a "rough" appearance of the eye (Fischbach, Linneweber et al. 2009).

The nephrocyte slit diaphragm has a size selective permeability, discriminating between molecules of different size and allowing the passage of small molecular proteins, up to a recently defined cut-off of around 70KDa (Zhang, Zhao et al. 2013, Hermle, Braun et al. 2017), as in mammals. The nephrocyte slit diaphragm is of approximately the same size of the mammalian one, around 30nm (Weavers, Prieto-Sanchez et al. 2009). Besides the slit diaphragm, it has been shown that the basement membrane that surrounds these cells is negatively charged, also participates in filter

functions and is composed of collagen type IV produced by the nephrocyte (Hermle, Braun et al. 2017), as is the case in the mammalian GFB.

The nephrocyte endocytic machinery

After filtration by the slit diaphragm, macromolecules are further endocytosed in the nephrocyte "labyrinthine channels" or "lacunae". These have a tubular structure with multiple subdivisions that create a large membrane surface, known to have a highly active endocytic machinery, first described in 1972 (Wigglesworth 1972). Endocytosis is dynamin dependent for soluble macromolecules that pass the nephrocyte filter and seems to be dependent on a process of macropinocytosis regulated by Rudhira, a nephrocyte specific cytoplasmic WD40 domain protein, for the uptake of colloidal material that could eventually occur at the tip of the foot processes (Kosaka and Ikeda 1983, Das, Aradhya et al. 2008). Following the labyrinthine channels, numerous clathrin coated vesicles, endosomes, vacuoles and lysosomes, organize in a circular fashion from the periphery to the center of the cell. Rab5- positive early endosomes can be observed on the very cell periphery and Rab7-positive later endosomes on a more central layer, followed by the lysosomes (Bechtel, Helmstadter et al. 2013, Lorincz, Lakatos et al. 2016) (Figure 18). RabGTPase function has recently been analyzed in a high throughput screen in Drosophila nephrocytes. About one third of Drosophila Rabs was shown to be important for normal nephrocyte activity. Rab5 silencing completely abolished all the intracellular vesicles and the labyrinthine channels. Gene silencing of Rab7 increased clear vacuoles and decreased lysosomes, suggesting a blockage later in the degradation pathway, and silencing of Rab 11 decreased clear vacuoles and increased the number of lysosomes, blocking as expected the recycling pathway (Fu, Zhu et al. 2017).



Figure 18. Distribution of endocytic vesicles in nephrocytes. TEM (left) and illustration (right) show the spatial organization of endocytic vesicles, that distribute from the cell periphery to the cell nucleus in early endosomes, late endosomes and lysosomes. Adapted from Fu *et al.* 2017 and Bechtel *et al.* 2013.

Interestingly, this highly active and dedicated endocytic machinery in nephrocytes has homologous receptors for protein reabsorption in the proximal tubule cells, cubilin and amnionless (Zhang, Zhao et al. 2013). This suggests that nephrocytes combine both podocyte and proximal tubule cell functions.

Nephrocyte subpopulations and development

Nephrocytes exist in two subpopulations: garland nephrocytes, which surround the esophagus, just above the proventriculus, and pericardial nephrocytes which flank the heart tube (**Figure 19**). In both cases they profit from the contracting movement of the adjacent organs, namely the esophagus and the heart, to have a dynamic contact with the hemolymph. This system can partially provide hemolymph flux and turnover necessary for an effective filtration, analogous to the pressure system in the capillary tuft of the glomerulus. Nephrocytes are physically fixed to the respective organs by their extracellular matrix and muscle fibers. For example, in the case of pericardial nephrocytes a dense extracellular matrix composed of laminin β , collagen IV α 1 and the protein pericardin, a *Drosophila* α chain type IV collagen like protein (Chartier, Zaffran et al. 2002, Hollfelder, Frasch et al. 2014), is known to surround both the pericardial nephrocytes and the heart tube, and to be important for their correct alignment (Chartier, Zaffran et al. 2002, Hollfelder, Frasch et al. 2014). Moreover, alary muscles spread between and around the nephrocytes and heart, also having both support and alignment functions (LaBeau, Trujillo et al. 2009). Interestingly, in our TEM studies we could see that these muscle-like cells touch the nephrocytes, sharing their basement membranes at the points of contact.



Figure 19. Nephrocyte subpopulations in *Drosophila*. Schematics showing the localization of garland nephrocytes and pericardial nephrocytes in larvae and adult flies. Garland nephrocytes can be found surrounding the oesophagus (OE), above the proventriculus (PV). Pericardial nephrocytes are on either side of the heart tube (HT). A (anterior) P (posterior). Adapted from Ivy *et al.* 2015.

Nephrocytes derive from the embryonic mesoderm, and although they decrease in number through the embryonic and larval stages, many persist into adult life (Sellin, Albrecht et al. 2006). For example, there are approximately 30 pericardial nephrocytes at the adult stage (Sellin, Albrecht et al. 2006). Pericardial nephrocytes are derived from the cardiac mesoderm, that also gives rise to the heart and the lymph gland (the source of hemocytes, the *Drosophila* blood cells) (Mandal, Banerjee et al. 2004), and is dependent on signaling pathways that also govern differentiation in the mammalian aorta-gonadal-mesonephros mesoderm, such as Decapentaplegic (Dpp), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), Wingless (Wg) and Notch signaling (Mandal, Banerjee et al. 2004). The garland nephrocytes, that number about 25 in the larval stage (Aggarwal and King 1967) and are also present in adult flies, develop from the procephalic mesoderm cells which also give rise to hemocytes as well as a rudimentary cephalic aorta (de Velasco, Mandal et al. 2006). Interestingly, garland nephrocytes become binucleated at embryonic stage 16 due to a process of fusion that seems to be mediated at least in part by the lg superfamily proteins, such as Kirre (Zhuang, Shao et al. 2009), already known to drive fusion mechanisms in myoblasts (Shelton, Kocherlakota et al. 2009). Interestingly the loss of Kirre or its over-expression leads to increased fusion in garland nephrocytes (Helmstadter, Luthy et al. 2012).

Several transcription factors have been implicated in nephrocyte viability, such as the basic Helix Loop Helix (bHLH) gene *Hand* (Han, Yi et al. 2006) and more recently the *Drosophila* homolog of the transcription factor KLF15, which is specific to both nephrocyte subpopulations. Loss of function of Klf15 (Ivy, Drechsler et al. 2015) leads to the loss of nephrocytes in larval and adult stages, even if they are initially present at the embryonic stage. Interestingly mammalian KLF15 has been shown to regulate renal fibrosis (Gao, Huang et al. 2011) as well as podocyte differentiation (Mallipattu, Liu et al. 2012). Moreover the polycomb gene complex is able to regulate the transcription factor Knot (corresponding to EBF2 in humans) that further regulates *Sns* (corresponding to *NPHS1* in humans) (Na, Sweetwyne et al. 2015).

The nephrocyte contribution to fly homeostasis and lifespan

One of the first functions ascribed to the nephrocytes was the capacity to store and/or secondarily metabolize toxic molecules (*Crossley 1985, Locke 1998*).

More recently, several authors have further demonstrated that dysfunctional nephrocytes due to genetically induced molecular defects were not able to store AgNO3 and that *Drosophila* larvae had reduced survival when exposed to medium containing this toxin (Das, Aradhya et al. 2008, Weavers, Prieto-Sanchez et al. 2009, Zhang, Zhao et al. 2013). However, no difference in larvae viability was seen with normal, non-toxic medium. Several studies have shown however a significant decrease in

the lifespan of adult flies with dysfunctional nephrocytes, even when not exposed to a particular toxin (Das, Aradhya et al. 2008, Fu, Zhu et al. 2017, Zhu, Fu et al. 2017). These results suggest that nephrocytes have a particularly important role in stress conditions and in ageing flies, but that animals can survive rather well without these cells. This is quite different to what happens in humans, where persistent podocytopathies lead to progressive glomerulosclerosis and loss of kidney function. Perhaps the physical separation of nephrocytes from Malpighian tubules permits the remaining cells to maintain fluid and electrolyte homeostasis, allowing fly survival in non-stress conditions.

Another interesting study showed that the absence of adult nephrocytes secondarily induced a cardiomyopathy (Hartley, Motamedchaboki et al. 2016). Analysis of the hemolymph proteome further showed a substantial impact on the quantitative and qualitative composition of hemolymph circulating proteins in flies with genetically induced loss of nephrocytes. Among these the matricellular protein Secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine (Sparc) was one with the highest increase upon nephrocyte ablation. Interestingly Sparc is a protein involved in mammalian cardiac function, and the authors were able to show that reducing Sparc ameliorated the cardiomyopathy that developed in the absence of nephrocytes.

The nephrocyte as a model for human podocytopathies

Since the nephrocyte presents a high degree of homology with the podocyte, and as this cell plays a main role in all glomerulosclerosis processes, several efforts have been made to develop the fly nephrocyte as a new *in vivo* model for podocytopathies. Encouragingly, the KD of Kirre, homolog of Neph1, or Sns, homolog of Nephrin, frequently mutated in congenital NS, results in a decreased number of nephrocyte diaphragms and smoothening of the foot processes (Weavers, Prieto-Sanchez et al. 2009, Zhuang, Shao et al. 2009), resembling the foot process effacement that is seen in human podocytopathies (**Figure 20**). This also occurs with the KD of Pyd (Zhuang, Shao et al. 2009), the homolog of mammalian ZO-1, that is known to interact with Neph1 (Huber, Schmidts et al. 2003), with Mec2 (Zhang, Zhao et al. 2013), homolog of podocin, and with many other genes known to be mutated in genetic forms of the NS (Fu, Zhu et al. 2017, Hermle, Braun et al. 2017). The loss of slit diaphragms also leads to decreased length and number of labyrinthine channels and this finally results in a decrease of protein uptake (Weavers, Prieto-Sanchez et al. 2009, Zhang, Zhao et al. 2013, Hermle, Braun et al. 2009, Zhang, Shao et al. 2013, member of labyrinthine channels and this finally results in a decrease of protein uptake (Weavers, Prieto-Sanchez et al. 2009, Zhang, Zhao et al. 2013, Hermle, Braun et al. 2017), probably due to a decrease in the available membrane surface for endocytosis.



Figure 20. Nephrocyte foot process effacement. (A,B) In physiological conditions nephrocytes show well formed foot processes with visible slit diaphragms and deep labyrinthine channels **(C,D)** Upon Sns KD there is foot process effacement with simultaneous disruption of labyrinthine channels structure. Scale bars 500nm in A and C and 100nm in B and D. Adapted from Zhang *et al.* 2013.

It is interesting to note that the foot process effacement can also be achieved with the administration of puromycin aminonucleoside as demonstrated by Tutor et al. (Tutor, Prieto-Sanchez et al. 2014) and by protamine sulfate (Hermle, Braun et al. 2017), two commonly used drugs for inducing podocyte foot process effacement in mouse models. Moreover, the administration of a high sugar diet to flies is also able to induce nephrocyte defects, such as filtration defects and loss of Sns and Kirre, suggesting that these cells can also be used to study molecular aspects of diabetic nephropathy (Na, Sweetwyne et al. 2015).

Several read-outs have been used for screening the nephrocyte function, namely using endocytosis fluorescent tracers such as albumin and the uptake of toxins such as silver nitrate (Fu, Zhu et al. 2017, Hermle, Braun et al. 2017). More recently life-span experiments have also been used to assess the function of homologs of human genes mutated in SRNS (Fu, Zhu et al. 2017). Immuno-fluorescence can be used to assess nephrocyte differentiation markers, such as Kirre, Pyd, and Sns. Finally TEM can also be used to morphologically assess foot processes and slit diaphragms but is far more time consuming, being more useful to assess the effect of one or a small number of genes, but not for high-throughput screenings. In 2013 an elegant reporter system to evaluate nephrocyte filtration and endocytosis in vivo was developed by Zhang et al. (Zhang, Zhao et al. 2013). These flies express a fluorescent tagged secreted protein (ANF-RFP) that is produced in muscle and circulates in hemolymph being filtered and endocytosed by nephrocytes. The co-expression of GFP under the Hand promoter that is expressed in nephrocytes and cardiomyoblasts, allows easy identification of nephrocytes in vivo or ex vivo and quantification of the ANF-RFP uptake. Interestingly, several studies have also shown that the number of pericardial nephrocytes can decrease in response to structural abnormalities induced by Cindr KD, LOF alleles of the transcription factor Klf15 or overexpression of the human APOL1 risk alleles (Ivy, Drechsler et al. 2015, Na, Sweetwyne et al. 2015, Kruzel-Davila, Shemer et al. 2017), thus being an alternative read-out.

Two different studies performed a screen on known SRNS associated genes using the GAL4:UAS system to induce the conditional KD of the Drosophila homologs specifically in nephrocytes (Fu, Zhu et al. 2017, Hermle, Braun et al. 2017). The first one analyzed the homologs of 36 SRNS human genes, based on the ability of garland nephrocytes to filter FITC-albumin, and showed that 55% of these genes decreased albumin uptake at 3rd instar larval stage (Hermle, Braun et al. 2017). The second one studied the Drosophila homologs of 40 SRNS associated genes, and nephrocyte function was assessed using endocytosis of ANF-RFP, uptake of AgNO3 in young adult flies, fly survival and life span. These authors showed that nephrocyte defects were induced upon silencing of 83% of these genes (Fu, Zhu et al. 2017). The higher number of genes identified in the second screen could be due to the higher number and higher sensitivity of the methods used and to the fact that nephrocytes were studied at later time points, allowing an accumulating effect of a persistent lesion in nephrocytes, as could occur in late onset cases of SRNS. Common to both studies, the KD of the homologs of PTPRO and PDSS2 did not give a phenotype in nephrocytes. This could be due to an insufficient silencing by the RNAi. Except for ANLN (encoding Anillin) that does not give a phenotype in the more extensive set of experiments performed on the second study while it shows a phenotype in the first study, all the other genes that had no phenotype in the first study were found to have at least one phenotype when silenced in the second study.

Drosophila nephrocytes have recently started to be used as functional models to test SRNS new candidate genes, as it was the case for the *KANK* genes (Gee, Zhang et al. 2015) and for *SGPL1* (ourselves (Lovric, Goncalves et al. 2017)) and mutation validation in known SRNS genes, such as *CD2AP* and *COQ2* (Fu, Zhu et al. 2017, Zhu, Fu et al. 2017). In these cases it is important not only to perform the assessment of phenotype in loss of function experiments but also to assess the impact of the patient mutations to prove their pathogenicity. This can be done by re-expressing the WT or the mutated form of the candidate gene on the KD / KO background using GAL4:UAS systems and specific nephrocyte or ubiquitous drivers. Alternatively, if the whole gene is cloned with its 5' upstream region, the endogenous promoter can directly drive the expression of the transgene. The CRISPR/Cas9 system may now easily allow the generation of a KO mutant (if one is not available from Flybase; http://flybase.org/) and to replace the fly gene by the human or fly WT or mutant rescue constructs, which in this case will be expressed under the endogenous promoter.

Whether to perform the rescue experiments using the human gene or its fly homolog depends on the degree of conservation, namely of the mutated amino acid residues. Although human diseaserelated genes globally have a good degree of conservation in flies, the phylogenetic distance between man and fly may in some instances preclude the rescue with the human gene or require the expression of the human multiple paralogs in the case of gene duplication. Frequent disease risk alleles for glomerular diseases such as the G1 and G2 variants of the *APOL1* primate gene have also been studied in flies (Fu, Zhu et al. 2017, Kruzel-Davila, Shemer et al. 2017) and also proved the validity of this model for more common variants. In fact, overexpression of the *APOL1* risk variants in nephrocytes causes accumulation of ANF-RFP at early stages and nephrocyte loss at later stages in adult flies (Fu, Zhu et al. 2017, Kruzel-Davila, Shemer et al. 2017).

Finally, drug screening may also be possible in the nephrocyte model. In the rare variants of hereditary SRNS that have an identified therapy, such as those caused by mutations in the genes involved in the biosynthesis of COQ10, the administration of COQ10 to the fly food led to a partial rescue of the defects caused by the gene silencing in nephrocytes (Zhu, Fu et al. 2017).

Sphingolipids and kidney disease

Sphingolipids were first described in 1884 and were named after their enigmatic properties ("Sphinx-like")(McIlwain 1975). They are important components of the lipid membrane, particularly of lipid rafts. As previously described, the lipid rafts in podocytes are crucial for maintaining the slit diaphragm structure and function as signalization platforms that control the actin cytoskeleton. Moreover in recent years, bioactive sphingolipids have been discovered. These directly control the activity of intracellular enzymes and also G-coupled protein receptors, playing a major role in cell survival. In recent years, the importance of sphingolipids in kidney diseases has begun to be acknowledged. In this subchapter I will briefly review the sphingolipids and their metabolism, their main functions and finally their link with genetic and acquired glomerular diseases.

Sphingolipids and their metabolism

Sphingolipids are defined by the presence of a sphingoid base backbone, usually sphingosine. This backbone is usually linked via an amide bond to a fatty acid and to a hydrophilic head group attached to the hydroxyl on Carbon 1 (**Figure 21**). This head group may have sugar residues (glycosphingolipids) and phosphates (phosphosphingolipids) (Merrill and Carman 2015).



Figure 21. Chemical structure of sphingolipids. A) Sphingolipids consist of a sphingoid base backbone, generally with 18 carbons as depicted in the image. The module R is an amide linked fatty acid in sphingomyelin and ceramide, while is just an H in sphingosine. The module X is an hydrophilic region that may be in the simplest case an H, as for ceramide and sphingosine, a phosphocoline in sphingomyelin, or a phosphate in sphingosine-1-P. **B)** The sphingomyelin molecular structure is shown. Due to the action of sphingomyelinases (SMases) sphingomyelin loses its phosphocoline group, transforming in ceramide. Ceramide can be transformed in sphingosine by the action of ceramidases (CERases) that break the amide link to the fatty acid. Adapted from Bourquin *et al.* 2011.

Sphingolipids distribute asymmetrically in lipid membranes. Sphingomyelin for instance is particularly enriched in lipid rafts, together with other lipid species, such as cholesterol. As already mentioned,

lipid rafts are essential to promote protein-protein interactions and signal transduction. Sphingomyelinases at the plasma cell membrane can have an impact on the signaling properties of lipid rafts by degrading sphingomyelin in ceramides, which will subsequently lead to displacement of cholesterol at lipid rafts and alteration of fluidity of these domains (Goni and Alonso 2009, Zhang, Li et al. 2009).

Ceramides are the central sphingolipid species in the sphingolipid metabolic pathway. While three major pathways exist to synthesize ceramide there is only one catabolic pathway (**Figure 22**). The *de novo* synthesis pathway results in the generation of ceramide by condensation of serine and palmitoyl-CoA by serine palmitoyl transferase, followed by three other enzymatic steps (**Figure 22**). Ceramide can also be generated by the catabolism of sphingomyelin performed by sphingomyelinases (SMases) and producing ceramide and phosphocoline. A so-called *salvage pathway* depends on a family of enzymes known as the ceramide synthases (CerS) that couple fatty acids of different chain lengths to sphingosine, resulting in the formation of ceramide. The sphingosine used in this pathway comes from the degradation of complex sphingolipids such as glycosphingolipids and galactosylceramide.



Figure 22. Overview of the sphingolipid metabolism. Ceramide (Cer) is the central molecule of the sphingolipid metabolic pathways. It can be synthesized by the *de novo*, sphingomyelinase or *salvage* pathways as depicted in the figure. The catabolic pathway of Cer begins with its transformation in sphingosine (Sph), further transformed to sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P). S1P will finally be irreversibly degraded by S1P lyase (SGPL1) in phosphoethanolamine (PE) and hexadecenal. Ser, Serine; SPT, serine palmitoyl transferase; KDS, 3-keto-dihydro-Sph reductase; CerS, Ceramide synthase; Cerase, Ceramidases; DES, dihydro-Sph desaturase; FA CoA, fatty acyl-Coenzyme A; PC, phosphatidylcholine; DAG, diacylglycerol. S1P, Sphingosine-1-phosphate; SPHK, sphingosine kinase; S1PP, S1P phosphatase; SM, sphingomyelin; SMase, Sphingomyelinase; Glyco Sphl, Glycosphingolipids. Adapted from Bourquin *et al.* 2011.

The catabolic pathway of ceramide begins with the action of a group of enzymes called ceramidases (Cerases) that convert ceramide into sphingosine. Sphingosine can be further converted to sphingosine 1P (S1P) by sphingosine kinases (SPHKs). This important bioactive sphingolipid species is finally catabolized by sphingosine 1 phosphate lyase 1 (SGPL1), residing in the ER, to phosphoethanolamine (PE) and hexadecenal, a C16 fatty acid aldehyde. All these metabolic pathways are tightly regulated by the activities of their enzymes and their cellular compartmentalization. This allows the intracellular maintenance of physiological levels of sphingolipids (Zhou and Blom 2015).

Bioactive sphingolipids and their regulation

Besides controlling membrane fluidity and structure, some sphingolipids such as ceramides and sphingosine, or their phosphorylated counterparts' ceramide-1P or S1P, function as bioactive molecules with an impact on cell signaling and proliferation (Zhou and Blom 2015). They can act intracellularly on several direct targets or in an autocrine/paracrine way, as extracellular ligands of G-protein coupled receptors. The subcellular distribution of these bioactive sphingolipids is key to their function, as the same sphingoid base can lead to opposite effects depending on its location. To regulate this distribution cells use selective lipid transporters and compartmentalize the metabolizing enzymes to specific subcellular localizations (Zhou and Blom 2015) (**Figure 23**). The most well-known bioactive sphingolipids are ceramide and S1P, which will be described in the next section.

Ceramide and S1P – The sphingolipid rheostat

S1P and ceramide play very important roles in the regulation of cell fate. S1P is believed to promote cell survival and proliferation, while ceramide is known to induce growth arrest and cell death (Ogretmen and Hannun 2004). The opposing role of these closely related molecules is classically known as the sphingolipid rheostat (Cuvillier, Pirianov et al. 1996). The conversion of ceramide to S1P requires only two enzymatic steps, the conversion of ceramide to sphingosine by Cerases and the conversion of sphingosine to S1P by SPHKs. Therefore, the regulation of these enzymes plays a main role in cell fate (Spiegel and Milstien 2000).



Figure 23. Cellular localization and trafficking pathways of sphingolipids. Ceramide (Cer) is synthesized *de novo* in the ER. From there it can be transported to the Golgi by Ceramide Transport Protein (CERT). Here it can be further transformed in sphingomyelin (SM) or Glyco-sphingolipids (Glyco-SphI), that are further transported to the plasma membrane via vesicular trafficking. Late endosomes actively degrade complex sphingolipids into bioactive sphingolipid species that exit these structures by specific transporters. The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the mitochondria are major sites for ceramide-induced apoptosis. Sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), generated inside the cell can be exported to the extracellular space by Spinster2 (SPNS2) or ABC family transporters. S1P in plasma is bound to HDL lipoprotein and albumin. Extra-cellular S1P can bind S1P G coupled receptors (S1PR) that activate several intracellular pathways. S1P produced in the nucleus by SPHK2 can modulate HDAC proteins and transcriptional programs. S1P is irreversibly degraded in the ER into Hexadecenal (Hex) and phosphoethanolamine (PE). Adapted from Zhou *et al.* 2015.

<u>Ceramide</u>

The main recognized function of ceramide is as a mediator of cell senescence and cell death, both by apoptosis and autophagic mediated cell death. Following its *de novo* synthesis in the ER, ceramide can be transported by a specific transporter, ceramide transfer protein (CERT) to the Golgi for the synthesis of sphingomyelin or Ceramide 1 phosphate (Hanada, Kumagai et al. 2003) (**Figure 23**). Blocking of CERT induces ceramide accumulation on the ER inducing ER stress. High ceramide in the ER may disrupt calcium homeostasis and lead to ER stress mediated apoptosis (Bai and Pagano 1997). Ceramide may also diffuse to mitochondria (Stiban, Caputo et al. 2008) and lead to the formation of ceramide channels in the mitochondrial outer membrane (Siskind 2005) inducing

mitochondrial permeabilization, cytochrome C release and mitochondrial dependent cell death. Ceramide apoptotic cell death can also be indirectly induced by several other mechanisms. These include among others: indirect activation of BAD via the Ras/Raf cascade (Basu, Bayoumy et al. 1998), inactivation of Bcl2 protein through mitochondrial protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) (Ruvolo, Deng et al. 1999), and growth arrest mediated by the retinoblastoma gene product (Dbaibo, Pushkareva et al. 1995), as reviewed by Mullen *et al.* (Mullen and Obeid 2012).

Moreover, ceramide can also regulate autophagy and ultimately autophagic cell death. This type of cell death is characterized by the formation of large vacuoles and early degradation of organelles, independent of apoptotic cascades (Levine and Yuan 2005). Ceramide can directly interact with LC3B-II (the lipidated form of LC3, involved in autophagy) and anchor LC3B-II autophagolysosomes to mitochondrial membranes, inducing lethal mitophagy (Sentelle, Senkal et al. 2012). Moreover ceramide can induce autophagic death by activating the transcription of the death-inducing mitochondrial protein BNIP3, through an unknown mechanism (Daido, Kanzawa et al. 2004).

In line with the toxic effects of ceramides, cancer cells usually maintain ceramides at low levels by increasing the expression of enzymes from the catabolic pathway, such as the Cerases (Shah, Zhang et al. 2008).

S1P intra-cellular effects

As mentioned, S1P can be generated by SPHKs. Moreover, S1P levels can be further regulated by their dephosphorylation back into sphingosine by the S1P phosphatases, as well as by irreversible degradation mediated by SGPL1. Interestingly, there are two isoforms of SPHK, SPHK1 and SPHK2. Although sharing similar domains, these enzymes have different tissue and subcellular distributions as well as specific developmental expression patterns (Kohama, Olivera et al. 1998, Liu, Sugiura et al. 2000).

SPHK1 resides in the cytoplasm and is activated by several extracellular growth and survival stimuli, regulating autophagy in response to nutrients (Lanterman and Saba 1998, Lavieu, Scarlatti et al. 2006). However, the exact mechanism of autophagy regulation as well as whether S1P signaling acts through or parallel to the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway is not clear (Harvald, Olsen et al. 2015). According to its roles in growth and survival, SPHK1 is able to induce DNA synthesis and cell proliferation, as well as resistance to serum deprivation and to ceramide-induced apoptosis (Olivera, Kohama et al. 1999). Moreover, S1P produced by SPHK1 can promote survival by modulating calcium mobilization from intracellular stores, activation of the MAPK pathway or

through the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) as well inhibition of c-Jun-N-terminal protein kinase (c-JUNK) (Mattie, Brooker et al. 1994, Wu, Spiegel et al. 1995, Cuvillier, Pirianov et al. 1996, Meyer zu Heringdorf, Lass et al. 1998).

Conversely, SPHK2 is predominantly found in the nucleus, with both nuclear localization and export signals allowing for active regulation of its localization (Igarashi, Okada et al. 2003, Ding, Sonoda et al. 2007). These localization signals are not present in SPHK1. In a diametrically opposed function to SPHK1, SPHK2 inhibits cell growth and is pro-apoptotic. Nuclear SPHK2 prevents DNA synthesis (Igarashi, Okada et al. 2003) and can regulate gene expression through indirect regulation of histones deacetylases via S1P (Hait, Allegood et al. 2009). SPHK2 induced apoptosis seems to be partially dependent on the increased conversion of sphingosine to ceramide by an unknown regulatory mechanism and results in calcium transport to the mitochondria and cytochrome C release (Maceyka, Sankala et al. 2005). Moreover SPHK2 has a Bcl-2 homology-3 (BH3) domain that may displace Beclin1 from the Beclin1/Bcl-2 complex in order to induce apoptosis (Sheng, Zhang et al. 2014).

Interestingly mice KO for either *Sphk1* or *Sphk2* develop normally and do not show any obvious abnormalities, although they have reduced SPHK activity (Allende, Sasaki et al. 2004, Mizugishi, Yamashita et al. 2005). However the double KO of *Sphk1* and *Sphk2* leads to embryonic lethality with severe defects of neurogenesis and angiogenesis (Mizugishi, Yamashita et al. 2005). This suggests that the two enzymes can partially compensate for one another's loss during development.

Through the regulation of intracellular S1P and ceramides, SGPL1 can modulate intracellular mechanisms, including but not limited to proliferation and apoptosis. However the exact mechanisms have not been completely elucidated. *Sgpl1^{-/-}* mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) show alterations in intracellular calcium homeostasis (Claas, ter Braak et al. 2010), accumulate intracellular S1P mainly in cell nuclei and show decreased expression and activity of the histone deacetylases HDAC1 and 3 (Ihlefeld, Claas et al. 2012), suggesting that S1P can also induce changes in transcriptional programs.

Extracellular signaling of S1P

Besides its intracellular functions S1P can be exported out of the cell by two specific types of transporters, spinster 2 (SPNS2) and ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters, such as ABCB1, ABCA7 and ABCC1 (Nishi, Kobayashi et al. 2014) (**Figure 23**). Erythrocytes, platelets and endothelial cells release high amounts of S1P into the plasma (Pappu, Schwab et al. 2007, Venkataraman, Lee et al.

2008, Fukuhara, Simmons et al. 2012, Hisano, Kobayashi et al. 2012), where it binds to several protein carriers, such as albumin (\approx 30% of S1P) and HDL (\approx 60%), presumably contributing to its stability (Argraves and Argraves 2007). However, in tissues, S1P concentration is maintained at low levels due to high S1P-degrading activity conferred by SGPL1. In physiological conditions the levels of S1P in plasma or lymph are thus much higher than in tissues (Olivera, Allende et al. 2013).

Extracellular S1P may act as a specific ligand for a family of five G protein coupled receptors, named S1P receptors (S1PRs) (Chun, Goetzl et al. 2002) (**Figure 23**). From the five S1PRs, S1PR1-3 are rather ubiquitous, S1PR1 being one of the most highly expressed (Regard, Sato et al. 2008). Recently, a genetically engineered mouse that turns on a GFP reporter gene once S1PR1 is activated has provided further insight into S1PR1 signaling (Kono, Tucker et al. 2014). In embryos, S1PR1 activation was higher in the nervous and cardiovascular systems; concordant with these finding *S1pr1* KO mice show defects in vascular and neuronal development (Liu, Wada et al. 2000, Mizugishi, Yamashita et al. 2005). In adults, S1PR1 activation was mostly restricted to the endothelial cells, especially those of lymphoid tissues; however, under lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induced inflammation, S1PR1 activity was highly increased in the endothelium and also appeared in parenchymal cells such as the hepatocytes. This was shown to be due to hematopoietically derived S1P that possibly accumulated into the interstitial tissue through vascular leakage (Kono, Tucker et al. 2014). In fact, tissue levels of S1P have been shown to be increased in several inflammatory diseases, as reviewed by Gomez-Munoz *et al.* (Gomez-Munoz, Presa et al. 2016). However, the consequences of interstitial S1P and S1PR signaling on the reparative process or fibrotic response are not well understood (Proia and Hla 2015).

The other S1PRs are less well known, but S1PR2 and S1PR3 also seem to participate in the angiogenic process. In fact, single *S1pr2* or *S1pr3* KO mice do not have major abnormalities and these mice are viable and fertile, however, the double KO leads to vascular defects during development and partial embryonic lethality (Kono, Mi et al. 2004), in favor of a cooperative function during development.

S1P signaling through S1PRs induces several cellular processes, such as cytoskeletal rearrangements and cell migration by modulating RhoGTPase activity (Wang, Van Brocklyn et al. 1999, Okamoto, Takuwa et al. 2000, Garcia, Liu et al. 2001, Lee, Thangada et al. 2001). However, several other functions have also been ascribed to S1PR signaling, such as the ability to regulate cell survival and proliferation via activation of several key protein kinases such as Akt and ERK (Hla, Lee et al. 2001). Adding complexity to S1PR signaling, each receptor seems to have distinctive signaling pathways that differ between cell type and that in some cases can elicit antagonistic cellular responses (Blaho and Hla 2014).

A well-recognized function of extracellular S1P is the ability to modulate hematopoietic cell

trafficking from tissues to plasma (Brinkmann, Davis et al. 2002, Mandala, Hajdu et al. 2002). S1PR1 is known to be expressed in lymphocytes and to mediate their migration from the lymphoid tissues to the blood or lymph, in response to the S1P gradient (low in tissues and high in blood/lymph) (Cyster and Schwab 2012). Egress of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells from the bone marrow into the blood is also mediated by S1PR1, toward high S1P concentrations (Juarez, Harun et al. 2012). Consequently, disruption of the S1P tissue-blood gradient leads to lymphopenia. This was observed in mice that lack the S1P transporter SPNS2, responsible for the majority of S1P secretion into the circulation (Fukuhara, Simmons et al. 2012, Nagahashi, Kim et al. 2013), or with the KO or the pharmacological inhibition of SGPL1 in mice, that show greatly increased tissue levels of S1P (Schwab, Pereira et al. 2005, Vogel, Donoviel et al. 2009, Allende, Bektas et al. 2011).

In blood, these cells are exposed to high S1P concentration. This leads to the down-regulation of S1PRs through GPCR-kinase 2 mediated phosphorylation and internalization (Thangada, Khanna et al. 2010, Arnon, Xu et al. 2011). Through the downregulation of S1PRs, these cells can undergo shear resistant adhesion and migrate back across the endothelium (Arnon, Xu et al. 2011).

Interestingly, S1P signals also serve for lymphocyte migration and positioning within tissues (Arnon, Horton et al. 2013). Fingolimod (or FTY720), a sphingosine analog that is phosphorylated through SPHK2 to produce FTY720-phosphate, functions as a S1PR1 functional antagonist. In fact, FTY720phosphate down-regulates S1PR1 from the cell surface, blocking the egress of lymphocytes from lymphoid tissues into the circulation (Brinkmann, Billich et al. 2010). Due to its effect on lymphocyte trafficking Fingolimod is now approved for the treatment of auto-immune inflammatory diseases such as multiple sclerosis.

Sphingolipids in podocyte biology

Genetic deficiencies in the sphingolipid metabolic pathway can give rise to the toxic accumulation of sphingolipid byproducts in cellular organelles and membranes. These form a class of inherited diseases called sphingolipidoses that include Niemman-Pick disease (sphingomyelin and cholesterol accumulation), Tay-Sachs disease and Sandhoff disease (GM2 ganglioside accumulation), Gaucher's disease (glucocerebroside accumulation) and Fabry's disease (glycolipid accumulation, namely globotriaosylceramide). Most of these diseases display a neurological phenotype, suggesting that neurons are particularly sensitive to changes in sphingolipid metabolism. The increased sensibility of neuronal cells to defective sphingolipid metabolism has been suggested to be related to defective lipid raft signaling (Sural-Fehr and Bongarzone 2016).

Interestingly, some sphingolipidoses also exhibit a kidney defect. In fact, in Fabry disease, where alpha-galactosidase A (GLA) is deficient, the kidney, brain and heart, are the predominantly affected organs. Accumulation of globotriaosylceramide (Gb3) has been observed in lysosomes, the ER and nucleus of renal cells (Askari, Kaneski et al. 2007). Podocytes appear hypertrophic, with multiple vacuoles giving a foamy appearance, and characteristic inclusion bodies of glycolipids called "myelin figures" or "Zebra bodies". Mesangial expansion can also be seen (Alroy, Sabnis et al. 2002). These findings are associated with progressive podocyte injury, foot process effacement, podocyturia and proteinuria (Thurberg, Rennke et al. 2002, Najafian, Svarstad et al. 2011, Trimarchi, Canzonieri et al. 2016). Therapy with recombinant human GLA has been shown to attenuate the histological findings and slow the loss of kidney function (Thurberg, Rennke et al. 2002, Quinta, Rodrigues et al. 2014). Although the exact pathological mechanism is not completely understood a link to defective autophagy has been suggested in a study performed in cultured human podocytes. In this study silencing of GLA lead to Gb3 accumulation and decreased mTOR activity together with dysregulated autophagy (Liebau, Braun et al. 2013). Gb3 was also shown to induce the expression of inflammatory molecules and fibrosis mediators in cultured human podocytes (Sanchez-Nino, Sanz et al. 2011, Sanchez-Nino, Carpio et al. 2015).

Niemman-Pick type A and B are caused by mutations in *SMPD1*, encoding an acid sphingomyelinase (ASMase) and leading to accumulation of sphingomyelin. Characteristically there is neurological involvement and deposition of lipid laden macrophages in bone marrow, liver and kidney in these patients and in *Smpd1-/-* mice (Briere, Calman et al. 1976, Kuemmel, Thiele et al. 1997). Recently a study reported that sphingomyelin overload disturbs the maturation and closure of autophagic membranes and induces a traffic defect in the autophagy related protein 9A (ATG9A) (Corcelle-Termeau, Vindelov et al. 2016). Moreover cholesterol accumulation in the plasma membrane with disruption of lipid raft structures has been shown to cause impaired insulin signaling (Vainio, Bykov et al. 2005).

The presence of kidney defects has been more rarely described in other sphingolipidoses, such as Gaucher disease (Chander, Nurse et al. 1979), Tay Sachs and Sandhoff diseases (Sandhoff, Andreae et al. 1968, Tatematsu, Imaida et al. 1981).

Interestingly genetic diseases other than sphingolipidoses can also lead to a disturbance of the sphingolipid content in podocytes. In fact, mutations in *SCARB2*, encoding for the ubiquitously expressed lysosomal integral membrane protein type 2 (LIMP2) are associated with epilepsy, demyelinating peripheral neuropathy and SRNS with FSGS lesions (Berkovic, Dibbens et al. 2008), a syndrome also called action myoclonus-renal failure syndrome. Although the function of LIMP2 is not

88

completely known, it is thought to play a role in the biogenesis and maintenance of endosomal and lysosomal compartments and also acts as a receptor for the lysosomal delivery of acid hydrolase β -glucocerebrosidase (Reczek, Schwake et al. 2007). Its dysfunction results in the accumulation of glucosylceramide and other glycosphingolipids (Gaspar, Kallemeijn et al. 2014, Zigdon, Meshcheriakova et al. 2017). The FSGS phenotype is not 100% penetrant and some cases only exhibit tubular proteinuria, that has been linked to lysosomal dysfunction and subsequent perturbation of the degradation of reabsorbed proteins in proximal tubular cells (Desmond, Lee et al. 2011, Lee, Gleich et al. 2013). To date, the precise mechanism leading to the characteristic podocytopathy of this disease is not known.

Few studies have tried to address the role of several sphingolipid species on podocyte functions. i.e. it was shown that sFLT, a soluble VEGF receptor, binds to the ganglioside GM3 in lipid rafts at the surface of podocytes. sFLT binding to GM3 promotes podocyte adhesion and actin reorganization (Jin, Sison et al. 2012). Interestingly sFLT is increased during pre-eclampsia, a disorder characterized by high blood pressure and proteinuria in the third trimester of pregnancy, generalized endothelial dysfunction and podocyte injury. Another example relates to the podocyte specific O-acetylated GD3 ganglioside that also localizes to lipid rafts. Treatment with an antibody against this ganglioside leads to foot process effacement and nephrin phosphorylation and displacement from the slit diaphragm (Dekan, Miettinen et al. 1990, Simons, Schwarz et al. 2001). Interestingly, in the PAN model of FSGS a reduction in O-acetylated GD3 ganglioside has been described (Holthofer, Reivinen et al. 1996). These findings suggest that like in neurons, sphingolipid content in the lipid rafts of podocytes is important for the maintenance of a functional slit diaphragm and the activation of cell signaling pathways.

More recently, an important role for acid sphingomyelinase-like phosphodiesterase 3b (SMPDL-3b), was shown in FSGS and diabetic kidney disease (Fornoni, Sageshima et al. 2011, Yoo, Pedigo et al. 2015). SMPDL3b is localized to podocyte lipid rafts, and although its exact enzymatic function remains unknown, it is thought to convert sphingomyelin to ceramide, like its homolog enzyme acid sphingomyelinase (ASMase) (Fornoni, Sageshima et al. 2011). It was found that in biopsies of transplanted kidneys with FSGS relapse, the number of SMPDL3b and ASMase positive podocytes was reduced. Moreover, in cultured podocytes exposed to sera from patients with recurrent FSGS, a decrease in ASMase activity and SMPDL-3b down-regulation was observed, together with disruption of the actin cytoskeleton. Overexpression of SMPDL-3b or treatment with rituximab, an anti-CD20 antibody also known to stabilize SMPDL-3b (Perosa, Favoino et al. 2006, Tasaki, Shimizu et al. 2014), was able to prevent the cytoskeletal disorganization and podocyte apoptosis induced by patient sera (Fornoni, Sageshima et al. 2011). Another group showed that radiation-induced podocytopathy in

mice also leads to down-regulation of SMPDL-3b. However, unlike in FSGS or radiation-induced podocyte lesions, in diabetic kidney disease the levels of SMPDL-3b were increased in glomeruli (Yoo, Pedigo et al. 2015). Moreover pharmacological inhibition of ASMase reduced proteinuria in diabetic kidney disease but not in FSGS (Yoo, Pedigo et al. 2015). This suggests that the expression of SMPDL-3b changes according to the type of glomerular disease and it remains difficult to assess its causality. Although it has been suggested that these modulations may be dependent on modification of lipid rafts, SMPDL-3b's relationship to ceramide and S1P is less well explored and the mechanism remains unknown.

Another interesting finding is that SUPAR, a suggested permeability factor, induces podocyte defects through lipid mediated activation of β 3 integrin signaling, as sequestration of plasma membrane lipids with cyclodextrine prevents SUPAR from exerting its effect on podocytes (Wei, Moller et al. 2008).

Regarding the effect of the bioactive lipid S1P in the kidney, literature is also scarce, especially for the specific effect of S1P in podocytes. In the kidney several S1PRs are expressed differentially between different cell types, i.e. podocytes express S1PR1-4, but not S1PR5 (Awad, Rouse et al. 2011) and mesangial cells express S1PR1-3 and S1PR5 but not S1PR4 (Koch, Volzke et al. 2013). Moreover, several growth factors implicated in the pathogenesis of glomerular diseases have been shown to modulate the levels of S1P, such as PDGF, VEGF and angiogenic growth factor (Merscher and Fornoni 2014). Not surprisingly, S1P is increased in inflammatory glomerulopathies (Sun, Wang et al. 2017) and has been shown to promote fibrosis in models of kidney disease that are partially moderated by inflammatory mediators (Thangada, Shapiro et al. 2014). However, an inflammation-independent deleterious role for S1P has also been suggested (Shiohira, Yoshida et al. 2013). Interestingly, also in the kidney, SPHK1 and SPHK2 play differential roles. In response to acute kidney injury, *Sphk2* KO mice show reduced fibrosis (Park, Kim et al. 2011) and specific overexpression of SPHK1 seems to be renoprotective (Park, Kim et al. 2011).

Epigenetic regulation and podocyte homeostasis

Epigenetics is widely defined as heritable changes in the genome that occur without alterations to the DNA sequence itself (Bonasio, Tu et al. 2010). This includes mitotically and/or meiotically heritable changes. Epigenetic information plays an essential role in various biological processes including embryonic development, cell differentiation, adult cell renewal and ageing. Furthermore, as external physiological stimuli can lead to persistent changes in the chromatin state, epigenetic markers also function as key mediators of the environmental influence on phenotype. Deregulation of epigenetic control has been implied in many human diseases, including cancer (Baylin and Ohm 2006), autoimmune diseases, neurological disorders (Portela and Esteller 2010), Diabetes mellitus (Villeneuve and Natarajan 2010), cardiovascular (Ordovas and Smith 2010) and kidney diseases (Ekstrom and Stenvinkel 2009, Mohtat and Susztak 2010, Dwivedi, Herman et al. 2011, Elie, Fakhoury et al. 2011, Liakopoulos, Georgianos et al. 2011). In this section, I will briefly review the major mechanisms of epigenetic regulation and review the impact of epigenetic mechanisms on podocyte biology and podocytopathies.

Epigenetic mechanisms

In general epigenetic states are established by the transient expression/activation of transcription factors that respond to diverse stimuli, such as environmental or developmental cues. The exact mechanisms by which transcription factors achieve this epigenetic regulation are not completely understood but may include the direct recruitment of proteins from the epigenetic machinery to a specific genomic region, or the transcription of non-coding RNAs or proteins that will then help to establish a specific epigenetic marker (Bonasio, Tu et al. 2010). The major epigenetic mechanisms include DNA methylation, histone modifications and nucleosome remodelling. Non-coding RNAs can also be broadly classified as epigenetic markers but these will not be further detailed in this thesis.

DNA methylation

DNA methylation was the first epigenetic mechanism described (Holliday and Pugh 1975) and is the most widely studied epigenetic modification in humans. DNA methylation is involved in gene dosage reduction mechanisms such as genomic imprinting (Kacem and Feil 2009) and X chromosome inactivation (Reik and Lewis 2005). DNA methylation is achieved by DNA methyltransferases (DNMT)

that are classified as either *de novo* DNMTs (DNMT 3A and 3B) or maintenance DNMTs (DNMT1). Methylation occurs predominantly in the context of CpG dinucleotides, which cluster in regions that are called CpG islands. In general, CpG island methylation in promoter regions is associated with gene silencing (Ushijima 2005) through the recruitment of methyl-CpG binding domain (MBD) proteins (Lopez-Serra, Ballestar et al. 2006) that interact with histone modifiers and chromatin remodelling complexes to mediate transcriptional repression (Lopez-Serra and Esteller 2008). During development and in differentiated tissues, CpG islands become methylated resulting in gene silencing in a tissue-specific manner (Straussman, Nejman et al. 2009). Furthermore, in the context of disease, CpG promoter methylation can occur at key genes whose silencing contributes to the pathogenic process (Portela and Esteller 2010).

Histone modifications

The DNA in chromatin is packaged around histone proteins in units that are called nucleosomes. Each nucleosome is composed of 147 bp of DNA wrapped around an octameric core of histone proteins containing, in duplicate, four core histones: H2A, H2B, H3, and H4. Nucleosomes are spaced by a linker region of approximately 50 bp that associates with the H1 linker histone. Each core histone is composed of a structured globular domain and an N-terminal tail (**Figure 24**). Histone tails can suffer multiple post translational modifications (PTMs), including phosphorylation, ubiquitination, acetylation, and methylation (Martin and Zhang 2005, Kouzarides 2007), among others. Different combinations of histone modifications, named the "histone code", participate in the regulation of chromatin structure and transcriptional status (Strahl and Allis 2000, Jenuwein and Allis 2001, Henikoff 2008).



Figure 24. Nucleosome structure. Each nucleosome is composed of two molecules of each H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 core histones. DNA raps around this core. Each histone project their N-terminal histone tails outside of the hydrophobic core, allowing the occurrence of post-translational modifications. Adapted from Graff *et al.* 2008.

There are several enzymes that catalyze PTMs as well as others who reset these modifications, conferring a reversibility characteristic to most of the epigenetic markers (Kouzarides 2007). Of the enzymes that modify histones, methyltransferases, histone demethylases and kinases are the most

specific to individual histone subunits and residues (Kouzarides 2007). Methylation of specific histone residues marks gene activation or silencing. For instance, methylation of arginine residues in histones is associated with transcriptional activation (Chen, Ma et al. 1999), whereas histone lysine methylation drives gene activation or silencing depending on the residue modified and number of methylations (Turner 2002). Polycomb and Trithorax gene families are important regulators of gene repression and activation, respectively, through several mechanisms that include recognition and modulation of histone methylation (Schwartz and Pirrotta 2007, Poynter and Kadoch 2016). Histone methylation modifications are often persistent through mitosis in a cellular lineage, leading to "long term memory" and have received much attention in recent years.

On the other hand, histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and histone deacetylases (HDACs) are not highly specific and can modify several residues and also many proteins other than histones. For this reason HATs and HDACs are also called lysine acetyl-transferases (KATs) and lysine deacetylases (KDACs). Most HDACs function to reset chromatin by removing acetylation at active genes, leading to a closed chromatin structure and transcriptional inactivation. HATs, instead, are mainly linked to open chromatin structure and transcriptional activation (Wang, Zang et al. 2009) (**Figure 25**). These modifications can be dynamic and be induced rapidly in response to injury.



Figure 25. Lysine acetylation is balanced by HATs and HDACs. Lysine residues from protruding histone tails are acetylated by HATs leading to modification of the chromatin structure and facilitating the accessibility of the transcriptional machinery to promoter regions and the activation of gene expression. HDACs perform the inverse action. The acetylation state and functions of many non-histone proteins are also controlled by HATs and HDACs. Adapted from Wang *et al.* 2014.

HDACs are grouped into four classes of proteins, based on their homology to yeast HDACs: class I (HDAC1-3, HDAC8), class II (HDAC4-7, HDAC9-10), class III (sirtuins - SIRT1-7), and class IV (HDAC11). HATs on the other hand, can be classified according to their cellular localisation in type A HATs, that are nuclear, and type B HATs, that exist in the cytoplasm and acetylate newly formed histones. Based on their sequence homology, nuclear HATs are further grouped into five families, the three major ones being the Gcn5-related N-acetyltransferases (GNAT), p300 and CREB binding protein (p300/CBP) and Moz, Ybf2/Sas3, Sas2, Tip60 (MYST) (**Table 2**).

Family	Subtype	Other names frequently used
GNAT	KAT2A	Gcn5
	KAT2B	PCAF
MYST	KAT5	TIP60
	KAT6A	MOZ, MYST3
	KAT6B	MORF, MYST4
	KAT7	HBO1, MYST2
	KAT8	MOF, MYST1
p300/CBP	KAT3B	p300
	КАТЗА	СВР
Transcription co-activators	KAT4	TAF1, TBP
	KAT12	TIFIIIC90
Steroid receptor co-activators	KAT13A	SRC1
	KAT13B	SCR3, AIB1, ACTR
	KAT13C	p600
	KAT13D	CLOCK

Table 2. Nuclear histone acetyltransferases: families, subtypes, and alternative nomenclature

Nucleosomal remodelling

Nucleosome positioning determines accessibility of the transcription factors to their target DNA sequence. Several groups of large macromolecular complexes are known to move, destabilize or restructure nucleosomes in an ATP-dependent manner. These complexes, known as chromatin remodelling complexes, can be classified into four families (SWI/SNF, ISWI, CHD and INO80) that share similar ATPase domains but differ in the composition of their unique subunits (Ho and Crabtree 2010).

Epigenetic regulation in podocytes

Epigenetic changes are particularly important for defining the cell phenotype upon development and for maintaining cell identity in regenerative responses to injury. Although mature podocytes are terminally differentiated and non-dividing cells, several studies show that they depend on the epigenetic machinery in order to maintain a stable gene expression pattern. In the majority of cases the crucial role of the epigenetic actors is seen in conditions where podocytes are exposed to noxious stimuli or during aging. This was nicely shown by Lefevre et al. who performed the mouse podocyte specific KO of the gene Paxip1, encoding PTIP, an essential component of the histone H3 lysine 4 (H3K4) methyltransferase complex. This led to podocyte foot process effacement and proteinuria, manifesting in mice at 3 months of age and aggravating with age. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) showed lower H3K4 methylation at the Ntrk3 (neurotrophic tyrosine kinase receptor, type 3) locus, whose expression was significantly reduced and whose function may be essential for podocyte foot process patterning (Lefevre, Patel et al. 2010). In another study, inhibition of the histone methyltransferase EZH2 (enzyme enhancer of zeste homolog 2), a subunit of the Polycomb Repressive Complex, with a pharmacological compound (S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase inhibitor 3-deazaneplanocin A (DZNep)) or by RNA interference, rendered cultured podocytes vulnerable to high glucose concentrations, leading to podocyte cell death and augmented oxidative stress. In vivo administration of DZNep to mice led to proteinuria in the metabolic adverse conditions provided by the diabetic *milieu* (Siddiqi, Majumder et al. 2016). By using ChIP sequencing and in silico analysis in cultured podocytes and diabetic rodents, these authors further showed that inhibition of EZH2 led to decreased repression of the transcription factor Pax6 and transcriptional activation of the antioxidant inhibitor *TxnIP*.

Interestingly, KAT8, also called MYST1, a major H4K16 acetyltransferase that plays a crucial role in proliferating tissues and embryonic development, is also dispensable for mature kidney podocytes in physiological conditions (Sheikh, Bechtel-Walz et al. 2016). However, in response to injury it plays a main role in podocyte adaption and survival *in vivo*. In fact, when exposed to adriamycin, *Kat8^{-/-}* podocytes show chromatin condensation defects and altered endoplamic reticulum and Golgi structure. Mice also develop glomerulosclerosis, significant proteinuria and decreased kidney function compared to controls. These authors further show that KAT8 binds to promoters of genes encoding endo-lysossome pathways, known to be important for podocyte function (Sheikh, Bechtel-Walz et al. 2016).

Interference with HDAC activity also leads to modulation of the podocyte response to injury in several models of glomerulopathy. Administration of valproic acid, a known inhibitor of HDAC classes

I and II, had a protective effect on adriamycin-induced podocyte injury in mice, preventing podocyte foot process effacement and detachment as well as the glomerulosclerosis process (Van Beneden, Geers et al. 2011). Also, in diabetic nephropathy, several studies have highlighted the beneficial effect of class I, II and IV HDAC pharmacological inhibition (Advani, Huang et al. 2011, Gilbert, Huang et al. 2011). In the same context, HDACs have been shown to affect not only epigenetic mechanisms but also to regulate the activity of other proteins, such as p65 and STAT1 transcription factors, controlling inflammation and autophagy, or cortactin, with an impact on the actin cytoskeleton (Wang, Liu et al. 2014, Nakatani and Inagi 2016). In an experimental model of lupus nephritis a significant decrease of renal pathology scores and proteinuria was observed with the broad-spectrum HDAC class I and II inhibitor, trichostatin A (Mishra, Reilly et al. 2003). Likewise, HDAC class I and II inhibitors were found to reduce proteinuria, glomerulosclerosis and interstitial fibrosis on a model of anti-GBM glomerulonephritis (Imai, Hishikawa et al. 2007) and to reduce proteinuria in a model of mesangial proliferative glomerulonephritis (Freidkin, Herman et al. 2010).

On the other hand, class III HDACs, such as Sirtuin1, seem to be renoprotective (Hasegawa, Wakino et al. 2013, Nakatani and Inagi 2016). Sirtuins have been shown to exert a beneficial effect on telomere length maintenance (Palacios, Herranz et al. 2010) and to promote autophagy and cell survival (Kume, Uzu et al. 2010). Accordingly, decrease of SIRTs has been associated with kidney ageing and mitochondrial damage (Kume, Uzu et al. 2010).

During development, epigenetic mechanisms are highly active, and some of the epigenetic actors are involved in podocyte maturation. This is the case for the chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 2 (CHD2), a member of the nucleosome chromatin remodelling complexes. *Chd2* heterozygous-mutant mice develop glomerulopathy, proteinuria and significantly impaired kidney function (Marfella, Henninger et al. 2008) while homozygous mutants show reduced growth and perinatal lethality (Marfella, Ohkawa et al. 2006).

Another example of the importance of epigenetics in podocytes comes from human genetics. In humans *SMARCAL1* mutations cause the autosomal recessive syndrome Schimke Immuno-Osseous Dysplasia (SIOD), characterized by SRNS, skeletal dysplasia, T cell immunodeficiency and arteriosclerosis leading to strokes (Boerkoel, Takashima et al. 2002). These can be either nonsense or missense loss of function mutations (Elizondo, Cho et al. 2009). *SMARCAL1* encodes the SWI/SNF Related, Matrix Associated, Actin Dependent Regulator of Chromatin, subfamily A-Like 1 (SMARCAL1) that belongs to the chromatin remodeling SNF2 family of helicases. SMARCAL1 contains a replication protein A (RPA) interacting motif, two HARP domains, and a helicase domain with ATPase activity at its C terminus (Lugli, Sotiriou et al. 2017). SMARCAL is an annealing helicase that can bind and anneal

96

complementary single strand DNA through its interaction with RPA (Yusufzai and Kadonaga 2008). It is known to be specifically recruited to sites of DNA damage and to stabilize and restore damaged replication forks (Postow, Woo et al. 2009, Betous, Glick et al. 2013). SMARCAL1 is also involved in alternative lengthening of telomeres, protecting them from DNA damage (Poole, Zhao et al. 2015, Cox, Marechal et al. 2016). Moreover, it directly regulates gene expression by binding and possibly altering the chromatin conformation of gene promoter regions, as it is the case for the *c*-Myc gene (Sharma, Bansal et al. 2015). In *Drosophila* the SMARCAL homolog has been shown to induce histone modifications and gene expression changes through the Polycomb Group and Trithorax Group complexes (Morimoto, Choi et al. 2016). In patients, chromosomal instability has been documented (Simon, Lev et al. 2014). Moreover SMARCAL1 was also shown to genetically interact with Notch and Wnt pathways in *Drosophila* and expression of their targets were also dysregulated in patient kidney biopsies, raising one possible pathogenic mechanism for the glomerular disease (Morimoto, Myung et al. 2016). Interestingly, the Smarcal1 KO mice do not have an overt phenotype; however they are hypersensitive to genotoxic stress, developing part of the SCIOD phenotype when exposed to genotoxic agents (Baradaran-Heravi, Raams et al. 2012). In contrast, the zebrafish morpholinomediated KD of the SMARCAL homolog has a spontaneous phenotype that phenocopies that of patients (Huang, Gu et al. 2010).

Results and Discussion

Part I

A new syndromic form of SRNS caused by SGPL1 mutations

Article: Mutations in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase cause nephrosis with ichthyosis and adrenal insufficiency

Lovric S*, Goncalves S*, Gee HY*, Oskouian B, Srinivas H, Choi WI, Shril S, Ashraf S, Tan W, Rao J, Airik M, Schapiro D, Braun DA, Sadowski CE, Widmeier E, Jobst-Schwan T, Schmidt JM, Girik V, Capitani G, Suh JH, Lachaussée N, Arrondel C, Patat J, Gribouval O, Furlano M, Boyer O, Schmitt A, Vuiblet V, Hashmi S, Wilcken R, Bernier FP, Innes AM, Parboosingh JS, Lamont RE, Midgley JP, Wright N, Majewski J, Zenker M, Schaefer F, Kuss N, Greil J, Giese T, Schwarz K, Catheline V, Schanze D, Franke I, Sznajer Y, Truant AS, Adams B, Désir J, Biemann R, Pei Y, Ars E, Lloberas N, Madrid A, Dharnidharka VR, Connolly AM, Willing MC, Cooper MA, Lifton RP, Simons M, Riezman H, Antignac C, Saba JD, Hildebrandt F.

J Clin Invest. 2017 Mar 1;127(3):912-928. doi: 10.1172/JCI89626. Epub 2017 Feb 6.

Authorship note: S. Lovric, S. Goncalves, and H.Y. Gee contributed equally to this work

Mutations in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase cause nephrosis with ichthyosis and adrenal insufficiency

Svjetlana Lovric,¹ Sara Goncalves,^{2,3} Heon Yung Gee,^{1,4} Babak Oskouian,⁵ Honnappa Srinivas,⁶ Won-II Choi,¹ Shirlee Shril,¹ Shazia Ashraf,¹ Weizhen Tan,¹ Jia Rao,¹ Merlin Airik,¹ David Schapiro,¹ Daniela A. Braun,¹ Carolin E. Sadowski,¹ Eugen Widmeier,^{1,7} Tilman Jobst-Schwan,¹ Johanna Magdalena Schmidt,¹ Vladimir Girik,⁸ Guido Capitani,⁹ Jung H. Suh,⁵ Noëlle Lachaussée,^{2,3} Christelle Arrondel,^{2,3} Julie Patat,^{2,3} Olivier Gribouval,^{2,3} Monica Furlano,^{2,3,10} Olivia Boyer,^{2,3,11} Alain Schmitt,^{12,13} Vincent Vuiblet,^{14,15} Seema Hashmi,¹⁶ Rainer Wilcken,⁶ Francois P. Bernier,¹⁷ A. Micheil Innes,¹⁷ Jillian S. Parboosingh,¹⁷ Ryan E. Lamont,¹⁷ Julian P. Midgley,¹⁸ Nicola Wright,¹⁸ Jacek Majewski,¹⁹ Martin Zenker,²⁰ Franz Schaefer,²¹ Navina Kuss,²² Johann Greil,²³ Thomas Giese,²⁴ Klaus Schwarz,²⁵ Vilain Catheline,²⁶ Denny Schanze,²⁰ Ingolf Franke,²⁷ Yves Sznajer,²⁸ Anne S. Truant,²⁹ Brigitte Adams,³⁰ Julie Désir,²⁶ Ronald Biemann,³¹ York Pei,³² Elisabet Ars,³³ Nuria Lloberas,³⁴ Alvaro Madrid,³⁵ Vikas R. Dharnidharka,³⁶ Anne M. Connolly,³⁷ Marcia C. Willing,³⁸ Megan A. Cooper,³⁹ Richard P. Lifton,^{40,41} Matias Simons,^{3,42} Howard Riezman,⁸ Corinne Antignac,^{2,3,43} Julie D. Saba,⁵ and Friedhelm Hildebrandt¹

¹Division of Nephrology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, USA. ²Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, Unité Mixte de Recherche 1163, Laboratory of Hereditary Kidney Diseases, Paris, France. ³Université Paris Descartes, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Imagine Institute, Paris, France. ⁴Department of Pharmacology, Brain Korea 21 PLUS Project for Medical Sciences, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, Republic of Korea. ⁵UCSF Benioff Children's Hospital Oakland, Oakland, California, USA. ⁶Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research, Basel, Switzerland. 7Department of Medicine, Renal Division, Medical Center – University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany. *National Centre of Competence in Research (NCCR) Chemical Biology and Biochemistry Department, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland. ⁹Laboratory of Biomolecular Research, Paul Scherrer Institute, Villigen, Switzerland. ¹⁰Nephrology Department, Fundació Puigvert, Instituto de Investigaciones Biomédicas Sant Pau (IIB-Sant Pau), Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, REDinREN, Instituto de Investigación Carlos III, Barcelona, Spain. 1Department of Pediatric Nephrology, Necker Hospital, Assistance Publique – Hôpitaux de Paris, Paris, France. 2Plateforme de Microscopie Electronique, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale 1016, Institut Cochin, Paris, France. ¹³Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Unité Mixte de Recherche 81044, Paris, France. ¹⁴Centre National pour la Recherche Scientifique, Unité Mixte de Recherche 7369, Laboratory of Matrice Extracellulaire et Dynamique Cellulaire, Reims, France. ¹⁵Nephrology and Renal Transplantation Department and Biopathology Laboratory, Centre Hospitalier et Universitaire de Reims, Reims, France. 16 Department of Pediatric Nephrology, Sindh Institute of Urology and Transplantation, Karachi, Pakistan. 17 Department of Medical Genetics and 18 Department of Pediatrics, University of Calgary, Alberta Health Services, Calgary, Canada. 19 Department of Human Genetics, McGill University, Montréal, Quebec, Canada. 20 Institute of Human Genetics, University Hospital Magdeburg, Magdeburg, Germany. 21Division of Pediatric Nephrology, 22Department of Neonatology, 23Department of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, Center for Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, and ²⁴Institute of Immunology, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany. ²⁵Institute for Transfusion Medicine, University of Ulm, and Institute of Clinical Transfusion Medicine and Immunogenetics Ulm, German Red Cross Blood Service Baden-Württemberg – Hessen, Ulm, Germany. ²⁶ULB Center of Human Genetics. Hôpital Erasme, Université Libre de Bruxelles (ULB), Brussels, Belgium. ²⁷Department of Dermatology, University Hospital Magdeburg, Magdeburg, Germany.²⁸Centre de Génétique Humaine, Cliniques Universitaires Saint Luc, ²⁹Pediatric Neonatology, Center for Human Genetics, Université Catholique de Louvain (UCL), ³⁰Nephrology ped, Hôpital universitaire des enfants Reine Fabiola (HUDERF), Université Libre de Bruxelles (ULB), Brussels, Belgium. ³¹Institute of Clinical Chemistry and Pathobiochemistry, University Hospital Magdeburg, Magdeburg, Germany. 32Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine, University Health Network and University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada. 33 Molecular Biology Laboratory, Fundació Puigvert, IIB-Sant Pau, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, REDinREN, Instituto de Investigación Carlos III, Barcelona, Spain. 34 Nephrology Service and Laboratory of Experimental Nephrology, Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge, Catalonia, Spain. 35Nefrología Pediátrica, Hospital Universitario Materno-Infantil Vall d' Hebron, Barcelona, Spain. 36Department of Pediatrics, Division of Pediatric Nephrology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA. 37Department of Neurology, Neuromuscular Division, 38Department of Pediatrics, Division of Genetics and Genomic Medicine, and ³⁹Department of Pediatrics, Division of Rheumatology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri, USA. ⁴⁰Department of Genetics, Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, Connecticut, USA. 41Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Chevy Chase, Maryland, USA. 42Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, Unité Mixte de Recherche 1163, Laboratory of Epithelial Biology and Disease, Paris, France. 43 Department of Genetics, Necker Hospital, Assistance Publique – Hôpitaux de Paris, Paris, France.

Steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS) causes 15% of chronic kidney disease cases. A mutation in 1 of over 40 monogenic genes can be detected in approximately 30% of individuals with SRNS whose symptoms manifest before 25 years of age. However, in many patients, the genetic etiology remains unknown. Here, we have performed whole exome sequencing to identify recessive causes of SRNS. In 7 families with SRNS and facultative ichthyosis, adrenal insufficiency, immunodeficiency, and neurological defects, we identified 9 different recessive mutations in *SGPL1*, which encodes sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) lyase. All mutations resulted in reduced or absent SGPL1 protein and/or enzyme activity. Overexpression of cDNA representing *SGPL1* mutations resulted in subcellular mislocalization of SGPL1. Furthermore, expression of WT human SGPL1 rescued growth of SGPL1-deficient $dp/1\Delta$ yeast strains, whereas expression of disease-associated variants did not. Immunofluorescence revealed SGPL1 expression in mouse podocytes and mesangial cells. Knockdown of *Sgpl1* in rat mesangial cells inhibited cell migration, which was partially rescued by VPC23109, an S1P receptor antagonist. In *Drosophila, Sply* mutants, which lack SGPL1, displayed a phenotype reminiscent of nephrotic syndrome in nephrocytes. WT *Sply*, but not the disease-associated variants, rescued this phenotype. Together, these results indicate that *SGPL1* mutations cause a syndromic form of SRNS.

Authorship note: S. Lovric, S. Goncalves, and H.Y. Gee contributed equally to this work.

Conflict of interest: The authors have declared that no conflict of interest exists.

1

Submitted: July 20, 2016; Accepted: December 12, 2016. Reference information: J Clin Invest. 2017;127(3):912–928. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI89626.
RESEARCH ARTICLE

Introduction

Steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS), when also resistant to other immunosuppressive agents, leads to chronic kidney disease (CKD) within a few years of onset, requiring renal replacement therapy for survival. It causes 15% of all end-stage kidney disease that manifests by 25 years of age (1). Histologically, SRNS manifests mostly as focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) (2).

The first insights into the pathogenesis of SRNS were gained by the discovery of monogenic causes of SRNS, revealing that the encoded proteins are essential for the function of the renal glomerular cells called podocytes (3, 4). We recently demonstrated in a worldwide cohort of 1,783 families that a monogenic cause of SRNS can be detected in 1 of 27 genes in approximately 30% of SRNS cases manifesting before age 25 years (5). Currently, more than 40 monogenic forms of SRNS have been identified (6).

Interestingly, syndromic forms of SRNS have been increasingly characterized and display variable involvement of other organs besides the kidney, in most of the cases the central nervous system, but also the genital tract, eye, muscle, bone, and the immune system. To date, mutations have been identified in transcription factors and nuclear proteins (WT1, LMX1B, SMARCAL1, NXF5, NUP93, NUP205, and XPO5), lysosomal proteins (SCARB2), basement membrane proteins (LAMB2), and proteins involved in COQ₁₀ biosynthesis (COQ2, COQ6, PDSS2, and ADCK4) (6). Because genetic mapping data indicated a multitude of potential additional loci for SRNS, we here performed whole exome sequencing (WES) to identify additional monogenic SRNS genes and identified 9 different mutations in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase (SGPL1) in 7 families as causing a previously unrecognized syndromic SRNS with a combination of ichthyosis/acanthosis, adrenal insufficiency, immunodeficiency, and/or neuronal dysfunction. We characterized mechanisms of molecular loss of function for the mutations detected and implicated sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) metabolism in the pathogenesis of SRNS. The syndromic features resulting from SGPL1 mutations indicate the pivotal role of S1P metabolism in multiple tissues including kidney.

Results

SGPL1 mutations cause nephrotic syndrome, ichthyosis, facultative adrenal insufficiency, immunodeficiency, and neurologic defects in humans. Using WES in 7 families with a disease phenotype of SRNS, with adrenal insufficiency, ichthyosis-like acanthosis, immunodeficiency, or neurologic abnormalities (Table 1, Table 2, and Supplemental Figures 1-3; supplemental material available online with this article; https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI89626DS1), we identified recessive mutations in SGPL1 (Figure 1, A-E). Homozygosity mapping (HM) in a Pakistani family (A280) (Supplemental Figure 1) with 3 siblings yielded a nonparametric lod score peak on chromosome 10, which did not coincide with any of the known recessive SRNS loci (Figure 1A) (7). Using WES, we detected a homozygous missense mutation (p.Arg222Gln) in a highly conserved (Caenorhabditis elegans) amino acid residue encoded by SGPL1 (Table 1 and Figure 1, B-E). Notably, affected individuals from another consanguineous family (EB) showed a homozygous missense mutation involving the same amino acid residue (p. Arg222Trp), but presented with a more severe phenotype, with neonatal onset and profound immunodeficiency (Table 1 and Figure 1, B-E). A homozygous frameshift mutation of SGPL1 (p.Ser3Lysfs*11) (Table 2 and Figure 1, B-E) was identified in affected individuals from family A5444, showing a phenotype of SRNS and cortisol deficiency. In family B46/B56, in whom 3 siblings had congenital nephrotic syndrome (NS) and severe extrarenal involvement combined with lymphopenia (Table 2 and Supplemental Figure 1), WES detected another homozygous missense mutation of SGPL1 (p.Ser346Ile) (Table 2 and Figure 1, B-E) and in another individual with a related disease phenotype, B1245, a homozygous missense mutation, p.Tyr416Cys (Table 2 and Figure 1, B-E), with both mutations evolutionarily conserved to S. cerevisiae. In an individual MC with mononeuritis multiplex, SRNS, lymphopenia, and progressive contractures of extremities, WES identified compound heterozygous mutations in SGPL1 (Table 2 and Figure 1, B-E). Both mutations are missense and affect highly conserved amino acid residues.

Patients from the nonconsanguineous family NCR61 (Table 1 and Figure 1, B-E) were found to be compound heterozygous for a frameshift mutation (p.Arg278Glyfs*17) and a missense mutation (p.Glu132Gly) not predicted to be deleterious by the Poly-Phen (http://genetics.bwh.harvard.edu/pph2/) and SIFT (http:// sift.jcvi.org/) prediction tools, but predicted to induce skipping of exon 5 due to the introduction of additional exon splicing silencer elements (EX-SKIP, http://ex-skip.img.cas.cz) (8). Fibroblasts of patient NCR61-1 had almost no SGPL1 protein detectable by Western blot at the predicted size (Supplemental Figure 4A). Therefore, we hypothesized that the deleterious effect of c.395A>G was indeed related to the predicted RNA splicing defect and not to the p.Glu132Gly amino acid substitution. Amplification of the patient cDNA between exons 4 and 8 by PCR revealed a light band at the expected size and an intense smaller band with a size corresponding to loss of exon 5 (Supplemental Figure 4B). Sequencing of the PCR products confirmed the absence of exon 5 for the abundant smaller fragment and showed that the normal size fragment corresponded to the frameshift allele p.Arg278Glyfs*17. Skipping of exon 5 leads to a frameshift at amino acid position 88 and a stop codon 24 amino acids downstream (p. Ile88Thrfs*25).

By high-throughput exon sequencing (5, 9) in a worldwide cohort of approximately 800 additional families with NS, we did not detect any additional families with biallelic mutations of SGPL1. In all 7 families with SGPL1 mutations (Tables 1 and 2 and Figure 1, B-K), direct inspection of sequence alignments did not vield a mutation in any of the 40 known SRNS genes. Most mutations identified in this study were absent from more than 60,000 control individuals in the ExAC server (http://exac.broadinstitute.org/) (Tables 1 and 2). Two missense mutations (c.665G>A; p.Arg222Gln and c.1247A>G; p.Tyr416Cys) are reported in the ExAC server, but their allele frequencies are extremely rare and they never occur in the homozygous state (Tables 1 and 2). All mutations segregated with the disease phenotype (Supplemental Figures 1 and 2). We thereby identified recessive SGPL1 mutations as a cause of syndromic SRNS with ichthyosis/acanthocystosis, adrenal insufficiency, immunodeficiency, or neurologic involvement. We introduced the term NPHS14 for this syndromic SRNS caused by mutations of SGPL1.

In the majority of cases, NS, manifested as congenital NS or in the first year of life, showed no response to steroid therapy and

aurologic defects	Extrarenal manifestations		ichthyosis (9 yr) tal: no cortisol deficiency	nal: bilateral adrenal calcifications (4 mo), AI (19 mo) mo: deficiency of cellular immunity (2 yr) s: craniotabes and rachtic rosary (5 mo) ni: sudden strabismus, abnormal gait (15 mo)	scaly lesions, hyperchromic skin (2 yr), yosis vulgaris (5 yr), no skin biopsy nai: glucocorticoid deficiency (11 yr) bi: cNMR normal (11 yr) s: acrosomia, asymmetric skull, moderate scoliosis			ichthyosis Jai-Al (2 vr)	ichthyosis hal: Al (2 yr)		nal: Al (6.5 yr) calcinosis cutis nal: Al (3 yr) s: S5 31: ptosis (25 vr), progressive defects,	an and ulnar nerve paralysis tal: Al (2 yr)		ral: AI (3 mo) no: immunodeficiency, lymphopenia (T and B cells) Di: microcephaly, hypoplasia of corpus callosum : anemia, failure to thrive, capillary leak syndrome	hydrops		-
ficiency, and n	enal biopsy (at age)		FSGS (4 yr) Skin. Adre	5GS (17 mo) Adre Imm Bone Neur	FSGS (1 yr) Skin ichth Adre Neur Bone			FSGS (2 yr) Skin: Adre	FSGS (1 yr) Skin Adre		5GS (19 yr) Adre 5GS (3 yr) Skin. Adre Bone Neur	=5GS (2 yr) Adre		ND Adre Imm Neur Othe	ND Feta	NA ND	NA ND
iciency, immunode	Age of onset of SRNS R (of ESRD)		4 yr	Hematuria and F: proteinuria (7 mo) (transplant 5 yr); died at 8 yr	SRNS (10 mo) (first transplant, 5 yr; second, 12 yr]) relapse with massive protein-uria (15 yr)			2 yr (6 yr)	1 yr (4 yr)		19 yr F 3 yr (7 yr), MHU 1 (transplant 8 yr)	2 yr (2.9 yr), died at 2.9 yr		CNS (1 mo), died at 5 mo	CNS, died at 2 mo	Fetal demise	Fetal demise
nsuffi	Ы	۲				z				≻			≻				
ive adrenal i	Ethnic origin	Spanish Roma				France				Pakistan			Turkish				
ultati	Sex		Σ	Σ	щ			ш	ш		ΣΣ	Σ		ш	щ	ΝA	NA .
/osis, and fac	ExAC allele frequencies	ND				QN	ND			2/120,744	10 homozygote)		ND				
h SRNS, ichty	a conservation to species	NA				D. m.	NA			С. е.			С. <i>е</i> .				:
es witl	MT ač	NA				Ы	NA			Ы			Ы				
<i>GPL1</i> in 4 famili	Exon (zygosity, segregation)	Exon 2 (HOM)				Exon 5 (het, p)	Exon 10 (het, m)			Exon 8 (HOM)			Exon 8 (HOM)				
mutations in S	aa change	p.Ser3Lysfs*11				p.Glu132Gly Exon 5 skipping (p.lle88Thrfs*25)	p.Arg278Glyfs*17			p.Arg222GIn			p.Arg222Trp				
re different	Nucleotide change	c.7dup				c.395A>G	c.832delA			c.665G>A			c.664C>T				
Table 1. Fiv	Family Individual	A5444	07-306	MCM	07-142	NCR61		-	2	A280	21	53	EB		2	m	4

914

656/646 C127-15 5 and (400) C 5 c. No No<	Family Individual	Nucleotide change	aa change	Exon (zygosity, segregation)	MT a	a conservation to species	ExAC allele frequencies	Sex	Ethnic origin	PC	Age of onset of SRNS (of ESRD)	Renal biopsy (at age)	Extrarenal manifestations
946 Consistential control constraints Consistential control constraints Consistential control constraints 256 (201511) Consistential control constraints Consistential control constraints Consistential control constraints 23 Consistential control constraints Consistential constraints Consistential control constraints Consistential constraints 23 Consistential constraints Consistential constraints Consistential constraints Consistential constraints Consistential constraints 23 Consistential constraints Consistential constraints Consistential constraints Consistential constraints Consistential constraints Consistential constraints 24 Consistential constraints Consistentin constraints Consistential co	B56/B46	c.1037G>T	p.Ser346lle	Exon 11 (HOM)	DC	5. <i>c</i> .	ND		Morocco	۲			
BG (12M15411) BG (12M15411)	B46							щ			CNS (3 mo), died at 6 mo	DMS (6 mo)	Prenatal edema/hydrops Skin: ichthyosis (at birth) Adrenal: small calcifications Neurol: microcephaly, muscular hypotonia, DD, deafness Other: hypothyroidism, intestinal malrotation, facial dysmorphism (microstomia; hypetelorism, epicanthus, dysplastic ears), hypocalcemia Immuno: lymphopenia
23 24 25 26 26 26 27 29 29 20 21 21 20 20 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21	B56 (12M15411)							щ			CNS, died at 1 mo	DMS (1 mo)	Skin: ichthyosis Neurol: microcephaly, deafness, muscular hypotonia, DD Other: fetal hydrops Immuno: lymphopenia
24 25 26 27 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21	23							щ			Fetal demise (36 wk GA)	NA	Hydrops
26 213 214 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21	24							щ			Fetal demise with hydrops fetalis	NA	Skin: ichthyosis
B1245 C.1247A>G p.Tyr416Cys Exon12 (H0M) DC S. c. 1/121408 Mixed European Y 21 21 (no homozygote) F (Hutterite) CNS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) Adrenal: AI (2 mo) 21 Adrenal: AI (2 mo) F (no homozygote) F (Hutterite) CNS (2 mo) PO (2 mo) 21 Adrenal: AI (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) Neuci: Bilateral sensorineur 21 Adrenal: AI (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) PO (2 mo) 21 Adrenal: AI (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) PO (2 mo) 22 Adrenal: AI (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) PO (2 mo) 23 Adrenal: AI (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) PO (2 mo) 24 Adrenal: AI (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) PO (2 mo) PO (2 mo) 24 Adrenal: AI (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) PO (2 mo) PO (2 mo) 24 FSCS (2 mo) FSCS (2 mo) PO (2 mo) PO	26							ш			CNS (1 mo), died at 3 mo	N	Adrenal: calcifications Neurol: microcephaly, seizures (3 mo) Immuno: lymphopenia Other: hypothyroidism, hypocalcemia
21 CNS (2 mo) FSGS (2 mo) Adrenal: Al (2 mo) FSGS (2 mo) FSGS (2 mo) Adrenal: Al (2 mo) FSGS (2 mo) FSGS (2 mo) FSGS (2 mo) FSGS (2 mo) Adrenal: Al (2 mo) FSGS (2	B1245	c.1247A>G	p.Tyr416Cys	Exon 12 (HOM)	Ы	S. c.	1/121,408		Mixed European	≻			
MC C.605C>T p.Ser202Leu Exon 7 DC C.e^A ND M Mixed European N 18 yr FSGS (18 yr) Adrenal: none C.946G>A p.Ala316Thr Exon 11 DC C.e. ND (US) (18 yr) Neurol: peripheral neuropatt mononeuritis multiplex inherited) inherited) through the second to be second tob second to be second to b	21					L)	io homozygote)	щ	(Hutterite)		CNS (2 mo) ESRD (5 mo) PD (2 mo)	FSGS (2 mo)	Adrenal: AI (2 mo) Neurol: bilateral sensorineural hearing loss (3 yr) Immuno: T and B cell lymphopenia, anemia (2 mo) Other: failure to thrive, DD, hypothyroidism (2 mo), mild dilated cardiomyopathy, Family history of 2 related children who died at young age of suspected immunodeficiency
Other: elevated TSH, amblyo	ΨC	c.946G>A c.946G>A	p.Ser202Leu p.Ala316Thr	Exon 7 Exon 11 (comp het, inherited)		ن ہے 1 نے	Q Q N	Σ	Mixed European (US)	z	18 yr (18 yr)	FSGS (18 yr)	Adrenal: none Neurol: peripheral neuropathy (motor and sensory), mononeuritis multiplex Immuno: T, B, NK lymphopenia; hypogammaglobulinemia; thrombocytopenia Other: elevated TSH, amblyopia, strabismus





Figure 1. HM and WES reveal SGPL1 mutations as causing SRNS with ichthyosis and facultative adrenal insufficiency or neurologic defects (NPHS type 14). (A) Nonparametric lod scores across the human genome in 3 siblings of consanguineous family A280 with SRNS, acanthosis, and ichtyosis with facultative adrenal insufficiency. The x axis shows singlenucleotide polymorphism positions on human chromosomes concatenated from p-ter (left) to q-ter (right). Genetic distance is given in cM. The SGPL1 locus (arrowhead) is positioned within the maximum nonparametric lod peak on chromosome 10. (B) Exon structure of human SGPL1 cDNA. SGPL1 contains 15 exons. Positions of start codon (ATG) and of stop codon (TGA) are indicated. (C) Domain structure of SGPL1. The extent of the PLP-dependent transferase domain is shown. (D) Five homozygous (HOM) and 4 compound-heterozygous SGPL1 mutations (het) detected in 7 families with NPHS type 14. Family numbers (underlined), mutations, and predicted translational changes are indicated (see also Tables 1 and 2). (E) Evolutionary conservation of altered amino acid residues of SGPL1. Note that c.395A>G also resulted in p.lle88Thrfs*25 through exon 5 skipping. (F) Ptosis in individual A280-22. (G) Skin image from individual A280-22 showing brownish black desquamation on sebostatic skin with multiple radial papules with a blueish/black erythema and central calcinosis. (H and I) Median (H) and ulnar nerve (I) paralysis in individual A280-22. (J) H&Estained epidermal section from individual A280-22 showing acanthosis/ orthokeratotic hyperkeratosis (black arrowhead) and calcinosis (white arrowhead). (K) Renal histology (silver staining) of individual A280-22, showing FSGS. Scale bars: 100 μ m.

rapidly progressed to end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Histologically, FSGS was the main finding, but diffuse mesangial sclerosis (DMS) was found in cases with congenital NS (Tables 1 and 2 and Supplemental Figure 3). Extrarenal manifestations included ichthyosis and primary adrenal insufficiency, present in almost all cases except in those patients deceased at very early ages. About half of the affected individuals had a severe immunodeficiency. Patients presented with lymphopenia and multiple bacterial infections. A more detailed immunological work-up performed in patient EB-1 revealed severe lymphopenia with markedly reduced CD4 and CD8 T lymphocytes as well as B lymphocytes. In vitro cytokine generation upon stimulation was also deficient (Supplemental Table 3). Neurological deficits were also present in half of the patients and included sensorineural deafness, microcephaly (Supplemental Figure 3), corpus callosum hypoplasia in 1 case, peripheral nerve paralysis of the median and ulnar nerves, and ptosis of the left eye (Tables 1 and 2 and Figure 1, F-I). In a few cases, dysmorphic features and bone defects were also present. Two families had a history of fetal demise and hydrops fetalis.

SGPL1 encodes S1P lyase, an intracellular enzyme responsible for the final step in sphingolipid breakdown, converting its main substrate S1P into ethanolamine phosphate and hexadecenal. S1P is a bioactive sphingolipid that acts extracellularly by binding to proteincoupled receptors of the lysophospholipid receptor family and intracellularly through S1P receptor-independent (S1PR-independent) mechanisms. Through receptor activation, S1P mediates autocrine and paracrine signals, controlling cell migration and proliferation as well as lamellipodia dynamics (10). An *Sgpl1*-deficient mouse model exhibits glomerular proteinuria, a skin phenotype of acanthosis with orthokeratotic hyperkeratosis and platelet activation (11).

Sgpl1 localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum of renal glomerular cells. All of the 40 monogenic genes that, when mutated, cause SRNS are highly expressed in podocytes. We therefore examined cell-type-specific and subcellular localization of SGPL1 in mouse

kidney. To assess the specificity of an anti-SGPL1 antibody used in immunofluorescence, we first stained kidney sections of $Sgpl1^{+/-}$ and $Sgpl1^{+/+}$ mice (Figure 2, A and B). Most of the SGPL1 signal observed in kidneys of $Sgpl1^{+/+}$ mice was absent from kidneys of $Sgpl1^{-/-}$ mice (Figure 2A), demonstrating specificity of the signal. To determine cellular localization of SGPL1, immunofluorescence was performed using various cell- and organelle-specific markers (Figure 2, C–F). SGPL1 localized to podocytes, whose nuclei were marked with WT1 (Figure 2C). As shown by the colocalization of SGPL1 with the ER marker BiP, it localized to ER in podocytes, although this colocalization was more obvious in proximal tubules (Figure 2C). In addition, SGPL1 appeared to be present in other renal glomerular cell types, for example, in mesangial cells stained with α -smooth muscle actin (Figure 2E) and endothelial cells stained with CD31 (Figure 2F).

In silico modeling of SGPL1 missense mutations. To predict potential structural changes in SGPL1 protein that might arise from the mutations (p.Arg222Gln and p.Ser346Ile) detected in patients with NPHS type 14 Tables 1 and 2), we performed in silico analyses (Figure 2, G and H). SGPL1 forms a symmetric homodimer. Two subunits form a tightly intertwined dimer with both chains contributing to the catalytic cavity defined by the covalently bound cofactor pyridoxal phosphate (PLP) (Figure 2, G and H). Arg222 is located at the symmetric dimer interface and forms 2 important hydrogen bonds with the carbonyl backbone moieties of Tyr250 and Ser249, contributing to the binding affinity of the homodimer. The p.Arg222Gln mutation leads to a loss of these 2 hydrogen bonds in both chains (Figure 2G), which is reflected in the delta affinity being predicted as unfavorable by about 10 kcal/ mol. In addition, the mutation seems to be destabilizing the protein, since Arg222 also forms hydrogen bonds with adjacent residues in its own symmetric dimer chain. Ser346 is not at the dimer interface, but buried within each chain (Figure 2H). Its hydroxyl group is involved in 2 hydrogen bonds, accepting one from Tyr221 and donating one onto His313 (Figure 2H). The p.Ser346Ile mutation is predicted to be considerably disfavored because it not only breaks this hydrogen-bond network, but because isoleucine is also much bulkier than serine, leading to steric clashes with its surrounding residues (Figure 2H). Hence the delta stability is predicted to be +130 kcal/mol.

Mutations alter subcellular localization of SGPL1. Because in silico analysis predicted that the p.Arg222Gln mutation may affect the interface of the SGPL1 homodimer, we examined this hypothesis by coimmunoprecipitation. We transfected HEK293T cells with plasmids with 2 alternative tags (Myc and FLAG). Compared with WT SGPL1, p.Arg222Gln and p.Ser346Ile mutant proteins exhibited reduced expression levels, whereas p.Glu132Gly had a similar expression level upon overexpression (Figure 2I and Supplemental Figure 5). Neither missense (p.Glu132Gly, p.Arg222Gln, and p.Ser346Ile) nor truncating (p.Arg278Glyfs*17) mutations abrogated dimer formation (Figure 2I and Supplemental Figure 5). However, when compared with overexpression of the SGPL1 WT construct, overexpression of p.Arg222Gln, p.Ser346Ile, and p.Arg278Glyfs*17 SGPL1 proteins in HEK293T cells led to abnormal cytoplasmic aggregates (Figure 2J). Aggregation of SGPL1 mutant proteins was confirmed upon overexpression in human podocytes (Supplemental Figure 6).



Figure 2. Biological and biochemical consequences of recessive SGPL1

mutations. (A-F) Kidney sections of Sgpl1^{-/-} mice (A) and Sgpl1^{+/+} mice (B) were stained with anti-SGPL1 (red) and WT1 antibodies (green). (B-F) Coimmunofluorescence of SGPL1 with marker proteins (green) in Sgpl1^{+/+} kidney: podocyte (B, WT1), ER (C, BiP), podocyte foot processes (D, synaptopodin), mesangial cells (E, α -smooth muscle actin), and endothelial cells (F, CD31). Scale bars: 25 µm. (G and H) Structural modeling of SGPL1 mutations. The 2 monomers of the SGPL1 homodimer are shown in the drawing in blue and orange, respectively. (G) p.Arg222Gln; (H) p.Ser346lle. (I) Coimmunoprecipitation to assess dimerization of WT vs. mutant SGPL1 proteins (see also Supplemental Figure 5). Coimmunoprecipitation is representative of 3 experiments. (J) Mislocalization of variant SGPL1 proteins upon overexpression in HEK293T cells. BiP (red), or Golgi marker GOLGB1 (red), and anti-Myc antibody (green). Scale bars: 10 µm. (K) SGPL1 enzyme activity levels in transformed HEK293T cells. HEK293T cells expressing a GFP indicate endogenous SGPL1 activity levels (a vs. b and a vs. d, P < 0.0025; c vs. d, P = 0.013; a vs. c, no significant difference). (L) SGPL1 protein expression and enzyme activity levels in fibroblasts from 2 control individuals (Ctrl 1 and 2), normal human foreskin fibroblasts (Fk), and 4 individuals with SGPL1 mutations. (a vs. b, P < 0.0001.) Results are from the averages of triplicates in K and L. (M) Immunofluorescence of SGPL1 in fibroblasts. BiP (green), Golgi marker GM130 (blue), and anti-SGPL1 antibody (red). Scale bars: 25 μ m. (N) PHS toxicity test. Ability to complement *dpl1*/ deletion on medium containing PHS was tested for human SGPL1 WT and mutants. (0) Synthetic lethality test. Human WT and p.Glu132Gly SGPL1 expressing RH4863 survived on 5-FOA plates. However, p.Arg222Gln and p.Ser346lle mutants did not allow for survival of DPL1 (SGPL1) deficient strains.

Mutations in SGPL1 result in decreased expression and reduced lyaseactivity. To assess whether mutations detected in individuals with NPHS type 14 altered SGPL1 enzyme activity, we measured SGPL1 and enzyme activity levels in HEK293T cells transiently expressing either WT or mutant SGPL1 (Figure 2K). We found that overexpression of the p.Arg222Gln, p.Ser346Ile, and p.Arg278Glyfs*17 mutant alleles resulted in strongly reduced enzyme activity levels, whereas the p.Glu132Gly mutant (c.395A>G) did not, consistent with our finding that c.395A>G leads to skipping of exon 5 and protein truncation (p.Ile88Thrfs*25) (Supplemental Figure 4). We also found that protein expression levels and corresponding SGPL1 enzyme activity levels in patient dermal fibroblasts (Figure 2L) exhibited reduced SGPL1 enzyme activity for individuals B46 (p.Ser346Ile), B56 (p.Ser346Ile), NCR 61-1 (p.R278fs*17 and p.Ile88Thrfs*25), and A280-21 (p.Arg222Gln) compared with controls (Figure 2L). In addition, there was reduced expression of SGPL1 protein when examined by immunofluorescence microscopy in patient fibroblasts (Figure 2M). Taken together, these results suggest that the primary impact of the patient's mutations is on SGPL1 expression level and protein stability.

SGPL1 mutations fail to rescue growth in DPL1-deficient yeast. Functionality of human WT and mutant SGPL1 proteins were tested in an in vivo yeast complementation assay by measuring their ability to complement the deletion of the SGPL1 yeast ortholog DPL1 (dpl1 Δ) on medium containing phytosphingosine (PHS) (Figure 2N and Supplemental Figure 7A). Inability to degrade toxic long-chain bases led to decreased viability and slowed growth. Human WT and p.Glu132Gly mutant SGPL1 were found to be able to partially restore dpl1 Δ , while p.Arg222Gln, p.Ser346Ile, and p.Tyr416Cys as well as frameshift mutants p.Arg278Glyfs*17 and p.Ser3Lysfs*11 showed no improved growth compared with dpl1 Δ (Figure 2N and Supplemental Figure 7A), consistent with our finding that the c.395A>G allele most likely conveys loss of function through its splice defect (Supplemental Figure 4B). The results were also reproduced on plates containing C17 and C18 dihydrosphingosine (DHS).

To further investigate functional consequences of SGPL1 mutants, we carried out a synthetic lethality assay in yeast (Figure 2O and Supplemental Figure 7B) using an RH4863 strain in which DPL1 and LCB3 were deleted, rendering the strain synthetically lethal. Viability of the strain was maintained by expressing LCB3 from a URA3 plasmid. We tested functionality of SGPL1 and corresponding mutants expressed in RH4863 by forcing them to lose LCB3-coding URA3 plasmid on plates containing 5-fluoroorotic acid (5-FOA), which selects against URA3-expressing cells. Survival on 5-FOA plates indicates that cells have regained the ability to degrade long-chain bases and thus compensate for the loss of LCB3. In agreement with the PHS toxicity test, synthetic lethality assay demonstrated functional integrity of WT and p.Glu132Gly mutant SGPL1 proteins, but not p.Arg222Gln, p.Ser346Ile, p.Tyr416Cys, p.Arg278Glyfs*17, and p.Ser3Lysfs*11 (Figure 20 and Supplemental Figure 7B).

SGPL1 mutations alter ceramide composition of patient fibroblast-conditioned medium. S1P participates in regulating multiple cellular processes, and its intracellular levels are tightly regulated. Since SGPL1 controls the only exit point for sphingolipid catabolism, inactivation of the enzyme can result in accumulation of various bioactive sphingolipid intermediates, including phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated sphingoid bases and ceramides.

Conditioned medium from patient fibroblast cultures showed significantly elevated C22:0, C24:0, and C24:1 ceramides compared with control fibroblast-conditioned medium, whereas S1P levels were below the limits of detection (Supplemental Figure 8). These very long chain ceramides are produced by ceramide synthase 2 (12).

Sgpl1^{-/-} mice exhibit podocyte foot process effacement. Sgpl1^{-/-} mice exhibit glomerular proteinuria, a skin phenotype of acanthosis with orthokeratotic hyperkeratosis, platelet activation, and immunodeficiency (11). In order to determine the renal histology of Sgpl1^{-/-} mice, we performed transmission electron microscopy (TEM) of kidneys harvested from Sgpl1^{+/+} and Sgpl1^{-/-} mice to directly examine glomerular structures upon loss of Sgpl1. Sgpl1^{-/-} kidneys exhibited complete foot process effacement and absence of slit diaphragms (Supplemental Figure 9). In addition, Sgpl1^{-/-} mice exhibited hypoalbuminemia (serum albumin KO 2.2 ± 0.6 g/dl vs. WT or heterozygote [HET] 3.7 ± 0.4 g/dl, n = 4 KO and n = 6 WT or HET) and an elevated urinary albumin/creatinine ratio (ACR) (KO 1176.4 ± 932.8 vs. WT or HET 103.5 ± 94.2, n = 3 KO, n = 5 WT or HET, P value, no significant difference).

However, when we examined apoptosis in response to S1P in cultured podocytes, we did not observe an effect in a dose range expected to be present in SGPL1-induced pathology (Supplemental Figure 10). Likewise, we did not observe any effect of *SGPL1* knockdown on podocyte migration rate, a pathogenic effect that has previously been demonstrated in many monogenic forms of SRNS (Supplemental Figure 11) (13).

Decreased mesangial cell migration rate upon SGPL1 knockdown is reversed by an SIPR inhibitor. Because we did not observe any cellular pathologic effect in cultured podocytes regarding apop-

The Journal of Clinical Investigation



Figure 3. Effect of *Sgpl1* **knockdown on RHO GTPase activity in RMCs and patient fibroblasts.** (**A**) Effect of SGPL1 knockdown on rat RMCs using the xCELLigence system. RMC transfected with 2 different SGPL1 siRNAs exhibited decreased serum-induced migration rate (blue and red lines) compared with scrambled siRNA control (black line). (**B**) Diminished cell migration rate in patients with *SGPL1* mutations. Using the xCELLigence system, fibroblasts from individuals with *SGPL1* mutations (blue, red, and orange lines) showed decreased migration rate compared with control (black solid line). (**C**) Active GTP-bound RAC1 and CDC42 precipitated from RMCs transfected with scrambled (Scr) or *SGPL1* siRNA using a GST-PAK1 (CRIB) pulldown assay. Compared with control cells, RMCs transfected with SGPL1 antibody (second to lowest panel). (**D**) Active GTP-bound RHOA precipitated from RMCs using a GST-rhotekin (RBD) pulldown assay. RMCs transfected with scrambled control siRNA versus *SGPL1* siRNA exhibited no significant differences in relative RHOA activity. **C** and **D** represent 3 experiments each. (**E**) Effect of S1PR antagonists on RMC migration rate. SGPL1 knockdown caused decreased migration rate (red line) (Supplemental Figure 3B), which was partially rescued by VPC23109 (green line), but not by JTE013 (orange line). VPC23109 is an antagonist that selectively inhibits S1PR1 and S1PR3, whereas JTE013 is an antagonist for S1PR2. Each cell index value corresponds to the average of more than triplicates and SD is in only 1 direction for clarity in **A**, **B**, and **E**.

tosis or cell migration, because SGPL1 was present in mesangial cells (Figure 2E), and because *Sgpl1*^{-/-} mice exhibited reduced glomerular mesangial cell numbers (11), we examined pathogenic effects of siRNA knockdown of *Sgpl1* in mesangial cells (Figure 3).

To test whether *SGPL1* or S1P is involved in cell survival or proliferation, we investigated the effect of silencing SGPL1 on cell apoptosis and proliferation in rat mesangial cells (RMCs). Knockdown of *Sgpl1* did not affect apoptosis or proliferation in RMCs (Supplemental Figure 12). We then examined the effect of *Sgpl1* knockdown on migration of RMCs and found that migration of RMCs was reduced (Figure 3A) upon knockdown of *Sgpl1* by transfection with either of 2 siRNAs (Supplemental Figure 12). In addition, we confirmed this effect by showing that cell migration was significantly reduced in fibroblasts from individuals with *SGPL1* mutations (Figure 3B). S1P has previously been implicated in the regulation of RHOlike small GTPases (RHOA/RAC1/CDC42), and disruption of RAC1 signaling was previously implicated in the pathogenesis of SRNS (13–15). We therefore tested whether knockdown of *SGPL1* would affect activation of the RHO-like small GTPases. When *Sgpl1* was silenced by siRNA in RMCs, we observed a decrease in active GTP forms of CDC42 and RAC1 (Figure 3C), whereas active RHOA (Figure 3D) was unchanged.

To test for specificity of the migration defect observed upon *Sgpl1* knockdown, we employed S1PR antagonists. Among 5 S1PR (S1PR1-5), S1PR1, S1PR2, and S1PR3 are expressed in kidney (16). Therefore, we chose VPC23109, which preferentially acts on S1PR1 and S1PR3, and JTE013, which is an antagonist for S1PR2. Interestingly, VPC23109 partially rescued the decreased migration conferred by *Sgpl1* knockdown in RMCs, whereas JTE013 failed to

rescue the migration defect, suggesting that the S1P effect on RMC migration rate is mediated through S1PR1 and/or S1PR3 (Figure 3E).

SGPL1 is required for Drosophila nephrocyte function. Sply is the SGPL1 ortholog of Drosophila, and a Sply null allele has previously been characterized and shown to decrease fly viability (17). Accordingly, Sply null hemizygous flies (Sply null/Df) had decreased viability (Figure 4A).

To assess whether Sply deficiency evoked a podocytopathy phenotype in flies, we assessed the structure and function of nephrocytes in Sply null hemizygous flies. Nephrocytes are thought to represent the Drosophila counterparts of podocytes. These cells display invaginations of plasma membrane that form analogous structures to podocyte foot processes and are connected by a slit diaphragm (18). This structure allows filtering of hemolymph and macromolecules that can then undergo endocytosis. We observed no major decrease of the slit diaphragm protein kirre (NEPH1 ortholog) by immunofluorescence (Supplemental Figure 13); however, by TEM, we identified a reduction of foot process density (Figure 4C). To assess the impact of Sply on nephrocyte function, we analyzed the uptake of fluorescent-coupled albumin. Albumin is filtered and endocytosed in nephrocytes under normal conditions, but not when there is disruption of foot processes (18, 19). Consistently, Sply null hemizygous flies had significantly reduced uptake of albumin as compared with control (Figure 5A).

Due to the known role of Sply on sphingolipid catabolic pathway and its indirect implication in other lipid pathways, such as the regulation of sterol regulatory element-binding protein processing in Drosophila (20), we also studied the effect of Sply KO on the lipid content of nephrocytes. Sply null hemizygous flies showed an almost complete absence of lipid droplets stained by Bodipy (Figure 5B) or Nile red (data not shown), suggesting a reduction of neutral lipids. Using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC/MS), we also assessed the accumulation of sphingoid bases and ceramides in Sply null hemizygous flies. Drosophila has been shown to have C14 and C16 sphingosine (21) and C14 and C16 sphingadienes (22), a sphingoid base with an extra double bond compared with sphingosine. Sphingolipid intermediates upstream of S1P, including long chain bases and ceramides, have been shown to accumulate when SGPL1 activity is inhibited, including in Sply mutant flies (17, 22). As expected, we observed a significant increase of C16 sphingosine, C14 sphingadiene, and C16 ceramide in Sply null hemizygous third instar larvae (Figure 5C and Supplemental Figure 14). Together, these data suggest that Sply null hemizygous flies have defects reminiscent of the podocyte disease found in humans with SGPL1 mutations and display altered lipid metabolism due to the disruption of sphingolipid catabolic pathway.

Lack of rescue with mutant alleles in the Drosophila model. To assess the effect of SGPL1 missense mutations in vivo, we reexpressed the HA-tagged Sply carrying WT or the corresponding human mutations p.Glu119Gly, p.Arg210Gln, and p.Ser335Ile (equivalent to human mutants p.Glu132Gly, p.Arg222Gln, and p.Ser346Ile, respectively). We observed that under its endogenous promoter, HA-tagged Sply is expressed in nephrocytes (Figure 4B). Consistent with our previous results, the expression of mutants p.Arg210Gln and p.Ser335Ile was greatly reduced at the protein level compared with WT (Figure 4B), but without any significant difference at the mRNA level (Supplemental Figure 15). Reexpression of *Sply* WT and p.Glu119Gly transgenes rescued *Sply* mutant viability defect and nephrocyte dysfunction, which was not the case for p.Arg210Gln and p.Ser335Ile mutations (Figure 4 and Figure 5A). Regarding the neutral lipid content of nephrocytes, we observed a rescue of the *Sply* phenotype with *Sply* WT and p.Glu119Gly transgenes, but not with p.Arg210Gln or p.Ser335Ile (Figure 5B).

In whole third instar larvae, the phenotype of C16 sphingosine and C16 ceramide accumulation present in Sply null hemizygous flies was rescued with equal efficiency by Sply WT and p.Glu119G transgenes (Figure 5C). However, p.Ser335Ile mutant failed to rescue (Figure 5C). p.Arg210Gln mutant partially rescued the Sply null phenotype, but with significantly less efficiency than Sply WT (Figure 5C). This suggests that p.Arg210Gln and p.Ser335Ile, but not p.Glu119Gly, mutations affect the Sply enzymatic activity and result in the accumulation of upstream sphingolipids, sphingosines, and ceramides. Similar results were observed when analyzing fly sphingadienes, although complementation results for the mutants p.Arg210Gln and p.Ser335Ile did not reach a statistically significant difference from control (Supplemental Figure 14). We conclude that SGPL1 missense mutations p.Arg222Gln and p.Ser346Ile are pathogenic, impair sphingolipid metabolism, and induce nephrocyte defects reminiscent of those found in human podocytopathies. Consistent with our data on the splicing defects (Supplemental Figure 4B) induced by p.Glu132Gly mutation, we found that the corresponding amino acid change did not induce any defect in Drosophila.

Discussion

In this study, we identified recessive *SGPL1* mutations as a cause of syndromic SRNS. The disease phenotype entailed SRNS with facultative ichthyosis, adrenal insufficiency, neurologic involvement, and immunodeficiency. We show that *SGPL1* mutations are loss-of-function mutations that lead to reduced protein levels and enzyme activity and impaired degradation of long-chain sphingoid bases. In *Drosophila*, the missense mutations led to decreased viability and nephrocyte defects that are reminiscent of podocyte changes in human NS. WT *Sply* complemented *Sply* phenotype and sphingolipid profiles, whereas *Sply* harboring mutations did not complement.

SGPL1 is ubiquitously expressed in tissues and is an essential enzyme of the sphingolipid catabolic pathway. It is thus considered a main regulator of S1P levels and other sphingoid bases. Loss of Sgpl1 in mouse models phenocopies the human disease. In fact, Sgpl1-/- mice fail to thrive and die soon after weaning, showing defects in the immune system, the urinary system, vasculature, and bone as well as altered lipid metabolism (11, 23-25). However, adrenal insufficiency has not been described in Sgpl1-/- mice, but to our knowledge, adrenal function was not assessed in these animals. In the immune system, changes in local S1P concentration and gradient between tissues (low S1P) and efferent lymph and blood (high S1P) affect T cell egress from lymphoid organs (26, 27), resulting in reduced levels of circulating lymphocytes with overrepresentation of T cells with a memory phenotype over naive T cells (27), as observed in the SGPL1 mutant patient in which a complete immunological work-up has been performed. Interestingly, partial deficiency of Sgpl1 in inducible knockout models led

The Journal of Clinical Investigation



Figure 4. SGPL1 missense mutations fail to rescue the phenotype of the Drosophila SGPL1 ortholog (Sply) KO. Human SGPL1 mutations p.Glu132Gly, p.Arg222Gln, and p.Ser346lle are equivalent to Drosophila Sply mutations p.Glu119Gly, p.Arg210Gln, and p.Ser335Ile. (A) Viability defects of Sply null hemizygous and Sply mutant flies. Viability was calculated as the percentage of Sply null hemizygous offspring of heterozygous parents. Values are normalized to the viable control Df(2R) BSC433/Df(2R)247. More than 650 flies per genotype; 6 independent experiments. (B) Western blot of HA-tagged Sply in third instar larvae (top panel) and immunofluorescence of third instar garland nephrocytes stained for HA (purple) (bottom panel). Membrane and nuclei were labeled with HRP (green) and Hoechst (blue), respectively. Five or more larvae/genotype; 3 independent experiments. Scale bar: 10 μ m. (C) Foot process density in Sply null hemizygous and Sply mutant third instar garland nephrocytes. TEM images and quantification. Six or more nephrocytes/genotype; 2 independent experiments. Scale bars: 200 nm. Statistical analysis performed by Bonferroni's test following ANOVA. ***P < 0.0005; *P < 0.05. All graphs show mean ± SEM. ns, not significant.



C

JC



Density of foot process



RESEARCH ARTICLE



Figure 5. Defects of vesicular transport and sphingosine metabolism in the SGPL1 drosophila ortholog (Sply) KO. (A) Albumin uptake in *Sply* null hemizygous and *Sply* mutant third instar garland nephrocytes. Nephrocytes were incubated for 2.5 minutes with albumin-FITC (green), fixed and stained for the membrane marker HRP (red). Ten or more larvae/genotype; 3 independent experiments. Scale bar: 10 μ m. (**B**) Lipid droplets in *Sply* null hemizygous and *Sply* mutant third instar garland nephrocytes, assessed by Bodipy staining. Six or more larvae/genotype; 2 independent experiments. Scale bar: 10 μ m. (**C**) Sphingoid bases accumulation in *Sply* null hemizygous and *Sply* mutant third instar larvae assessed by LC/MS. Note that p.Arg210Gln mutant rescues with less efficiency than *Sply* WT (p.Arg210Gln vs. *Sply* WT, *P* = 0.009 for sphingosines and *P* = 0.02 for ceramides, *t* test). *n* = 6 independent experiments. For *Sply* null, *Sply* WT, and p.E119G, 1 analysis was removed due to poor quality chromatography. Control corresponds to WT larvae. Statistical analysis performed by Dunnet's (**C**) post-hoc tests following ANOVA or Dunn's post-hoc test following Kruskal-Wallis (**A**). ****P* < 0.0005; ***P* < 0.005; **P* < 0.05. All graphs show mean ± SEM.

The Journal of Clinical Investigation

to a less severe phenotype, with decreased lethality and in which prevailing manifestations involved kidney (massive proteinuria with FSGS), the immune system, platelets, and skin (28, 29). The variable organ involvement found in different *SGPL1* mutated families may be related to levels of residual functional SGPL1 conveyed by different mutations. However, the intrafamilial variability may be explained by the presence of other genetic factors that may influence the disease manifestations. For instance, variants or polymorphisms in genes involved in S1P metabolism and signaling, such as *SGPP1*, *SGPP2*, *SPHK1*, *SPHK2*, *SPNS2*, or *S1PR1-5*, may contribute to intrafamilial variability.

The phenotypic spectrum of SGPL1 mutations is reminiscent of Schimke immunoosseous dysplasia (MIM 242900), which is caused by recessive mutations in SMARCAL1 encoding SWI/ SNF-related, matrix-associated, actin-dependent regulator of chromatin, subfamily A-like protein 1. Specifically, mutations in both SMARCAL1 and SGPL1 are associated with FSGS and T cell-related immunodeficiency. Whereas SMARCAL1 is involved in reannealing stably unwound DNA, SGPL1 has been implicated as a mediator of DNA damage response (DDR). Increased SGPL1 expression and activity in DDR promotes apoptosis through a pathway involving p53 and caspase 2 (30). Therefore, defects in DDR may also contribute to the pathogenesis of SGPL1 deficiency. However, it should be noted that the T cell defects in patients with SMARCAL1 mutations are global and involve impairment of T cell proliferation, survival, and function. In contrast, SGPL1 deficiency in mice leads to lymphopenia as a result of trafficking defects, as shown by the sequestration of mature T cells in mutant mouse thymus, whereas T cell proliferation in thymus is unaffected (J.D. Saba and colleagues, unpublished observations).

Patient fibroblasts had significantly elevated C22:0, C24:0, and C24:1 ceramides compared with control fibroblast (Supplemental Figure 8). Interestingly, total serum ceramide levels and C24:0 and C16:0 lactyosylceramides were found to be high in children with CKD, which suggests they may play a causal role in the development of FSGS in our cohort (31). Total ceramide levels and the balance of different ceramide species can influence apoptosis and autophagy, thereby contributing to the pathophysiology of many diseases.

S1P is a bioactive lipid implicated in the regulation of cell survival, apoptosis, proliferation, and migration (32, 33). It can act in a paracrine and autocrine fashion by acting on G protein-coupled S1PRs that account for activation of signaling pathways such as Akt, mTOR, and RHO/RAC/CDC42 (34). However, S1P can also act intracellularly by regulating proapoptotic effector molecules such as BAK and BAX (35), TRAF2 (36), HDAC activity, and thus, epigenetic programs in the nucleus (37). The pathogenesis of disease within the target organs could result from both an excess of intracellular S1P and an imbalance of other sphingoid bases, but also from S1P signaling through the S1PRs. Podocytes are known to exhibit S1PRs, and as components of the glomerular filtration barrier, they could exhibit increased sensitivity to circulating S1P levels, especially under conditions of reduced SGPL1 activity, as has been shown in neuron primary cultures (38). In Drosophila, the phenotype we observed in nephrocytes upon constitutive Sply deletion is most likely to be secondary to intracellular accumulation of S1P, but also to increased interstitial S1P levels, and cannot argue against or in favor of a cell no-autonomous effect of SGPL1 deficiency. However, in our study, cultured podocytes stimulated with S1P did not show increased apoptosis at the S1P expected disease level. Additionally, *SGPL1* knockdown in podocytes also did not lead to a phenotype in cell migration or cell proliferation, although these results could be due to insufficient SGPL1 decrease, since in neurons, a 70% reduction of *SGPL1* using an RNA strategy is insufficient to induce accumulation of S1P (38). In *Drosophila*, there has still been no identification of a S1PR orthologue. However, we cannot exclude the possibility of a *Drosophila* S1PR. Accordingly, the phenotype we observed in nephrocytes upon the constitutive *Sply* knockout cannot argue against or in favor of a cell-nonautonomous effect of SGPL1 deficiency.

However, in mesangial cells, *SGPL1* knockdown induced a decrease of active RAC1 and CDC42 and a phenotype of decreased cell migration, which was partially mitigated by S1PR inhibition. Our findings in RMCs and *Drosophila* nephrocytes suggest that both cell types can be affected by SGPL1 deficiency, but it is not clear which cell type is primary in the pathogenesis. To address this, generation of transgenic mice with glomerular cell type-specific deletion of *Sgpl1* is under way.

Methods

Study participants. We obtained clinical data, blood samples, and skin biopsies from SRNS patients from worldwide sources. The diagnosis of NS was made by nephrologists based on standardized clinical and histologic criteria (39). Renal biopsies were evaluated by pathologists. Additional, clinical data were obtained using a standardized questionnaire (http://www.renalgenes.org).

WES. In consanguineous families, we combined WES with HM, as established previously (40, 41). Genetic regions of homozygosity were plotted across the genome (Figure 1A) (42, 43). Exome capture was performed with the Agilent SureSelect V5 Enrichment Capture Kit. The enriched library was sequenced on an Illumina HiSeq 4000 (100 bases paired end). Variant burden analysis was performed as previously described (44). Sequence reads were mapped against the human reference genome (NCBI build 37/hg19) using CLC Genomics Workbench (version 6.5.1) software (CLC bio). High-throughput exon resequencing was performed largely as described previously (9). For the nonconsanguineous family NCR61 and consanguineous family EB, exome sequencing was performed in 2 (NCR61-1 and NCR61-2) and 1 (EB-1) affected children. The enriched library was sequenced on an Illumina HiSeq 2500 (V4 chemistry, 2 × 125 bases). Variants were called as described (45).

RNA extraction, RT-PCR, and cDNA cloning. Human SGPL1 fulllength cDNA was obtained (clone MGC: 60255 IMAGE: 6150776) and subcloned into pRK5-N-Myc, pDEST69-N-FLAG, or BABEpuro-gateway (Addgene plasmid no. 51070). Mutations were introduced using the QuikChange II XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Agilent Technologies).

SGPL1 enzymatic activity assay. SGPL1 activity in whole cell extracts of patient fibroblasts and HEK293T cells expressing WT and mutant SGPL1 cDNA constructs was measured by quantifying the amount of hexadecenal formed over time as described (46).

3D protein structure. The crystal structure of human SGPL1 (PDB code 4Q6R) was prepared using the protein preparation wizard in Schrödinger Maestro release 2015.1. (version 10.1). After protein prep-

][]

aration, the effects of mutations were computationally assessed using the Residue Scanning module in BioLuminate 1.8 (Biologics Suite 2015-1: BioLuminate, version 1.8).

Cell culture and transfection. Human podocytes were provided by M. Saleem (University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom) and maintained at the permissive temperature of 33° C in RPMI + GlutaMAX-I (Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific) supplemented with 10% FBS, penicillin (50 IU/ml)/streptomycin (50 µg/ml), and insulin-transferrin-selenium-X. RMCs (ATCC CRL-2573) were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 15% FBS, 0.4 mg/ml G418, and penicillin/streptomycin. *SGPL1*-specific and control scrambled siRNAs were purchased from Dharmacon. siRNAs were transfected into podocytes or RMCs using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Invitrogen). The target sequences of siRNAs are in Supplemental Table 1. Human fibroblasts were grown in DMEM supplemented with 15% FBS, penicillin/streptomycin, and nonessential amino acids (Invitrogen). HEK239T cells were used for lentivirus production and transfected by the calcium phosphate precipitation method.

Immunoblotting, immunofluorescence, and GST pulldown assay. Experiments were performed as described previously (47). GST-PAK1 and GST-Rhotekin beads were purchased from Cytoskeleton Inc. Anti-SGPL1 (AF5535, R&D Systems), anti-BiP (ab21685), antiβ-actin (ab6276, Abcam), anti-CD31 (MA3100, Thermo), anti-RAC1 (610650), anti-CDC42 (610928), anti-GM130 (610822, BD Transduction Laboratories), anti-Myc (sc-789), anti-RHOA (sc-418), anti-WT1 (sc-7385, Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.), anti-GOLGB1(HPA011008), anti-a-smooth muscle actin (A2547), anti-FLAG (F3165, Sigma-Aldrich), anti-HA (11867423001, Roche), and anti-synaptopodin (20-4694, American Research Products) antibodies were purchased from commercial sources. Immunoblotting was quantified by densitometry using ImageJ software (NIH). For immunofluorescence in Drosophila nephrocytes, third instar garland nephrocytes were dissected and fixed for 20 minutes in 4% paraformaldehyde at room temperature. For Kirre stainings, an alternative fixation method was used: nephrocytes were heat fixed during 5 seconds at 90°C in 0.7% NaCl, 0.05% Triton X-100 solution (48). The following primary antibodies were used: anti-Kirre (gift from Karl Fischbach, University of Freiburg) anti-HA, and Alexa Fluor 488 or Cyanine Cy3-conjugated anti-horseradish peroxidase (Jackson Immunoresearch). Nile red and Bodipy 493/503 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were used to stain lipid droplets. For albumin uptake assay, garland nephrocytes were dissected from third instar larvae in Schneider's medium (Pan-Biotech), incubated for 2.5 minutes with 0.1 mg/ml Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated albumin (Thermo Fisher Scientific) at room temperature, and fixed in 4% PFA for 20 minutes. Confocal images were obtained with a Leica TCS SP8 SMD, and ImageJ (NIH) was used for image analysis.

Migration and proliferation assay. Migration assays were performed using the xCELLigence system (ACEA Biosciences). For migration assays, 48 hours after transfection, 4×10^4 cells were plated with serumfree media in the upper chamber of CIM-plate 16. The lower chambers were filled with 10% FBS for chemoattraction or with serum-free media. For proliferation assays, 4×10^4 cells were plated in the E-plate 16. The data obtained were analyzed with RTCA software (ACEA Biosciences Inc.). Results are presented as the time versus cell index curve.

Yeast strains and plasmids. The following yeast strains were used in this study: BY4741-Euroscarf, MATa, his3△1, leu2△0, met15△0, ura3△0, dpl1△::KanMx, RH4863, MATa lcb3△::KanMx dpl1△::KanMx ura3 leu2 his4 ade2 bar1, pLCB3::URA3 (PCR amplified genomic *LCB3* cloned into YCplac33), RH431, and MAT α *ura3 leu2 his4 bar1* (49). pRS415-ADH² was used to overexpress human *SGPL1* in yeast. pRS415-ADH-SGPL1 was constructed by cloning *SGPL1* in the *XmaI*-*XhoI* sites of pRS415-ADH.

PHS toxicity test. Yeast $dpl1\Delta$ cells transformed with PRS415-ADH bearing WT or mutant human *SGPL1* coding sequences were cultured overnight in synthetic defined minus leucine medium and spotted onto synthetic defined plates containing ethanol (vehicle control) and PHS (40 μ M) as previously described (50).

Synthetic lethality test. RH4863 yeast cells were transformed with plasmids overexpressing human SGPL1 (WT and mutant variants) or yeast (positive control). Cells grown in synthetic defined minus leucine medium were 10-fold serially diluted and spotted onto synthetic defined-agar without leucine, without uracil, or with 1 mg/ml 5-FOA (50).

Fly strains and generation of transgenic flies. Stocks were maintained on standard cornmeal-yeast food at 25°C. The following fly stocks were used: Sply⁰⁵⁰⁹¹/CyO,Act-GFP (from BL #11393), Df(2R)BSC433/ CyO, Act-GFP (from BL #24937), and Df(2R)247/CyO, Act-GFP (BL #7155), obtained from the Bloomington Stock Center, and Kirre RNAi (GD #14476), obtained from the Vienna Drosophila RNAi Center. Pros-GAL4 (a gift from Barry Denholm, Center for Integrative Physiology, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom) y,w¹¹¹⁸ was used as a WT control. Due to inbreeding, homozygous Sply⁰⁵⁰⁹¹ (Sply null allele) were almost impossible to obtain. We therefore generated Sply null hemizygous flies by crossing the Sply⁰⁵⁰⁹¹/CyO,Act-GFP flies with Df(2R)BSC433/CyO,Act-GFP flies that carry a deletion of the Sply locus and 5 other contiguous genes. In the F1 generation, Sply null hemizygous flies were identified by the absence of the balancer chromosome (CyO, Act-GFP). We confirmed the absence of Sply mRNA in Sply null hemizygous flies by reverse-transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR) (Supplemental Figure 15). For Sply rescue constructs, the HA tag (in-frame before the stop codon) and the corresponding SGPL1 human mutations were individually inserted by site-directed mutagenesis in the cloned 4-kb Sply genomic locus, including regulating sequences (-491 bp) and 3' UTR (+1066 bp). Subsequently, the WT and mutant Sply rescue constructs were cloned into a pattB vector (Konrad Basler, Institute of Molecular Life Sciences, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland) and injected into flies with an attP landing site at 76A2 by BestGene Inc. Primer sequences and cloning details are available in Supplemental Table 2. For the rescue experiments, 1 copy of the Sply rescue constructs was transferred by mating to the Sply null hemizygous background.

Viability assay. Fly crosses were allowed to lay eggs for 48 hours on standard cornmeal-yeast food. The percentage of hatching adults of the appropriate genotype was recorded. As a control, we crossed the Df(2R)BSC433/CyO,Act-GFP with Df(2R)247/CyO,Act-GFP (carrying a deletion nonoverlapping with Df[2R]BSC433), and the percentage of the normally viable Df(2R)BSC433/Df(2R)247 flies was recorded. On average, a total of 120 F1 hatching flies were counted per condition, and the experiments were repeated 6 times. Values reported were normalized to the control.

Mice. Sgpl1^{-/-} mice were previously described (11). *Sgpl1*^{-/-} mice, littermate controls, and heterozygote breeders were handled in pathogen-free conditions.

TEM. After dissection, third instar garland nephrocytes and kidneys from *Sgpl1*^{+/+} and *Sgpl1*^{-/-} mice were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde at room temperature and processed for TEM with standard techniques.

The Journal of Clinical Investigation

Sphingoid bases analysis. Sphingolipid metabolites from fly larvae and patient fibroblast samples were extracted using a protocol described previously (51). Analytical systems used were composed of Agilent 1290 UPLC coupled with Agilent 6490 triple quadruple mass spectrometer. Analysis was carried out using multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode. The general source settings in the positive ionization modes were as follows: gas temperature, 200°C; gas flow, 16 minute⁻¹; nebulizer, 20 psi; sheath gas temperature, 250°C; sheath gas flow, 11 minute-1; and capillary voltage, 3.0 kV. Specific MRM transitions for fly sphingoid bases were programmed based on the transitions described previously (52). Chromatographic separation of sphingolipids was performed with a Zorbax RRHD Eclipse Plus C18 (2.1×150 mm, 1.8 µm) equilibrated at 50°C. A binary gradient of mobile phase A (water containing 0.2% formic acid and 2 mM ammonium formate) and B (methanol containing 0.2% formic acid and 1 mM ammonium formate) was delivered at a constant flow rate of 1 ml/min. The total run time was 10 minutes. Initial gradient was 70% B and increased to 100% B at 8 minutes and returned to baseline at 8.5 minutes and maintained until 10 minutes. Data processing of all metabolites was performed using MassHunter software (Agilent).

RT-PCR and real-time PCR. Total RNA was isolated from fibroblasts using a QIAGEN RNA extraction kit (QIAGEN). cDNA was prepared using reverse transcriptase Superscript II (Invitrogen). PCR was performed using ReadyMix Taq PCR (Sigma-Aldrich) and the following primers: SGPL1 exon 4 forward, 5'-CTCACCAGGAAGATGCCCAT-3' and SGPL1 exon 8 reverse, 5'-GCTTTGCAGGCCATCAGTAT-3'. The amplified PCR products were then cloned into a pGEM-T Easy Vector (Promega) and analyzed by Sanger sequencing. In *Drosophila*, relative expression levels were determined using the Absolute SYBR Green ROX Mix (ABgene) and specific primers as follows: *Sply* forward, 5'-CTGGCTCTGGACTGTGATCTG-3' and reverse, 5'-GACGCTT-GCCACGAATGTAA-3'. Expression levels were normalized to actin.

Statistics. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM or SD for the indicated number of experiments. Statistical analysis of continuous data was performed with 2-tailed Student's *t* test or 1-way ANOVA, with Dunnet's, Bonferroni's, or Dunn's post hoc test, as appropriate. *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Study approval. Approval for human subject research was obtained from the University of Michigan (Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA) and Boston Children's Hospital institutional review boards and the Comité de Protection des Personnes Ile de France II. All subjects gave informed consent. Approval for mouse research was obtained from the University Committee on Use and Care of Animals (UCUCA) of the UCSF Benioff Children's Hospital Oakland and Boston Children's Hospital.

Supplemental appendix. For additional data, including Supplemental Tables 1–3 and Supplemental Figures 1–15, see the supplemental material, available with the full text of this article.

Author contributions

SL, SG, HYG, SS, CES, KS, RPL, OG, MF, MAC, C Antignac, and FH prepared and evaluated genetic mapping and exome sequences. SL, SG, HYG, KS, MAC, C Antignac, and FH identified mutations in the human *SGPL1* gene. SG, HYG, SL, BO, WIC, SH, MZ, VC, C Arrondel, OB, VV, JDS, C Antignac, and FH provided and evaluated critical cell lines and animal resources. JDS, BO, JHS, HYG, and WIC performed all mouse studies and analyzed mutant SGPL1 expression or enzyme activity in fibroblasts and HEK293

cells. JDS, BO, HYG, and WIC analyzed the Sgpl1-/- mouse model, critically evaluated mouse data, and wrote mouse studies. SG, N Lachaussée, MS, JP, and C Antignac performed Drosophila studies. AS performed TEM. JHS performed all LC/MS assays for quantification of cellular SPLY activity and SPL distribution. HR and VG performed yeast complementation experiments. SL, HYG, SG, MZ, VC, C Antignac, D Schapiro, MF, DAB, FS, NK, JG, TG, KS, VC, D Schanze, IF, YS, AST, BA, JD, RB, YP, EA, N Lloberas, AM, CES, FPB, JPM, VRD, AMC, MCW, MAC, NW, and FH recruited patients and gathered detailed clinical information for the study. JG and TG performed the immunophenotyping of patient EB-1. HS, RW, and GC performed structural molecular modeling of the SGPL1 enzyme. JDS directed studies undertaken by BO and JHS. All authors critically reviewed the paper. FH and C Antignac conceived of and directed the entire project and wrote the paper with help from SL, SG, HYG, BO, and JDS.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the families who contributed to this study. We thank the Yale Center for Mendelian Genomics for WES analysis, U. Pannicke for help in analyzing data, and S. Braun for technical assistance. FH was supported by grants from the NIH (DK076683, DK068306). FH is the Warren E. Grupe Professor. HYG was supported by the Basic Science Research Program through the National Research Foundation of Korea, funded by the Ministry of Education (2015R1D1A1A01056685), by a Nephcure-ASN Foundation Kidney Research Grant, and by a faculty research grant of Yonsei University College of Medicine (6-2015-0175). C Antignac was supported by grants from the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (Gen-Pod project ANR-12-BSV1-0033.01), the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013/no 305608-EURenOmics), the Fondation Recherche Médicale (DEQ20150331682), and the "Investments for the Future" program (ANR-10-IAHU-01). SG was supported by the Program Santé-Science (MD-PhD) of Imagine Institute. FS was supported by the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013/n°305608-EURenOmics). Immunophenotyping was supported by the German Centre for Infectious Diseases (Thematical Translation Units: Infections of the immunocompromised host). JDS was supported by the John and Edna Beck Chair in Pediatric Cancer Research, the Swim Across America Foundation, and a grant from the NIH (GM66594, NCI CA129438). KS was supported by the Center for Personalized Immunology (supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia [NHMRC]), the Australian National University, Canberra, Australia. MZ was supported by the German Ministry of Education and Research (Bundesministerium füur Bildung und Forschung, project: GeNeRARe). EW was supported by the Leopoldina Fellowship Program, German National Academy of Sciences Leopoldina (LPDS 2015-07). TJS was supported by grant Jo 1324/1-1 of Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG). MF was supported by grants from the Spanish Society of Nephrology and the Catalan Society of Nephrology. HR was supported by grants from the Swiss National Science Foundation, SystemsX.CH, and the NCCR Chemical Biology. This work was performed under the Care4Rare Canada Consortium funded by Genome Canada, the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, the Ontario Genomics Institute, the Ontario Research Fund, Genome Quebec, and the Children's Hos-

pital of Eastern Ontario Research Foundation. We acknowledge the contribution of the high-throughput sequencing platform of the McGill University and Génome Québec Innovation Centre, Montréal, Canada. The names of Care4Rare Canada steering committee members appear in the Supplemental Acknowledgments.

Address correspondence to: Friedhelm Hildebrandt, Boston Children's Hospital, Enders 561, Harvard Medical School, 300

- 1. Smith JM, Stablein DM, Munoz R, Hebert D, McDonald RA. Contributions of the Transplant Registry: The 2006 Annual Report of the North American Pediatric Renal Trials and Collaborative Studies (NAPRTCS). *Pediatr Transplant*. 2007;11(4):366–373.
- Hildebrandt F, Heeringa SF. Specific podocin mutations determine age of onset of nephrotic syndrome all the way into adult life. *Kidney Int*. 2009;75(7):669–671.
- 3. Somlo S, Mundel P. Getting a foothold in nephrotic syndrome. *Nat Genet*. 2000;24(4):333–335.
- Tryggvason K, Patrakka J, Wartiovaara J. Hereditary proteinuria syndromes and mechanisms of proteinuria. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(13):1387–1401.
- 5. Sadowski CE, et al. A single-gene cause in 29.5% of cases of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2015;26(6):1279–1289.
- Lovric S, Ashraf S, Tan W, Hildebrandt F. Genetic testing in steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome: when and how? *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2016;31(11):1802–1813.
- Lovric S, et al. Rapid detection of monogenic causes of childhood-onset steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2014;9(6):1109–1116.
- Raponi M, et al. Prediction of single-nucleotide substitutions that result in exon skipping: identification of a splicing silencer in BRCA1 exon 6. *Hum Mutat*. 2011;32(4):436–444.
- Halbritter J, et al. High-throughput mutation analysis in patients with a nephronophthisisassociated ciliopathy applying multiplexed barcoded array-based PCR amplification and next-generation sequencing. *JMed Genet*. 2012;49(12):756–767.
- Saba JD, Nara F, Bielawska A, Garrett S, Hannun YA. The BST1 gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae is the sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase. *J Biol Chem.* 1997;272(42):26087–26090.
- Schmahl J, Raymond CS, Soriano P. PDGF signaling specificity is mediated through multiple immediate early genes. *Nat Genet*. 2007;39(1):52-60.
- Pewzner-Jung Y, et al. A critical role for ceramide synthase 2 in liver homeostasis: I. alterations in lipid metabolic pathways. *J Biol Chem.* 2010;285(14):10902–10910.
- Gee HY, et al. ARHGDIA mutations cause nephrotic syndrome via defective RHO GTPase signaling. J Clin Invest. 2013;123(8):3243–3253.
- Gee HY, et al. FAT1 mutations cause a glomerulotubular nephropathy. *Nat Commun.* 2016;7:10822.
- Gee HY, et al. KANK deficiency leads to podocyte dysfunction and nephrotic syndrome. *J Clin Invest.* 2015;125(6):2375–2384.

- Rosen H, Gonzalez-Cabrera PJ, Sanna MG, Brown S. Sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor signaling. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 2009;78:743–768.
- 17. Herr DR, et al. Sply regulation of sphingolipid signaling molecules is essential for Drosophila development. *Development*. 2003;130(11):2443-2453.
- Weavers H, et al. The insect nephrocyte is a podocyte-like cell with a filtration slit diaphragm. *Nature*. 2009;457(7227):322–326.
- Zhuang S, Shao H, Guo F, Trimble R, Pearce E, Abmayr SM. Sns and Kirre, the Drosophila orthologs of Nephrin and Neph1, direct adhesion, fusion and formation of a slit diaphragm-like structure in insect nephrocytes. *Development*. 2009;136(14):2335–2344.
- Dobrosotskaya IY, Seegmiller AC, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Rawson RB. Regulation of SREBP processing and membrane lipid production by phospholipids in Drosophila. *Science*. 2002;296(5569):879–883.
- 21. Fyrst H, Herr DR, Harris GL, Saba JD. Characterization of free endogenous C14 and C16 sphingoid bases from Drosophila melanogaster. *J Lipid Res.* 2004;45(1):54–62.
- Fyrst H, et al. Identification and characterization by electrospray mass spectrometry of endogenous Drosophila sphingadienes. *J Lipid Res.* 2008;49(3):597-606.
- 23. Vogel P, et al. Incomplete inhibition of sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase modulates immune system function yet prevents early lethality and nonlymphoid lesions. *PLoS ONE*. 2009;4(1):e4112.
- 24. Allende ML, et al. Sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase deficiency produces a pro-inflammatory response while impairing neutrophil trafficking. *J Biol Chem.* 2011;286(9):7348–7358.
- 25. Bektas M, et al. Sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase deficiency disrupts lipid homeostasis in liver. *J Biol Chem.* 2010;285(14):10880–10889.
- 26. Schwab SR, Pereira JP, Matloubian M, Xu Y, Huang Y, Cyster JG. Lymphocyte sequestration through S1P lyase inhibition and disruption of S1P gradients. *Science*. 2005;309(5741):1735–1739.
- Yu XQ, et al. Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modelling of 2-acetyl-4(5)-tetrahydroxybutyl imidazole-induced peripheral lymphocyte sequestration through increasing lymphoid sphingosine 1-phosphate. *Xenobiotica*. 2010;40(5):350–356.
- Billich A, et al. Partial deficiency of sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase confers protection in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(3):e59630.
- 29. Schümann J, et al. Reduced activity of sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase induces podocyte-related glomerular proteinuria, skin irritation, and plate-

Longwood Avenue, Boston, Massachusetts O2115, USA. Phone: 617.355.6129; E-mail: friedhelm.hildebrandt@childrens.harvard. edu. Or to: Corinne Antignac, Imagine Institute, Inserm U1163, 24 Bd du Montparnasse, 75015 Paris, France. Phone: 33142754345; E-mail: corinne.antignac@inserm.fr. Or to: Julie Saba, UCSF Benioff Children's Hospital Oakland, Children's Hospital Oakland Research Institute, 5700 Martin Luther King Jr. Way, Oakland, California 94609, USA. Phone: 510.450.7690; E-mail: jsaba@chori.org.

- let Activation. *Toxicol Pathol*. 2015;43(5):694–703. 30. Oskouian B, et al. Sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase potentiates apoptosis via p53- and p38-dependent pathways and is down-regulated in colon cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2006;103(46):17384–17389.
- Mitsnefes M, et al. Ceramides and cardiac function in children with chronic kidney disease. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 2014;29(3):415–422.
- Rosen H, Goetzl EJ. Sphingosine 1-phosphate and its receptors: an autocrine and paracrine network. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2005;5(7):560–570.
- Fyrst H, Saba JD. An update on sphingosine-1-phosphate and other sphingolipid mediators. *Nat Chem Biol.* 2010;6(7):489–497.
- Blaho VA, Hla T. An update on the biology of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors. J Lipid Res. 2014;55(8):1596–1608.
- 35. Chipuk JE, et al. Sphingolipid metabolism cooperates with BAK and BAX to promote the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis. *Cell*. 2012;148(5):988-1000.
- 36. Alvarez SE, et al. Sphingosine-1-phosphate is a missing cofactor for the E3 ubiquitin ligase TRAF2. *Nature*. 2010;465(7301):1084–1088.
- Hait NC, et al. Regulation of histone acetylation in the nucleus by sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Science*. 2009;325(5945):1254–1257.
- 38. Hagen N, Van Veldhoven PP, Proia RL, Park H, Merrill AH, van Echten-Deckert G. Subcellular origin of sphingosine 1-phosphate is essential for its toxic effect in lyase-deficient neurons. *J Biol Chem.* 2009;284(17):11346–11353.
- 39. [No authors listed]. Primary nephrotic syndrome in children: clinical significance of histopathologic variants of minimal change of diffuse mesangial hypercellularity. A Report of the International Study of Kidney Disease in Children. *Kidney Int.* 1981;20(6):765–771.
- 40. Hildebrandt F, et al. A systematic approach to mapping recessive disease genes in individuals from outbred populations. *PLoS Genet*. 2009;5(1):e1000353.
- Gee HY, et al. Whole-exome resequencing distinguishes cystic kidney diseases from phenocopies in renal ciliopathies. *Kidney Int.* 2014;85(4):880–887.
- 42. Hildebrandt F, et al. A systematic approach to mapping recessive disease genes in individuals from outbred populations. *PLoS Genet*. 2009;5(1):e1000353.
- 43. Otto EA, et al. Candidate exome capture identifies mutation of SDCCAG8 as the cause of a retinal-renal ciliopathy. *Nat Genet*. 2010;42(10):840–850.
- 44. Boyden LM, et al. Mutations in kelch-like 3 and cullin 3 cause hypertension and electrolyte

abnormalities. Nature. 2012;482(7383):98-102.

- 45. Field MA, Cho V, Andrews TD, Goodnow CC. Reliably detecting clinically important variants requires both combined variant calls and optimized filtering strategies. *PLoS ONE*. 2015;10(11):e0143199.
- 46. Suh JH, Eltanawy A, Rangan A, Saba JD. A facile stable-isotope dilution method for determination of sphingosine phosphate lyase activity. *Chem Phys Lipids*. 2016;194:101–109.
- 47. Gee HY, Tang BL, Kim KH, Lee MG. Syntaxin 16 binds to cystic fibrosis transmembrane con-

ductance regulator and regulates its membrane trafficking in epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem*. 2010;285(46):35519–35527.

- Rothwell WF, Sullivan W. Fluorescent analysis of Drosophila embryos. In: Sullivan W, Ashburner RS, ed. *Drosophila Protocols*, pp. 141–158. New York, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2000:141–158.
- Mukhopadhyay D, Howell KS, Riezman H, Capitani G. Identifying key residues of sphinganine-1-phosphate lyase for function in vivo and in vitro. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(29):20159–20169.

The Journal of Clinical Investigation

- 50. Bourquin F, Riezman H, Capitani G, Grütter MG. Structure and function of sphingosine-1phosphate lyase, a key enzyme of sphingolipid metabolism. *Structure*. 2010;18(8):1054–1065.
- Bielawski J, Szulc ZM, Hannun YA, Bielawska A. Simultaneous quantitative analysis of bioactive sphingolipids by high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Methods*. 2006;39(2):82–91.
- Guan XL, et al. Biochemical membrane lipidomics during Drosophila development. *Dev Cell*. 2013;24(1):98–111.

SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

SUPPLEMENTAL ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Bloomington Stock Center (NIH P40OD018537) for providing the fly strains used in this study and Mar Ruiz Gomez, Centro de Bio-logia Molecular, Madrid, for the nephrocyte heat fixation protocol. This work was performed under the Care4Rare Canada Consortium funded by Genome Canada, the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, the Ontario Genomics Institute, Ontario Research Fund, Genome Quebec and Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario Research Foundation. Steering committee members and their affiliations of Care4Rare Canada are

Kym Boycott⁴⁴, Alex MacKenzie⁴⁴, Michael Brudno^{45,46}, Dennis Bulman⁴⁴ & David Dyment⁴⁴

⁴⁴Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario Research Institute, University of Ottawa, 401 Smyth Road, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1H 8L1.

⁴⁵Department of Computer Science, University of Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

⁴⁶Donnelly Centre and Banting and Best Department of Medical Research, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

SUPPLEMENTALTABLES AND FIGURES

Supplemental Table 1. Target sequences of siRNAs used in this study.

Human SGPL1	
siRNA#5	CAUCAUUGGUGUUGUAUAG
siRNA#6	GAAACGAGUAGCUAUACAA
siRNA#7	CAUUAUUGGUCGUAAGAUU
siRNA#8	GAACGGCUAUGUUGAAGCU
Rat Sgpl1	
siRNA#9	CUAAAGGAUAUCCGGGAAU
siRNA#10	AGUUUAUGGUCUCGGUUUA
siRNA#11	GCUCUGGGCUCCAACCGAUU
siRNA#12	GAAUGAAGAUUGUACGCGU

Supplemental Table 2. Drosophila Sply locus cloning and mutagenesis primers.

Sply locus cloning*	
Sply Forward 1	TGATCTGGTGGAGCTCGTCACT
Sply Reverse 1	AACCGCTCCACCTTCGCTCA
Sply Forward 2	GATTTGGCAGCAAGTGTTGGT
Sply Reverse 2	GAAATCCCTGTACGCCTTCA
Mutagenesis primers	
Sply HA tag Forward	CACTCCCAGCCAGAAATACCCATACGATGTTCCCGATTACGCTTAGACAC CTGGAGC
Sply HA tag Reverse	GCTCCAGGTGTCTAAGCGTAATCGGGAACATCGTATGGGTATTTCTGGCT GGGAGTG
Sply E119G Forward	CCTCCGACTGGTAGATGGGCACCTGAAGACTGG
Sply E119G Reverse	CCAGTCTTCAGGTGCCCATCTACCAGTCGGAGG
Sply R210Q Forward	CCATGAAGGCATACCAGGATTTCGCTAGAGAG
Sply R210Q Reverse	CTCTCTAGCGAAATCCTGGTATGCCTTCATGG
Sply S335I Forward	GGTTAAGGGTGTGACCATTATCTCCGCTGATACC
Sply S335I Reverse	GGTATCAGCGGAGATAATGGTCACACCCTTAACC

* *Sply* locus cloning was performed by amplifying two partially overlapping regions followed by homologous recombination.

Supplemental Table 3. Immunological profile of patient EB-1.

Comprehensive analysis of leukocyte subpopulations by multi-color flow cytometry was performed using the following 4 HIPC panels: T-cell-panel: CD45; CD3; CD4; CD8; CD28; CD38; CD45RA; CD57; CD127; CD183; CD185; CD196; CD197; CD278; CD279; HLA-DR; TCR×™; Treg-panel: CD45; CD25; CD4; CCR4; CD127; CD45R0; CD3; HLA-DR; B-cell-panel: CD10; CD45; CD24; CD19; IgD; CD38; CD20; CD27; CD3; Innate-panel: CD45; CD56; CD123; CD11c; CD16; CD3+CD19+CD20 (dump); CD14; HLA-DR.11 Briefly 100 µl of whole blood was added to the panel tubes with pre-mixed antibodies and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature in the dark with light agitation. After red cell lysis, cells were fixed and analyzed on a BD Fortessa instrument. A complete and detailed protocol for HIPC immunophenotyping can be downloaded from www.entire-net.eu /sops-and-cats.

Patient EB-1 suffered from severe lymphopenia (218/µl CD4⁺; 23/µl CD8⁺; 25/µl γ/δ T cells and 39/µl B cells). Among the CD4⁺-lymphocytes only 19% of the cells displayed a naïve phenotype, T_{EM} represented 42%, T_{CM} 23% and T_{EMRA} 16% of the cells. In the CD8⁺- compartment 47% of the cells showed a naïve phenotype, T_{EM} represented 27% and T_{EMRA} 22% of the cells. The few circulating B cells also showed mostly a memory phenotype. Remarkably 36% of the circulating B cells were plasmablasts. The number of regulatory T cells was in the normal range, the same for NK cells, however the proportion of CD56^{br}CD16⁺ was elevated. Monocytes were in the normal range, the ratio of myeloid to plasmacytoid DC's was 2:1. Functional analysis was performed using gene expression analysis after whole blood LPS and PMA/ionomycin stimulation. After LPS stimulation the expression of most cytokines was decreased in comparison to the reference group. After P/I stimulation the expression of most cytokines was decreased, perhaps due to the low T cell count. The expression of TNFSF13B (BAFF) was elevated both spontaneously and after stimulation.

			Flo	w-cytometry	,		
004	T ce	ells	T	B cells	NK cells	Monocytes	Dendritic
CD4+	CD8+	γό T cells	Treg			,	cells
218/µL	23/µL ₩₩	25/µl	65/µl	39/μΙ ₩₩₩	376/µl	725/µl	228/µl
UUU UUU	(600-	(17-	(56-	(500-	(200-	(700-	(29-156/µl)*
(1400-	3000/μl)	221/μl)*	104/µl)*	3600/μl)	1800/µl)	1500/µl)	
5200/ul)	1 /			. /			Myeloid to
	Naïve:47% [#]			72% memory			plasmacytoid
Naïve:	Тғм: 27%			cells##			DC ratio 2:1
19%#	Темва: 22%						(6:1)*
Тем: 42%				36%			(-)
Тсм: 23%				nlasmablasts			
TEMPA:				plaomablaoto			
16%							
1070							
			1	1			

	Functional analysis											
		Spontaneous		LPS	PI	MA/lonomycin						
	EB-1	Reference	EB-1	Reference	EB-1	Reference						
IFNgamma	2**	9 ± 15	8	122 ± 142	7014	122576 ± 50241						
IL1B	486	2035 ± 1885	5481	26377 ± 8366	2438	3694 ± 1616						
IL2	3	1 ± 1	12	1 ± 1	5649	103217 ± 43349						
IL4	4	4 ± 3	0	8 ± 4	412	2101 ± 1143						
IL6	2	9 ± 9	590	6568 ± 4057	72	423 ± 270						
IL8	4832	6921 ± 6511	9939	20984 ± 11090	364760	75382 ± 53044						
IL10	2	3 ± 1	12	13 ± 7	21	1046 ± 645						
IL12-p40	0	0 ± 0	0	141 ± 142	1	0 ± 0						
IL17	0	0 ± 0	0	0 ± 0	42	3526 ± 1496						
IL22	0	0 ± 0	0	1 ± 1	64	4143 ± 2068						
TNFalpha	27	175 ± 172	92	965 ± 686	627	6573 ± 4669						
TNFSF13B	1681	260 ± 152	1607	544 ± 408	482	38 ± 37						

T EM- Effector memory T cells; TCM- Central memory TEMRA- Effector memory RA T cells; *range not age-matched; # naive T cells constitute usually >80% of the T cells in this age group; ## memory B cells constitute usually <6% of the B cells in this age group **Transcripts / 1000 transcripts PPIB

SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES



Supplemental Figure 1. Pedigrees of 7 families with SGPL1 mutations.

Pedigrees of Family A280, NCR 61, B46/B56, A5440/A54444, MC, EB and B1245 are shown. Squares indicate male family members, circles female family members, triangles unknown gender, slashes deceased individuals, solid symbols affected family members and double horizontal bars consanguinity. Numbers below circles and squares indicate the sibling number. Symbols without numbers indicates that DNA was not available for these individuals.

<u>Index</u>								
<u>case</u> <u>A280</u>	<u>A5440/</u> <u>A5444</u>	<u>B46/B56</u>	<u>NCR</u>	<u>61</u>	<u>B1245</u>	<u>EB-1</u>	M	
Case A280 C.665G-A p.Arg222Gin A280-11 (b) TATC?GGAT Tyr Arg Asp A280-12 (b) TATC?GGAT Tyr Arg Asp A280-12 (b) TATC?GGAT Tyr Gin Asp A280-21 (b) TATC?GGAT Tyr Gin Asp A280-22 (b) TATCAGGAT Tyr Gin Asp A280-22 (b) TATCAGGAT Tyr Gin Asp A280-22 (b) TATCAGGAT Tyr Gin Asp A280-23 (b) TATCAGGAT Tyr Gin Asp A280-23 (b) TATCAGGAT Tyr Gin Asp A280-23 (c) TATCAGGAT Tyr Gin Asp A280-23 (c) TATCAGGAT Tyr Arg Asp	A5440/ A5444	B46/B56	RCRSUP	ACR61-2 (h) CCAGGAAC Ser Arg Asn MCR61-2 (h) TCCAGGAAC Ser Arg Asn MCR61-2 (h) TCCAGGAAC	B1245 c.1247A>G p.Tyr416Cys B1245-11 (h) GC T & IGTT Gly Tyr Val Cys B1245-12 (h) GC T & IGTT Gly Tyr Val Cys Val Cys Val MAMM Healthy (WT) GC T A GTT Gly Tyr Val MAMM	EB-1	C.605C>T p.Ser202Leu MC-F (WT) AT TCG TG Ser AT TCG TG C.G. Ser AT TCG TG Ser Leu AT TCG TG Ser Leu	C.946G>A p.Ala316Thr MC-F (h) GAC ⁶ CTT Tyr Ala MC-M (WT) GAC GCTT Tyr Ala MC (h) GAC ⁶ CTT Tyr Ala
		MAAMM Healthy (WT) ACCAGCATT Thr Ser IIe						

Supplemental Figure. 2. Sequencing traces of individuals with mutation in SGPL1. Sequencing traces are shown for individuals from 5 families with mutations in *SGPL1* for families A280, A5440/A5444, B46/B56, NCR61, B1245, EB and MC. Arrowheads denote altered nucelotides.



Supplemental Figure 3. Additional clinical phenotypes of individuals with mutations in SGPL1. Family and individual numbers are shown per row. (A) Renal histology in individual B46 showing diffuse mesangial sclerosis (DMS). (B) Renal ultrasound in B46. (C) Skin biopsy in B46 showing a moderate degree of hyperkeratosis with a reduced and focally absent granular layer. Infundibula of hair follicles are dilated with keratotic follicular plugs. The dermis and cell-rich stroma are normal. No signs of inflammation, or vacuolar/granular degeneration of keratinocytes. Image is considered characteristic for ichthyosis vulgaris. (D) Cranial MRI of B46 showing microcephaly. (E) Renal histology of B56 showing DMS. (F) Skin biopsy of B56 showing ichthyosis vulgaris. (G) Cranial MRI of B56 showing microcephaly. (H, I) Renal histology of A280_21 showing global sclerosis and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS). (J, K) Renal histology of A280 22 with FSGS (silver methenamine staining). (L, M) Renal histology of A280 23 with limited tubular atrophy, expanded mesangium and global and segmental glomerulosclerosis. (N, O) Renal histology of A280 24 showing FSGS. (P) Renal histology images of A5440/07-306 individual with mutations in SGPL1 showing focal-segmental glomerular sclerosis. (Q) Brain CT scan in individual A5440/07-306, microcephaly is not present (R) Brain CT scan in individual A5444/07-142, microcephaly is not present. (S) Renal sonography in individual B1245_21. (T) Body weight percentiles for B1245_21 with failure to thrive. (U) Cardiac MR of B1245 21 with reduced left ventricular systolic function (EF~50%) and reduced diastolic function. (V) Brain CT scan of B1245 21. Microcephaly is not present. (W) Height percentiles for B1245 21 with failure to thrive with height <3rd%.



Supplemental Figure 4. Immunoblot in patient fibroblasts and consequence of *SGPL1* splice site mutation c.395A>G.

(A) SGPL1 protein is absent from NCR61 patient fibroblasts. While SGPL1 is present in control fibroblasts it is absent from patient NCR61. HEK 293 cells were transfected with SGPL1 WT as a control for SGPL1 antibody. n=3 independent experiments

(B) SGPL1 shows splicing defects in NCR61 patient fibroblasts. Reverse transcriptase of mRNA from control and patient NCR61 fibroblasts was performed, followed by PCR amplification of SGPL1 exon 4 to 8, cloning of the amplicons and sequencing. Note the amplification of a light band at the expected size that corresponds to the frameshift allele (c.832delA) and a lower size amplicon corresponding to the loss of exon 5 due to the c.395A>G mutation from the other allele. Sequencing of the c.395A>G product revealed the resulting truncating allele p.lle88Thrfs*25.



Supplemental Figure 5. Co-immunoprecipitation to assess dimerization of wild type (WT) and mutant SGPL1 protein. Reciprocal experiment to Figure 2I. HEK293T cells were transfected with Myc- and FLAG-tagged SGPL1 WT and mutant plasmids. Cell lysates were coimmunoprecipitated with anti-Myc antibody and blotted with anti-FLAG antibody to examine the dimers of WT or mutant SGPL1 proteins. Note that, while all proteins, including the truncated protein (p.Arg278Glyfs*17), still form dimers, p.Arg222Gln and p.Ser346lle mutant proteins exhibit lower expression levels compared to WT protein upon overexpression in HEK293T cells (see also Figure 2I). Coimmunoprecipitation is representative of 3 experiments.



Supplemental Figure 6. Immunofluorescence of *SGPL1* cDNA clones representing wild type (WT) and mutant cDNA clones overexpressed in human immortalized undifferentiated podocytes. Podocytes were transfected with Myc-tagged wild-type (WT) and mutant clones of *SGPL1* detected in patients with nephrotic syndrome. Cells were fixed with cold acetone and coimmunostained with anti-SGPL1 (R&D Systems) (red) and anti-Myc antibody (green). Note that overexpressed p.R222Q and p.S346l variant proteins formed aggregates (white arrow heads) upon overexpression, whereas wild type and missense control p.E132G SGPL1 proteins did not show cellular aggregates.

PHS toxicity test



C Human SGPL1 protein expression in a yeast Dpl1A strain



Supplemental Figure 7. Human SGPL1 mutations fail to rescue yeast growth.

(A) Phytosphingosine toxicity test. Ability to complement $dp/1\Delta$ deletion on a medium containing phytosphingosine (PHS) was tested for human SGPL1 WT and the mutants Y416C, R278Gfs*17, S3Kfs*11. None of this mutants was able to restore the impaired growth of a dpl1 knockout strain.

(B) Synthetic lethality test. Synthetically lethal yeast strain RH4863, in which *DPL1* and *LCB3* were deleted, was maintained by expressing *LCB3* from a *URA3*-plasmid. Human WT SGPL1 expressing RH4863 survived on 5-FoA plates, showing to be able to compensate for the loss of *LCB3* and to degrade long-chain bases. However, overexpression of the mutants Y416C, R278Gfs*17, S3Kfs*11, observed in patients with NPHS type 14, did not allow for survival of *DPL1* (*SGPL1*) deficient strains.

(C) Human SGPL1 WT and mutants expression in a yeast $Dpl1\Delta$ strain. Protein expression of SGPL1 WT and mutants Glu132Gly, Arg222Gln, Ser346lle, Arg278Glyfs*17, Ser3Lysfs*11, and Tyr416Cys in yeast Dpl1 Δ strain. PGK1 was used as a loading control. Values correspond to 3 independent experiments and are shown as % to WT.



Supplemental Figure 8. Sphingolipid levels in fibroblast-conditioned medium. Sphingolipids were extracted from control and patient fibroblast-conditioned medium after 24h conditioning and analyzed by LC/MS, as described in Methods.



Supplemental Figure 9. Loss of *Sgpl1* **causes foot process effacement.** Kidneys of 13 day old *Sgpl1*^{+/+} and *Sgpl1*^{-/-} mice were collected and renal morphology was examined by transmission electron microscopy (TEM).

(A) Podocyte foot processes (red arrows) are regularly spaced in kidneys of $Sgpl1^{+/+}$ mice.

(B) Sgp/1^{-/-} kidneys exhibit complete foot process effacement (red arrows) and absence of slitdiaphragms. Scale bars are 2 μ m.



Supplemental Figure 10. Effect of sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) on apoptosis of cultured human podoyctes. S1P or puromycin aminonucleoside (PAN) was incubated for 24 hours and apoptosis was measured by caspase-3 assay. More than 40 μ M of S1P induced significant apoptosis in cultured human podocytes. Data represent the mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments.



Supplemental Figure 11. Effects of *SGPL1* knockdown on migration and proliferation of cultured human podocytes.

(A) *SGPL1* knockdown using two different siRNAs did not have any effect on migration in undifferentiated cultured human podocytes.

(B) *SGPL1* knockdown did not affect proliferation of culture podocytes. Error bars in **A** and **B** are shown in one direction only for clarity and indicate SDs for 3 indipendent expreiments.

(C) The efficiency of *SGPL1* knockdown by 4 different siRNAs was confirmed by immunoblotting. Immunoblot is representative of 3 experiments.



Supplemental Figure 12. Effects of *Sgpl1* knockdown and S1P administration on rat renal glomerular mesangial cells (RMCs).

(A) Sgpl1 knockdown by siRNAs (siRNA#11 and siRNA#12) in RMCs significantly reduced SGPL1 protein. Immunoblot is representative of 3 experiments.

(B) Immunofluorescence of SGPL1 in RMCs. BiP (green), SGPL1 (red), and α -smooth muscle (SM) actin (sky blue).

(C) Knockdown of *Sgpl1* in RMCs did not induce apoptosis as measured by caspase-3 assay. D PAN, puromycin aminonucleoside.

(D) Knockdown of *Sgpl1* in RMCs did not affect cell proliferation rate using the xCELLigence system. (E-F) Effect of sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) on apoptosis (E) or proliferation rate (F) of RMCs.

(E) Sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) administration did not significantly induce apoptosis in RMCs

up to 100 μ M. S1P or PAN was incubated for 24 hrs. Data represent the mean \pm standard deviation of three independent experiments in **C** and **E**.

(F) S1P did not induce defects in proliferation of RMCs even though there was a transient drop in cell index with recovery upon addition of high concentration (\geq 10 μ M) of S1P. Each cell index value corresponds to the average of more than triplicates in **D** and **F**.



Supplemental Figure 13. *Sply* null hemizygous nephrocytes and SGPL1 mutations do not have any obvious impact on *Kirre* (*Neph1*) expression in nephrocytes.

Immunofluorescence of 3rd instar Garland nephrocytes, stained for the Neph1 ortholog, Kirre (red). No major changes on Kirre staining were observed in the different mutants. n=2 independent experiments (\geq 5 larvae per genotype). Nuclei were labeled with Hoechst (blue). Scale bar, 10 µm.



Supplemental Figure. 14. Accumulation of sphingadienes (SD) in *Sply null hemizygous* flies. *Sply null* hemizygous flies accumulate sphingadienes and this is rescued by *Sply* WT and E119G mutants. There is a trend towards accumulation of sphingadienes in the mutants R210Q and S335I, although this does not reach statistical significance. *Whole 3rd instar* larvae were collected and processed for LC/MS. (n= 6 independent experiments; for *Sply* null, *Sply* WT and *Sply* E119G, one analysis per group was removed due to poor quality of the chromatography). Control corresponds to WT larvae. Asterisks denote groups that are statistically different from control identified by one-way Analysis of Variance analysis. ***, p<0.0005; ns, not significant.



Supplemental Figure 15. Sply mRNA levels in Drosophila.

(A) Sply RT-PCR of 3^{rd} instar larvae heterozygous for the Df(2R)BSC433 (control) or Sply null hemizygous. Note the absence of Sply cDNA in Sply null hemizygous flies. CG1719 transcript was amplified as a control. n=2 independent experiments.

(B) *Sply* mRNA levels are not different between the *Sply* WT and the mutant rescue constructs. *Sply* qPCR of 3rd instar larvae heterozygous for the *Df(2R)BSC433* (control), *Sply null* hemizygous, or the rescue animals carrying the Sply transgenes WT, E119G, R210Q or S335I on the *Sply null* hemizygous background. n=3 independent experiments.

Summary of the findings and discussion

In this project we identified in 7 families 9 different mutations in *SGPL1* as a cause of a new autosomal recessive syndrome characterized by SRNS, adrenal insufficiency, ichthyosis, immune deficiency and neurological defects. *SGPL1* encodes sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase (SGPL1), a type III transmembrane protein that resides in the ER and is responsible for the irreversible degradation of sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) into phosphoethanolamine and hexadecenal (Ikeda, Kihara et al. 2004). This widely expressed protein has a short N-terminal intra-luminal ER domain, a transmembrane domain and a large cytoplasmic pyridoxal-dependent catalytic domain. SGPL1 is the terminal enzyme in the catabolic pathway of sphingolipids, controlling the abundance of the upstream ceramides, sphingosine and S1P (Aguilar and Saba 2012). Most of the identified *SGPL1* mutations were missense mutations located in the region encoding the cytoplasmic catalytic domain of SGPL1.

Through functional studies we and our collaborators have shown that all analyzed mutations decreased the protein expression and in vitro lead to a complete or partial loss of SGPL1 enzymatic activity. In collaboration, J. Saba group also found that patient fibroblasts produced an increased amount of ceramide species compared to controls. Moreover, overexpression of the mutated proteins in HEK cells led to formation of cytoplasmic aggregates. Using the yeast model our collaborators (H. Riezman group) showed that although the human SGPL1 is able to rescue the loss of dpl1, the ortholog of SGPL1, this was not the case for the mutant proteins. In mouse kidney samples the group of F. Hildebrandt found that SGPL1 was expressed in podocytes, but also in mesangial and endothelial cells and tubules. In vitro studies performed in WT human podocytes and in mesangial cell lines did not reveal increased apoptosis upon stimulation with S1P. Moreover, proliferation and migration were not affected by silencing of SGPL1 in podocytes, however in mesangial cells there was a significant decrease in migration that was shown to be mediated by S1PR1 and S1PR3. SGPL1 deficiency also induced decreased activation of Cdc42 and Rac1. Finally using the Drosophila model we showed that the SGPL1 ortholog, Sply, is expressed in Drosophila nephrocytes and that Sply deficiency induced reduced viability, nephrocyte defects and accumulation of sphingoid bases that were rescued by the WT Sply but not by the disease-associated variants.

Synchronously, two other groups have also described overlapping phenotypic manifestations in patients harboring biallelic mutations in *SGPL1*. Prasad et al. described 5 families with 8 affected individuals. Interestingly, in this paper some patients presented with adrenal insufficiency without SRNS (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017). Janecke et al. described 3 affected individuals with congenital SRNS, adrenal insufficiency and hypogonadism (Janecke, Xu et al. 2017). Surprisingly,
Atkinson et al. described two siblings with heterozygous compound mutations (a missense mutation and an early truncating mutation) leading to reduced SGPL1 expression, but the only manifestation of the disease was isolated predominantly motor peripheral neuropathy and no other manifestation at 32 and 28 years of age (Atkinson, Nikodinovic Glumac et al. 2017). Interestingly peripheral neuropathy was also described in two unrelated patients in our cohort. These papers confirm the causality of *SGPL1* mutations in a new hereditary syndrome; however, they also show the extreme phenotypic variability of this disease.

Interestingly, *Sgpl1* KO mice phenocopy most of the disease manifestations. These mice exhibit a severe phenotype with growth retardation and death after weaning (Schmahl, Raymond et al. 2007, Vogel, Donoviel et al. 2009). Multiple organ defects are observed, namely in the kidney, cardiovascular system, skeleton, skin, lung and nervous system (Schmahl, Raymond et al. 2007, Vogel, Donoviel et al. 2009, Hagen, Hans et al. 2011, Schumann, Grevot et al. 2015, Mitroi, Deutschmann et al. 2016). Kidney lesions are characterized by FSGS with podocyte foot process effacement, proteinuria and progressive decline in renal function (Schmahl, Raymond et al. 2007, Schumann, Grevot et al. 2015), as observed in humans. Additionally there is lymphopenia, related to impaired trafficking of lymphocytes due to the disruption of the S1P gradient between lymphoid tissues and the blood/lymph (Vogel, Donoviel et al. 2009). Although adrenal disease had not previously been identified in these mice, Prasad et al. 2009). Although adrenal disease had not merviously been identified in these mice, Prasad et al. 2009 and reduction of some steroidogenic enzymes (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017), and adrenal failure could be a main cause of death in these mice.

Phenotypic variability

Patients with *SGPL1* mutations exhibit large phenotypic variability. The age of onset of the disease can vary widely, ranging from congenital forms to manifestation in young adults. Organ involvement is also highly variable, from one single defect, such as isolated axonal peripheral neuropathy (Atkinson, Nikodinovic Glumac et al. 2017) to severe multiple organ involvement, including the adrenal gland, kidney, thyroid, skin, immune system, nervous system and even the skeleton and rarely the heart (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017). Cases of fetal demise with hydrops fetalis were also present.

This phenotypic variability may be partially explained by the type of mutations and the residual enzymatic activity of SGPL1. This is actually the case in rodent models where the number of organs involved and the severity of the phenotype seem to be highly dependent on the remaining level of

enzymatic activity, with 10% to 20% being enough to suppress most of the disease manifestations (Vogel, Donoviel et al. 2009, Schumann, Grevot et al. 2015). Interestingly, our group and Atkinson et al. report decreased SGPL1 protein levels for the analyzed mutations, in patient fibroblasts or lymphoblasts (Atkinson, Nikodinovic Glumac et al. 2017). Atkinson et al. showed that this was due to either nonsense mediated mRNA decay for a nonsense mutation or to increased proteasomal degradation for a missense mutation (Atkinson, Nikodinovic Glumac et al. 2017).

Our group also analyzed SGPL1 enzymatic activity in patient fibroblasts, and found it to be decreased in all cases (n=3 unrelated patients). Prasad et al. analyzed the protein levels and enzymatic activity of SGPL1 mutations (R222Q or F545del) overexpressed in *Sgpl1 -/-* MEFs, and both were found to be significantly reduced (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017). However, due to the different methods and cellular types used in each paper and the low number of mutations analyzed it is difficult to conclude if more severe disease manifestations are related to lower protein levels and enzymatic activity. It would thus be interesting to consecutively test the protein levels and enzymatic activity of SGPL1 in all the patients that carry different mutations, for example using blood lymphocytes, to see if this is the main factor modulating the disease manifestations. However the sensitivity of the different methods should be addressed first in order to see if they can distinguish between small differences in SGPL1 levels or enzymatic activity.

Supporting the main role of the mutation pathogenicity in patient phenotype we showed that the disease severity in humans was highly reproducible for the mutations S346I and R222Q in the *Drosophila* model. In *Drosophila* the deficiency of the *SGPL1* ortholog, *Sply*, induces reduced viability, increased apoptosis in embryos, muscle defects and decreased egg laying (Herr, Fyrst et al. 2003), as well as accumulation of sphingoid bases (Herr, Fyrst et al. 2003, Fyrst, Zhang et al. 2008), and we have also shown that these flies display nephrocyte defects. In humans, patients with the S346I homozygous mutation had a far earlier onset of the disease and more extensive organ involvement in humans, than the R222Q homozygous mutations. Concordantly, *Sply null* flies carrying the corresponding S346I rescue construct had a more severe phenotype than the ones carrying the R222Q rescue construct, showing higher lethality, more significant nephrocyte defects and increased accumulation of sphingosine and ceramide species in 3rd instar larvae. Thus, in the same genetic background and similar environmental conditions, different missense mutations can account for the severity of the disease.

Homozygous truncating mutations such as c.934delC, p.L312Ffs*30 and c.1513C>T, p.A505*, described by Janecke et al. have a severe phenotype with congenital onset of the disease (Janecke, Xu et al. 2017). Surprisingly, the homozygous frameshift mutation described by our group and Prasad

et al., c.7dup, p.S3Kfs*11, leads to a much less severe phenotype than the other truncating mutations and several missense mutations, such as S346I or R222W. This could be explained by a rescue ATG that is found in frame at nucleotide 22 (aminoacid 7) (http://atgpr.dbcls.jp/), possibly leading to a SGPL1 protein where only the first 6 aminoacids are missing at its N-terminus. SGPL1 does not have an identifiable signal peptide at the N-terminus; instead it has an anchor sequence at the transmembrane region. This could mean that the protein resulting from the rescue ATG could still be targeted to the ER and be partially functional, explaining the less severe phenotype found in these patients. Unfortunately, in all the cases, these frameshift mutations were not analyzed by western blot, nor were their enzymatic activity.

Also of interest are the heterozygous compound mutations that our group found in a family of French origin. The c.395A>G is predicted to create an exonic splicing enhancer sequence (http://ex-skip.img.cas.cz/) leading to the skipping of exon 5 and thus creating the frameshift allele p.188Wfs*25, while the other allele carried the mutation c.832delA, p.R278Gfs*17. In patient fibroblasts we confirmed that there was skipping of exon 5 in all the transcripts analyzed by Sanger sequencing. Concordantly, no protein was observed by western blot, and the enzymatic activity in patient fibroblasts was barely detectable, even less than the S346I mutation. As such, we could anticipate that these heterozygous compound mutations lead to a very severe phenotype; however these patients show "only" SRNS onset in childhood, adrenal insufficiency diagnosed at one/two years of age, and mild and transitory ichthyosis in childhood, with no other organ manifestations. This can likely be explained by an exon skipping event that does not occur in 100% of the cases, and that may vary in different tissues or cell types. If exon 5 skipping does not occur, the resulting protein would have the missense mutation p.E132G, which we showed not to be deleterious to SGPL1 function in several functional assays including enzymatic activity of the overexpressed protein, yeast complementation experiments and fly rescue experiments.

Although the phenotypic variability can be mostly attributed to the mutation type itself, several findings point to a possible involvement of genetic modifiers or environmental factors that could alter the disease onset and progression. For example, in patients from three unrelated families that bear the same homozygous missense mutation R222Q, the onset of SRNS ranged between 2.5 years and 19 years and three patients still hadn't developed kidney disease at the age of 3 years and 8 years. Adrenal insufficiency was present in all the patients but age at diagnosis also ranged from the first months of life to 6.5 years. Moreover, peripheral neuropathy was only present in one of the 7 patients with the R222Q mutation.

It is quite possible that polymorphisms in other enzymes from the metabolic pathways of ceramides and S1P may be involved in modifying the onset of the disease and the affected organs. For instance, in *Drosophila*, decreased activity of SPHKs, leading to less S1P, or the presence of a hypomorphic allele of *lace*, the first enzyme of *de novo* ceramide biosynthesis, lead to a less severe *Sply* KO phenotype (Herr, Fyrst et al. 2003).

Environmental factors that directly inhibit SGPL1 function could also aggravate the disease; this is the case of THI (2-acetyl-4-(tetrahydroxybutyl)imidazole), a component of the caramel color III food additive, that has been shown to lead to inhibition of SGPL1 activity (Schwab, Pereira et al. 2005, Ohtoyo, Machinaga et al. 2016). Moreover, the availability of the SGPL1 cofactor pyridoxal phosphate, the active form of pyridoxine or B6 vitamin, could also influence the activity of the enzyme (Ohtoyo, Tamura et al. 2015). One could also imagine that specific types of lipids provided in the diet could also serve as modulators of the disease. For example, dietary supplementation with n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 LC-PUFA) has been shown to decrease sphinganine, S1P and lactosylceramide in the muscle of mice fed with a basal high fat diet, through an unknown mechanism (Kasbi-Chadli, Ferchaud-Roucher et al. 2016).

It could be interesting to determine exactly which metabolic enzymes are most important in modulating the disease phenotype. To identify loci involved in this type of modulation, the fly model could be extremely beneficial, enabling large scale second site modifier screens. The same kind of screening could be applied to see the impact of dietary factors on disease activity.

Mechanisms of the disease in different organs

SGPL1 loss of function and cellular pathogenic mechanisms

SGPL1 is a main regulator of sphingolipid availability through its terminal function on the single catabolic pathway of S1P. The pathogenic mechanisms leading to disease upon SGPL1 loss of function may be related to the accumulation of sphingoid species. This may directly lead to alteration of the physical properties of the cell membranes and lipid rafts, but also to altered intracellular and extracellular signaling due to a disrupted equilibrium between the bioactive lipids, ceramides and S1P. The fine balance between ceramides and S1P for instance has been showed to modulate several intracellular mechanisms, such as proliferation, apoptosis, intracellular calcium increase and autophagy. The decrease of SGPL1 end-products, phosphoethanolamine and hexadecenal, may also impair cellular homeostasis. In fact, phosphoethanolamine will ultimately be converted to

phosphatidylethanolamine, a major phospholipid of biological membranes, and hexadecenal will further be transformed into hexadecenoic acid and finally to palmitoyl-CoA and glycerophospholipids (Wakashima, Abe et al. 2014).

Interestingly the effects of SGPL1 depletion differ according to the cell type. While *Sgpl1^{-/-}* MEFs proliferate well and are able to induce tumors when transferred to nude mice (Colie, Van Veldhoven et al. 2009), in neuron primary cultures from *Sgpl1^{-/-}* mice or *in vivo* upon neural-targeted depletion of SGPL1, the inhibition of S1P degradation correlated with genotoxic stress and neuronal death (Hagen, Van Veldhoven et al. 2009, Hagen, Hans et al. 2011, van Echten-Deckert, Hagen-Euteneuer et al. 2014). Neuronal apoptosis induced by SGPL1 deficiency seems to be mediated by the accumulation of S1P generated by SPHK2, and by caspase-12 and calpain, activated by increases in intracellular calcium (Hagen, Van Veldhoven et al. 2009, Hagen, Hans et al. 2011). Interestingly the effect of S1P also seems to depend on the degree of cellular differentiation: while S1P stimulates proliferation of neural progenitor cells (Harada, Foley et al. 2004), it conversely induces apoptosis of terminally differentiated hippocampal neurons (Moore, Kampfl et al. 1999).

Accumulation of sphingoid bases and dyslipidemia

In affected individuals harboring *SGPL1* mutations, when serum sphingosine and S1P were measured, they were found to be increased (1.5 to 4 times (Atkinson, Nikodinovic Glumac et al. 2017, Janecke, Xu et al. 2017, Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017)) and interestingly, ceramides of different carbon lengths showed even higher increases (in several cases more than 10 fold) (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017). Concordantly, in the Sgpl1 KO mice model, S1P, sphingosine and ceramides show a sharp increase in tissues and a significant increase albeit less in serum (Weber, Krueger et al. 2009) (Vogel, Donoviel et al. 2009). In the *Drosophila* model an increase in sphingosine and ceramides was observed in 3rd instar larvae lysates (our group and (Herr, Fyrst et al. 2003)).

In *SGPL1* mutated patients dyslipidemia as well as increased very long chain fatty acids were also observed (our group and (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017)). However it is difficult to distinguish if these are specific to SGPL1 deficiency or secondary to the changes in lipid profile induced by the NS.

Interestingly in *Drosophila* nephrocytes we observed a decrease in lipid droplets, which are known to be mainly composed of neutral lipids such as triacylglycerols. Also Prasad et al. described that in the adrenal cortex from Sgpl1^{-/-} mice, cells from the corticosterone-producing zona fasciculate had fewer lipid droplets (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017). In fact, cholesterol and triacylglycerol levels can also be modulated by SGPL1, namely through the activation of sterol-regulatory element binding

protein (SREBP) (Dobrosotskaya, Seegmiller et al. 2002, Worgall 2011). However, what has been described is that SGPL1 deficiency leads to increased SREBP activation and cholesterol accumulation (Dobrosotskaya, Seegmiller et al. 2002, Vienken, Mabrouki et al. 2017), so other unknown mechanisms are possibly contributing to the observed phenotypes in nephrocytes and cells from the adrenal glands. In this regard, it is interesting to note that also in *Sgpl1^{-/-}* mice there are tissue specific effects of lipid accumulation, as these accumulate in serum and liver parenchyma but these mice show almost no adipose tissue (Bektas, Allende et al. 2010). SREBP activation, lipid transporters and biosynthesis, as well as its degradation could be further investigated in order to clearly define the mechanism behind the decreased lipid droplets in nephrocytes.

Neuronal involvement

Atkinson et al. described an isolated axonal peripheral neuropathy in patients with SGPL1 mutations (Atkinson, Nikodinovic Glumac et al. 2017). Our group also found peripheral neuropathy, sensorineural deafness, and central nervous system defects in some patients, namely corpus callosum defects and ataxia probably due to cerebellar involvement. Atkinson et al. performed experiments in the Drosophila model to define the pathogenic mechanism in neurons. Using the GAL4:UAS system, they specifically silenced Sply in neurons (using a pan-neuronal driver) and observed impaired morphology of the neuromuscular junction. Degeneration of chemo-sensory neurons was observed in adult flies, upon specific silencing in these cells (Atkinson, Nikodinovic Glumac et al. 2017). These results point to a cell-autonomous pathogenic mechanism of SGPL1 loss in neurons. Interestingly, it was recently shown that neural specific KO of Sqpl1 in mice leads to cognitive deficits, accumulation of S1P and sphingosine in brain tissue, activation of the ubiquitinproteasome system and impaired autophagy due to decreased phosphatidylethanolamine content, important for the formation of the phosphatidylethanolamine conjugate LC3-II that allows maturation of autophagosomal membranes (Mitroi, Deutschmann et al. 2016, Mitroi, Karunakaran et al. 2017). Intracellular S1P can also lead to genotoxic stress in neurons (Hagen, Hans et al. 2011), leading to a pro-apoptotic effect. Moreover, an imbalance in sphingolipids could also alter membrane rafts and its signaling. However, complex lipids such as sphingomyelin, one of the main components of myelin sheets, do not seem to be affected, as Atkinson et al. did not observe characteristics of a demyelinating neuropathy in SGPL1 mutated patients.

Although intra-cellular mechanisms are for sure involved in the neural defects observed upon SGPL1 deficiency, extra-cellular S1P signaling, originating for example from glial cells, may also play a role. In mouse models, S1P extra-cellular signaling is active in the developing nervous system and both the

synthesis of S1P and expression of the S1PR1 are required for neurogenesis (Liu, Wada et al. 2000, Mizugishi, Yamashita et al. 2005). Moreover, in the adult nervous system, multiple S1PRs are expressed in neurons and glial cells (Chun and Hartung 2010).

Adrenal involvement

Our group, Prasad et al. and Janecke et al. (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017) (Janecke, Xu et al. 2017) have described adrenal dysfunction in patients carrying SGPL1 mutations. In all cases the adrenal insufficiency was found to be primary and not related to pituitary or hypothalamic defects and adrenal calcifications were a common radiological finding. In the patient cohort of Prasad et al. glucocorticoid deficiency was the most common finding, sometimes associated with mineralocorticoid deficiency. In agreement, expression of SGPL1 was higher in the cortical zone and lower in the medulla and capsule. The authors also showed that *Sgpl1*^{-/-} mouse adrenal glands have defects in cortical zonation and an impairment of steroidogenesis (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017). In the literature, ceramides and sphingosine have been demonstrated to decrease steroidogenesis *in vitro* (Meroni, Pellizzari et al. 2000, Li, Ni et al. 2001), and sphingosine in particular binds the nuclear receptor steroidogenic factor-1, essential for steroid hormone-biosynthesis (Urs, Dammer et al. 2007). S1P on the other hand, has been shown to induce transcription of several steroidogenic factors *in vitro* (Lucki, Li et al. 2012). These data suggest that dysregulation of the ceramides and sphingosine:S1P equilibrium could be the main pathogenic factor in the adrenal gland.

Skin disease

Ichthyosis was described in the majority of the patients in our cohort and Prasad et al. (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017). Sphingolipids, and ceramides in particular, are very abundant in skin and essential for its barrier function (Uchida, Hara et al. 2000, Cha, He et al. 2016). SGPL1 deficiency could result in altered equilibrium of the ceramide species and by this mechanism lead to ichthyosis. Decreased hexadecenal production and subsequent impaired production of palmytoil-coA and glycerophospholipids could also play a role, as it is the case for mutations in *ALDH3A2*, which encodes a fatty aldehyde dehydrogenase that converts hexadecenal into hexadecenoic acid, and causes Sjogren-Larsson syndrome, a rare disease characterized by ichthyosis and intellectual deficit (Nakahara, Ohkuni et al. 2012).

Immune system defects

The defects in the immune system observed in SGPL1 mutated individuals are consistent with what has been reported in Sgpl1 -/- mice. The mechanism of lymphopenia is secondary to the loss of the S1P gradient that provides the driving stimulus for lymphocyte egression from lymphoid tissues. It has been shown that specific deficiency of Sgpl1 in dendritic cells is able to disrupt this gradient by increasing S1P tissue levels and thus perturb lymphocyte egress (Zamora-Pineda, Kumar et al. 2016). However, SGPL1 also plays a cell-autonomous role, as the specific Sgpl1 KO in thymocytes leads to perturbation of T cell egress, although less severe than when targeting dendritic cells (Zamora-Pineda, Kumar et al. 2016). This could be mediated by increased S1P export and autocrine stimulation (Takabe, Paugh et al. 2008) and/or by reduced S1PR recycling to the plasma membrane (Gatfield, Monnier et al. 2014). Our group described a low number of CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes and B lymphocytes in one of the SGPL1 mutated patients where a detailed immunological study was performed. Moreover expression of pro-inflammatory genes and cytokines was decreased after stimulation with LPS and phorbol myristate acetate/ionomycin, respectively. This however could be due to the low T cell count. Interestingly, the expression of TNFSF13B (BAFF) shows an extreme increase in response to phorbol myristate acetate/ionomycin stimulation. Increased expression of BAFF is linked to auto-immune disorders (Steri, Orru et al. 2017) and antibody mediated rejection of kidney grafts (Slavcev, Brozova et al. 2016). Although inflammatory infiltrates in tissues are not characteristic of SGPL1 deficiency, mice have been shown to have a pro-inflammatory profile of cytokines (Allende, Bektas et al. 2011). It would be interesting to check if other patients with SGPL1 mutations also show increased expression of BAFF and to further study if this cytokine could play a role in the disease severity and manifestations.

Kidney disease

Most of the patients described here developed SRNS. Histologically the main lesion was FSGS although DMS was found in two cases of congenital NS. Podocyte foot process effacement was present and Prasad et al. described mesangial hypercellularity (Prasad, Hadjidemetriou et al. 2017). *In vitro* studies by our collaborators using a human podocyte cell line where SGPL1 was silenced using two different RNAis failed to show differences in the migration or proliferation of these cells. Moreover, when stimulated with S1P, WT podocytes did not show increased apoptosis. The same assays were performed in a rat mesangial cell line and the only positive finding was decreased migration that was shown to be mediated by S1PR1 and/or S1PR3. These results could point to a mesangial cell specific defect, with the podocyte being a bystander cell affected secondarily by an

unknown mechanism. Several criticisms can however be made to this assertion as 1) podocytes in culture do not represent the complexity of the podocyte *in vivo*, with their intricate 3D architecture, foot processes and slit diaphragms and continuous exposure to mechanical tension 2) the assays performed were quite limited and do not exclude that the podocytes could exhibit other kind of defects, such as accumulation of DNA damage, autophagy defects, defects in lipid rafts and consequently on the assembly of the slit diaphragm 3) the assessment of S1P-induced apoptosis was performed in WT podocytes and not in SGPL1 deficient podocytes, which may have been more susceptible. Furthermore, podocytes *in vivo* are terminally differentiated cells and are thus not able to complete mitosis, as such, even if we consider that S1P could have a pro-proliferative effect, this may prove to be deleterious *in vivo* 4) the level of SGPL1 silencing achieved by shRNA could be insufficient to induce a more overt phenotype, as low levels of residual enzyme can preclude manifestations of the disease (Vogel, Donoviel et al. 2009) 5) the decreased mesangial cell migration may have no effect on podocyte biology and it is difficult to interpret its value and consequences *in vivo*.

In the *Drosophila* model our findings point to a nephrocyte defect upon the ubiquitous loss of function of the SGPL1 ortholog, sply, as shown by the decreased density of foot processes and by the decreased albumin uptake. As already stated, nephrocytes also show a sharp decrease in the number of lipid droplets, suggesting disruption of the equilibrium between sphingolipids and other lipid species. As in *Drosophila* no S1PRs have been described, the effect that we observed on nephrocytes would argue in favor of a cell autonomous effect. This could be due to the possible deleterious effect of intracellular S1P or accumulation of intra-cellular ceramides, alteration of lipid raft signaling and consequently of the dockage of the slit diaphragm proteins and its signaling.

However, as we use a non-tissue specific sply loss of function model, a cell non-autonomous effect cannot be excluded, even if we consider that *Drosophila* do not have S1PRs. Increased extracellular S1P or ceramides in the hemolymph could be uptaken by endocytosis, and S1P could signal via a different type of receptor in *Drosophila*. Therefore, to distinguish between cell autonomous and non-autonomous effects, a specific silencing in nephrocytes should be performed. This could be done using the GAL4:UAS system in order to drive SGPL1 RNAis specifically in the nephrocyte using the nephrocyte specific promoter dot *vs* in the whole animal, using a ubiquitous promoter such as Tub. If a phenotype in nephrocytes was observed with both promoters, this would argue in favour of a cell autonomous effect. However, if the phenotype was only observed with the ubiquitous promoter, this would argue in favor of a cell non-autonomous effect.

It is tempting to think that both cell autonomous and non-autonomous mechanisms are leading to a phenotype in podocytes/nephrocytes. Besides the already mentioned intra-cellular pathogenic mechanisms, podocyte localization in the GFB could expose them to the higher concentrations of ceramides or S1P found in the serum of SGPL1 deficient patients. This could render them susceptible to apoptosis or genotoxic stress as it is the case in neurons (Hagen, Van Veldhoven et al. 2009, Hagen, Hans et al. 2011), terminally differentiated cells that have been compared to podocytes. Interestingly, extra-cellular S1P has also been shown to control the size selectivity of the blood brain barrier (Yanagida, Liu et al. 2017) and to modulate adherens junction assembly (Lee, Thangada et al. 1999), and a similar effect on the podocyte slit diaphragm is imaginable.

Further studies in mouse or *Drosophila* models with specific SGPL1 KO/KD in podocytes/nephrocytes and possibly exposure to increased serum/hemolymph S1P will be necessary to further address this question.

Potential therapies

As previously stated the reduction of ceramide synthesis by serine palmitoyl transferase or the decrease of S1P by the inhibition of sphingosine kinases have lead to an attenuated phenotype of SGPL1 loss of function in *Drosophila* (Herr, Fyrst et al. 2003). We could thus try to test drugs that reduce these sphingoid bases in order to modulate the disease severity. Moreover, supplementation of the catabolic endproducts of S1P, hexadecenal and phosphoethanolamine could also prove to be beneficial. In *Drosophila* for instance this could be feasible due to the existence of an easy read-out, which is the fly viability. We did attempt treatment with pharmacological inhibitors of SPHK1 and SPHK2 as well as medium supplementation with hexadecenal and phosphoethanolamine. However, with the conditions we used our results were negative. Factors that could have affected our results were the method and timing of drug administration (a single administration in the fly medium) and variability in egg laying number that indirectly affected the viability of the larvae due to competition for food/drug. Future experiments could be done using daily drug administration and by controlling more strictly for the number of individuals in each vial.

In the future, we could also envisage treatment with the recombinant SGPL1 enzyme, as it is done for other sphingolipidoses such as Fabry disease. However, addressing this protein to the ER, where it exerts its function, could be technically difficult to achieve. In light of the fact that the mutations are all loss of function, gene therapy may also present a potential therapeutic avenue, however effective targeting of the many affected organs may prove difficult. In this case, stem cell therapy could be the solution. In fact, it has been shown that in cystinosis, a disease characterized by the deficiency of the lysosomal protein cystinosin, hematopoietic stem cells are able to infiltrate the affected organs and rescue the cellular defect through the transfer of cystinosin-bearing lysosomes to the cystinosin deficient cells via tunneling nanotubes that cross the basement membrane (Naphade, Sharma et al. 2015, Rocca, Kreymerman et al. 2015, Gaide Chevronnay, Janssens et al. 2016).

Part II

ADD3 and KAT2B, two novel SRNS candidate

genes?

Article: A homozygous mutation in *KAT2B* extends the spectrum of *ADD3*-dependent intellectual disability syndrome.

Sara Gonçalves, Julie Patat, Maria Clara Guida, Noelle Lachaussée, Christelle Arrondel, Martin Helmstädter, Oliver Kretz, Olivia Boyer, Olivier Gribouval, Marie-Claire Gubler, Geraldine Mollet, Marlène Rio, Marina Charbit, Christine Bole-Feysot, Patrick Nitschke, Tobias B. Huber, Patricia Wheeler, Devon Haynes, Jane Juusola, Thierry Billette de Villemeur, Caroline Nava, Alexandra Afenjar, Boris Keren, Rolf Bodmer, Corinne Antignac, Matias Simons

Submitted to Plos Genetics.

A homozygous mutation in *KAT2B* extends the spectrum of *ADD3*-dependent intellectual disability syndrome

Sara Gonçalves^{1,2,3}, Julie Patat^{1,3}, Maria Clara Guida⁴, Noelle Lachaussée^{1,3}, Christelle Arrondel^{1,3}, Martin Helmstädter⁵, Olivia Boyer^{1,3,6}, Olivier Gribouval^{1,3}, Marie-Claire Gubler^{1,3}, Geraldine Mollet^{1,3}, Marlène Rio⁷, Marina Charbit⁶, Christine Bole-Feysot³, Patrick Nitschke³, Tobias B. Huber^{5,8,9}, Patricia Wheeler¹⁰, Devon Haynes¹⁰, Jane Juusola¹¹, Thierry Billette de Villemeur^{12,13}, Caroline Nava^{14,15}, Alexandra Afenjar¹⁶, Boris Keren¹⁵, Rolf Bodmer⁴, Corinne Antignac^{1,3,7} and Matias Simons^{2,3}

- 1 Laboratory of Hereditary Kidney Diseases, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (Inserm) UMR1163, Imagine Institute, Paris, France
- 2 Laboratory of Epithelial Biology and Disease, Imagine Institute, Paris, France
- 3 Université Paris Descartes Sorbonne Paris Cité, Imagine Institute, Paris, France
- 4 Development, Aging and Regeneration Program, Sanford-Burnham-Prebys Medical Discovery Institute, La Jolla, CA, USA.
- 5 Renal Division, University Hospital, Freiburg, Germany
- 6 Department of Pediatric Nephrology, Hôpital Necker-Enfants Malades, Assistance Publique -Hôpitaux de Paris (AP-HP), 75015 Paris, France
- 7 Department of Genetics, Hôpital Necker-Enfants Malades, AP-HP, Paris, France
- 8 Medizinische Klinik, Universitätsklinikum Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
- 9 BIOSS Center for Biological Signalling Studies and Center for Systems Biology (ZBSA), Albert-Ludwigs-University, Freiburg, Germany
- 10 Division of Genetics, Arnold Palmer Hospital, Orlando FL, USA
- 11 GeneDx, Inc, Gaithersburg MD, USA
- 12 Sorbonne Université, UPMC, GRC ConCer-LD and AP-HP, Hôpital Trousseau, Service de Neuropédiatrie Pathologie du développement, Paris, France
- 13 Centre de référence des déficits intellectuels de causes rares, Inserm U 1141, Paris, France
- 14 Sorbonne Universités, UPMC Univ Paris 06, Inserm U1127, CNRS UMR 7225, Institut du Cerveau et de la Moèlle Épinière (ICM), Paris, France
- 15 AP-HP, GH Pitié-Salpêtrière, Department of Genetics, Unit of Developmental Genomics, Paris, France
- 16 AP-HP, Hôpital Trousseau, Centre de référence des malformations et maladies congénitales du cervelet, Département de génétique et embryologie médicale, Paris, France

Correspondence should be addressed to: Corinne Antignac (<u>corinne.antignac.@inserm.fr</u>, Tel.: +33-1-42754361), and Matias Simons (<u>matias.simons@institutimagine.org</u>, Tel.: +33-1-42754331), Institut Imagine, 24 Boulevard du Montparnasse, Paris, France

Short title: KAT2B is a candidate gene for SRNS and cardiomyopathy

Abstract

Recent evidence suggests that having more than one genetic diagnosis in a single patient is more common than previously anticipated. One of the challenges hereby is to dissect the contribution of each gene mutation, for which animal models such as Drosophila can provide a valuable aid. Here, we identified three families with mutations in ADD3, encoding for adducin- γ , with intellectual disability, microcephaly, cataracts and skeletal defects. In one of the families with additional cardiomyopathy and steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS), we found a homozygous mutation in KAT2B, encoding the lysine acetyltransferase 2B, suggesting that this second mutation might contribute to the increased disease spectrum. In order to define the contribution of ADD3 and KAT2B mutation for the patient phenotype, we performed functional experiments in the Drosophila model as well as in cultured human cells. Confirming the pathogenicity of the ADD3 and the KAT2B mutations, we found that both mutations were unable to fully rescue the viability of the respective null mutant of the Drosophila homologs, hts and Gcn5. While the ADD3 mutation additionally impaired fly motor function, the KAT2B/Gcn5 mutation showed a significantly reduced ability to rescue morphological and functional defects of cardiomyocytes and nephrocytes (podocyte-like cells). Interestingly, the simultaneous knockdown of KAT2B and ADD3 synergistically impaired the adhesion and migration capacity of cultured human podocytes as well as kidney and heart function in flies, suggesting that mutations in both genes may be required for the full clinical manifestation. Altogether, our studies describe the expansion of the phenotypic spectrum in ADD3 deficiency associated with a homozygous KAT2B mutation and thereby identify KAT2B as a novel candidate gene for SRNS and cardiomyopathy.

Author summary

Genetic diseases with complex syndromic constellations may be caused by mutations in more than one gene. Most examples studied so far describe genetic interactions of known disease genes, suggesting that a large number of multilocus diseases remain unexplored. Assessment of mutation pathogenicity can be achieved using animal models. One main advantage of using *Drosophila* is that it allows easy *in vivo* gene manipulation in cell types that are relevant for the disease. Here, we report the pathogenicity of *ADD3* mutations in three families with intellectual disability, microcephaly, cataracts and skeletal defects. Moreover, we provide evidence that the additional steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS) and cardiomyopathy in one of the families are a result of a missense mutation in the lysine acetyltransferase encoding *KAT2B* gene. In *Drosophila*, this mutation resulted not only in decreased viability, but also in functional defects in cardiomyocytes and nephrocytes, which are cells with high similarity to mammalian podocytes. Our study implicates *KAT2B* as a candidate gene for SRNS and cardiomyopathy and emphasizes the importance of protein acetylation in kidney and heart function.

Introduction

The interrogation of the entire genome via next generation sequencing (NGS) technology has revolutionized clinical diagnostics. For medical genetics that traditionally focuses on finding monogenetic causes for Mendelian diseases, NGS has not only introduced much higher mutation detection rates but also unprecedented complexities. A recent retrospective analysis of more than 7000 exomes revealed multiple molecular diagnoses in around five percent of cases with suspected monogenic disease [1], suggesting that patients with multilocus diseases are underrecognized.

The phenotypic complexity of multilocus diseases, of which digenic disease represents the simplest and most common form, can be challenging for the physician, both when it comes to finding a diagnosis and to genetic counseling and risk assessment. Two distinct disease phenotypes in a single patient may present with a completely new clinical phenotype. On the other hand, two overlapping disease phenotypes may be misinterpreted as a single disease with increased severity.

The underlying genetic defects are equally difficult to predict. As a rule of thumb, compound phenotypes affecting different organ systems tend to be caused by mutations in two completely unrelated genes [1], whereas mutations in two genes encoding proteins from the same cellular pathway give rise to overlapping disease phenotypes [2-4]. But as genes can be pleiotropic, there are most likely many exceptions to this. Also, while one locus can be the primary locus [4], in other cases the two loci may be equal in importance [2].

One important challenge in modern human genetics is therefore to decompose the contributions of each gene mutation to the clinical phenotypes in question. So far, most reports on digenic inheritance in Mendelian disease have focused on known disease genes [1, 5, 6]. However, the diagnosis is even more difficult when dealing with genes that have previously not been associated with any genetic diseases. When this is the case, it is of utmost importance to perform functional validation in suitable experimental model systems.

In this study, we identify three families with mutations in *ADD3*, encoding for adducin- γ , with intellectual disability, microcephaly, cataracts and skeletal defects, establishing *ADD3* as a disease gene [7]. We further use mutation validation in *Drosophila* and mammalian cell culture to

demonstrate that in one of the families additional phenotypes in kidney and heart are associated with a homozygous missense mutation in the lysine acetyltransferase *KAT2B*.

Results

Clinical features of three families with intellectual disability and microcephaly

Six individuals in three families (families A-C) with intellectual disability and varying degrees of microcephaly (Table 1) were identified for this study. As additional clinical features, family A and B shared bilateral cataracts, corpus callosum defects as well as specific skeletal defects such as shortening of the third and fourth metatarsals (Fig 1A-D and Table 1), while the affected boy from family C suffered from epilepsy, severe speech delay and suspected cerebral palsy (Table 1). Moreover, the affected sibs in the consanguineous family A presented with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome (SRNS), a progressive renal disease characterized by podocyte lesions and massive proteinuria [8], and cardiomyopathy (Table 1). For individual II-1 and II-3, proteinuria was first detected at 7 and 12 years of age, respectively, and end-stage renal disease was diagnosed a decade later. Individual II-6 was diagnosed with SRNS and end-stage renal disease at the age of 13 years. In kidney biopsies, individual II-3 (Fig 1E) showed focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) in a small percentage of glomeruli, while individual II-6 showed widespread FSGS lesions, hypertrophic and vacuolated podocytes (Fig 1E), associated with tubular atrophy, interstitial fibrosis and inflammatory cell infiltrates. In addition, all affected individuals from family A developed dilated cardiomyopathy with progressive heart failure and arrhythmia (Table 1). Cardiac failure was the cause of death for both individuals II-1 and II-3.

Whole-exome sequencing identifies missense mutations in ADD3 in all families

For the affected individuals in family A and C, the presence of mitochondrial disease was excluded by muscle biopsy. Moreover, high-resolution karyotypes were normal for all patients, and CGH arrays (performed for family B and C) did not show significant abnormalities. For further diagnostics, whole exome sequencing (WES) was thus performed on two affected members of family A as well as on the affected individuals and the parents of family B and C, after obtaining written informed consent and study approval. WES led to the identification of recessive potentially damaging mutations in *ADD3*, all segregating with the disease as confirmed by Sanger sequencing (*NM_016824.4:* family A: homozygous c.1975G>C, p.E659Q; family B: compound heterozygous c.86A>G, p.N29S c.1588G>A,

p.V530I (both on the same allele in the mother), c.995A>G, p.N332S (heterozygous in the father); family C: homozygous c.995A>G, p.N332S) (Fig 2A,B and Table 2). In 148,632 reference individuals from the gnomAD browser (http://gnomad.broadinstitute.org/), the ADD3 mutations were present at low frequencies and only in the heterozygous state (Table 2).

The identified *ADD3* mutations result in the substitution of amino acids located in the head and tail region of the protein product adducin- γ (Fig 2B). In humans, adducins form heterotetramers that are composed of either adducin- α and - γ (the most widely expressed) or adducin- α and - β (restricted mainly to erythrocytes and specific brain regions) [9]. These heterotetramers regulate the actin cytoskeleton by capping the barbed ends of F-actin and by promoting the interaction between actin and spectrin [9, 10]. Recently, a mutation in *ADD3* was shown to cause cerebral palsy, epilepsy, borderline microcephaly, thin corpus callosum and intellectual disability in one family [7]. As the phenotype of this family shows overlap with all our families, particularly family C, our study further supports the pathogenicity of the previously identified *ADD3* mutation.

A homozygous mutation in KAT2B associates with the extended phenotypes in family A

Family A, which was characterized by additional cardiomyopathy and SRNS, exhibited another potentially damaging homozygous mutation in lysine acetyltransferase 2B (*KAT2B*). The mutation (*NM_003884.4*: c.920T>C, p.F307S) segregated with the disease and was not present in the reference individuals from the gnomAD browser (Fig 2A and Table 2). *KAT2B* is known to acetylate a variety of substrates, including histones (preferentially H3), and to function as a transcription factor coactivator together with CBP/p300 [11-13]. The identified *KAT2B* missense mutation affects a highly conserved amino acid within the PCAF homology domain (Fig 2C), which is required for the interaction with CBP/p300 [14]. Thus, we reasoned that the *KAT2B* mutation, either alone or in synergy with the *ADD3* mutation, might be responsible for the renal and cardiac features observed in family A. To test this hypothesis, we used functional validation in cultured cells and *Drosophila melanogaster*.

ADD3 E569Q is a hypomorphic mutation in Drosophila

We first studied mRNA and protein expression in patient fibroblasts from affected members of family A by qPCR, western blotting and immunostainings. We found no significant decrease for ADD3 at the mRNA or protein level (Fig 3A and S1A,C Fig). By contrast, KAT2B protein levels were significantly reduced despite unaltered mRNA levels (Fig 3B and S1B,D Fig), suggesting that the *KAT2B* mutation, but not the *ADD3* mutation, may have an impact on protein stability.

Next, we turned to Drosophila to assess the impact of the identified mutations as well as global gene disruption in the overall viability and specific organ function of an in vivo-model. Drosophila hu li tai shao (hts) corresponds to the sole homolog of all three adducin genes in humans. As previously described [15], *hts^{null}* hemizygous animals died at the late larval stage, with only a few escapers progressing into adult stage. The escapers showed rough eyes, uncoordinated movements and inability to fly leading to death within 24h after eclosion (S2A Fig). For mutation validation, we reexpressed in this hts^{null} background the human wild-type (WT) and mutant constructs using the ubiquitous driver tubulin (tub)-GAL4 (see S1 Table for precise genotypes). As E659, the amino acid mutated in adducin- γ , is located in a very poorly conserved region (Fig 2B), we performed rescue experiments with WT and mutated human adducin- γ . While re-expressing each of the adducins alone failed to rescue the viability, the co-expression of adducin- α and - γ (hereafter referred to as adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ WT) led to around sixty percent of viable mutant adults (Fig 3C). Accordingly, immunostainings showed that co-expression of adducin- α increases adducin- γ protein levels, suggesting that the stabilization of adducin- γ by adducin- α is a prerequisite for proper function (S3 Fig). Importantly, when co-expressing adducin- γ E659Q together with adducin- α (adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ E659Q), we observed a significantly reduced partial rescue of fly viability (Fig 3C). The surviving animals did not present with any defects in eye and wing morphology (S2A Fig) but showed climbing impairment in a geotaxis assay (S2B Fig) [7]. Altogether, these results suggest that ADD3 E569Q is a hypomorphic mutation.

KAT2B F307S is a loss-of-function mutation in Drosophila

Drosophila Gcn5 is homologous with *KAT2B* and its paralog *KAT2A*. *Gcn5*^{E333st} hemizygous animals died at late larval stage/early pupal stage as previously reported for this null mutation [16]. The expression of human *KAT2A* and *KAT2B*, either alone or in combination, with the ubiquitous *daughterless (da)*-GAL4 driver did not restore the viability of the mutant (Fig 3D). By contrast, the expression of *Drosophila Gcn5* with the same promoter led to a full rescue (hereafter referred to as Gcn5 WT; Fig 3D), suggesting that the human orthologs have evolved in structure and function in comparison to Gcn5. As the mutated amino acid in KAT2B, F307, is conserved in *Drosophila* Gcn5 (corresponding to Gcn5 F304), we re-expressed Gcn5 F304S in the *Gcn5*^{E333st} hemizygous background (Gcn5 F304S). As a negative control, we re-expressed a predicted potentially damaging KAT2B variant (S502F corresponding to Gcn5 S478F) found in a homozygous state in a healthy individual from our

in-house database. While Gcn5 S478F rescue animals were normal (Fig 3D,E), Gcn5 F304S had a dramatically decreased viability with death occurring either in pupal stages or a few days after eclosion (Fig 3D). Adult escapers showed defects in wing and leg morphology, rough eyes and inability to fly (Fig 3E). Interestingly, this phenotype corresponds to what has previously been described for the deletion of the entire PCAF homology domain, where the mutation is localized [16]. We further detected acetylation defects for Gcn5 F304S but not for Gcn5 WT and control animals, as assessed by immunoblotting of larval nuclear extracts (Fig 3F). Altogether, the results suggest that KAT2B F307S is a loss-of-function mutation.

KAT2B F307S but not ADD3 E569Q causes renal defects in Drosophila

Since the presence of SRNS and heart defects in family A was the main phenotypic difference from the other families, we looked more specifically into the renal and cardiac system of the fly. The fly kidney is composed of garland and pericardial nephrocytes (Fig 4A) that perform the filtration of the hemolymph and Malpighian tubules that function as excretory tubes. The surface of nephrocytes is decorated with actin-anchored slit diaphragms showing high molecular similarity with those of mammalian podocytes [17-19]. Therefore, nephrocytes have successfully been used to functionally validate candidate genes for SRNS [20, 21]. By immunostaining, we observed that Hts localizes below the slit diaphragms at the cell cortex of nephrocytes (S4A,B Fig). Similarly, we found that adducin- γ is expressed in cultured human podocytes, where it also localized to the cell periphery (S5A,B Fig). In both cases, the localization pattern was specific as it was lost upon *hts* and *ADD3* knockdown (KD), respectively (S4B Fig and S5B Fig).

To study the requirements of Hts for the integrity of the slit diaphragm, we performed immunostainings for Kirre, the ortholog of the mammalian slit diaphragm protein Neph1 [22]. In line with the proposed role for adducin- γ in cortical actin regulation [23], we found that hts^{null} larval nephrocytes showed a decrease of Kirre between adjacent nephrocytes (S6A,B Fig). A similar observation was made for the KD of *hts* using *prospero (pros)*-GAL4 (S7A,B Fig).

Unlike the *hts^{null}* mutant, *hts* KD in nephrocytes did not compromise overall viability, allowing also the analysis of adult pericardial nephrocytes. We found that, while in 3-day-old adults *hts* KD did not affect pericardial nephrocyte number (S8A-C Fig), a significant decline of differentiated nephrocytes could be observed in 15-day-old adults (S8D-F Fig), consistent with previously reported characterizations of important podocyte genes [24-26]. Interestingly, in adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ rescue flies, no major difference with respect to Kirre localization in larval garland nephrocytes (S6A, B Fig) and the

number of adult pericardial nephrocytes (S9A,B Fig) was seen between the WT and the mutated form. Together, the results demonstrate that, while Hts is important for nephrocyte function, the *ADD3* missense mutation identified in family A does not cause a renal phenotype in flies.

For Gcn5, we found a prominent expression in nephrocyte and podocyte nuclei (S4C,D Fig and S5C,D Fig). *Gcn5*^{£333st} hemizygous larvae presented with morphologically normal nephrocytes. However, we did detect a decreased H3K9 acetylation at this stage in the nephrocyte nuclei of the mutant, which could be rescued by Gcn5 WT but not by Gcn5 F304S (Fig 4B). At 15 days, the majority of adult Gcn5 F304S escapers showed mislocalized and/or abnormally shaped pericardial nephrocytes that were often reduced in number (Fig 4C-E). Similarly, the nephrocyte-specific expression of *Gcn5*^{*RNAi*} caused a progressive decline of differentiated pericardial nephrocytes (Fig 4F,G and S8D-F Fig). Interestingly, unlike for the viability rescue, the expression of human KAT2B WT on the *Gcn5*^{*RNAi*} background led to a partial rescue of nephrocyte number. However, this was not the case for KAT2B F307S (Fig 4F,G). These findings suggest that both Gcn5 F304S and KAT2B F307S impair the essential function of Gcn5 in nephrocytes.

KAT2B F307S but not ADD3 E569Q causes cardiac defects in Drosophila

The Drosophila heart is a tubular organ formed by contractile cardiomyocytes that pump the hemolymph (analogous to the blood in vertebrates) to the rest of the body. This organ system has proven to be an important tool for studying the genetics and pathophysiology of cardiac disease [27, 28]. Therefore, we studied heart function in adult adducin and Gcn5 rescue flies. As illustrated in the M-mode traces obtained from high-speed movies, adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ E659Q did not show any significant differences in heart period, cardiac output, fractional shortening and arrhythmia index when compared to adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ WT (S10A-H Fig). By contrast, Gcn5 F304S flies showed prolonged heart period and reduced cardiac output compared to Gcn5 WT and control flies (Fig 5A-E). Both Gcn5 WT and F304S rescue flies showed a reduction in the normal diastolic diameter compared to control flies (Fig 5F), but only for Gcn5 F304S there was a reduction in contractility, measured as fractional shortening (Fig 5G). Moreover, the Gcn5 F304S mutant showed a more irregular heartbeat compared to Gcn5 WT, reflected by an increase in the arrhythmia index (Fig 5H). In further support of Gcn5's requirement for normal heart function, the silencing of Gcn5 with a heart-specific driver (tin>GAL4) led to a decreased cardiac output, an increased arrhythmia index and shortened diastolic diameter (S11B-D Fig). By contrast, the knockdown of hts did not cause any significant heart phenotypes (S11A-F Fig). This suggests that Gcn5 but not Hts is important for heart function in Drosophila and that global overexpression of Gcn5 WT is more effective in restoring normal heart function in Gcn5deficient flies than Gcn5 F304S.

The double knockdown of hts/ADD3 and Gcn5/KAT2B causes synergistic effects in Drosophila and human podocytes

Finally, to explore whether *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations could influence each other in the patients, we performed double KD in *Drosophila* cardiomyocytes and nephrocytes as well as human podocytes. In larval nephrocytes, the double KD of *Gcn5* and *hts* caused an increase in Kirre mislocalization, compared to the single KD (S7A,B Fig). Moreover, the double KD of *Gcn5* and *hts* caused a significant loss of differentiated nephrocytes already at 3 days post-eclosion (S8A-C Fig). We also tested whether the combined KD of *ADD3* and *KAT2B* might have an effect on podocyte adhesion and migration, which are processes typically affected by the silencing of SRNS genes [29, 30]. While *ADD3* and *KAT2B* double KD showed additive effects with respect to adhesion (S12A Fig), strong synergistic effects were found for the migration of podocytes (S12B Fig), suggesting that both in nephrocytes and podocytes the actin regulatory role of *Hts*/adducin-γ is supported by Gcn5/KAT2B function. Similarly, the cardiac-specific co-expression of *hts*^{*RNAi*} and *Gcn5*^{*RNAi*} significantly aggravated the heart period length and the arrhythmia index observed upon single KD of *Gcn5* (S11A,C Fig), providing further evidence that the presence of mutations in both genes might be needed for overt disease manifestation in patients.

Discussion

Here, we identify *ADD3* mutations in three different families with similar neurological, skeletal and ophthalmological phenotypes, thereby confirming their pathogenicity. Moreover, we use functional validation in *Drosophila* and human cells to characterize the contribution of an additional mutation in *KAT2B* to the extended phenotype featuring one of the *ADD3* families. Our study provides an example of a multilocus disease due to a second mutation in a gene that lies on another chromosome and has hitherto not been associated with any genetic disease.

The severity of the *KAT2B* mutation in the fly model compared with the relatively late-onset cardiac and renal defects in the patients suggests a partial functional redundancy due to gene duplication in vertebrates. Accordingly, it has been shown that in mouse development loss of KAT2B can be compensated for by KAT2A [31]. Nevertheless, KAT2B is strongly expressed in mouse heart and kidney, particularly podocytes [32, 33], while KAT2A has a more widespread expression pattern [14]. Moreover, adult mouse studies have shown that KAT2B can perform functions that are non-redundant with KAT2A [34-38], indicating that *KAT2B* deficiency alone could be sufficient for any clinical manifestations. What remains to be seen is whether the clinical impact of *KAT2B* deficiency needs to be unmasked by a sensitized genetic background, such as the *ADD3* mutation.

Vice versa, it is also possible that any renal and cardiac manifestation of the *ADD3* mutation requires additional gene variation(s). In this respect, it is interesting that rare but otherwise uncharacterized variants of *KAT2B* have been found to be enriched in a patient cohort with sporadic FSGS [32], suggesting that they contribute to disease susceptibility. Indeed, apart from histones, KAT2B has been shown to acetylate important cytoskeletal regulators in podocytes, encoded by genes mutated in FSGS and cardiomyopathy (e.g. actinin-4, TTC21B and myosin-7) [39]. Therefore, the combined use of our fly assay and diagnostic gene panels, including *KAT2B*, may in the future identify additional cases where *KAT2B* mutations are either primary causes or (epigenetic) modifiers of SRNS and cardiomyopathy.

Taken together, the identification of three families with *ADD3* mutations expands the mutational and phenotypic spectrum of *ADD3* deficiency reported initially. In addition, we provide evidence that the additional SRNS and cardiomyopathy in family A are a result of a missense mutation in *KAT2B*, most likely in combination with the *ADD3* mutation. Thus, our study proposes *KAT2B* as a candidate gene for renal and cardiac disease and highlights the importance of protein acetylation and epigenetics in kidney and heart function.

Materials and methods

Study participants

Following informed consent, we obtained clinical data, blood samples and skin biopsies from the affected individuals. Genomic DNA was isolated by standard procedures. The study protocol was approved by the Institutional review board - Comite de Protection des Personnes pour la Recherche Biomedicale IIe de France II – according to French law.

Whole exome sequencing

Whole-exome sequencing (WES) was performed for affected individuals II-3 and II-6 from family A

and for the two parents and the affected sib from family B and family C. Whole-exome capture was performed with the Agilent SureSelect Human All Exon Kit, 51Mb, V4 (family A), the Roche MedExome kit (family B) or a proprietary system from GeneDx (family C). The enriched library was then sequenced on either Life Technologies SOLID (paired end with 75+35 base pair (bp) reads; family A) or Illumina systems (family B: 2x150 bp reads; family C: 2x100bp read). Images were analyzed and the bases were determined according to Lifescope or bcl2fastq Conversion Software v2.17. Variants were called as described [40].

Fly strains and generation of transgenic flies

Crosses were maintained on standard cornmeal-yeast food at 25°C except for RNAi crosses (29°C). The fly stocks used in this study can be found in S1 Table. For *Hts^{null}* rescue constructs we used an N-terminal V5 tagged human *ADD3* (clone IMAGE: 6649991), WT or carrying the E659Q mutation, and the N-terminal HA tagged human *ADD1* (gift from Vann Bennett, Duke University). For *Gcn5^{null}* rescue constructs we used the C-terminal HA tagged human *KAT2B* (clone IMAGE: 30333414), the N-terminal Flag tagged human *KAT2A* (gift from Laszlo Tora, Institut de Génétique et de Biologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire, Strasbourg) and the C-terminal Flag tagged *Drosophila Gcn5*, WT (gift from Clement Carré, University Pierre et Marie Curie) or carrying the mutations F304S or S478F (corresponding to human mutation F307S and S502F). All mutations were inserted using the QuickChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Subsequently, the rescue constructs were subcloned into a *pUASTattB* vector (gift from *Konrad Basler*, University of Zurich) and injected into flies at *attP* landing sites by Bestgene, USA.

Cell culture

A conditionally immortalized human podocyte cell line developed by transfection with the temperature-sensitive mutant (tsA58) of the SV40-T-antigen-encoding gene, was kindly provided by Dr. Saleem (University of Bristol). In brief, the cells proliferated at the permissive temperature of 33 °C, whereas growth arrest and differentiation were induced by incubation at the nonpermissive temperature of 37°C for 14 days. Cells were grown with 7% CO₂ in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, insulin-transferrin-selenium, glutamine, penicillin and streptomycin (all from Life Technologies).

Primary skin fibroblasts were obtained from individual II-3 and II-6 from family A and two different age matched controls. These cells were grown in OPTIMEM medium supplemented with 20% fetal

bovine serum, glutamine, penicillin and streptomycin (all from Life Technologies) at 37°C with 7% CO2.

Establishment of Lentiviral Cell Lines

Small hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) Scramble (Scb) or targeting the 3'UTR of human *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mRNA in the lentiviral vector pLKO.1 were purchased from Sigma (*ADD3* clone: NM_019903.3-2280s1c1 TRCN0000123024; *KAT2B* clone: NM_003884.4-3192s21c1, TRCN0000364135). Lentiviral particles containing these constructs were produced in human embryonic kidney 293T cells as previously described [41]. *ShScb*, *ADD3* or *KAT2B* depleted podocytes were obtained by transduction with the respective shRNAs lentiviral particles and subsequent puromycin selection.

Human *ADD3* and *KAT2B*, were subcloned from human full-length cDNA (*ADD3*: clone IMAGE: 6649991; *KAT2B* clone IMAGE: 30333414) into the expression vectors pLentiGIII and PLEX-MCS, respectively. An HA tag was added in frame, before the stop codon, to the C terminus of *ADD3* and *KAT2B*. The *ADD3* E659Q and *KAT2B* F307S mutations found in affected individuals were introduced with the QuickChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene) according to the manufacturer's protocol. All constructs were verified by sequencing. *ADD3* or *KAT2B* depleted podocytes were transduced with WT or mutant *ADD3* or *KAT2B* lentiviral particles, respectively.

RNA extraction, RT-PCR and Real Time quantification

Total RNA was isolated from fibroblasts using a Qiagen RNA extraction kit (Qiagen), following the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA was prepared using reverse transcriptase Superscript II (Invitrogen). PCR was performed using ReadyMix Taq PCR (Sigma). After RNA extraction and cDNA preparation by RT-PCR, relative expression levels of genes of interest were determined by real-time PCR using the Absolute SYBR Green ROX Mix (ABgene) and specific primers as follows: *ADD3* forward 5'- CTTGCTGGAATTGTTGTGGATAAG -3' and reverse 5'- CTGGTGGGCCATGATCATC-3'; *KAT2B* forward 5'- ATCACACGGCTCGTCTTTGAC -3' and reverse 5'- CACCAATAACACGGCCATCTT -3'. Experiments were repeated at least three times and gene expression levels were normalized to HPRT.

Immunoblotting

Total cell or third instar larvae total protein extractions were performed and the resolved proteins were probed using the primary antibodies: anti-PCAF rabbit monoclonal (3378, Cell Signaling, 1:1000),

anti-adducin-γ mouse monoclonal (sc-74474, Santa Cruz, 1:1000) and anti-αtubulin mouse monoclonal (T5168, Sigma Aldrich, 1:5000). For immunoblotting of nuclear extracts [42], the primary antibodies anti-acH3K9 rabbit polyclonal (39918, Active motif, 1:1000) and anti-H3 mouse monoclonal (61475, Active motif, 1:1000) were used as well as the corresponding HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (Amersham ECL, GE healthcare and Invitrogen). Bands were visualized using Amersham ECL Western Blotting Detection Reagent (GE Healthcare) and quantified by densitometry using *Image J* software.

Immunofluorescence

Fibroblasts or podocytes were plated on noncoated coverslips or coverslips coated with rat-tail collagen type I (Corning), respectively. After 48h of culture cells were fixed with 100% ice-cold ethanol. Cells were incubated with a blocking solution (PBS, 1% BSA, and 0.1% tween 20) and further permeabilized for ten minutes with PBS 0.1% Triton. Incubation with the following primary antibodies was done ON at 4°C: anti-PCAF mouse monoclonal (sc-13124, Santa Cruz, 1:100), anti-adduciny rabbit polyclonal (sc-25733, Santa Cruz, 1:100) and anti-HA (11 867 423 001, Roche, 1:200).

For immunofluorescence in *Drosophila*, garland and pericardial nephrocytes were dissected from third instar larvae and adults, respectively, and fixed for 20 minutes in 4% paraformaldehyde at room temperature and stained according to standard procedures. For Kirre stainings an alternative fixation method ("heat fixation") was used: nephrocytes were heat-fixed for 5 seconds at 90°C in 0.7% NaCl/0.05% TX-100 solution. The following primary antibodies were used: anti-Hts mouse monoclonal (#1B1 deposited to the Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank (DSHB) by Lipshitz, H.D.), anti-Gcn5 rabbit polyclonal (gift from Jerry Workman, Stowers Institute for medical research, Kansas, 1:200) anti-Kirre rabbit polyclonal (gift from Karl Fischbach, Institute for Biology, Freiburg, Germany, 1:200), anti-Pyd2 mouse monoclonal (deposited to the DSHB by Fanning, A.S, 1:100), anti-acH3K9 rabbit polyclonal (#06-942, Upstate, 1:100), AlexaFluor488-conjugated anti-horseradish peroxidase (Jackson Immunoresearch, 1:400), anti-HA (11 867 423 001, Roche, 1:200) and anti-V5 rabbit polyclonal (v8137 Sigma, 1:200). The corresponding anti-isotype AlexaFluor antibodies (ThermoFisher Scientific, 1:200) were used at room temperature for 2 hours. Nuclei were stained with Hoechst. Confocal images were obtained with a Leica TCS-SP8 confocal microscope, and post-treatment analysis was performed with *Image J* software.

Statistical analyses

Results are presented as means ± standard error or standard deviation for the indicated number of experiments. Statistical analysis of continuous data was performed with two-tailed Student *t* test for pairwise comparisons or one-way analysis of variance for comparisons involving three or more groups, with Dunnet's, Bonferroni or Dunn post hoc test, as appropriate. Pearson's chi-squared test was used for analysis of categorical data. Linear relations between variables were analysed using linear regression analysis. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Analysis was carried out with GraphPad Prism software. (*p<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001). All experiments were performed at least three times.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Clement Carré, Jerry Workman, Karl Fischbach and the Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank (DSHB) for providing antibodies. We thank Clement Carré, Jan Pielage, Takashi Suzuki, Barry Denholm, Zhe Han, Manfred Frasch, the Bloomington stock center and Vienna Drosophila RNAi Center (VDRC) for providing flies. We are grateful to Vann Bennett, Clement Carré and Laszlo Tora for providing cDNA constructs. We thank the Cell Imaging platform, Structure Fédérative de Recherche de Necker, Inserm US24 for assistance with microscopy. We are grateful to Laurence Colleaux, Kalman Tory and Fred Bernard for critically reading the manuscript. The work has been supported by the ATIP-Avenir program, the Fondation Bettencourt-Schueller (Liliane Bettencourt Chair of Developmental Biology) as well as State funding by the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR) under the "Investissements d'avenir" program (ANR-10-IAHU-01) and the NEPHROFLY (ANR-14-ACHN-0013) grant to MS. Financial support for this work was also provided by grants from the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (GenPod project ANR-12-BSV1-0033.01), the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013/ grant n°305608-EURenOmics), the "Investments for the Future" program (ANR-10-IAHY-01) and Fondation pour la recherche médicale (FRM Equipe 2015-project DEQ20150331682) to CA. SG was supported by the MD-PhD program of Imagine Institute (ANR-10-IAHU-01 and Fondation Bettencourt-Schueller). TBH was supported by the DFG (CRC1140, CRC 992, HU 1016/8-1), by the BMBF (01GM1518C), by the European Research Council-ERC grant 616891 and by the H2020-IMI2 consortium BEAt-DKD. RB was supported by NIH grants R01 HL54732, P01 AG033456, and RB&MCG by a Glenn Award for Research in Biological Mechanisms of Aging.

References

1. Posey JE, Harel T, Liu P, Rosenfeld JA, James RA, Coban Akdemir ZH, et al. Resolution of Disease Phenotypes Resulting from Multilocus Genomic Variation. The New England journal of medicine. 2017;376(1):21-31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1516767. PubMed PMID: 27959697; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5335876.

2. Margolin DH, Kousi M, Chan YM, Lim ET, Schmahmann JD, Hadjivassiliou M, et al. Ataxia, dementia, and hypogonadotropism caused by disordered ubiquitination. The New England journal of medicine. 2013;368(21):1992-2003. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215993. PubMed PMID: 23656588; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3738065.

3. Kajiwara K, Berson EL, Dryja TP. Digenic retinitis pigmentosa due to mutations at the unlinked peripherin/RDS and ROM1 loci. Science. 1994;264(5165):1604-8. PubMed PMID: 8202715.

4. Lemmers RJ, Tawil R, Petek LM, Balog J, Block GJ, Santen GW, et al. Digenic inheritance of an SMCHD1 mutation and an FSHD-permissive D4Z4 allele causes facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy type 2. Nat Genet. 2012;44(12):1370-4. doi: 10.1038/ng.2454. PubMed PMID: 23143600; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3671095.

5. Katsanis N. The oligogenic properties of Bardet-Biedl syndrome. Hum Mol Genet. 2004;13 Spec No 1:R65-71. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddh092. PubMed PMID: 14976158.

6. Schaffer AA. Digenic inheritance in medical genetics. Journal of medical genetics. 2013;50(10):641-52. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2013-101713. PubMed PMID: 23785127; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3778050.

7. Kruer MC, Jepperson T, Dutta S, Steiner RD, Cottenie E, Sanford L, et al. Mutations in gamma adducin are associated with inherited cerebral palsy. Ann Neurol. 2013;74(6):805-14. doi: 10.1002/ana.23971. PubMed PMID: 23836506; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3952628.

8. Hildebrandt F. Genetic kidney diseases. Lancet. 2010;375(9722):1287-95. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60236-X. PubMed PMID: 20382325; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2898711.

9. Matsuoka Y, Li X, Bennett V. Adducin: structure, function and regulation. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. 2000;57(6):884-95. doi: 10.1007/PL00000731. PubMed PMID: 10950304.

10. Li X, Matsuoka Y, Bennett V. Adducin preferentially recruits spectrin to the fast growing ends of actin filaments in a complex requiring the MARCKS-related domain and a newly defined oligomerization domain. J Biol Chem. 1998;273(30):19329-38. PubMed PMID: 9668123.

11. Puri PL, Sartorelli V, Yang XJ, Hamamori Y, Ogryzko VV, Howard BH, et al. Differential roles of p300 and PCAF acetyltransferases in muscle differentiation. Mol Cell. 1997;1(1):35-45. PubMed PMID: 9659901.

12. Martinez-Balbas MA, Bauer UM, Nielsen SJ, Brehm A, Kouzarides T. Regulation of E2F1 activity by acetylation. The EMBO journal. 2000;19(4):662-71. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.4.662. PubMed PMID: 10675335; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC305604.

13. Liu L, Scolnick DM, Trievel RC, Zhang HB, Marmorstein R, Halazonetis TD, et al. p53 sites acetylated in vitro by PCAF and p300 are acetylated in vivo in response to DNA damage. Molecular and cellular biology. 1999;19(2):1202-9. PubMed PMID: 9891054; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC116049.

14. Xu W, Edmondson DG, Roth SY. Mammalian GCN5 and P/CAF acetyltransferases have homologous amino-terminal domains important for recognition of nucleosomal substrates.

Molecular and cellular biology. 1998;18(10):5659-69. PubMed PMID: 9742083; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC109152.

15. Ohler S, Hakeda-Suzuki S, Suzuki T. Hts, the Drosophila homologue of Adducin, physically interacts with the transmembrane receptor Golden goal to guide photoreceptor axons. Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists. 2011;240(1):135-48. doi: 10.1002/dvdy.22515. PubMed PMID: 21128303.

16. Carre C, Szymczak D, Pidoux J, Antoniewski C. The histone H3 acetylase dGcn5 is a key player in Drosophila melanogaster metamorphosis. Molecular and cellular biology. 2005;25(18):8228-38. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.18.8228-8238.2005. PubMed PMID: 16135811; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1234334.

17. Weavers H, Prieto-Sanchez S, Grawe F, Garcia-Lopez A, Artero R, Wilsch-Brauninger M, et al. The insect nephrocyte is a podocyte-like cell with a filtration slit diaphragm. Nature. 2009;457(7227):322-6. doi: 10.1038/nature07526. PubMed PMID: 18971929; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2687078.

18. Zhuang S, Shao H, Guo F, Trimble R, Pearce E, Abmayr SM. Sns and Kirre, the Drosophila orthologs of Nephrin and Neph1, direct adhesion, fusion and formation of a slit diaphragm-like structure in insect nephrocytes. Development. 2009;136(14):2335-44. doi: 10.1242/dev.031609. PubMed PMID: 19515699; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC2729346.

19. Helmstadter M, Simons M. Using Drosophila nephrocytes in genetic kidney disease. Cell Tissue Res. 2017;369(1):119-26. doi: 10.1007/s00441-017-2606-z. PubMed PMID: 28401308.

20. Lovric S, Goncalves S, Gee HY, Oskouian B, Srinivas H, Choi WI, et al. Mutations in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase cause nephrosis with ichthyosis and adrenal insufficiency. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(3):912-28. doi: 10.1172/JCI89626. PubMed PMID: 28165339; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5330730.

21. Hermle T, Braun DA, Helmstadter M, Huber TB, Hildebrandt F. Modeling Monogenic Human Nephrotic Syndrome in the Drosophila Garland Cell Nephrocyte. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;28(5):1521-33. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016050517. PubMed PMID: 27932481; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5407722.

22. Helmstadter M, Luthy K, Godel M, Simons M, Ashish, Nihalani D, et al. Functional study of mammalian Neph proteins in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e40300. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0040300. PubMed PMID: 22792268; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3391254.

23. Grahammer F, Wigge C, Schell C, Kretz O, Patrakka J, Schneider S, et al. A flexible, multilayered protein scaffold maintains the slit in between glomerular podocytes. JCI Insight. 2016;1(9). doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.86177. PubMed PMID: 27430022; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4943462.

24. Ivy JR, Drechsler M, Catterson JH, Bodmer R, Ocorr K, Paululat A, et al. Klf15 Is Critical for the Development and Differentiation of Drosophila Nephrocytes. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0134620. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0134620. PubMed PMID: 26301956; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4547745.

25. Na J, Sweetwyne MT, Park AS, Susztak K, Cagan RL. Diet-Induced Podocyte Dysfunction in Drosophila and Mammals. Cell reports. 2015;12(4):636-47. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.06.056. PubMed PMID: 26190114; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4532696.

26. Kruzel-Davila E, Shemer R, Ofir A, Bavli-Kertselli I, Darlyuk-Saadon I, Oren-Giladi P, et al. APOL1-Mediated Cell Injury Involves Disruption of Conserved Trafficking Processes. J Am Soc

Nephrol. 2017;28(4):1117-30. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016050546. PubMed PMID: 27864431; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5373454.

27. Diop SB, Bodmer R. Gaining Insights into Diabetic Cardiomyopathy from Drosophila. Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM. 2015;26(11):618-27. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2015.09.009. PubMed PMID: 26482877; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4638170.

28. Bodmer R, Frasch M. Development and Aging of the Drosophila Heart. . Rosenthal N, Harvey R, editors: Amsterdam: Elsevier; 2010. 47–86 p.

29. Gee HY, Sadowski CE, Aggarwal PK, Porath JD, Yakulov TA, Schueler M, et al. FAT1 mutations cause a glomerulotubular nephropathy. Nature communications. 2016;7:10822. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10822. PubMed PMID: 26905694; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4770090.

30. Gee HY, Zhang F, Ashraf S, Kohl S, Sadowski CE, Vega-Warner V, et al. KANK deficiency leads to podocyte dysfunction and nephrotic syndrome. J Clin Invest. 2015;125(6):2375-84. doi: 10.1172/JCI79504. PubMed PMID: 25961457; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4497755.

31. Xu W, Edmondson DG, Evrard YA, Wakamiya M, Behringer RR, Roth SY. Loss of Gcn5l2 leads to increased apoptosis and mesodermal defects during mouse development. Nat Genet. 2000;26(2):229-32. doi: 10.1038/79973. PubMed PMID: 11017084.

32. Yu H, Artomov M, Brahler S, Stander MC, Shamsan G, Sampson MG, et al. A role for genetic susceptibility in sporadic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(3):1067-78. doi: 10.1172/JCI82592. PubMed PMID: 26901816; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4767358.

33. Boerries M, Grahammer F, Eiselein S, Buck M, Meyer C, Goedel M, et al. Molecular fingerprinting of the podocyte reveals novel gene and protein regulatory networks. Kidney international. 2013;83(6):1052-64. doi: 10.1038/ki.2012.487. PubMed PMID: 23364521.

34. Puttagunta R, Tedeschi A, Soria MG, Hervera A, Lindner R, Rathore KI, et al. PCAF-dependent epigenetic changes promote axonal regeneration in the central nervous system. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3527. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4527. PubMed PMID: 24686445.

35. Park SY, Kim MJ, Kim YJ, Lee YH, Bae D, Kim S, et al. Selective PCAF inhibitor ameliorates cognitive and behavioral deficits by suppressing NF-kappaB-mediated neuroinflammation induced by Abeta in a model of Alzheimer's disease. Int J Mol Med. 2015;35(4):1109-18. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2015.2099. PubMed PMID: 25672970.

36. Rabhi N, Denechaud PD, Gromada X, Hannou SA, Zhang H, Rashid T, et al. KAT2B Is Required for Pancreatic Beta Cell Adaptation to Metabolic Stress by Controlling the Unfolded Protein Response. Cell Rep. 2016;15(5):1051-61. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.03.079. PubMed PMID: 27117420.

37. Bastiaansen AJ, Ewing MM, de Boer HC, van der Pouw Kraan TC, de Vries MR, Peters EA, et al. Lysine acetyltransferase PCAF is a key regulator of arteriogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2013;33(8):1902-10. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.301579. PubMed PMID: 23788761; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4049097.

38. Jeitany M, Bakhos-Douaihy D, Silvestre DC, Pineda JR, Ugolin N, Moussa A, et al. Opposite effects of GCN5 and PCAF knockdowns on the alternative mechanism of telomere maintenance. Oncotarget. 2017;8(16):26269-80. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.15447. PubMed PMID: 28412741; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5432255.

39. Fournier M, Orpinell M, Grauffel C, Scheer E, Garnier JM, Ye T, et al. KAT2A/KAT2B-targeted acetylome reveals a role for PLK4 acetylation in preventing centrosome amplification. Nature communications. 2016;7:13227. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13227. PubMed PMID: 27796307; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5095585.

40. Field MA, Cho V, Andrews TD, Goodnow CC. Reliably Detecting Clinically Important Variants Requires Both Combined Variant Calls and Optimized Filtering Strategies. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0143199. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0143199. PubMed PMID: 26600436; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4658170.

41. Delous M, Hellman NE, Gaude HM, Silbermann F, Le Bivic A, Salomon R, et al. Nephrocystin-1 and nephrocystin-4 are required for epithelial morphogenesis and associate with PALS1/PATJ and Par6. Hum Mol Genet. 2009;18(24):4711-23. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp434. PubMed PMID: 19755384; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2778369.

42. Abmayr SM, Yao T, Parmely T, Workman JL. Preparation of nuclear and cytoplasmic extracts from mammalian cells. Curr Protoc Mol Biol. 2006;Chapter 12:Unit 12 1. doi: 10.1002/0471142727.mb1201s75. PubMed PMID: 18265374.

43. Sobreira N, Schiettecatte F, Valle D, Hamosh A. GeneMatcher: a matching tool for connecting investigators with an interest in the same gene. Hum Mutat. 2015;36(10):928-30. doi: 10.1002/humu.22844. PubMed PMID: 26220891; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4833888.

44. Kottgen M, Hofherr A, Li W, Chu K, Cook S, Montell C, et al. Drosophila sperm swim backwards in the female reproductive tract and are activated via TRPP2 ion channels. PLoS One. 2011;6(5):e20031. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020031. PubMed PMID: 21625494; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3098850.

45. Ocorr K, Fink M, Cammarato A, Bernstein S, Bodmer R. Semi-automated Optical Heartbeat Analysis of small hearts. J Vis Exp. 2009;(31). doi: 10.3791/1435. PubMed PMID: 19759521; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3150057.

46. Ganetzky B, Flanagan JR. On the relationship between senescence and age-related changes in two wild-type strains of Drosophila melanogaster. Exp Gerontol. 1978;13(3-4):189-96. PubMed PMID: 99324.

Table 1. Clinical phenotype of affected individuals

	Family A				Family B	Family C	Kruer et al (3)
	II-1	II-3	11-6	II-3	11-4	II-1	4 affected sibs (II-1, II-2, II-3, II-4)
Sex	F	F	Μ	NK	F	Μ	II-1 and II-3: F II-2 and II-5: M
SRNS	Yes	Yes	Yes	NK No		No	No
Age of onset of proteinuria (yrs)	7	12	<13	NA	No proteinuria	No proteinuria	NA
Renal histology	FSGS	FSGS	FSGS	NA	NA	NA	NA
Age of ESRD (yrs)	17	27	13	NA	NA	NA	NA
Heart disease	Dilated cardiomyopathy (dx 16 yrs), supra-ventricular arrhythmia (frequent auricular extra-systoles), heart failure	Dilated cardiomyopathy, arrythmia	Dilated cardiomyopathy (dx 8 yrs), arrhythmia (ventricular hyperexcitation), heart failure	NK	No	No	Νο
Neurological features	Borderline microcephaly Intellectual disability MRI – aspects of global demyelination Axonal demyelinating motor-sensory neuropathy	CP: -1SD Intellectual disability	Borderline microcephaly (CP: -2SD) Intellectual disability MRI – thin corpus callosum	Corpus callosum agenesis	Microcephaly (CP: -3SD), Intellectual disability - moderate MRI – partial agenesis of corpus callosum	Microcephaly (CP: -2.4 SD), Intellectual disability Intractable seizures MRI – possible cortical dysplasia	Borderline microcephaly (all sibs) Intellectual disability - mild to severe (all sibs) Spastic plegia (all sibs) Thin corpus callosum (II-2) Supranuclear gaze palsy (II-2) Epilepsy (II-2) Convergence-retraction nystagmus and strabismus (II-5) Strabismus (II-3)
Cataract	Congenital bilateral cataract	Congenital bilateral cataract	Bilateral cataract (6 yrs)	NK	Bilateral cataract	No	NK
Other features	Mild facial dysmorphy (wide nasal bridge) Arachnodactyly, lax joints, cubitus valgus, scoliosis Short stature	Dysmorphic features similar to the two brothers	Facial dysmorphy (wide nasal bridge, slight proptosis) Arachnodactyly, short 4 th and 5 th metatarsals, conical phalanges Lax joints, cubitus valgus scoliosis, spread iliac wings, short femural neck Microcytic anemia	NK	Mild facial dysmorphy (wide nasal bride, bulbous nasal tip, narrow palpebral fissures) Fifth finger mid-phalanx hypoplasia, short 4 th and 5 th metatarsals Short stature	Facial dysmorphy Short stature	
Age at last examination vs † age (yrs)	† 19	+ 28	19	ТОР	14	8	16 (II-1) 13 (II-2) 9(II-3) 3(II-5)

Abbreviations are as follows: CP cephalic perimeter; DD, developmental delay; ESRD, end-stage renal disease; F, female; FSGS, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis; yrs, years; M, male; MRI – magnetic resonance imaging NA, not applicable; NK, not known; SRNS, steroidresistant nephrotic syndrome; SD standard deviation; SS, short stature; TOP, termination of pregnancy; yrs, years; †, deceased

Family/ Individual	Gene	Nucleotide change	Amino acid change	Zygosity, Segregatio n	МТ	SIFT	PolyPhen-2	gnomAD allele frequencies
A/II-3, II-6	ADD3	c.1975G>C	p.E659Q	ном	DC	0.13 (T)	0.980 (PD)	4/246110 (no HOM)
	KAT2B	c.920T>C	p.F307S	ном	DC	0 (D)	0.990 (PD)	Not reported
B/II-3, II-4		c.86A>G	p.N29S	het m	DC	0.25 (T)	0.653 (PoD)	17/276960 (no HOM)
	ADD3	c.995A>G	p.N332S	het p	DC	0.03 (D)	0.995 (PD)	176/276966 (no HOM)
		c.1588G>A	p.V530I	het m	DC	0 (D)	1 (PD)	9/276822 (no HOM)
C/II-1	ADD3	c.995A>G	p.N332S	НОМ	DC	0 (D)	0.995 (PD)	176/276966 (no HOM)

Table 2. Genetic variants identified in affected individuals with overlapping syndromes

Abbreviations are as follows: D, deleterious; DC, disease causing; het, heterozygous; HOM, homozygous; m, maternal; MT, mutationtaster; p, paternal; PD, probably damaging; PoD, possibly damaging; T, tolerated;



Fig 1. Clinical phenotypes of affected individuals

(A,B) Individuals II-6 (A; family A) and II-4 (B; family B) both show short 4th and 5th metatarsals.

(C) Individual II-6 (family A) shows thin corpus callosum in the brain MRI at 17 months as well as hand arachnodactyly in the skeletal radiography.

(D) Individual II-4 (family B) shows partial agenesis of the corpus callosum in the brain MRI at 14 years as well as mid phalanx hypoplasia in digit V (arrow) in the skeletal radiography.

(E) Kidney sections of affected individuals from family A. At 15 years old, 3 years after the proteinuria onset, individual II-3 showed mostly normal glomeruli but with hypertrophic podocytes (arrow) (left panel; methenamine-silver stain; 40x), while few glomeruli (middle panel) had segmental sclerosis of the glomerular tuft (arrow; trichrome stain; 40x). There were no major lesions of the tubular-interstitial compartment (left and middle). Individual II-6 (right panel) presented with end-stage renal disease at 13 years old and showed severe glomerulosclerosis of almost all the glomeruli with retraction of the glomerular tuft and hypertrophic podocytes (arrow) (methenamine-silver stain; 40x).


Fig 2. Identification of homozygous missense mutations in ADD3 and KAT2B

(A) Pedigree and segregation status of mutations found in *ADD3* and *KAT2B* in family A. Discovery of *ADD3* mutations in family B and C was facilitated by GeneMatcher [43]. Half red coloured circles or squares denote patients with neurological defects and half blue coloured symbols denote patients with SRNS and cardiomyopathy. + symbols indicate non-mutated alleles. Mutations and segregation were confirmed by Sanger sequencing.

(B) Exon structure of human *ADD3* cDNA (long isoform NP_058432) and domains of adducin- γ protein. The relative position of *ADD3* mutations to protein domains and exons are indicated (arrows). All mutations also affect the short isoform of *ADD3* (NP_001112). Below each mutation, the phylogenetic conservation of the altered amino acid residues is shown.

(C) Exon structure of human *KAT2B* cDNA and domains of KAT2B protein. PCAF-HD, p300/CBPassociated factor homology domain; AT, acetyl transferase domain; B, Bromo domain. The relative position of *KAT2B* mutation to protein domains and exons are indicated (arrow). The phylogenetic conservation of the altered amino acid residue is shown.



Fig 3. Effect of *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations on protein levels in fibroblasts and on viability and morphology in *Drosophila*

Fig 3. Effect of *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations on protein levels in fibroblasts and on viability and morphology in *Drosophila*

(A,B) Adducin- γ (A) and KAT2B (B) protein levels in control and patient fibroblasts. Lysates of patient II-3 and II-6 fibroblasts and age-matched control fibroblasts (Ctrl 1 and 2) were analyzed by western blotting. Results were normalized to the loading control α -tubulin. Each quantification is shown in the lower panel (n=3 independent experiments, student's t-test).

(C) Viability for hts^{null} hemizygous flies and respective rescues with adducin (Add) construct(s) using *tubulin*-GAL4 (*tub>*). After 48h of egg laying on standard cornmeal/yeast food, viability was calculated as the percentage of hatching adults of the indicated genotype and normalized to the control. The control corresponds to the viable F1 trans-heterozygous flies obtained from the cross between Df(2R)BSC26 (harbouring the *hts* gene) and a non-overlapping deficiency on the same chromosome (Df(2R)247). Quantification is for >100 F1 eclosing flies/genotype/experiment in 5 independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test.

(D) Viability for $Gcn5^{null}$ hemizygous flies and respective rescues with Gcn5 and KAT2A/B construct(s) using *daughterless*-GAL4 (*da*>). Viability was assessed as described in (B). Human *KAT2B* F307S and S502F mutations correspond to *Gcn5* F304S and S478F mutations, respectively. Gcn5 S502F variant predicted to be deleterious (PolyPhen-2 score of 0.98) was found on a healthy individual at the homozygous state in our in-house exome database. The control corresponds to the viable F1 transheterozygous flies obtained from the cross between Df(3L)sex204 (harbouring the *Gcn5* gene) and a non-overlapping lethal mutant on the same chromosome (*CG3103^{0MI0010}*). Quantification is for >100 F1 eclosing flies/genotype/experiment in 5 independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test.

(E) Phenotype of Gcn5 WT, Gcn5 F304S and Gcn5 S478F rescue animals. Pictures correspond to adult flies one day post-eclosion and are representative of the defects found in wings (separated wing blades), legs (femur kinking, arrow) and eye (small and mild rough eye). Scale bars: wings: 500 μm, legs: 500 μm, eye: 200μm.

(F) H3K9 acetylation levels of *Gcn5^{null}* and Gcn5 WT and F304S rescue animals. Extracted nuclear proteins from 3rd instar (=late) larvae were analysed by western blotting normalized to non-acetylated Histone 3 (H3). Quantification is shown in the lower panel (n=3 independent experiments; one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test).

For all panels: ns, non significant, *p<0.05 **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 (see S1 Table for details on transgenic flies).



Fig 4. Effect of *Gcn5/KAT2B* mutation on histone acetylation and survival of *Drosophila* nephrocytes

(A) Schematic drawing of the localization of garland nephrocytes (GCs) and pericardial nephrocytes (PNs). The garland cells are attached to the proventriculus (PV) whereas the pericardial nephrocytes are lining the heart tube (HT).

(B) Acetylated H3K9 in larval garland nephrocytes of *Gcn5^{null}* and Gcn5 WT and mutant rescue animals. *Dorothy (Dot)*-GAL4 (a nephrocyte specific promoter) is used in combination with *da*-GAL4

as the latter shows only minor expression in nephrocytes. Garland nephrocytes of the indicated genotypes were stained for acetylated H3K9 (red) and Hoechst (blue). At the time of dissection, larvae were in the third instar stage (the same for all other garland nephrocyte stainings). Scale bar: 5 μ m.

(C) Pericardial nephrocytes in adult *Gcn5* rescue mutant flies (7-15 days after eclosion) that express transgenic GFP (green) driven under the *Hand* promoter (*Hand*-GFP), specific for nephrocytes and cardiomyoblasts. Dissected pericardial nephrocytes were fixed with PFA and observed directly for GFP signal. Scale bar: 30 μm.

(D) Pericardial nephrocytes in adult *Gcn5* rescue mutants (7-15 days after eclosion). Dissected pericardial nephrocytes of the indicated genotypes were stained for the differentiation markers Kirre (red) and Pyd, corresponding to ZO-1 in vertebrates (blue). Scale bar: 30 μm.

(E) Quantification of the pericardial nephrocyte defects found in *Gcn5^{null}* rescue mutants (n>13/genotype; 3 independent experiments; Chi-square test). Nephrocytes with abnormal phenotypes included nephrocytes with abnormal distribution, abnormal shape, multinucleated or fragmented nuclei and reduced number of nephrocytes (<20). Phenotype severity was scored as normal (0), medium (1), intermediate (2) and severe (>2).

(F) *Dot-GAL4*-mediated *Gcn5* KD in pericardial nephrocytes from 15 days old flies on the *Hand*-GFP transgenic background with co-expression of KAT2B WT or KAT2B F307S. *TRPP2*^{*RNAi*} was used as a control RNAi, as *TRPP2* is a testis-specific gene [44]. Scale bars: 30 μm.

(G) Quantification of the number of nephrocytes as GFP positive cells surrounding the heart (n>20/genotype; 3 independent experiments, Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's post-test).

For all panels: ns, non significant, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 (see S1 Table for details on transgenic flies).



Fig 5. Effect of Gcn5 F304S mutation on Drosophila heart function

(A-C) M-mode kymographs of 1 day old beating hearts of control flies (yw/Df(3L); A) and Gcn5^{*null*} flies rescued with Gcn5 WT **(B)** or Gcn5 F304S **(C)**. Scale bar: 1 second.

(D-H) High-speed movies of beating hearts were analysed using semi-automated Optical Heartbeat Analysis [45]. For quantification, 8-19 flies were analyzed. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison for all parameters except arrhythmia index **(H)**, which was analysed using Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon.

For all panels: ns, non significant, *p<0.05 **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001 (see S1 Table for details on transgenic flies).



S1 Fig. mRNA levels and subcellular localization of ADD3 and KAT2B in control and patient fibroblasts

(A,B) ADD3 (A) and KAT2B (B) mRNA levels in patient fibroblasts were assessed by quantitative PCR. Experiments were repeated at least three times and gene expression levels were normalized to the house keeping gene *HPRT*. Statistical analysis was performed using student's t-test; ns, non-significant. (C,D) Immunostaining was performed for adducin- γ (green; C) and KAT2B (green; D) in control and patient fibroblasts. Nuclei were stained with Hoechst (blue). Note the loss of nuclear staining for KAT2B in patient fibroblasts. Scale bars: 10 µm.





S2 Fig. Morphology of hts^{null} flies and adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ WT or E659Q rescue mutants

(A) Representative pictures of hts^{null} and respective adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ WT and E659Q rescue mutants one day post-eclosion. hts^{null} flies have rough eye and motor coordination defects and are unable to fly. The ubiquitous co-expression of adducin- α and - γ using *tub*-GAL4 rescues these defects regardless of the presence of the E659Q mutation. Scale bars: upper panel: 1mm, wings: 500µm, eye: 200µm. (B) Negative geotaxis assay for one-day-old adult flies. Flies were transferred to a graduated tube, and after tapping, the length climbed in 8 sec was recorded [46]. Quantification was performed on 6

independent experiments with >38 flies/genotype using one-way ANOVA with Kruskal-Wallis posttest. ns, non significant (see S1 Table for details on transgenic flies).





The KD of *hts* and simultaneous re-expression of human HA-tagged adducin- α and V5-tagged adducin- γ was performed in garland nephrocytes with *prospero (pros)-GAL4* (see S1 Table for details on transgenic flies). Dissected garland nephrocytes of the indicated genotypes were stained for HA (green) and V5 (red). Nuclei were stained with Hoechst (blue). Scale bar: 10 µm.



S4 Fig. Expression and localization of Hts and Gcn5 in garland nephrocytes

(A-D) Dissected wild-type (WT) garland nephrocytes were stained for Hts (A) and Gcn5 (C). Kirre is in red (A). Nephrocyte-specific KD of *hts* (B) and *Gcn5* (D) in nephrocytes using *pros*-GAL4. Dissected garland nephrocytes of the indicated genotypes (see also S1 Table) were stained for Hts (green; B) and Gcn5 (green; D). Nuclei were stained with Hoechst (blue). Scale bars: 10 μm.



S5 Fig. Expression and subcellular localization of adducin-y and KAT2B in podocytes

(A) Cell lysates from undifferentiated podocytes were analysed by western blotting using antiadducin- γ . Anti- α -tubulin was used as a loading control. (B) Differentiated podocytes were stained for adducin- γ (green), HA (magenta) and DNA (blue). (C) Undifferentiated podocyte cell lysates were analysed by western blotting using the anti-KAT2B. Anti- α -tubulin was used as a loading control. (D) Differentiated podocytes were stained for KAT2B (green) and HA (red). Scale bars: 20 µm.





(A) Kirre and Pyd localization in *hts^{null}* and rescue mutant nephrocytes. Dissected garland nephrocytes of the indicated genotypes were stained for Kirre (red) and Pyd (blue). Scale bar: 10 μ m. (B) Quantification of nephrocytes showing a continuous Kirre staining using >9 samples/genotype from 3 independent experiments Statistical analysis was performed with Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's posttest. ns, non significant, *p<0.05, ***p<0.001 (see S1 Table for details on transgenic flies).



S7 Fig. Kirre localization in nephrocytes in single and double KD of hts and Gcn5

(A) Pros-GAL4-mediated KD of hts and/or Gcn5 in garland nephrocytes. Dissected garland nephrocytes of the indicated genotypes were stained for Kirre (red) and Pyd (blue). Scale bar: 10μm.
(B) Quantification of nephrocytes showing a continuous Kirre staining using >12 samples/genotype in 3 independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with Kruskal Wallis with Dunn's posttest.



S8 Fig. Number of pericardial nephrocytes in single and double KD of hts and Gcn5

(A-F) *Dot-GAL4*-mediated KD of *hts* or *Gcn5* in pericardial nephrocytes. Pericardial nephrocytes of adult flies with the Hand-GFP background were observed directly for GFP signal after fixation (A,D). Immunostaining was performed for the differentiation markers Kirre (red) and Pyd (blue; C,F). Images are representative of pericardial nephrocytes dissected from adult flies at 3 days post-eclosion (A,C) and at 15 days post-eclosion (D,F). Scale bars: 30µm. Graphs represent quantification of the number of pericardial nephrocytes at 3 days (B) and 15 days (E) using >15 samples/genotype from 3 independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with Kruskal Wallis with Dunn's post-test. For all panels: ns, non significant, ***p<0.001 (See S1 Table for details on transgenic flies).



S9 Fig. Number of pericardial nephrocytes in adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ rescue animals

(A) Pericardial nephrocytes in adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ WT and E559Q rescue and control adult flies at 15 days post-eclosion were stained for the differentiation markers Kirre (red) and Pyd (blue). Scale bar: 30µm. (B) Quantification of the number of pericardial nephrocytes from n>8 samples/genotype in 3 independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-test. ns, non significant (See S1 Table for details on transgenic flies).



S10 Fig. Effect of adducin-αγ E559Q on Drosophila heart function

(A-C) M-mode of beating 2-week-old control (*yw/Df(2R);* A), adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ WT (B) and adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ E559Q (C) rescue hearts. Scale bar: 1 second. (D-H) High-speed movies of beating adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ WT, adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ E559Q rescue and control hearts were analysed using semi-automated Optical Heartbeat Analysis [45]. For quantification, 8-19 flies were analyzed. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison, except for Arrhythmia index (H; n=8-19, Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon). For all panels: ns, non significant, ***p<0.001 (See S1 Table for details on transgenic flies).





(A-F) *Tin*-GAL4 driver was used to knockdown *hts* or/and *Gcn5* in cardiomyocytes, and different heart parameters were analyzed in 3 week-old adult flies. Two separate control RNAi lines (TRIP and KK) were used to match *Gcn5*^{*RNAi*} (TRIP) and *hts*^{*RNAi*} (KK), respectively. For quantification, 19-30 flies were analyzed. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison for all parameters except arrhythmia index, which was analysed using Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon. For all panels: ns, non significant, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.



S12 Fig. Effect of ADD3 and/or KAT2B knockdown on human cultured podocytes adhesion and migration

(A) Adhesion was assessed using the xCELLigence system (ACEA Biosciences). Cells were plated with complete medium in the E-plate 96. Data obtained were analyzed with the RTCA software. Results are presented as time vs. cell index curve (n=3 independent experiments; linear regression analysis).
(B) Migration was assessed using the Incucyte Scratch wound cell migration assay (Essen Bioscience). Cells were plated with complete medium 48 hours before scratch in ImageLock Plates-96 wells (Essen Bioscience) and images were recorded every 45 minutes after scratch until complete wound closure. Images were analyzed using the Incucyte Zoom software. Results are presented as percentage of wound cell density over time (n=3 independent experiments; linear regression analysis). For all panels: ns, non significant, *p<0.05 **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

S1 Table. Fly strains used in this study

Mutants	Origin	GAL4 drivers	Origin
hts ^{null}	Takashi Suzuki, University of Tokyo	tub-GAL4	BL#5138 BDSC
Df(2R)BSC26 (here referred to as Df(2R))	Jan Pielage, University of Kaiserslautern	da-GAL4	Clement Carré, Pierre et Marie Curie University
Gcn5 ^{E333st}	Clement Carré, Pierre et Marie Curie University	pros-GAL4	Barry Denholm, Center for Integrative Physiology, Edinburgh
Df (3L)Sex 204 (Df(3L))	Clement Carré, Pierre et Marie Curie University	Dot-GAL4	Zhe Han, Children's Research Institute, Washington
Df(2R)247	BL#7155 BDSC	Mhc-ANF-RFP, Hand-GFP; Dot- GAL4	Zhe Han, Children's Research Institute, Washington
CG31030 ^{MI00107}	BL#30620 BDSC	Tin-GAL4	Manfred Frasch, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York
UAS-RNAis	Origin		
UAS-Hts RNAis (Hts ^{RNAi})	KK#103631 VDRC		
UAS-Gcn5 RNAis (Gcn5 ^{RNAi})	BL#33981 BDSC		
UAS-TRPP2 RNAi (TRPP2 ^{RNAi})	#6941 VDRC		

Abbreviations: BDSC, Bloomington *Drosophila* Stock Center; VDRC, Vienna *Drosophila* Resource Center. *hts^{null}* hemizygous flies were generated by crossing the *hts^{null}* flies with *Df(2R)BSC26* flies that carry a deletion overlapping the *hts* locus. Similarly, Gcn5^{null} hemizygous flies were generated by crossing *Gcn5^{E333st}* with *Df(3L)Sex204* flies that carry a deletion of *Gcn5* and two contiguous genes. For rescue experiments, the binary GAL4:UAS system was used to drive the expression of the rescue constructs ubiquitously or in the tissue of interest, on the *hts^{null}* or *Gcn5^{null}* hemizygous or KD backgrounds.

Summary of the findings and discussion

In this project we identified potential pathogenic homozygous missense variants in two candidate genes, *ADD3* (c.1975G>C, p.E659Q) and *KAT2B* (c.920T>C, p.F307S), in the affected individuals from a consanguineous family. These individuals presented borderline microcephaly and developmental delay, cataracts, skeletal defects, SRNS and dilated cardiomyopathy. The segregation analysis in non-affected family members did not exclude any mutation. *ADD3* encodes adducin γ , an actin capping protein that also links the submembranar spectrin skeleton to F-actin (Matsuoka, Li et al. 2000). *KAT2B* encodes the lysine acetyl transferase 2B (KAT2B), involved in acetylation of lysine residues on histone H3 and regulation of transcriptional programs (Nagy and Tora 2007). We initially proposed three hypotheses regarding the causality of the mutations 1) only one of the mutations is pathogenic and responsible for the disease phenotype 2) both mutations are pathogenic but affect different organs, giving rise to the complex phenotype observed in the affected individuals.

About one year after we started our project, Kruer *et al.* described a consanguineous family, where another homozygous mutation in *ADD3* was found in affected individuals presenting a partially overlapping syndrome with the one found in our patients, with no SRNS or heart disease (Kruer, Jepperson et al. 2013). Using GeneMatcher (https://genematcher.org/) (Sobreira, Schiettecatte et al. 2015) we later found two additional families carrying biallelic mutations for *ADD3*, again exhibiting only neurological findings with facultative cataracts and very similar skeletal defects, but no evidence of SRNS or heart disease. These genetic data strongly support the causality of *ADD3* mutations for the neurological phenotype, skeletal defects and cataracts, but not for the cardiomyopathy or kidney disease, that we then hypothesized to be due to the *KAT2B* mutation.

In order to assess the pathogenicity of the mutations and define their individual contribution to the patient phenotype we performed functional assays *in vitro* and in the *Drosophila* model. In flies, we used already existent *null* alleles for the fly homologs of *ADD3* and *KAT2B*, and we then performed the rescue of the phenotype using the GAL4:UAS system. This system allowed us to ubiquitously express the respective human or fly genes in the null background. For each gene, comparison of the phenotype obtained using the cDNA WT or carrying the corresponding human mutations allowed us to define the pathogenicity of the mutations at the functional level. We have also performed the specific KD of the genes of interest in nephrocytes or myocardial cells, using cell specific drivers, namely *Pros*-GAL4 and *Dot*-GAL4 for nephrocytes and *Tin*-GAL4 for myocytes.

Patient fibroblasts from individuals carrying *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations showed reduced KAT2B protein levels despite equal mRNA levels, while ADD3 levels showed no significant difference. In *Drosophila*, rescue experiments using the WT or E659Q adducin γ showed that this mutation reduces fly viability and impairs adult fly motor function. However, no differences were seen in heart or nephrocyte function. On the other hand, rescue experiments for KAT2B showed that the corresponding human mutation strongly decreased fly viability and induced multiple morphological and functional defects, including heart and nephrocyte damage, as well as loss of H3K9 acetylation, a main KAT2B target. These results define the *ADD3* mutation as a hypomorphic variant with no impact on heart or kidney function and the *KAT2B* mutation as a stronger loss of function variant that could induce heart and kidney defects.

To address the possibility of additive or synergistic effect between *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations in the kidney or heart phenotypes, we simultaneously silenced both genes in *Drosophila* nephrocytes and heart. The simultaneous KD induced a more severe effect than the silencing of each gene alone. The same effect of ADD3 and KAT2B silencing was also observed for migration and adhesion in cultured podocytes.

Altogether, these results clearly prove that both *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations are deleterious and suggest that *KAT2B* pathogenic variants could be responsible for the heart and kidney phenotype in humans, either alone or on a susceptible genetic background, as conferred by the adducin mutation in this particular family.

In the next sections I will discuss the evidence for the causality of the mutations on the patient phenotype and the possible underlying mechanisms, as well as the pitfalls we encountered along the project.

ADD3 mutations

Including the patients identified by Kruer et al., a total of 4 unrelated families and 8 affected individuals harbor biallelic mutations in *ADD3*. All these individuals show central nervous system (CNS) disease, manifesting as mild to severe developmental delay and borderline or significantly reduced cephalic perimeter. In addition, some of the patients show epilepsy and corpus callosum defects at magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Non CNS manifestations include cataracts and mild skeletal defects, present in two non-related families with *ADD3* mutations. All the patients were specifically assessed for the presence of proteinuria and kidney function, as well as heart disease by

echocardiogram. However except for the individuals that also have a *KAT2B* mutation, no proteinuria or cardiac disease was found. These human genetic findings strongly point to the causality of *ADD3* mutations in the CNS disease, cataracts and skeletal defects.

Adducin y has a globular head region and a neck region, both responsible for the heterooligomerization with adducin α , and a tail region with a myristoylated alanine-rich C kinase substrate (MARCKS) related domain at its C-terminus that has homology with the MARCKS protein. The neck and tail region, particularly the MARCKS related domain, are necessary for the interaction with actin and spectrin and for the capping of F-actin barbed ends (Matsuoka, Li et al. 2000). All the ADD3 mutations were phylogenetically conserved missense mutations that distributed along the head and tail regions of the protein. The missense homozygous mutation previously identified by Kruer et al. (G367D) induced a severe neurological phenotype, was localized at the neck region and was shown to reduce colocalization with adducin α , suggesting impaired interaction (Kruer, Jepperson et al. 2013). Interestingly patients carrying the homozygous N332S mutation, located in the head region, in the vicinity of the neck region, also had a severe neurological phenotype. The homozygous mutation E659Q in the tail region on the other hand, does not alter colocalization with adducin α (our data) and the patient's neurological phenotype is milder. This suggests that disruption of oligomerization could be responsible for the severity of the neurological manifestations. The patients that carry the biallelic N332S/ N29S,V530I mutations also have a milder neurological phenotype. The N29S and V530I mutations, altering aminoacids respectively localized in the head and the tail region of the protein, are in the same allele and both are rare missense variants, however, according to Polyphen and SIFT scores, V530I is probably more deleterious than N29S (N29S Polyphen 0.653 – possibly damaging, SIFT 0.25 – tolerated; V530I Polyphen 0.990 – probably damaging SIFT 0 – Damaging). However, as we have two different variants in different regions of the protein, it is hard to draw conclusions about their respective functional effect and contribution to the phenotype.

ADD3 is a paralog of *ADD1*, encoding adducin α , and *ADD2*, encoding adducin β , in humans. These genes originated by duplication events in vertebrates. Adducin proteins in mammals form heterotetramers composed of either adducin α and γ , expressed ubiquitously, or adducin α and β , expressed in specific brain regions and erythrocytes (Matsuoka, Li et al. 2000). In mouse models, *Add1* constitutive KO leads to lethal hydrocephalus in 50% of the mice, growth retardation, hemolytic anemia and strain dependent scoliosis and megaesophagus (Robledo, Ciciotte et al. 2008, Sahr, Lambert et al. 2009), while *Add2* KO shows erythrocyte defects (spherocytosis) and motor coordination and learning deficits (Gilligan, Lozovatsky et al. 1999). *Add3* KO on the other hand has no overt phenotype (Sahr, Lambert et al. 2009).

Adducin β expression has been shown to increase in the absence of adducin γ , and vice-versa, as a compensation mechanism that allows maintenance of functional adducin heterotetramers (Sahr, Lambert et al. 2009). These findings highlight a possible redundancy between adducin β and γ . However, these compensation mechanisms may be tissue and cell dependent, and we do not know to what extent the adducin γ functions are completely rescued by adducin β and vice-versa.

In *Drosophila* the homolog of all human adducins is *hts* that has multiple isoforms generated by alternative splicing (Whittaker, Ding et al. 1999, Petrella, Smith-Leiker et al. 2007). *Hts* deficiency in flies induces severe synaptic and viability defects, with most flies dying during 2nd instar stage (Ohler, Hakeda-Suzuki et al. 2011). Hypomorphic alleles show female sterility due to disturbed fusome formation and absence of F-actin rich ring canals in oogenesis (Yue and Spradling 1992, Petrella, Smith-Leiker et al. 2007). We observed that *hts null* flies also exhibited rough eyes and had severe motor defects. The poor conservation of the region where the E659 amino acid is located did not allow us to use the *Drosophila* hts in rescue experiments, we thus used the human adducins. Interestingly, we showed that rescue of the *hts null* fly viability defects was only achieved by expressing both human adducin α and γ (hereby abbreviated adducin- $\alpha\gamma$). By immuno-fluorescence these proteins colocalized and expression of both isoforms increased the adducin γ levels, confirming what had been previously reported for mammals (Matsuoka, Li et al. 2000, Sahr, Lambert et al. 2009).

Rescue flies carrying the adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ with the E659Q mutation on the *hts null* background had a significant albeit small reduction in viability and showed motor defects that could be due to neuromotor impairment. However they were otherwise morphologically indistinguishable from the adducin- $\alpha\gamma$ WT rescue flies, had no rough eyes, and no defect was found on brain size. In nephrocytes, the absence of *hts* leads to nephrocyte defects already visible at the larval stage, namely on the subcellular localization of Kirre, but most evident at the adult stage, where specific KD in pericardial nephrocytes caused loss of differentiated nephrocytes in adult flies. However, rescue experiments using adducin- $\alpha\gamma$, failed to show any difference between the WT forms and the E659Q mutation in larval garland nephrocytes or in pericardial nephrocytes in adult flies. These results show that although ADD3 E659Q mutation is pathogenic it clearly does not induce a complete loss of function, corresponding rather to a hypomorph allele.

Why would some tissues such as the eye and the nephrocytes show a phenotype with *hts* loss of function but then a complete rescue with this mutation is less clear. Several explanations could be proposed for this: 1) the mutation is hypomorphic and not severe enough to induce visible defects in nephrocytes or in the eye for instance 2) the nephrocytes could be less sensitive than neurons to

202

adducin γ loss of function due to the existence of other partially overlapping pathways that could compensate for this loss. Moreover, it should be noted that the *hts* deficiency in flies corresponds to the loss of all the three adducin paralogs in humans, and that this could indeed induce a podocyte defect, but that this would not be the case if you only loose adducin- γ .

To answer to these questions it would be interesting to see if missense mutations found in patients with more severe neurological manifestations, such as the p.N332S mutation, could induce a phenotype in nephrocytes (transgenic flies have been ordered to help address this point). Nevertheless, in all the patients mutated for *ADD3* alone, glomerular disease is not observed even in affected individuals with the most severe neurological phenotypes.

KAT2B mutations

The identification of a homozygous missense *KAT2B* mutation in addition to the ADD3 homozygous mutation in a family that has additional heart disease and SRNS suggested that this mutation could be responsible for these additional defects.

KAT2B, alternatively called P300/CBP associated factor (PCAF), forms homodimers in order to exert its functions (Shi, Lin et al. 2014). It has a PCAF homology domain that interacts with several binding partners, such as CBP/p300, an acetyl transferase domain, responsible for its enzymatic functions, and a bromodomain, that mediates interaction with histone tails (Nagy and Tora 2007). The mutation is localized in the PCAF homology domain, and could thus disrupt the binding to other partners. Similar to ADD3, KAT2B also has a paralog in vertebrates, KAT2A, encoding the lysine acetyl transferase 2A (KAT2A). The ubiquitous KO of Kat2b in mice induces short term memory defects (Maurice, Duclot et al. 2008) in young mice but no other overt phenotype. However, when these mice are challenged, for example in response to central nervous system injury or limb ischemia, an important role is seen for KAT2B in the response to injury and the regeneration process (Bastiaansen, Ewing et al. 2013, Puttagunta, Tedeschi et al. 2014). Kat2a KO mice, on the other hand, fail to form dorsal mesoderm and embryos die at 10.5 dpc (Xu, Edmondson et al. 2000), arguing for a crucial role of Kat2a in development. Double Kat2a and Kat2b KO mice die earlier, suggesting partially overlapping functions but not complete redundancy (Xu, Edmondson et al. 2000). KAT2B expression is enriched in the organs affected in patients, including kidney, heart and also muscle (Xu, Edmondson et al. 1998).

Interestingly mutations in the partner proteins of KAT2B, CBP and P300, lead to Rubinstein Taby syndrome, an autosomal dominant disease that is characterized by skeletal defects, neural development defects and cardiac and urogenital malformations (Petrij, Giles et al. 1995). No mutations in humans have been reported for its paralog gene *KAT2A*.

The homolog gene of *KAT2A* and *KAT2B* in flies is *Gcn5*. Loss of *Gcn5* in flies leads to a viability defect, most larvae dying during metamorphosis (Carre, Szymczak et al. 2005). The absence of rescue with the human WT forms of KAT2B and/or KAT2A, prevented us from using the human transgenes, so rescue experiments were performed using the fly gcn5, where the mutated amino acid was conserved (F307S corresponding in flies to F304S). Flies rescued with the WT Gcn5 had a complete rescue of the fly viability and showed no obvious defects, while those recued with the Gcn5 F304S mutation had altered overall fly morphology, were unable to fly and showed clear heart function and nephrocyte defects. Moreover acetylation of H3K9, one of the main Gcn5 substrates, was also clearly reduced, suggesting an impact on the overall protein function and classifying this mutation as a severe loss of function mutation.

These results clearly show a pathogenic role for the *Gcn5* F304S mutation in flies. However due to the existence of the *KAT2A* gene in mammals, and a possible degree of redundancy between both *KAT2A* and *KAT2B*, it is hard to know from the fly phenotype what would be the loss of function phenotype of *KAT2B* in humans. This would depend on the number of redundant functions with KAT2A, on the tissue expression level of both genes and on the tissue specific needs in response to noxious stimuli.

We have further shown that a human *KAT2B* homozygous missense variant found in a healthy individual from our in-house database (S502F) and predicted to be pathogenic by some but not all algorithms [Polyphen probably damaging (score=0.98), SIFT Damaging (score=0), SDM: increased protein stability) did not induce any phenotype in flies and completely rescued their viability defects (S502 corresponding in flies to S478). These results show that *in silico* predictions are not always correct and underline the importance of testing the pathogenicity of the mutations *in vivo*. If the mutation found in the healthy individual had a deleterious phenotype in *Drosophila Gcn5*, we would have concluded that KAT2B was redundant in humans. However as this was not the case, these results confirm the pathogenicity of the F307S mutation but do not allow us to conclude whether KAT2B is redundant or not in humans. Several *in vitro* studies in mammalian cells as well as in mouse models attribute singular and non-redundant functions to KAT2B. I.e. in mammalian cells specific KAT2B silencing has been shown to block miogenic differentiation (Puri, Sartorelli et al. 1997), modulate p53 activity (Linares, Kiernan et al. 2007, Love, Sekaric et al. 2012) and stress responsive

cell cycle-arrest (Love, Sekaric et al. 2012) and to have a role in telomere maintenance (Jeitany, Bakhos-Douaihy et al. 2017). Moreover, in *Kat2b* -/- mouse models most studies reveal that KAT2B plays a role in the regenerative process after injury (Bastiaansen, Ewing et al. 2013, Puttagunta, Tedeschi et al. 2014). This is concordant with what has been shown for other proteins that modulate epigenetic mechanisms in terminally differentiated cells such as the podocyte (see chapter "Epigenetic regulation in podocytes"). Moreover, in the patients carrying *KAT2B* mutations it is interesting to note that there is a relatively late onset of the kidney and heart diseases. In this regard, it would be interesting to see if *Kat2b* KO mice challenged with a specific noxious stimulus or during ageing develop SRNS or heart disease.

Synergic/additive effect between *ADD3* and *KAT2B* loss of function mutations?

To investigate if there is a synergic/additive effect between *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations that would be responsible for a phenotype in heart and kidney, we silenced both *ADD3* and *KAT2B* homolog genes in flies and in a human podocyte cell line. Although the silencing of each gene alone showed defects in nephrocyte maintenance as well as in migration and adhesion in cultured podocytes, we found that the silencing of both genes was significantly more deleterious than each gene alone. For heart function, only the silencing of *Gcn5* but not *hts* leads to a phenotype. However, the simultaneous KD of both genes had a more deleterious effect than *Gcn5* alone. This argues in favor of an additive effect between both mutations in nephrocytes/podocytes and a synergistic effect in heart. Unfortunately, we could not directly assess the possibility of synergy between both *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations, as this would need a double *hts* and *Gcn5 null* background to re-express the Gcn5 and the adducin α , γ WT or mutated forms. This would be technically very difficult to obtain using our GAL4:UAS strategy.

We can nevertheless conclude that the *ADD3* mutant background may favor the appearance of the *KAT2B* mutation phenotype in humans. However, these data do not allow us to exclude that the *KAT2B* mutation alone could be enough to produce the disease phenotype in humans, as it is the case in the *Drosophila* model.

Interestingly Shaw *et al.* found that *KAT2B* rare variants of undefined pathogenicity are enriched in patients with sporadic FSGS. In a mouse model with genetic susceptibility for FSGS (see "Genetic susceptibility factors and oligogenism" chapter), the silencing of KAT2B in podocytes led to a trend towards increased proteinuria, although this did not reach significant values (Yu, Artomov et al.

2016). Moreover, when kidney sections from these mice were analyzed by electron microscopy, dispersed areas of podocyte foot process effacement were found (Yu, Artomov et al. 2016). This could mean that indeed deleterious mutations in *KAT2B* may manifest in a genetic susceptibility background such as the ADD3 mutated background. It would thus be interesting to see the effect of the double KO of *Add3* and *Kat2b* in mice.

KAT2B mutations on the other hand do not seem to aggravate the neurologic manifestations, cataracts or skeletal defects of *ADD3* mutations, as these were of identical severity in patients carrying heterozygous compound biallelic *ADD3* mutations and no *KAT2B* mutations *vs* patients with both *ADD3* and *KAT2B* mutations.

Possible pathogenic mechanism mediated by ADD3 loss of function

Most of the research on adducin function has been performed in neurons. In axons adducins have been shown to stabilize actin ring structures that distribute periodically and maintain the axon diameter (Xu, Zhong et al. 2013, Leite, Sampaio et al. 2016). It also stabilizes synapses and the neuromuscular junctions (Pielage, Bulat et al. 2011). Interestingly, in neurons adducin is able to interact with transmembrane proteins and link them to the underlying actin cytoskeleton (Ohler, Hakeda-Suzuki et al. 2011, Wang, Yang et al. 2011).

Due to the crucial functions of the cytoskeleton in podocyte biology, theoretically these cells could be affected by mutations on adducin γ or this could create a susceptible background for further injury by KAT2B loss of function. In fact, it is feasible that adducin may also serve as an adaptor protein between the components of the slit diaphragm and the underlying actin cytoskeleton. Indeed, adducin has also been shown to interact with erythrocyte sub-membranar proteins (Franco, Chu et al. 2016), particularly stomatin (Innes, Sinard et al. 1999), a protein from the same family as podocin. It is also known to functionally interact with anillin (Wang, Chadha et al. 2015), recently found to be mutated in SRNS (Gbadegesin, Hall et al. 2014). It would thus be interesting to test interactions of podocyte specific proteins with adducin γ . This could be done by performing coimmunoprecipitation of adducin γ followed by mass spectrometry, ideally in isolated mouse glomeruli or podocytes.

Possible pathogenic mechanisms mediated by KAT2B loss of function in podocytes

KAT2B is able to modulate transcriptional programs through the acetylation of histones and transcription factors (Nagy and Tora 2007). Moreover it has been shown to have intrinsic ubiquitination activity (Linares, Kiernan et al. 2007), modulate PTEN activity through acetylation (Okumura, Mendoza et al. 2006) and being implicated in cellular responses to stress through the modulation of p53 and p21 (Liu, Scolnick et al. 1999, Chao, Wu et al. 2006, Love, Sekaric et al. 2012). Moreover, KAT2B has been shown to drive myogenic differentiation through the interaction and acetylation of MyoD (a bHLH transcription factor), one of the main transcription factors that drives muscle differentiation (Sartorelli, Puri et al. 1999, Dilworth, Seaver et al. 2004, Kuninger, Wright et al. 2006). Interesting TCF21, also called Pod1, another bHLH transcription factor, has been shown to be crucial for podocyte differentiation in mice, and Tcf21 KO in podocytes leads to proteinuria and FSGS (Maezawa, Onay et al. 2014). We could thus imagine that KAT2B drives alterations in the transcriptional profile of podocytes that could lead to altered expression of podocyte specific proteins and dedifferentiation. In this regard, it would be interesting to see if KAT2B interacts with or acetylates TCF21 or the podocyte main transcription factor WT1. We actually addressed this question by performing co-immunoprecipitation experiments between tagged KAT2B and TCF21 overexpressed proteins. Our preliminary data indicated a possible interaction, although not modified by the presence of the mutation.

It is interesting to note that Gcn5 silencing led to the loss of differentiated pericardial nephrocytes, as seen by the reduction of nephrocytes showing Kirre or Pyd expression in 15 day-old flies. Moreover, these cells also lose the GFP expression driven by Hand, another bHLH transcription factor, important for pericardial nephrocytes and heart development (Han and Olson 2005, Han, Yi et al. 2006). However, this could be a general nephrocyte phenotype in response to injury as occurs in the *hts* KD, as well as in the KD of the CD2AP homolog *Cindr*, or in the *Klf15* transcription factor *null* allele (our finding and others (Ivy, Drechsler et al. 2015, Na, Sweetwyne et al. 2015)).

Besides the known epigenetic mechanisms, KAT2B loss of function could also lead to altered acetylation of several other proteins besides histones or transcription factors. In fact, recently, a proteomic approach in *KAT2A/KAT2B* KD cells revealed that a high number of proteins participating in cytoskeleton regulation and known to be crucial for podocyte function are indeed acetylated by the KAT2A/B proteins (Fournier, Orpinell et al. 2016). Examples include α -actinin-4 and TTC21B known to be mutated in FSGS (Fournier, Orpinell et al. 2016). In this regard, ADD3 and KAT2B could finally belong to a common pathway, converging on the cytoskeleton of podocytes.

207

Conclusion of ADD3 and KAT2B project

Using the *Drosophila* model we clearly showed the pathogenicity of the mutations found in *ADD3* and *KAT2B*. Even if in humans the disease manifested quite late in childhood, the fact that in flies we had very clear and easily quantifiable read-outs, such as the fly viability, readily observable exterior phenotypic defects (rough eyes, defects in wings, locomotor defects), as well as the number of nephrocytes in adult flies, made it relatively easy to assess the impact of the mutations. However, one limitation of this project was the fact that both adducin and KAT2B have several paralogs and just one homolog in flies, which did not allow us to clearly define what would be the affected organs in humans. Nevertheless, the combination of the neurological and skeletal manifestations, as well as cataracts, and that *KAT2B* mutations induce defects in heart and podocytes, either alone or in a susceptible genetic background that in the case of our family would be due to *ADD3* mutations.

Conclusion

Conclusion

An important lesson of this work is that the *Drosophila* is an excellent model for addressing the pathogenicity of mutations in new candidate genes. In fact, if the loss of function of the fly homolog gene induces a phenotype, such as decreased viability, external morphological defects or locomotor defects, this makes it very easy and fast to assess the impact of the mutations by comparing the WT rescue phenotype with that of the mutant. In fact, in both projects of this thesis we have been able to clearly define the pathogenicity of the mutations found in *SGPL1*, *ADD3* and *KAT2B* using this strategy. Interestingly, the fly model was even able to discriminate between more severe and less severe *SGPL1* mutations, and this corresponded to the phenotype observed in patients. Underlining the accuracy of the fruit fly for defining the pathogenicity of mutations found in *SGPL1*) behaved similarly to the WT in the multiple read-outs we have used in the fruit-fly. Moreover, the *KAT2B* homozygous variant found in a healthy individual also gave no phenotype in flies. We can thus imagine a potential application of this tool for the cases where the pathogenicity of the mutations poses a challenge, in new or even well-known SRNS genes.

Assessment of the impact of the mutations in nephrocyte structure and function, although more cumbersome than a viability assay due to the time-consuming process of organ dissection, imaging and quantification, is also feasible. Several read-outs that we and others have used, such as albumin filtration/endocytosis and immunofluorescence for proteins of the slit-diaphragm, have been studied by two different groups and have provided quite reliable results. Assessment of nephrocyte foot process effacement by TEM, on the other hand, can give a qualitative idea of the phenotype, but the time and cost of quantification of foot process effacement is probably too high to be done in the routine testing of candidate gene mutations. As we found that the silencing of *ADD3* and *KAT2B* homologs in flies led to a decrease in the number of differentiated nephrocytes in ageing adult flies, it would be interesting to see if this is a common nephrocyte response to injury, in which case it could also constitute an easily quantifiable read-out, especially if studying late onset SRNS.

Another main conclusion of our work is based on the issue of the degree of genomic redundancy in humans *vs* flies. In fact, while the lower genomic redundancy of flies has the advantage of simplifying loss of function studies and of providing easy read-outs, such as the viability and widespread defects in multiple organs, the disadvantage is that when a single gene in flies has multiple homolog genes in humans, it may be difficult to extrapolate from the fly phenotype the consequence of the loss of function of only one of the paralog genes in humans, as they may have acquired particular tissue

specificity or divided their ancestral functions between them. This was in fact the main issue with the ADD3/KAT2B project. In this case complementation of the *Drosophila* experiments with other vertebrate models would be of great value.

In this thesis we have focused on assessing the causality of mutations found in new SRNS candidate genes, however the *Drosophila* model is without any doubt an excellent tool for further exploring the underlying mechanisms of the disease as well as possible modifier pathways. Moreover, large scale drug assays are also feasible in fruit flies, although possible limitations related to the route of administration, bioavailability, as well as unknown kinetics in flies must be considered.

While podocyte-related research has long been focused in the cytoskeleton and slit diaphragm of these cells, genetic studies in recent years have brought to light the importance of other organelles and cellular pathways. In this thesis we highlight two novel mechanisms that may open new avenues for better understanding podocytopathies. Firstly the specific importance of the sphingolipids for the podocyte, where we can hypothesize an effect on lipid rafts, the effect of bioactive sphingolipid signaling or even cellular crosstalk mechanisms. Secondly our work on KAT2B highlights the impact of epigenetics on podocyte biology, as well as the general role of protein acetylation in the podocytopathies.

Finally, the second project of this thesis exemplifies the complexity of medical genetics in the era of NGS, with the existence of very rare mutations in one or few families greatly hindering the establishment of a correct genetic diagnosis. Even if competition between research groups is a reality, this issue certainly highlights the importance of sharing rare and private variants with other scientific groups and in online databases such as Genematcher. In our case, this was crucial to define the contribution of *ADD3* mutations to the patient phenotype.

I hope that in the future the *Drosophila* model will progressively take a relevant role in medical genetics and in the kidney field as this little animal has much to offer in defining the pathogenicity of mutations, the mechanism of the disease and even potential therapeutic strategies.

Bibliography
Bibliography

Advani, A., Q. Huang, K. Thai, S. L. Advani, K. E. White, D. J. Kelly, D. A. Yuen, K. A. Connelly, P. A. Marsden and R. E. Gilbert (2011). "Long-term administration of the histone deacetylase inhibitor vorinostat attenuates renal injury in experimental diabetes through an endothelial nitric oxide synthase-dependent mechanism." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **178**(5): 2205-2214.

Aggarwal, S. K. and R. C. King (1967). "The ultrastructure of the wreath cells of Drosophila melanogaster larvae." <u>Protoplasma</u> **63**(4): 343-352.

Aguilar, A. and J. D. Saba (2012). "Truth and consequences of sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase." <u>Adv</u> <u>Biol Regul</u> **52**(1): 17-30.

Akilesh, S., H. Suleiman, H. Yu, M. C. Stander, P. Lavin, R. Gbadegesin, C. Antignac, M. Pollak, J. B. Kopp, M. P. Winn and A. S. Shaw (2011). "Arhgap24 inactivates Rac1 in mouse podocytes, and a mutant form is associated with familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." J Clin Invest **121**(10): 4127-4137.

Allende, M. L., M. Bektas, B. G. Lee, E. Bonifacino, J. Kang, G. Tuymetova, W. Chen, J. D. Saba and R. L. Proia (2011). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase deficiency produces a pro-inflammatory response while impairing neutrophil trafficking." J Biol Chem **286**(9): 7348-7358.

Allende, M. L., T. Sasaki, H. Kawai, A. Olivera, Y. Mi, G. van Echten-Deckert, R. Hajdu, M. Rosenbach, C. A. Keohane, S. Mandala, S. Spiegel and R. L. Proia (2004). "Mice deficient in sphingosine kinase 1 are rendered lymphopenic by FTY720." J Biol Chem **279**(50): 52487-52492.

Alroy, J., S. Sabnis and J. B. Kopp (2002). "Renal pathology in Fabry disease." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **13 Suppl 2**: S134-138.

Amiel, J., S. Audollent, D. Joly, P. Dureau, R. Salomon, A. L. Tellier, J. Auge, F. Bouissou, C. Antignac, M. C. Gubler, M. R. Eccles, A. Munnich, M. Vekemans, S. Lyonnet and T. Attie-Bitach (2000). "PAX2 mutations in renal-coloboma syndrome: mutational hotspot and germline mosaicism." <u>Eur J Hum</u> <u>Genet</u> **8**(11): 820-826.

Antignac, C. (2002). "Genetic models: clues for understanding the pathogenesis of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome." J Clin Invest **109**(4): 447-449.

Aoudjit, L., R. Jiang, T. H. Lee, L. A. New, N. Jones and T. Takano (2011). "Podocyte Protein, Nephrin, Is a Substrate of Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase 1B." J Signal Transduct **2011**: 376543.

Appel, D., D. B. Kershaw, B. Smeets, G. Yuan, A. Fuss, B. Frye, M. Elger, W. Kriz, J. Floege and M. J. Moeller (2009). "Recruitment of podocytes from glomerular parietal epithelial cells." <u>J Am Soc</u> <u>Nephrol</u> **20**(2): 333-343.

Appel, G. B. D. A., V. (2010). Comprehensive clinical nephrology. <u>Comprehensive clinical nephrology</u>. J. r. Flöge, R. J. Johnson and J. Feehally. St. Louis, Mo., Saunders Elsevier: 229-240.

Araya, C., L. Diaz, C. Wasserfall, M. Atkinson, W. Mu, R. Johnson and E. Garin (2009). "T regulatory cell function in idiopathic minimal lesion nephrotic syndrome." <u>Pediatr Nephrol</u> **24**(9): 1691-1698.

Argraves, K. M. and W. S. Argraves (2007). "HDL serves as a S1P signaling platform mediating a multitude of cardiovascular effects." J Lipid Res **48**(11): 2325-2333.

Armour, C. M., A. Smith, T. Hartley, J. W. Chardon, S. Sawyer, J. Schwartzentruber, R. Hennekam, J. Majewski, D. E. Bulman, F. C. Consortium, M. Suri and K. M. Boycott (2016). "Syndrome disintegration: Exome sequencing reveals that Fitzsimmons syndrome is a co-occurrence of multiple events." <u>Am J Med Genet A</u> **170**(7): 1820-1825.

Arnold, T. R., R. E. Stephenson and A. L. Miller (2017). "Rho GTPases and actomyosin: Partners in regulating epithelial cell-cell junction structure and function." <u>Exp Cell Res</u>.

Arnon, T. I., R. M. Horton, I. L. Grigorova and J. G. Cyster (2013). "Visualization of splenic marginal zone B-cell shuttling and follicular B-cell egress." <u>Nature</u> **493**(7434): 684-688.

Arnon, T. I., Y. Xu, C. Lo, T. Pham, J. An, S. Coughlin, G. W. Dorn and J. G. Cyster (2011). "GRK2-dependent S1PR1 desensitization is required for lymphocytes to overcome their attraction to blood." <u>Science</u> **333**(6051): 1898-1903.

Asanuma, K., E. Yanagida-Asanuma, C. Faul, Y. Tomino, K. Kim and P. Mundel (2006). "Synaptopodin orchestrates actin organization and cell motility via regulation of RhoA signalling." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **8**(5): 485-491.

Ashraf, S., H. Y. Gee, S. Woerner, L. X. Xie, V. Vega-Warner, S. Lovric, H. Fang, X. Song, D. C. Cattran, C. Avila-Casado, A. D. Paterson, P. Nitschke, C. Bole-Feysot, P. Cochat, J. Esteve-Rudd, B. Haberberger, S. J. Allen, W. Zhou, R. Airik, E. A. Otto, M. Barua, M. H. Al-Hamed, J. A. Kari, J. Evans, A. Bierzynska, M. A. Saleem, D. Bockenhauer, R. Kleta, S. El Desoky, D. O. Hacihamdioglu, F. Gok, J. Washburn, R. C. Wiggins, M. Choi, R. P. Lifton, S. Levy, Z. Han, L. Salviati, H. Prokisch, D. S. Williams, M. Pollak, C. F. Clarke, Y. Pei, C. Antignac and F. Hildebrandt (2013). "ADCK4 mutations promote steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome through CoQ10 biosynthesis disruption." J Clin Invest **123**(12): 5179-5189.

Askari, H., C. R. Kaneski, C. Semino-Mora, P. Desai, A. Ang, D. E. Kleiner, L. T. Perlee, M. Quezado, L. E. Spollen, B. A. Wustman and R. Schiffmann (2007). "Cellular and tissue localization of globotriaosylceramide in Fabry disease." <u>Virchows Arch</u> **451**(4): 823-834.

Atkinson, D., J. Nikodinovic Glumac, B. Asselbergh, B. Ermanoska, D. Blocquel, R. Steiner, A. Estrada-Cuzcano, K. Peeters, T. Ooms, E. De Vriendt, X. L. Yang, T. Hornemann, V. Milic Rasic and A. Jordanova (2017). "Sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase deficiency causes Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy." Neurology **88**(6): 533-542.

Auguste, D., M. Maier, C. Baldwin, L. Aoudjit, R. Robins, I. R. Gupta and T. Takano (2016). "Diseasecausing mutations of RhoGDIalpha induce Rac1 hyperactivation in podocytes." <u>Small GTPases</u> **7**(2): 107-121.

Awad, A. S., M. D. Rouse, K. Khutsishvili, L. Huang, W. K. Bolton, K. R. Lynch and M. D. Okusa (2011). "Chronic sphingosine 1-phosphate 1 receptor activation attenuates early-stage diabetic nephropathy independent of lymphocytes." <u>Kidney Int</u> **79**(10): 1090-1098.

Bai, J. and R. E. Pagano (1997). "Measurement of spontaneous transfer and transbilayer movement of BODIPY-labeled lipids in lipid vesicles." <u>Biochemistry</u> **36**(29): 8840-8848.

Bajwa, A., L. Huang, E. Kurmaeva, H. Ye, K. R. Dondeti, P. Chroscicki, L. S. Foley, Z. A. Balogun, K. J. Alexander, H. Park, K. R. Lynch, D. L. Rosin and M. D. Okusa (2017). "Sphingosine Kinase 2 Deficiency Attenuates Kidney Fibrosis via IFN-gamma." J Am Soc Nephrol **28**(4): 1145-1161.

Baradaran-Heravi, A., A. Raams, J. Lubieniecka, K. S. Cho, K. A. DeHaai, M. Basiratnia, P. O. Mari, Y. Xue, M. Rauth, A. H. Olney, M. Shago, K. Choi, R. A. Weksberg, M. J. Nowaczyk, W. Wang, N. G. Jaspers and C. F. Boerkoel (2012). "SMARCAL1 deficiency predisposes to non-Hodgkin lymphoma and hypersensitivity to genotoxic agents in vivo." <u>Am J Med Genet A</u> **158A**(9): 2204-2213.

Barbaux, S., P. Niaudet, M. C. Gubler, J. P. Grunfeld, F. Jaubert, F. Kuttenn, C. N. Fekete, N. Souleyreau-Therville, E. Thibaud, M. Fellous and K. McElreavey (1997). "Donor splice-site mutations in WT1 are responsible for Frasier syndrome." <u>Nat Genet</u> **17**(4): 467-470.

Bartolini, F., L. Andres-Delgado, X. Qu, S. Nik, N. Ramalingam, L. Kremer, M. A. Alonso and G. G. Gundersen (2016). "An mDia1-INF2 formin activation cascade facilitated by IQGAP1 regulates stable microtubules in migrating cells." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **27**(11): 1797-1808.

Barua, M., E. Stellacci, L. Stella, A. Weins, G. Genovese, V. Muto, V. Caputo, H. R. Toka, V. T. Charoonratana, M. Tartaglia and M. R. Pollak (2014). "Mutations in PAX2 associate with adult-onset FSGS." J Am Soc Nephrol **25**(9): 1942-1953.

Bastiaansen, A. J., M. M. Ewing, H. C. de Boer, T. C. van der Pouw Kraan, M. R. de Vries, E. A. Peters, S. M. Welten, R. Arens, S. M. Moore, J. E. Faber, J. W. Jukema, J. F. Hamming, A. Y. Nossent and P. H. Quax (2013). "Lysine acetyltransferase PCAF is a key regulator of arteriogenesis." <u>Arterioscler Thromb</u> <u>Vasc Biol</u> **33**(8): 1902-1910.

Basu, S., S. Bayoumy, Y. Zhang, J. Lozano and R. Kolesnick (1998). "BAD enables ceramide to signal apoptosis via Ras and Raf-1." J Biol Chem **273**(46): 30419-30426.

Baylin, S. B. and J. E. Ohm (2006). "Epigenetic gene silencing in cancer - a mechanism for early oncogenic pathway addiction?" <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **6**(2): 107-116.

Bechtel, W., M. Helmstadter, J. Balica, B. Hartleben, B. Kiefer, F. Hrnjic, C. Schell, O. Kretz, S. Liu, F. Geist, D. Kerjaschki, G. Walz and T. B. Huber (2013). "Vps34 deficiency reveals the importance of endocytosis for podocyte homeostasis." J Am Soc Nephrol **24**(5): 727-743.

Becker, J. U., A. Hoerning, K. W. Schmid and P. F. Hoyer (2007). "Immigrating progenitor cells contribute to human podocyte turnover." <u>Kidney Int</u> **72**(12): 1468-1473.

Bektas, M., M. L. Allende, B. G. Lee, W. Chen, M. J. Amar, A. T. Remaley, J. D. Saba and R. L. Proia (2010). "Sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase deficiency disrupts lipid homeostasis in liver." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **285**(14): 10880-10889.

Bellen, H. J. and S. Yamamoto (2015). "Morgan's legacy: fruit flies and the functional annotation of conserved genes." <u>Cell</u> **163**(1): 12-14.

Berger, K., K. Schulte, P. Boor, C. Kuppe, T. H. van Kuppevelt, J. Floege, B. Smeets and M. J. Moeller (2014). "The regenerative potential of parietal epithelial cells in adult mice." J Am Soc Nephrol **25**(4): 693-705.

Berkovic, S. F., L. M. Dibbens, A. Oshlack, J. D. Silver, M. Katerelos, D. F. Vears, R. Lullmann-Rauch, J. Blanz, K. W. Zhang, J. Stankovich, R. M. Kalnins, J. P. Dowling, E. Andermann, F. Andermann, E. Faldini, R. D'Hooge, L. Vadlamudi, R. A. Macdonell, B. L. Hodgson, M. A. Bayly, J. Savige, J. C. Mulley, G. K. Smyth, D. A. Power, P. Saftig and M. Bahlo (2008). "Array-based gene discovery with three unrelated subjects shows SCARB2/LIMP-2 deficiency causes myoclonus epilepsy and glomerulosclerosis." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **82**(3): 673-684.

Bertani, T., A. Poggi, R. Pozzoni, F. Delaini, G. Sacchi, Y. Thoua, G. Mecca, G. Remuzzi and M. B. Donati (1982). "Adriamycin-induced nephrotic syndrome in rats: sequence of pathologic events." <u>Lab Invest</u> **46**(1): 16-23.

Betous, R., G. G. Glick, R. Zhao and D. Cortez (2013). "Identification and characterization of SMARCAL1 protein complexes." <u>PLoS One</u> **8**(5): e63149.

Beumer, K. J. and D. Carroll (2014). "Targeted genome engineering techniques in Drosophila." <u>Methods</u> **68**(1): 29-37.

Bier, E. (2005). "Drosophila, the golden bug, emerges as a tool for human genetics." <u>Nat Rev Genet</u> **6**(1): 9-23.

Bierzynska, A., K. Soderquest, P. Dean, E. Colby, R. Rollason, C. Jones, C. D. Inward, H. J. McCarthy, M. A. Simpson, G. M. Lord, M. Williams, G. I. Welsh, A. B. Koziell, M. A. Saleem, NephroS and U. K. s. o. N. Syndrome (2017). "MAGI2 Mutations Cause Congenital Nephrotic Syndrome." J Am Soc Nephrol **28**(5): 1614-1621.

Blaho, V. A. and T. Hla (2014). "An update on the biology of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors." J Lipid Res **55**(8): 1596-1608.

Blattner, S. M., J. B. Hodgin, M. Nishio, S. A. Wylie, J. Saha, A. A. Soofi, C. Vining, A. Randolph, N. Herbach, R. Wanke, K. B. Atkins, H. Gyung Kang, A. Henger, C. Brakebusch, L. B. Holzman and M. Kretzler (2013). "Divergent functions of the Rho GTPases Rac1 and Cdc42 in podocyte injury." <u>Kidney</u> Int **84**(5): 920-930.

Boerkoel, C. F., H. Takashima, J. John, J. Yan, P. Stankiewicz, L. Rosenbarker, J. L. Andre, R. Bogdanovic, A. Burguet, S. Cockfield, I. Cordeiro, S. Frund, F. Illies, M. Joseph, I. Kaitila, G. Lama, C. Loirat, D. R. McLeod, D. V. Milford, E. M. Petty, F. Rodrigo, J. M. Saraiva, B. Schmidt, G. C. Smith, J. Spranger, A. Stein, H. Thiele, J. Tizard, R. Weksberg, J. R. Lupski and D. W. Stockton (2002). "Mutant chromatin remodeling protein SMARCAL1 causes Schimke immuno-osseous dysplasia." <u>Nat Genet</u> **30**(2): 215-220.

Bonasio, R., S. Tu and D. Reinberg (2010). "Molecular signals of epigenetic states." <u>Science</u> **330**(6004): 612-616.

Bonasio, R., S. Tu and D. Reinberg (2010). "Molecular signals of epigenetic states." <u>Science</u> **330**(6004): 612-616.

Bouchireb, K., O. Boyer, O. Gribouval, F. Nevo, E. Huynh-Cong, V. Moriniere, R. Campait, E. Ars, D. Brackman, J. Dantal, P. Eckart, M. Gigante, B. S. Lipska, A. Liutkus, A. Megarbane, N. Mohsin, F. Ozaltin, M. A. Saleem, F. Schaefer, K. Soulami, R. Torra, N. Garcelon, G. Mollet, K. Dahan and C. Antignac (2014). "NPHS2 mutations in steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome: a mutation update and the associated phenotypic spectrum." <u>Hum Mutat</u> **35**(2): 178-186.

Boute, N., O. Gribouval, S. Roselli, F. Benessy, H. Lee, A. Fuchshuber, K. Dahan, M. C. Gubler, P. Niaudet and C. Antignac (2000). "NPHS2, encoding the glomerular protein podocin, is mutated in autosomal recessive steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome." <u>Nat Genet</u> **24**(4): 349-354.

Boycott, K. M. and A. M. Innes (2017). "When One Diagnosis Is Not Enough." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **376**(1): 83-85.

Boyer, O., F. Nevo, E. Plaisier, B. Funalot, O. Gribouval, G. Benoit, E. Huynh Cong, C. Arrondel, M. J. Tete, R. Montjean, L. Richard, A. Karras, C. Pouteil-Noble, L. Balafrej, A. Bonnardeaux, G. Canaud, C. Charasse, J. Dantal, G. Deschenes, P. Deteix, O. Dubourg, P. Petiot, D. Pouthier, E. Leguern, A. Guiochon-Mantel, I. Broutin, M. C. Gubler, S. Saunier, P. Ronco, J. M. Vallat, M. A. Alonso, C. Antignac and G. Mollet (2011). "INF2 mutations in Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease with glomerulopathy." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **365**(25): 2377-2388.

Boyer O, T. K., Machuca E, Antignac C (2016). Idiopathic Nephrotic Syndrome in Children: Genetic Aspects. <u>Pediatric nephrology</u>. E. D. Avner. Berlin Heidelberg, Springer: 3 Bände.

Brand, A. H. and N. Perrimon (1993). "Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes." <u>Development</u> **118**(2): 401-415.

Brandt, D. T. and R. Grosse (2007). "Get to grips: steering local actin dynamics with IQGAPs." <u>EMBO</u> <u>Rep</u> **8**(11): 1019-1023.

Braun, D. A., C. E. Sadowski, S. Kohl, S. Lovric, S. A. Astrinidis, W. L. Pabst, H. Y. Gee, S. Ashraf, J. A. Lawson, S. Shril, M. Airik, W. Tan, D. Schapiro, J. Rao, W. I. Choi, T. Hermle, M. J. Kemper, M. Pohl, F. Ozaltin, M. Konrad, R. Bogdanovic, R. Buscher, U. Helmchen, E. Serdaroglu, R. P. Lifton, W. Antonin and F. Hildebrandt (2016). "Mutations in nuclear pore genes NUP93, NUP205 and XPO5 cause steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome." <u>Nat Genet</u> **48**(4): 457-465.

Briere, J., F. Calman, A. Lageron, N. Hinglais, J. Emerit and J. Bernard (1976). "[Adult Niemann-Pick disease: a 26 years follow-up. Report of a case with isolated visceral involvement, excess of tissue sphingomyelin, and deficient sphingomyelinase activity (author's transl)]." <u>Nouv Rev Fr Hematol Blood Cells</u> **16**(2): 185-202.

Brinkmann, V., A. Billich, T. Baumruker, P. Heining, R. Schmouder, G. Francis, S. Aradhye and P. Burtin (2010). "Fingolimod (FTY720): discovery and development of an oral drug to treat multiple sclerosis." <u>Nat Rev Drug Discov</u> **9**(11): 883-897.

Brinkmann, V., M. D. Davis, C. E. Heise, R. Albert, S. Cottens, R. Hof, C. Bruns, E. Prieschl, T. Baumruker, P. Hiestand, C. A. Foster, M. Zollinger and K. R. Lynch (2002). "The immune modulator FTY720 targets sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors." J Biol Chem **277**(24): 21453-21457.

Brown, E. J., M. R. Pollak and M. Barua (2014). "Genetic testing for nephrotic syndrome and FSGS in the era of next-generation sequencing." <u>Kidney Int</u> **85**(5): 1030-1038.

Brown, E. J., J. S. Schlondorff, D. J. Becker, H. Tsukaguchi, S. J. Tonna, A. L. Uscinski, H. N. Higgs, J. M. Henderson and M. R. Pollak (2010). "Mutations in the formin gene INF2 cause focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Nat Genet</u> **42**(1): 72-76.

Bullich, G., D. Trujillano, S. Santin, S. Ossowski, S. Mendizabal, G. Fraga, A. Madrid, G. Ariceta, J. Ballarin, R. Torra, X. Estivill and E. Ars (2015). "Targeted next-generation sequencing in steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome: mutations in multiple glomerular genes may influence disease severity." <u>Eur J Hum Genet</u> **23**(9): 1192-1199.

Burghardt, T., F. Hochapfel, B. Salecker, C. Meese, H. J. Grone, R. Rachel, G. Wanner, M. P. Krahn and R. Witzgall (2015). "Advanced electron microscopic techniques provide a deeper insight into the peculiar features of podocytes." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **309**(12): F1082-1089.

Canaud, G., F. Bienaime, A. Viau, C. Treins, W. Baron, C. Nguyen, M. Burtin, S. Berissi, K. Giannakakis, A. O. Muda, S. Zschiedrich, T. B. Huber, G. Friedlander, C. Legendre, M. Pontoglio, M. Pende and F. Terzi (2013). "AKT2 is essential to maintain podocyte viability and function during chronic kidney disease." <u>Nat Med</u> **19**(10): 1288-1296.

Carre, C., D. Szymczak, J. Pidoux and C. Antoniewski (2005). "The histone H3 acetylase dGcn5 is a key player in Drosophila melanogaster metamorphosis." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **25**(18): 8228-8238.

Castellanos-Rivera, R. M., E. S. Pentz, E. Lin, K. W. Gross, S. Medrano, J. Yu, M. L. Sequeira-Lopez and R. A. Gomez (2015). "Recombination signal binding protein for Ig-kappaJ region regulates juxtaglomerular cell phenotype by activating the myo-endocrine program and suppressing ectopic gene expression." J Am Soc Nephrol **26**(1): 67-80.

Castellanos Rivera, R. M., M. C. Monteagudo, E. S. Pentz, S. T. Glenn, K. W. Gross, O. Carretero, M. L. Sequeira-Lopez and R. A. Gomez (2011). "Transcriptional regulator RBP-J regulates the number and plasticity of renin cells." <u>Physiol Genomics</u> **43**(17): 1021-1028.

Cattran, D. C. and P. Rao (1998). "Long-term outcome in children and adults with classic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Am J Kidney Dis</u> **32**(1): 72-79.

Cha, H. J., C. He, H. Zhao, Y. Dong, I. S. An and S. An (2016). "Intercellular and intracellular functions of ceramides and their metabolites in skin (Review)." Int J Mol Med **38**(1): 16-22.

Chander, P. N., H. M. Nurse and C. L. Pirani (1979). "Renal involvement in adult Gaucher's disease after splenectomy." <u>Arch Pathol Lab Med</u> **103**(9): 440-445.

Chao, C., Z. Wu, S. J. Mazur, H. Borges, M. Rossi, T. Lin, J. Y. Wang, C. W. Anderson, E. Appella and Y. Xu (2006). "Acetylation of mouse p53 at lysine 317 negatively regulates p53 apoptotic activities after DNA damage." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **26**(18): 6859-6869.

Chartier, A., S. Zaffran, M. Astier, M. Semeriva and D. Gratecos (2002). "Pericardin, a Drosophila type IV collagen-like protein is involved in the morphogenesis and maintenance of the heart epithelium during dorsal ectoderm closure." <u>Development</u> **129**(13): 3241-3253.

Chen, D., H. Ma, H. Hong, S. S. Koh, S. M. Huang, B. T. Schurter, D. W. Aswad and M. R. Stallcup (1999). "Regulation of transcription by a protein methyltransferase." <u>Science</u> **284**(5423): 2174-2177.

Chhabra, E. S. and H. N. Higgs (2006). "INF2 Is a WASP homology 2 motif-containing formin that severs actin filaments and accelerates both polymerization and depolymerization." J Biol Chem **281**(36): 26754-26767.

Chun, J., E. J. Goetzl, T. Hla, Y. Igarashi, K. R. Lynch, W. Moolenaar, S. Pyne and G. Tigyi (2002). "International Union of Pharmacology. XXXIV. Lysophospholipid receptor nomenclature." <u>Pharmacol</u> <u>Rev</u> **54**(2): 265-269.

Chun, J. and H. P. Hartung (2010). "Mechanism of action of oral fingolimod (FTY720) in multiple sclerosis." <u>Clin Neuropharmacol</u> **33**(2): 91-101.

Ciani, L., A. Patel, N. D. Allen and C. ffrench-Constant (2003). "Mice lacking the giant protocadherin mFAT1 exhibit renal slit junction abnormalities and a partially penetrant cyclopia and anophthalmia phenotype." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **23**(10): 3575-3582.

Claas, R. F., M. ter Braak, B. Hegen, V. Hardel, C. Angioni, H. Schmidt, K. H. Jakobs, P. P. Van Veldhoven and D. M. zu Heringdorf (2010). "Enhanced Ca2+ storage in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase-deficient fibroblasts." <u>Cell Signal</u> **22**(3): 476-483.

Colie, S., P. P. Van Veldhoven, B. Kedjouar, C. Bedia, V. Albinet, S. C. Sorli, V. Garcia, M. Djavaheri-Mergny, C. Bauvy, P. Codogno, T. Levade and N. Andrieu-Abadie (2009). "Disruption of sphingosine 1phosphate lyase confers resistance to chemotherapy and promotes oncogenesis through Bcl-2/Bcl-xL upregulation." <u>Cancer Res</u> **69**(24): 9346-9353.

Colin, E., E. Huynh Cong, G. Mollet, A. Guichet, O. Gribouval, C. Arrondel, O. Boyer, L. Daniel, M. C. Gubler, Z. Ekinci, M. Tsimaratos, B. Chabrol, N. Boddaert, A. Verloes, A. Chevrollier, N. Gueguen, V. Desquiret-Dumas, M. Ferre, V. Procaccio, L. Richard, B. Funalot, A. Moncla, D. Bonneau and C. Antignac (2014). "Loss-of-function mutations in WDR73 are responsible for microcephaly and steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome: Galloway-Mowat syndrome." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **95**(6): 637-648.

Corcelle-Termeau, E., S. D. Vindelov, S. Hamalisto, B. Mograbi, A. Keldsbo, J. H. Brasen, E. Favaro, D. Adam, P. Szyniarowski, P. Hofman, S. Krautwald, T. Farkas, N. H. Petersen, M. Rohde, A. Linkermann and M. Jaattela (2016). "Excess sphingomyelin disturbs ATG9A trafficking and autophagosome closure." <u>Autophagy</u> **12**(5): 833-849.

Coventry, A., L. M. Bull-Otterson, X. Liu, A. G. Clark, T. J. Maxwell, J. Crosby, J. E. Hixson, T. J. Rea, D. M. Muzny, L. R. Lewis, D. A. Wheeler, A. Sabo, C. Lusk, K. G. Weiss, H. Akbar, A. Cree, A. C. Hawes, I. Newsham, R. T. Varghese, D. Villasana, S. Gross, V. Joshi, J. Santibanez, M. Morgan, K. Chang, W. H. Iv, A. R. Templeton, E. Boerwinkle, R. Gibbs and C. F. Sing (2010). "Deep resequencing reveals excess rare recent variants consistent with explosive population growth." <u>Nat Commun</u> **1**: 131.

Cox, K. E., A. Marechal and R. L. Flynn (2016). "SMARCAL1 Resolves Replication Stress at ALT Telomeres." <u>Cell Rep</u> **14**(5): 1032-1040.

Crossley, A. C. (1985). Nephrocytes and pericardial cells. <u>Comprehensive insect physiology</u>, <u>biochemistry</u>, <u>and pharmacology</u>. G. A. Kerkut and L. I. Gilbert. Oxford Oxfordshire ; New York, Pergamon Press: 487-515.

Cuvillier, O., G. Pirianov, B. Kleuser, P. G. Vanek, O. A. Coso, S. Gutkind and S. Spiegel (1996). "Suppression of ceramide-mediated programmed cell death by sphingosine-1-phosphate." <u>Nature</u> **381**(6585): 800-803.

Cyster, J. G. and S. R. Schwab (2012). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs." <u>Annu Rev Immunol</u> **30**: 69-94.

D'Agati, V. D. (2008). "The spectrum of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: new insights." <u>Curr Opin</u> <u>Nephrol Hypertens</u> **17**(3): 271-281. D'Agati, V. D., A. B. Fogo, J. A. Bruijn and J. C. Jennette (2004). "Pathologic classification of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: a working proposal." <u>Am J Kidney Dis</u> **43**(2): 368-382.

D'Agati, V. D., F. J. Kaskel and R. J. Falk (2011). "Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **365**(25): 2398-2411.

Daido, S., T. Kanzawa, A. Yamamoto, H. Takeuchi, Y. Kondo and S. Kondo (2004). "Pivotal role of the cell death factor BNIP3 in ceramide-induced autophagic cell death in malignant glioma cells." <u>Cancer</u> <u>Res</u> **64**(12): 4286-4293.

Das, D., R. Aradhya, D. Ashoka and M. Inamdar (2008). "Macromolecular uptake in Drosophila pericardial cells requires rudhira function." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **314**(8): 1804-1810.

Das, D., R. Aradhya, D. Ashoka and M. Inamdar (2008). "Post-embryonic pericardial cells of Drosophila are required for overcoming toxic stress but not for cardiac function or adult development." <u>Cell Tissue Res</u> **331**(2): 565-570.

Dbaibo, G. S., M. Y. Pushkareva, S. Jayadev, J. K. Schwarz, J. M. Horowitz, L. M. Obeid and Y. A. Hannun (1995). "Retinoblastoma gene product as a downstream target for a ceramide-dependent pathway of growth arrest." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **92**(5): 1347-1351.

de Filippis, T., G. Gelmini, E. Paraboschi, M. C. Vigone, M. Di Frenna, F. Marelli, M. Bonomi, A. Cassio, D. Larizza, M. Moro, G. Radetti, M. Salerno, D. Ardissino, G. Weber, D. Gentilini, F. Guizzardi, S. Duga and L. Persani (2017). "A frequent oligogenic involvement in congenital hypothyroidism." <u>Hum Mol</u> <u>Genet</u> **26**(13): 2507-2514.

de Velasco, B., L. Mandal, M. Mkrtchyan and V. Hartenstein (2006). "Subdivision and developmental fate of the head mesoderm in Drosophila melanogaster." <u>Dev Genes Evol</u> **216**(1): 39-51.

Dekan, G., A. Miettinen, E. Schnabel and M. G. Farquhar (1990). "Binding of monoclonal antibodies to glomerular endothelium, slit membranes, and epithelium after in vivo injection. Localization of antigens and bound IgGs by immunoelectron microscopy." Am J Pathol **137**(4): 913-927.

Desmond, M. J., D. Lee, S. A. Fraser, M. Katerelos, K. Gleich, P. Martinello, Y. Q. Li, M. C. Thomas, R. Michelucci, A. J. Cole, P. Saftig, M. Schwake, D. Stapleton, S. F. Berkovic and D. A. Power (2011). "Tubular proteinuria in mice and humans lacking the intrinsic lysosomal protein SCARB2/Limp-2." <u>Am</u> <u>J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **300**(6): F1437-1447.

Diamond, J. R. and M. J. Karnovsky (1986). "Focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis following a single intravenous dose of puromycin aminonucleoside." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **122**(3): 481-487.

Dilworth, F. J., K. J. Seaver, A. L. Fishburn, S. L. Htet and S. J. Tapscott (2004). "In vitro transcription system delineates the distinct roles of the coactivators pCAF and p300 during MyoD/E47-dependent transactivation." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **101**(32): 11593-11598.

Ding, G., H. Sonoda, H. Yu, T. Kajimoto, S. K. Goparaju, S. Jahangeer, T. Okada and S. Nakamura (2007). "Protein kinase D-mediated phosphorylation and nuclear export of sphingosine kinase 2." J Biol Chem **282**(37): 27493-27502.

Ding, W. Y., A. Koziell, H. J. McCarthy, A. Bierzynska, M. K. Bhagavatula, J. A. Dudley, C. D. Inward, R. J. Coward, J. Tizard, C. Reid, C. Antignac, O. Boyer and M. A. Saleem (2014). "Initial steroid sensitivity in children with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome predicts post-transplant recurrence." <u>J Am Soc</u> <u>Nephrol</u> **25**(6): 1342-1348.

Diomedi-Camassei, F., S. Di Giandomenico, F. M. Santorelli, G. Caridi, F. Piemonte, G. Montini, G. M. Ghiggeri, L. Murer, L. Barisoni, A. Pastore, A. O. Muda, M. L. Valente, E. Bertini and F. Emma (2007). "COQ2 nephropathy: a newly described inherited mitochondriopathy with primary renal involvement." J Am Soc Nephrol **18**(10): 2773-2780. Dobrosotskaya, I. Y., A. C. Seegmiller, M. S. Brown, J. L. Goldstein and R. B. Rawson (2002). "Regulation of SREBP processing and membrane lipid production by phospholipids in Drosophila." <u>Science</u> **296**(5569): 879-883.

Donoviel, D. B., D. D. Freed, H. Vogel, D. G. Potter, E. Hawkins, J. P. Barrish, B. N. Mathur, C. A. Turner, R. Geske, C. A. Montgomery, M. Starbuck, M. Brandt, A. Gupta, R. Ramirez-Solis, B. P. Zambrowicz and D. R. Powell (2001). "Proteinuria and perinatal lethality in mice lacking NEPH1, a novel protein with homology to NEPHRIN." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **21**(14): 4829-4836.

Dreyer, S. D., G. Zhou, A. Baldini, A. Winterpacht, B. Zabel, W. Cole, R. L. Johnson and B. Lee (1998). "Mutations in LMX1B cause abnormal skeletal patterning and renal dysplasia in nail patella syndrome." <u>Nat Genet</u> **19**(1): 47-50.

Dryer, S. E. and J. Reiser (2010). "TRPC6 channels and their binding partners in podocytes: role in glomerular filtration and pathophysiology." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **299**(4): F689-701.

Dwivedi, R. S., J. G. Herman, T. A. McCaffrey and D. S. Raj (2011). "Beyond genetics: epigenetic code in chronic kidney disease." <u>Kidney Int</u> **79**(1): 23-32.

Ebarasi, L., S. Ashraf, A. Bierzynska, H. Y. Gee, H. J. McCarthy, S. Lovric, C. E. Sadowski, W. Pabst, V. Vega-Warner, H. Fang, A. Koziell, M. A. Simpson, I. Dursun, E. Serdaroglu, S. Levy, M. A. Saleem, F. Hildebrandt and A. Majumdar (2015). "Defects of CRB2 cause steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **96**(1): 153-161.

Eddy, A. A. and C. M. Giachelli (1995). "Renal expression of genes that promote interstitial inflammation and fibrosis in rats with protein-overload proteinuria." <u>Kidney Int</u> **47**(6): 1546-1557.

Eddy, A. A. and J. M. Symons (2003). "Nephrotic syndrome in childhood." Lancet **362**(9384): 629-639.

Edwards, M., A. Zwolak, D. A. Schafer, D. Sept, R. Dominguez and J. A. Cooper (2014). "Capping protein regulators fine-tune actin assembly dynamics." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **15**(10): 677-689.

Ekstrom, T. J. and P. Stenvinkel (2009). "The epigenetic conductor: a genomic orchestrator in chronic kidney disease complications?" <u>J Nephrol</u> **22**(4): 442-449.

Elie, V., M. Fakhoury, G. Deschênes and E. Jacqz-Aigrain (2011). "Physiopathology of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome: lessons from glucocorticoids and epigenetic perspectives." <u>Pediatr Nephrol</u>.

Elizondo, L. I., K. S. Cho, W. Zhang, J. Yan, C. Huang, Y. Huang, K. Choi, E. A. Sloan, K. Deguchi, S. Lou, A. Baradaran-Heravi, H. Takashima, T. Lucke, F. A. Quiocho and C. F. Boerkoel (2009). "Schimke immuno-osseous dysplasia: SMARCAL1 loss-of-function and phenotypic correlation." J Med Genet **46**(1): 49-59.

Eng, D. G., M. W. Sunseri, N. V. Kaverina, S. S. Roeder, J. W. Pippin and S. J. Shankland (2015). "Glomerular parietal epithelial cells contribute to adult podocyte regeneration in experimental focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Kidney Int</u> **88**(5): 999-1012.

Eremina, V., S. Cui, H. Gerber, N. Ferrara, J. Haigh, A. Nagy, M. Ema, J. Rossant, S. Jothy, J. H. Miner and S. E. Quaggin (2006). "Vascular endothelial growth factor a signaling in the podocyte-endothelial compartment is required for mesangial cell migration and survival." J Am Soc Nephrol **17**(3): 724-735.

Eremina, V., J. A. Jefferson, J. Kowalewska, H. Hochster, M. Haas, J. Weisstuch, C. Richardson, J. B. Kopp, M. G. Kabir, P. H. Backx, H. P. Gerber, N. Ferrara, L. Barisoni, C. E. Alpers and S. E. Quaggin (2008). "VEGF inhibition and renal thrombotic microangiopathy." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **358**(11): 1129-1136.

Eremina, V., M. Sood, J. Haigh, A. Nagy, G. Lajoie, N. Ferrara, H. P. Gerber, Y. Kikkawa, J. H. Miner and S. E. Quaggin (2003). "Glomerular-specific alterations of VEGF-A expression lead to distinct congenital and acquired renal diseases." J Clin Invest **111**(5): 707-716.

Esposito, T., R. A. Lea, B. H. Maher, D. Moses, H. C. Cox, S. Magliocca, A. Angius, D. R. Nyholt, T. Titus, T. Kay, N. A. Gray, M. P. Rastaldi, A. Parnham, F. Gianfrancesco and L. R. Griffiths (2013). "Unique X-linked familial FSGS with co-segregating heart block disorder is associated with a mutation in the NXF5 gene." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **22**(18): 3654-3666.

Faul, C., K. Asanuma, E. Yanagida-Asanuma, K. Kim and P. Mundel (2007). "Actin up: regulation of podocyte structure and function by components of the actin cytoskeleton." <u>Trends Cell Biol</u> **17**(9): 428-437.

Feany, M. B. and W. W. Bender (2000). "A Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease." <u>Nature</u> **404**(6776): 394-398.

Fischbach, K. F., G. A. Linneweber, T. F. Andlauer, A. Hertenstein, B. Bonengel and K. Chaudhary (2009). "The irre cell recognition module (IRM) proteins." <u>J Neurogenet</u> **23**(1-2): 48-67.

Fornoni, A., J. Sageshima, C. Wei, S. Merscher-Gomez, R. Aguillon-Prada, A. N. Jauregui, J. Li, A. Mattiazzi, G. Ciancio, L. Chen, G. Zilleruelo, C. Abitbol, J. Chandar, W. Seeherunvong, C. Ricordi, M. Ikehata, M. P. Rastaldi, J. Reiser and G. W. Burke, 3rd (2011). "Rituximab targets podocytes in recurrent focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Sci Transl Med</u> **3**(85): 85ra46.

Fournier, M., M. Orpinell, C. Grauffel, E. Scheer, J. M. Garnier, T. Ye, V. Chavant, M. Joint, F. Esashi, A. Dejaegere, P. Gonczy and L. Tora (2016). "KAT2A/KAT2B-targeted acetylome reveals a role for PLK4 acetylation in preventing centrosome amplification." <u>Nat Commun</u> **7**: 13227.

Franco, T., H. Chu and P. S. Low (2016). "Identification of adducin-binding residues on the cytoplasmic domain of erythrocyte membrane protein, band 3." <u>Biochem J</u> **473**(19): 3147-3158.

Freidkin, I., M. Herman, A. Tobar, A. Chagnac, Y. Ori, A. Korzets and U. Gafter (2010). "Effects of histone deacetylase inhibitors on rat mesangial cells." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **298**(2): F426-434.

Frenk, S., I. Antonowicz, J. M. Craig and J. Metcoff (1955). "Experimental nephrotic syndrome induced in rats by aminonucleoside; renal lesions and body electrolyte composition." <u>Proc Soc Exp Biol Med</u> **89**(3): 424-427.

Fu, Y., J. Y. Zhu, A. Richman, Y. Zhang, X. Xie, J. R. Das, J. Li, P. E. Ray and Z. Han (2017). "APOL1-G1 in Nephrocytes Induces Hypertrophy and Accelerates Cell Death." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **28**(4): 1106-1116.

Fu, Y., J. Y. Zhu, A. Richman, Z. Zhao, F. Zhang, P. E. Ray and Z. Han (2017). "A Drosophila model system to assess the function of human monogenic podocyte mutations that cause nephrotic syndrome." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **26**(4): 768-780.

Fu, Y., J. Y. Zhu, F. Zhang, A. Richman, Z. Zhao and Z. Han (2017). "Comprehensive functional analysis of Rab GTPases in Drosophila nephrocytes." <u>Cell Tissue Res</u> **368**(3): 615-627.

Fukasawa, H., S. Bornheimer, K. Kudlicka and M. G. Farquhar (2009). "Slit diaphragms contain tight junction proteins." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **20**(7): 1491-1503.

Fukuhara, S., S. Simmons, S. Kawamura, A. Inoue, Y. Orba, T. Tokudome, Y. Sunden, Y. Arai, K. Moriwaki, J. Ishida, A. Uemura, H. Kiyonari, T. Abe, A. Fukamizu, M. Hirashima, H. Sawa, J. Aoki, M. Ishii and N. Mochizuki (2012). "The sphingosine-1-phosphate transporter Spns2 expressed on endothelial cells regulates lymphocyte trafficking in mice." J Clin Invest **122**(4): 1416-1426.

Fyrst, H., X. Zhang, D. R. Herr, H. S. Byun, R. Bittman, V. H. Phan, G. L. Harris and J. D. Saba (2008). "Identification and characterization by electrospray mass spectrometry of endogenous Drosophila sphingadienes." J Lipid Res **49**(3): 597-606.

Gagliardini, E., S. Conti, A. Benigni, G. Remuzzi and A. Remuzzi (2010). "Imaging of the porous ultrastructure of the glomerular epithelial filtration slit." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **21**(12): 2081-2089.

Gaide Chevronnay, H. P., V. Janssens, P. Van Der Smissen, C. J. Rocca, X. H. Liao, S. Refetoff, C. E. Pierreux, S. Cherqui and P. J. Courtoy (2016). "Hematopoietic Stem Cells Transplantation Can Normalize Thyroid Function in a Cystinosis Mouse Model." <u>Endocrinology</u> **157**(4): 1363-1371.

Gallon, L., J. Leventhal, A. Skaro, Y. Kanwar and A. Alvarado (2012). "Resolution of recurrent focal segmental glomerulosclerosis after retransplantation." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **366**(17): 1648-1649.

Gao, X., L. Huang, F. Grosjean, V. Esposito, J. Wu, L. Fu, H. Hu, J. Tan, C. He, S. Gray, M. K. Jain, F. Zheng and C. Mei (2011). "Low-protein diet supplemented with ketoacids reduces the severity of renal disease in 5/6 nephrectomized rats: a role for KLF15." <u>Kidney Int</u> **79**(9): 987-996.

Garcia, J. G., F. Liu, A. D. Verin, A. Birukova, M. A. Dechert, W. T. Gerthoffer, J. R. Bamberg and D. English (2001). "Sphingosine 1-phosphate promotes endothelial cell barrier integrity by Edgdependent cytoskeletal rearrangement." J Clin Invest **108**(5): 689-701.

Garg, P., R. Verma, D. Nihalani, D. B. Johnstone and L. B. Holzman (2007). "Neph1 cooperates with nephrin to transduce a signal that induces actin polymerization." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **27**(24): 8698-8712.

Gaspar, P., W. W. Kallemeijn, A. Strijland, S. Scheij, M. Van Eijk, J. Aten, H. S. Overkleeft, A. Balreira, F. Zunke, M. Schwake, C. Sa Miranda and J. M. Aerts (2014). "Action myoclonus-renal failure syndrome: diagnostic applications of activity-based probes and lipid analysis." J Lipid Res **55**(1): 138-145.

Gatfield, J., L. Monnier, R. Studer, M. H. Bolli, B. Steiner and O. Nayler (2014). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) displays sustained S1P1 receptor agonism and signaling through S1P lyase-dependent receptor recycling." <u>Cell Signal</u> **26**(7): 1576-1588.

Gbadegesin, R. A., G. Hall, A. Adeyemo, N. Hanke, I. Tossidou, J. Burchette, G. Wu, A. Homstad, M. A. Sparks, J. Gomez, R. Jiang, A. Alonso, P. Lavin, P. Conlon, R. Korstanje, M. C. Stander, G. Shamsan, M. Barua, R. Spurney, P. C. Singhal, J. B. Kopp, H. Haller, D. Howell, M. R. Pollak, A. S. Shaw, M. Schiffer and M. P. Winn (2014). "Mutations in the gene that encodes the F-actin binding protein anillin cause FSGS." J Am Soc Nephrol **25**(9): 1991-2002.

Gee, H. Y., S. Ashraf, X. Wan, V. Vega-Warner, J. Esteve-Rudd, S. Lovric, H. Fang, T. W. Hurd, C. E. Sadowski, S. J. Allen, E. A. Otto, E. Korkmaz, J. Washburn, S. Levy, D. S. Williams, S. A. Bakkaloglu, A. Zolotnitskaya, F. Ozaltin, W. Zhou and F. Hildebrandt (2014). "Mutations in EMP2 cause childhood-onset nephrotic syndrome." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **94**(6): 884-890.

Gee, H. Y., C. E. Sadowski, P. K. Aggarwal, J. D. Porath, T. A. Yakulov, M. Schueler, S. Lovric, S. Ashraf, D. A. Braun, J. Halbritter, H. Fang, R. Airik, V. Vega-Warner, K. J. Cho, T. A. Chan, L. G. Morris, C. ffrench-Constant, N. Allen, H. McNeill, R. Buscher, H. Kyrieleis, M. Wallot, A. Gaspert, T. Kistler, D. V. Milford, M. A. Saleem, W. T. Keng, S. I. Alexander, R. P. Valentini, C. Licht, J. C. Teh, R. Bogdanovic, A. Koziell, A. Bierzynska, N. A. Soliman, E. A. Otto, R. P. Lifton, L. B. Holzman, N. E. Sibinga, G. Walz, A. Tufro and F. Hildebrandt (2016). "FAT1 mutations cause a glomerulotubular nephropathy." <u>Nat</u> <u>Commun</u> **7**: 10822.

Gee, H. Y., P. Saisawat, S. Ashraf, T. W. Hurd, V. Vega-Warner, H. Fang, B. B. Beck, O. Gribouval, W. Zhou, K. A. Diaz, S. Natarajan, R. C. Wiggins, S. Lovric, G. Chernin, D. S. Schoeb, B. Ovunc, Y. Frishberg, N. A. Soliman, H. M. Fathy, H. Goebel, J. Hoefele, L. T. Weber, J. W. Innis, C. Faul, Z. Han, J. Washburn, C. Antignac, S. Levy, E. A. Otto and F. Hildebrandt (2013). "ARHGDIA mutations cause nephrotic syndrome via defective RHO GTPase signaling." J Clin Invest **123**(8): 3243-3253.

Gee, H. Y., F. Zhang, S. Ashraf, S. Kohl, C. E. Sadowski, V. Vega-Warner, W. Zhou, S. Lovric, H. Fang, M. Nettleton, J. Y. Zhu, J. Hoefele, L. T. Weber, L. Podracka, A. Boor, H. Fehrenbach, J. W. Innis, J. Washburn, S. Levy, R. P. Lifton, E. A. Otto, Z. Han and F. Hildebrandt (2015). "KANK deficiency leads to podocyte dysfunction and nephrotic syndrome." J Clin Invest **125**(6): 2375-2384.

Genovese, G., D. J. Friedman, M. D. Ross, L. Lecordier, P. Uzureau, B. I. Freedman, D. W. Bowden, C. D. Langefeld, T. K. Oleksyk, A. L. Uscinski Knob, A. J. Bernhardy, P. J. Hicks, G. W. Nelson, B.

Vanhollebeke, C. A. Winkler, J. B. Kopp, E. Pays and M. R. Pollak (2010). "Association of trypanolytic ApoL1 variants with kidney disease in African Americans." <u>Science</u> **329**(5993): 841-845.

Ghiggeri, G. M., G. Caridi, U. Magrini, A. Sessa, A. Savoia, M. Seri, A. Pecci, R. Romagnoli, S. Gangarossa, P. Noris, S. Sartore, V. Necchi, R. Ravazzolo and C. L. Balduini (2003). "Genetics, clinical and pathological features of glomerulonephritis associated with mutations of nonmuscle myosin IIA (Fechtner syndrome)." <u>Am J Kidney Dis</u> **41**(1): 95-104.

Gilbert, R. E., Q. Huang, K. Thai, S. L. Advani, K. Lee, D. A. Yuen, K. A. Connelly and A. Advani (2011). "Histone deacetylase inhibition attenuates diabetes-associated kidney growth: potential role for epigenetic modification of the epidermal growth factor receptor." <u>Kidney Int</u> **79**(12): 1312-1321.

Gilligan, D. M., L. Lozovatsky, B. Gwynn, C. Brugnara, N. Mohandas and L. L. Peters (1999). "Targeted disruption of the beta adducin gene (Add2) causes red blood cell spherocytosis in mice." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **96**(19): 10717-10722.

Gomez-Munoz, A., N. Presa, A. Gomez-Larrauri, I. G. Rivera, M. Trueba and M. Ordonez (2016). "Control of inflammatory responses by ceramide, sphingosine 1-phosphate and ceramide 1-phosphate." <u>Prog Lipid Res</u> **61**: 51-62.

Goni, F. M. and A. Alonso (2009). "Effects of ceramide and other simple sphingolipids on membrane lateral structure." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1788**(1): 169-177.

Goto, S., E. Yaoita, H. Matsunami, D. Kondo, T. Yamamoto, K. Kawasaki, M. Arakawa and I. Kihara (1998). "Involvement of R-cadherin in the early stage of glomerulogenesis." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **9**(7): 1234-1241.

Goto, Y., I. Nonaka and S. Horai (1990). "A mutation in the tRNA(Leu)(UUR) gene associated with the MELAS subgroup of mitochondrial encephalomyopathies." <u>Nature</u> **348**(6302): 651-653.

Grahammer, F., C. Schell and T. B. Huber (2013). "The podocyte slit diaphragm--from a thin grey line to a complex signalling hub." <u>Nat Rev Nephrol</u> **9**(10): 587-598.

Grahammer, F., C. Wigge, C. Schell, O. Kretz, J. Patrakka, S. Schneider, M. Klose, S. J. Arnold, A. Habermann, R. Brauniger, M. M. Rinschen, L. Volker, A. Bregenzer, D. Rubbenstroth, M. Boerries, D. Kerjaschki, J. H. Miner, G. Walz, T. Benzing, A. Fornoni, A. S. Frangakis and T. B. Huber (2016). "A flexible, multilayered protein scaffold maintains the slit in between glomerular podocytes." <u>JCI Insight</u> **1**(9).

Gupta, I. R., C. Baldwin, D. Auguste, K. C. Ha, J. El Andalousi, S. Fahiminiya, M. Bitzan, C. Bernard, M. R. Akbari, S. A. Narod, D. S. Rosenblatt, J. Majewski and T. Takano (2013). "ARHGDIA: a novel gene implicated in nephrotic syndrome." J Med Genet **50**(5): 330-338.

Habib, R., M. C. Gubler, C. Antignac and M. F. Gagnadoux (1993). "Diffuse mesangial sclerosis: a congenital glomerulopathy with nephrotic syndrome." <u>Adv Nephrol Necker Hosp</u> **22**: 43-57.

Hagen, M., E. Pfister, A. Kosel, S. Shankland, J. Pippin, K. Amann and C. Daniel (2016). "Cell cycle reentry sensitizes podocytes to injury induced death." <u>Cell Cycle</u> **15**(14): 1929-1937.

Hagen, N., M. Hans, D. Hartmann, D. Swandulla and G. van Echten-Deckert (2011). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate links glycosphingolipid metabolism to neurodegeneration via a calpain-mediated mechanism." <u>Cell Death Differ</u> **18**(8): 1356-1365.

Hagen, N., P. P. Van Veldhoven, R. L. Proia, H. Park, A. H. Merrill, Jr. and G. van Echten-Deckert (2009). "Subcellular origin of sphingosine 1-phosphate is essential for its toxic effect in lyase-deficient neurons." J Biol Chem **284**(17): 11346-11353.

Hahm, E., C. Wei, I. Fernandez, J. Li, N. J. Tardi, M. Tracy, S. Wadhwani, Y. Cao, V. Peev, A. Zloza, J. Lusciks, S. S. Hayek, C. O'Connor, M. Bitzer, V. Gupta, S. Sever, D. B. Sykes, D. T. Scadden and J. Reiser

(2017). "Bone marrow-derived immature myeloid cells are a main source of circulating suPAR contributing to proteinuric kidney disease." <u>Nat Med</u> **23**(1): 100-106.

Hait, N. C., J. Allegood, M. Maceyka, G. M. Strub, K. B. Harikumar, S. K. Singh, C. Luo, R. Marmorstein, T. Kordula, S. Milstien and S. Spiegel (2009). "Regulation of histone acetylation in the nucleus by sphingosine-1-phosphate." <u>Science</u> **325**(5945): 1254-1257.

Han, Z. and E. N. Olson (2005). "Hand is a direct target of Tinman and GATA factors during Drosophila cardiogenesis and hematopoiesis." <u>Development</u> **132**(15): 3525-3536.

Han, Z., P. Yi, X. Li and E. N. Olson (2006). "Hand, an evolutionarily conserved bHLH transcription factor required for Drosophila cardiogenesis and hematopoiesis." <u>Development</u> **133**(6): 1175-1182.

Hanada, K., K. Kumagai, S. Yasuda, Y. Miura, M. Kawano, M. Fukasawa and M. Nishijima (2003). "Molecular machinery for non-vesicular trafficking of ceramide." <u>Nature</u> **426**(6968): 803-809.

Harada, J., M. Foley, M. A. Moskowitz and C. Waeber (2004). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate induces proliferation and morphological changes of neural progenitor cells." J Neurochem **88**(4): 1026-1039.

Harita, Y., H. Kurihara, H. Kosako, T. Tezuka, T. Sekine, T. Igarashi, I. Ohsawa, S. Ohta and S. Hattori (2009). "Phosphorylation of Nephrin Triggers Ca2+ Signaling by Recruitment and Activation of Phospholipase C-{gamma}1." J Biol Chem **284**(13): 8951-8962.

Hartleben, B., H. Schweizer, P. Lubben, M. P. Bartram, C. C. Moller, R. Herr, C. Wei, E. Neumann-Haefelin, B. Schermer, H. Zentgraf, D. Kerjaschki, J. Reiser, G. Walz, T. Benzing and T. B. Huber (2008). "Neph-Nephrin proteins bind the Par3-Par6-atypical protein kinase C (aPKC) complex to regulate podocyte cell polarity." J Biol Chem **283**(34): 23033-23038.

Hartley, P. S., K. Motamedchaboki, R. Bodmer and K. Ocorr (2016). "SPARC-Dependent Cardiomyopathy in Drosophila." <u>Circ Cardiovasc Genet</u> **9**(2): 119-129.

Harvald, E. B., A. S. Olsen and N. J. Faergeman (2015). "Autophagy in the light of sphingolipid metabolism." <u>Apoptosis</u> **20**(5): 658-670.

Hasegawa, K., S. Wakino, P. Simic, Y. Sakamaki, H. Minakuchi, K. Fujimura, K. Hosoya, M. Komatsu, Y. Kaneko, T. Kanda, E. Kubota, H. Tokuyama, K. Hayashi, L. Guarente and H. Itoh (2013). "Renal tubular Sirt1 attenuates diabetic albuminuria by epigenetically suppressing Claudin-1 overexpression in podocytes." <u>Nat Med</u> **19**(11): 1496-1504.

Heeringa, S. F., G. Chernin, M. Chaki, W. Zhou, A. J. Sloan, Z. Ji, L. X. Xie, L. Salviati, T. W. Hurd, V. Vega-Warner, P. D. Killen, Y. Raphael, S. Ashraf, B. Ovunc, D. S. Schoeb, H. M. McLaughlin, R. Airik, C. N. Vlangos, R. Gbadegesin, B. Hinkes, P. Saisawat, E. Trevisson, M. Doimo, A. Casarin, V. Pertegato, G. Giorgi, H. Prokisch, A. Rotig, G. Nurnberg, C. Becker, S. Wang, F. Ozaltin, R. Topaloglu, A. Bakkaloglu, S. A. Bakkaloglu, D. Muller, A. Beissert, S. Mir, A. Berdeli, S. Varpizen, M. Zenker, V. Matejas, C. Santos-Ocana, P. Navas, T. Kusakabe, A. Kispert, S. Akman, N. A. Soliman, S. Krick, P. Mundel, J. Reiser, P. Nurnberg, C. F. Clarke, R. C. Wiggins, C. Faul and F. Hildebrandt (2011). "COQ6 mutations in human patients produce nephrotic syndrome with sensorineural deafness." J Clin Invest **121**(5): 2013-2024.

Helmstadter, M., K. Luthy, M. Godel, M. Simons, Ashish, D. Nihalani, S. A. Rensing, K. F. Fischbach and T. B. Huber (2012). "Functional study of mammalian Neph proteins in Drosophila melanogaster." <u>PLoS One</u> **7**(7): e40300.

Helmstadter, M. and M. Simons (2017). "Using Drosophila nephrocytes in genetic kidney disease." <u>Cell Tissue Res</u> **369**(1): 119-126.

Henderson, J. M., S. Al-Waheeb, A. Weins, S. V. Dandapani and M. R. Pollak (2008). "Mice with altered alpha-actinin-4 expression have distinct morphologic patterns of glomerular disease." <u>Kidney</u> Int **73**(6): 741-750.

Henikoff, S. (2008). "Nucleosome destabilization in the epigenetic regulation of gene expression." Nat Rev Genet **9**(1): 15-26.

Hermle, T., D. A. Braun, M. Helmstadter, T. B. Huber and F. Hildebrandt (2017). "Modeling Monogenic Human Nephrotic Syndrome in the Drosophila Garland Cell Nephrocyte." J Am Soc Nephrol **28**(5): 1521-1533.

Herr, D. R., H. Fyrst, V. Phan, K. Heinecke, R. Georges, G. L. Harris and J. D. Saba (2003). "Sply regulation of sphingolipid signaling molecules is essential for Drosophila development." <u>Development</u> **130**(11): 2443-2453.

Heymann, J., C. A. Winkler, M. Hoek, K. Susztak and J. B. Kopp (2017). "Therapeutics for APOL1 nephropathies: putting out the fire in the podocyte." <u>Nephrol Dial Transplant</u> **32**(suppl_1): i65-i70.

Hinkes, B., R. C. Wiggins, R. Gbadegesin, C. N. Vlangos, D. Seelow, G. Nurnberg, P. Garg, R. Verma, H.
Chaib, B. E. Hoskins, S. Ashraf, C. Becker, H. C. Hennies, M. Goyal, B. L. Wharram, A. D. Schachter, S.
Mudumana, I. Drummond, D. Kerjaschki, R. Waldherr, A. Dietrich, F. Ozaltin, A. Bakkaloglu, R. Cleper,
L. Basel-Vanagaite, M. Pohl, M. Griebel, A. N. Tsygin, A. Soylu, D. Muller, C. S. Sorli, T. D. Bunney, M.
Katan, J. Liu, M. Attanasio, F. O'Toole J, K. Hasselbacher, B. Mucha, E. A. Otto, R. Airik, A. Kispert, G.
G. Kelley, A. V. Smrcka, T. Gudermann, L. B. Holzman, P. Nurnberg and F. Hildebrandt (2006).
"Positional cloning uncovers mutations in PLCE1 responsible for a nephrotic syndrome variant that may be reversible." Nat Genet 38(12): 1397-1405.

Hinkes, B. G., B. Mucha, C. N. Vlangos, R. Gbadegesin, J. Liu, K. Hasselbacher, D. Hangan, F. Ozaltin, M. Zenker, F. Hildebrandt and G. Arbeitsgemeinschaft fur Paediatrische Nephrologie Study (2007). "Nephrotic syndrome in the first year of life: two thirds of cases are caused by mutations in 4 genes (NPHS1, NPHS2, WT1, and LAMB2)." <u>Pediatrics</u> **119**(4): e907-919.

Hisano, Y., N. Kobayashi, A. Yamaguchi and T. Nishi (2012). "Mouse SPNS2 functions as a sphingosine-1-phosphate transporter in vascular endothelial cells." <u>PLoS One</u> **7**(6): e38941.

Hla, T., M. J. Lee, N. Ancellin, J. H. Paik and M. J. Kluk (2001). "Lysophospholipids--receptor revelations." <u>Science</u> **294**(5548): 1875-1878.

Ho, L. and G. R. Crabtree (2010). "Chromatin remodelling during development." <u>Nature</u> **463**(7280): 474-484.

Hodgin, J. B., M. Bitzer, L. Wickman, F. Afshinnia, S. Q. Wang, C. O'Connor, Y. Yang, C. Meadowbrooke, M. Chowdhury, M. Kikuchi, J. E. Wiggins and R. C. Wiggins (2015). "Glomerular Aging and Focal Global Glomerulosclerosis: A Podometric Perspective." J Am Soc Nephrol **26**(12): 3162-3178.

Hofmann, T., A. G. Obukhov, M. Schaefer, C. Harteneck, T. Gudermann and G. Schultz (1999). "Direct activation of human TRPC6 and TRPC3 channels by diacylglycerol." <u>Nature</u> **397**(6716): 259-263.

Hollfelder, D., M. Frasch and I. Reim (2014). "Distinct functions of the laminin beta LN domain and collagen IV during cardiac extracellular matrix formation and stabilization of alary muscle attachments revealed by EMS mutagenesis in Drosophila." <u>BMC Dev Biol</u> **14**: 26.

Holliday, R. and J. E. Pugh (1975). "DNA modification mechanisms and gene activity during development." <u>Science</u> **187**(4173): 226-232.

Holthofer, H., J. Reivinen, M. L. Solin, A. Haltia and A. Miettinen (1996). "Decrease of glomerular disialogangliosides in puromycin nephrosis of the rat." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **149**(3): 1009-1015.

Hoyer, J. R., R. L. Vernier, J. S. Najarian, L. Raij, R. L. Simmons and A. F. Michael (1972). "Recurrence of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome after renal transplantation." <u>Lancet</u> **2**(7773): 343-348.

Huang, C., S. Gu, P. Yu, F. Yu, C. Feng, N. Gao and J. Du (2010). "Deficiency of smarcal1 causes cell cycle arrest and developmental abnormalities in zebrafish." <u>Dev Biol</u> **339**(1): 89-100.

Huber, T. B., B. Hartleben, J. Kim, M. Schmidts, B. Schermer, A. Keil, L. Egger, R. L. Lecha, C. Borner, H. Pavenstadt, A. S. Shaw, G. Walz and T. Benzing (2003). "Nephrin and CD2AP associate with phosphoinositide 3-OH kinase and stimulate AKT-dependent signaling." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **23**(14): 4917-4928.

Huber, T. B., C. Kwoh, H. Wu, K. Asanuma, M. Godel, B. Hartleben, K. J. Blumer, J. H. Miner, P. Mundel and A. S. Shaw (2006). "Bigenic mouse models of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis involving pairwise interaction of CD2AP, Fyn, and synaptopodin." J Clin Invest **116**(5): 1337-1345.

Huber, T. B., B. Schermer and T. Benzing (2007). "Podocin organizes ion channel-lipid supercomplexes: implications for mechanosensation at the slit diaphragm." <u>Nephron Exp Nephrol</u> **106**(2): e27-31.

Huber, T. B., B. Schermer, R. U. Muller, M. Hohne, M. Bartram, A. Calixto, H. Hagmann, C. Reinhardt, F. Koos, K. Kunzelmann, E. Shirokova, D. Krautwurst, C. Harteneck, M. Simons, H. Pavenstadt, D. Kerjaschki, C. Thiele, G. Walz, M. Chalfie and T. Benzing (2006). "Podocin and MEC-2 bind cholesterol to regulate the activity of associated ion channels." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **103**(46): 17079-17086.

Huber, T. B., M. Schmidts, P. Gerke, B. Schermer, A. Zahn, B. Hartleben, L. Sellin, G. Walz and T. Benzing (2003). "The carboxyl terminus of Neph family members binds to the PDZ domain protein zonula occludens-1." J Biol Chem **278**(15): 13417-13421.

Huber, T. B., M. Simons, B. Hartleben, L. Sernetz, M. Schmidts, E. Gundlach, M. A. Saleem, G. Walz and T. Benzing (2003). "Molecular basis of the functional podocin-nephrin complex: mutations in the NPHS2 gene disrupt nephrin targeting to lipid raft microdomains." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **12**(24): 3397-3405.

Huynh Cong, E., A. A. Bizet, O. Boyer, S. Woerner, O. Gribouval, E. Filhol, C. Arrondel, S. Thomas, F. Silbermann, G. Canaud, J. Hachicha, N. Ben Dhia, M. N. Peraldi, K. Harzallah, D. Iftene, L. Daniel, M. Willems, L. H. Noel, C. Bole-Feysot, P. Nitschke, M. C. Gubler, G. Mollet, S. Saunier and C. Antignac (2014). "A homozygous missense mutation in the ciliary gene TTC21B causes familial FSGS." J Am Soc Nephrol **25**(11): 2435-2443.

Ichimura, K., S. Kakuta, Y. Kawasaki, T. Miyaki, T. Nonami, N. Miyazaki, T. Nakao, S. Enomoto, S. Arai, M. Koike, K. Murata and T. Sakai (2017). "Morphological process of podocyte development revealed by block-face scanning electron microscopy." J Cell Sci **130**(1): 132-142.

Igarashi, N., T. Okada, S. Hayashi, T. Fujita, S. Jahangeer and S. Nakamura (2003). "Sphingosine kinase 2 is a nuclear protein and inhibits DNA synthesis." J Biol Chem **278**(47): 46832-46839.

Ihlefeld, K., R. F. Claas, A. Koch, J. M. Pfeilschifter and D. Meyer Zu Heringdorf (2012). "Evidence for a link between histone deacetylation and Ca(2)+ homoeostasis in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase-deficient fibroblasts." <u>Biochem J</u> **447**(3): 457-464.

Iijima, K., M. Sako, K. Nozu, R. Mori, N. Tuchida, K. Kamei, K. Miura, K. Aya, K. Nakanishi, Y. Ohtomo, S. Takahashi, R. Tanaka, H. Kaito, H. Nakamura, K. Ishikura, S. Ito, Y. Ohashi and G. Rituximab for Childhood-onset Refractory Nephrotic Syndrome Study (2014). "Rituximab for childhood-onset, complicated, frequently relapsing nephrotic syndrome or steroid-dependent nephrotic syndrome: a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial." Lancet **384**(9950): 1273-1281.

Ikeda, M., A. Kihara and Y. Igarashi (2004). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase SPL is an endoplasmic reticulum-resident, integral membrane protein with the pyridoxal 5'-phosphate binding domain exposed to the cytosol." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **325**(1): 338-343.

Imai, N., K. Hishikawa, T. Marumo, J. Hirahashi, T. Inowa, Y. Matsuzaki, H. Okano, T. Kitamura, D. Salant and T. Fujita (2007). "Inhibition of histone deacetylase activates side population cells in kidney and partially reverses chronic renal injury." <u>Stem Cells</u> **25**(10): 2469-2475.

Innes, D. S., J. H. Sinard, D. M. Gilligan, L. M. Snyder, P. G. Gallagher and J. S. Morrow (1999). "Exclusion of the stomatin, alpha-adducin and beta-adducin loci in a large kindred with dehydrated hereditary stomatocytosis." <u>Am J Hematol</u> **60**(1): 72-74.

Inoue, T., E. Yaoita, H. Kurihara, F. Shimizu, T. Sakai, T. Kobayashi, K. Ohshiro, H. Kawachi, H. Okada, H. Suzuki, I. Kihara and T. Yamamoto (2001). "FAT is a component of glomerular slit diaphragms." <u>Kidney Int</u> **59**(3): 1003-1012.

Ivy, J. R., M. Drechsler, J. H. Catterson, R. Bodmer, K. Ocorr, A. Paululat and P. S. Hartley (2015). "Klf15 Is Critical for the Development and Differentiation of Drosophila Nephrocytes." <u>PLoS One</u> **10**(8): e0134620.

Janecke, A. R., R. Xu, E. Steichen-Gersdorf, S. Waldegger, A. Entenmann, T. Giner, I. Krainer, L. A. Huber, M. W. Hess, Y. Frishberg, H. Barash, S. Tzur, N. Schreyer-Shafir, R. Sukenik-Halevy, T. Zehavi, A. Raas-Rothschild, C. Mao and T. Muller (2017). "Deficiency of the sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase SGPL1 is associated with congenital nephrotic syndrome and congenital adrenal calcifications." <u>Hum</u> <u>Mutat</u> **38**(4): 365-372.

Jeitany, M., D. Bakhos-Douaihy, D. C. Silvestre, J. R. Pineda, N. Ugolin, A. Moussa, L. R. Gauthier, D. Busso, M. P. Junier, H. Chneiweiss, S. Chevillard, C. Desmaze and F. D. Boussin (2017). "Opposite effects of GCN5 and PCAF knockdowns on the alternative mechanism of telomere maintenance." <u>Oncotarget</u> **8**(16): 26269-26280.

Jenuwein, T. and C. D. Allis (2001). "Translating the histone code." <u>Science</u> 293(5532): 1074-1080.

Jiang, L., J. Ding, H. Tsai, L. Li, Q. Feng, J. Miao and Q. Fan (2011). "Over-expressing transient receptor potential cation channel 6 in podocytes induces cytoskeleton rearrangement through increases of intracellular Ca2+ and RhoA activation." <u>Exp Biol Med (Maywood)</u> **236**(2): 184-193.

Jin, J., K. Sison, C. Li, R. Tian, M. Wnuk, H. K. Sung, M. Jeansson, C. Zhang, M. Tucholska, N. Jones, D. Kerjaschki, M. Shibuya, I. G. Fantus, A. Nagy, H. P. Gerber, N. Ferrara, T. Pawson and S. E. Quaggin (2012). "Soluble FLT1 binds lipid microdomains in podocytes to control cell morphology and glomerular barrier function." <u>Cell</u> **151**(2): 384-399.

Jones, N., I. M. Blasutig, V. Eremina, J. M. Ruston, F. Bladt, H. Li, H. Huang, L. Larose, S. S. Li, T. Takano, S. E. Quaggin and T. Pawson (2006). "Nck adaptor proteins link nephrin to the actin cytoskeleton of kidney podocytes." <u>Nature</u> **440**(7085): 818-823.

Juarez, J. G., N. Harun, M. Thien, R. Welschinger, R. Baraz, A. D. Pena, S. M. Pitson, M. Rettig, J. F. DiPersio, K. F. Bradstock and L. J. Bendall (2012). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate facilitates trafficking of hematopoietic stem cells and their mobilization by CXCR4 antagonists in mice." <u>Blood</u> **119**(3): 707-716.

Kacem, S. and R. Feil (2009). "Chromatin mechanisms in genomic imprinting." <u>Mamm Genome</u> **20**(9-10): 544-556.

Kalluri, R. (2006). "Proteinuria with and without renal glomerular podocyte effacement." <u>J Am Soc</u> <u>Nephrol</u> **17**(9): 2383-2389.

Kaplan, J. M., S. H. Kim, K. N. North, H. Rennke, L. A. Correia, H. Q. Tong, B. J. Mathis, J. C. Rodriguez-Perez, P. G. Allen, A. H. Beggs and M. R. Pollak (2000). "Mutations in ACTN4, encoding alpha-actinin-4, cause familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Nat Genet</u> **24**(3): 251-256.

Karamatic Crew, V., N. Burton, A. Kagan, C. A. Green, C. Levene, F. Flinter, R. L. Brady, G. Daniels and D. J. Anstee (2004). "CD151, the first member of the tetraspanin (TM4) superfamily detected on erythrocytes, is essential for the correct assembly of human basement membranes in kidney and skin." <u>Blood</u> **104**(8): 2217-2223.

Karnovsky, M. J. and G. B. Ryan (1975). "Substructure of the glomerular slit diaphragm in freeze-fractured normal rat kidney." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **65**(1): 233-236.

Kasbi-Chadli, F., V. Ferchaud-Roucher, M. Krempf and K. Ouguerram (2016). "Direct and maternal n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation improved triglyceridemia and glycemia through the regulation of hepatic and muscle sphingolipid synthesis in offspring hamsters fed a high-fat diet." <u>Eur J Nutr</u> **55**(2): 589-599.

Kaverina, N. V., H. Kadoya, D. G. Eng, M. E. Rusiniak, M. L. Sequeira-Lopez, R. A. Gomez, J. W. Pippin, K. W. Gross, J. Peti-Peterdi and S. J. Shankland (2017). "Tracking the stochastic fate of cells of the renin lineage after podocyte depletion using multicolor reporters and intravital imaging." <u>PLoS One</u> **12**(3): e0173891.

Kerjaschki, D., D. J. Sharkey and M. G. Farquhar (1984). "Identification and characterization of podocalyxin--the major sialoprotein of the renal glomerular epithelial cell." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **98**(4): 1591-1596.

Kestila, M., U. Lenkkeri, M. Mannikko, J. Lamerdin, P. McCready, H. Putaala, V. Ruotsalainen, T. Morita, M. Nissinen, R. Herva, C. E. Kashtan, L. Peltonen, C. Holmberg, A. Olsen and K. Tryggvason (1998). "Positionally cloned gene for a novel glomerular protein--nephrin--is mutated in congenital nephrotic syndrome." <u>Mol Cell</u> **1**(4): 575-582.

Kim, J. M., H. Wu, G. Green, C. A. Winkler, J. B. Kopp, J. H. Miner, E. R. Unanue and A. S. Shaw (2003). "CD2-associated protein haploinsufficiency is linked to glomerular disease susceptibility." <u>Science</u> **300**(5623): 1298-1300.

Koch, A., A. Volzke, B. Puff, K. Blankenbach, D. Meyer Zu Heringdorf, A. Huwiler and J. Pfeilschifter (2013). "PPARgamma agonists upregulate sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) receptor 1 expression, which in turn reduces S1P-induced [Ca(2+)]i increases in renal mesangial cells." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1831**(11): 1634-1643.

Kohama, T., A. Olivera, L. Edsall, M. M. Nagiec, R. Dickson and S. Spiegel (1998). "Molecular cloning and functional characterization of murine sphingosine kinase." J Biol Chem **273**(37): 23722-23728.

Komers, R., T. T. Oyama, D. R. Beard, C. Tikellis, B. Xu, D. F. Lotspeich and S. Anderson (2011). "Rho kinase inhibition protects kidneys from diabetic nephropathy without reducing blood pressure." <u>Kidney Int</u> **79**(4): 432-442.

Kono, M., Y. Mi, Y. Liu, T. Sasaki, M. L. Allende, Y. P. Wu, T. Yamashita and R. L. Proia (2004). "The sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors S1P1, S1P2, and S1P3 function coordinately during embryonic angiogenesis." J Biol Chem **279**(28): 29367-29373.

Kono, M., A. E. Tucker, J. Tran, J. B. Bergner, E. M. Turner and R. L. Proia (2014). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 reporter mice reveal receptor activation sites in vivo." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **124**(5): 2076-2086.

Kopp, J. B., G. W. Nelson, K. Sampath, R. C. Johnson, G. Genovese, P. An, D. Friedman, W. Briggs, R. Dart, S. Korbet, M. H. Mokrzycki, P. L. Kimmel, S. Limou, T. S. Ahuja, J. S. Berns, J. Fryc, E. E. Simon, M. C. Smith, H. Trachtman, D. M. Michel, J. R. Schelling, D. Vlahov, M. Pollak and C. A. Winkler (2011). "APOL1 genetic variants in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis and HIV-associated nephropathy." J Am Soc Nephrol **22**(11): 2129-2137.

Kos, C. H., T. C. Le, S. Sinha, J. M. Henderson, S. H. Kim, H. Sugimoto, R. Kalluri, R. E. Gerszten and M. R. Pollak (2003). "Mice deficient in alpha-actinin-4 have severe glomerular disease." J Clin Invest **111**(11): 1683-1690.

Kosaka, T. and K. Ikeda (1983). "Reversible blockage of membrane retrieval and endocytosis in the garland cell of the temperature-sensitive mutant of Drosophila melanogaster, shibirets1." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **97**(2): 499-507.

Kouzarides, T. (2007). "Chromatin modifications and their function." <u>Cell</u> **128**(4): 693-705.

Kovalevskij, A. O. (1892). <u>Ein Beitrag zur Kenntniss der Excretionsorgane der Pantopoden</u>. St.-Pétersbourg.

Krall, P., C. P. Canales, P. Kairath, P. Carmona-Mora, J. Molina, J. D. Carpio, P. Ruiz, S. A. Mezzano, J. Li, C. Wei, J. Reiser, J. I. Young and K. Walz (2010). "Podocyte-specific overexpression of wild type or mutant trpc6 in mice is sufficient to cause glomerular disease." <u>PLoS One</u> **5**(9): e12859.

Krendel, M., S. V. Kim, T. Willinger, T. Wang, M. Kashgarian, R. A. Flavell and M. S. Mooseker (2009). "Disruption of Myosin 1e promotes podocyte injury." J Am Soc Nephrol **20**(1): 86-94.

Krendel, M., E. K. Osterweil and M. S. Mooseker (2007). "Myosin 1E interacts with synaptojanin-1 and dynamin and is involved in endocytosis." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **581**(4): 644-650.

Kriz, W. and K. V. Lemley (2015). "A potential role for mechanical forces in the detachment of podocytes and the progression of CKD." J Am Soc Nephrol **26**(2): 258-269.

Kriz, W., I. Shirato, M. Nagata, M. LeHir and K. V. Lemley (2013). "The podocyte's response to stress: the enigma of foot process effacement." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **304**(4): F333-347.

Kruer, M. C., T. Jepperson, S. Dutta, R. D. Steiner, E. Cottenie, L. Sanford, M. Merkens, B. S. Russman, P. A. Blasco, G. Fan, J. Pollock, S. Green, R. L. Woltjer, C. Mooney, D. Kretzschmar, C. Paisan-Ruiz and H. Houlden (2013). "Mutations in gamma adducin are associated with inherited cerebral palsy." <u>Ann</u> <u>Neurol</u> **74**(6): 805-814.

Kruzel-Davila, E., R. Shemer, A. Ofir, I. Bavli-Kertselli, I. Darlyuk-Saadon, P. Oren-Giladi, W. G. Wasser, D. Magen, E. Zaknoun, M. Schuldiner, A. Salzberg, D. Kornitzer, Z. Marelja, M. Simons and K. Skorecki (2017). "APOL1-Mediated Cell Injury Involves Disruption of Conserved Trafficking Processes." J Am Soc Nephrol **28**(4): 1117-1130.

Kuemmel, T. A., J. Thiele, R. Schroeder and W. Stoffel (1997). "Pathology of visceral organs and bone marrow in an acid sphingomyelinase deficient knock-out mouse line, mimicking human Niemann-Pick disease type A. A light and electron microscopic study." <u>Pathol Res Pract</u> **193**(10): 663-671.

Kume, S., T. Uzu, K. Horiike, M. Chin-Kanasaki, K. Isshiki, S. Araki, T. Sugimoto, M. Haneda, A. Kashiwagi and D. Koya (2010). "Calorie restriction enhances cell adaptation to hypoxia through Sirt1dependent mitochondrial autophagy in mouse aged kidney." J Clin Invest **120**(4): 1043-1055.

Kuninger, D., A. Wright and P. Rotwein (2006). "Muscle cell survival mediated by the transcriptional coactivators p300 and PCAF displays different requirements for acetyltransferase activity." <u>Am J</u> <u>Physiol Cell Physiol **291**(4)</u>: C699-709.

Kuppe, C., H. J. Grone, T. Ostendorf, T. H. van Kuppevelt, P. Boor, J. Floege, B. Smeets and M. J. Moeller (2015). "Common histological patterns in glomerular epithelial cells in secondary focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Kidney Int</u> **88**(5): 990-998.

Kurihara, H., J. M. Anderson, D. Kerjaschki and M. G. Farquhar (1992). "The altered glomerular filtration slits seen in puromycin aminonucleoside nephrosis and protamine sulfate-treated rats contain the tight junction protein ZO-1." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **141**(4): 805-816.

LaBeau, E. M., D. L. Trujillo and R. M. Cripps (2009). "Bithorax complex genes control alary muscle patterning along the cardiac tube of Drosophila." <u>Mech Dev</u> **126**(5-6): 478-486.

Lanterman, M. M. and J. D. Saba (1998). "Characterization of sphingosine kinase (SK) activity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae and isolation of SK-deficient mutants." <u>Biochem J</u> **332 (Pt 2)**: 525-531.

Lasagni, L., M. L. Angelotti, E. Ronconi, D. Lombardi, S. Nardi, A. Peired, F. Becherucci, B. Mazzinghi, A. Sisti, S. Romoli, A. Burger, B. Schaefer, A. Buccoliero, E. Lazzeri and P. Romagnani (2015).

"Podocyte Regeneration Driven by Renal Progenitors Determines Glomerular Disease Remission and Can Be Pharmacologically Enhanced." <u>Stem Cell Reports</u> **5**(2): 248-263.

Lasagni, L., L. Ballerini, M. L. Angelotti, E. Parente, C. Sagrinati, B. Mazzinghi, A. Peired, E. Ronconi, F. Becherucci, D. Bani, M. Gacci, M. Carini, E. Lazzeri and P. Romagnani (2010). "Notch activation differentially regulates renal progenitors proliferation and differentiation toward the podocyte lineage in glomerular disorders." <u>Stem Cells</u> **28**(9): 1674-1685.

Lasagni, L. and P. Romagnani (2010). "Glomerular epithelial stem cells: the good, the bad, and the ugly." J Am Soc Nephrol **21**(10): 1612-1619.

Lavieu, G., F. Scarlatti, G. Sala, S. Carpentier, T. Levade, R. Ghidoni, J. Botti and P. Codogno (2006). "Regulation of autophagy by sphingosine kinase 1 and its role in cell survival during nutrient starvation." J Biol Chem **281**(13): 8518-8527.

Lawrence, M. G., M. K. Altenburg, R. Sanford, J. D. Willett, B. Bleasdale, B. Ballou, J. Wilder, F. Li, J. H. Miner, U. B. Berg and O. Smithies (2017). "Permeation of macromolecules into the renal glomerular basement membrane and capture by the tubules." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **114**(11): 2958-2963.

Le Berre, L., S. Bruneau, J. Naulet, K. Renaudin, F. Buzelin, C. Usal, H. Smit, T. Condamine, J. P. Soulillou and J. Dantal (2009). "Induction of T regulatory cells attenuates idiopathic nephrotic syndrome." J Am Soc Nephrol **20**(1): 57-67.

Le Berre, L., Y. Godfrin, E. Gunther, F. Buzelin, S. Perretto, H. Smit, D. Kerjaschki, C. Usal, C. Cuturi, J. P. Soulillou and J. Dantal (2002). "Extrarenal effects on the pathogenesis and relapse of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome in Buffalo/Mna rats." J Clin Invest **109**(4): 491-498.

Lee, D., K. Gleich, S. A. Fraser, M. Katerelos, P. F. Mount and D. A. Power (2013). "Limited capacity of proximal tubular proteolysis in mice with proteinuria." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **304**(7): F1009-1019.

Lee, M. J., S. Thangada, K. P. Claffey, N. Ancellin, C. H. Liu, M. Kluk, M. Volpi, R. I. Sha'afi and T. Hla (1999). "Vascular endothelial cell adherens junction assembly and morphogenesis induced by sphingosine-1-phosphate." <u>Cell</u> **99**(3): 301-312.

Lee, M. J., S. Thangada, J. H. Paik, G. P. Sapkota, N. Ancellin, S. S. Chae, M. Wu, M. Morales-Ruiz, W. C. Sessa, D. R. Alessi and T. Hla (2001). "Akt-mediated phosphorylation of the G protein-coupled receptor EDG-1 is required for endothelial cell chemotaxis." <u>Mol Cell</u> **8**(3): 693-704.

Leeuwis, J. W., T. Q. Nguyen, A. Dendooven, R. J. Kok and R. Goldschmeding (2010). "Targeting podocyte-associated diseases." <u>Adv Drug Deliv Rev</u> **62**(14): 1325-1336.

Lefevre, G. M., S. R. Patel, D. Kim, L. Tessarollo and G. R. Dressler (2010). "Altering a histone H3K4 methylation pathway in glomerular podocytes promotes a chronic disease phenotype." <u>PLoS Genet</u> **6**(10): e1001142.

Lehtonen, S., E. Lehtonen, K. Kudlicka, H. Holthofer and M. G. Farquhar (2004). "Nephrin forms a complex with adherens junction proteins and CASK in podocytes and in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells expressing nephrin." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **165**(3): 923-936.

Lei, L., S. Lu, Y. Wang, T. Kim, D. Mehta and Y. Wang (2014). "The role of mechanical tension on lipid raft dependent PDGF-induced TRPC6 activation." <u>Biomaterials</u> **35**(9): 2868-2877.

Leite, S. C., P. Sampaio, V. F. Sousa, J. Nogueira-Rodrigues, R. Pinto-Costa, L. L. Peters, P. Brites and M. M. Sousa (2016). "The Actin-Binding Protein alpha-Adducin Is Required for Maintaining Axon Diameter." <u>Cell Rep</u> **15**(3): 490-498.

Lek, M., K. J. Karczewski, E. V. Minikel, K. E. Samocha, E. Banks, T. Fennell, A. H. O'Donnell-Luria, J. S. Ware, A. J. Hill, B. B. Cummings, T. Tukiainen, D. P. Birnbaum, J. A. Kosmicki, L. E. Duncan, K. Estrada, F. Zhao, J. Zou, E. Pierce-Hoffman, J. Berghout, D. N. Cooper, N. Deflaux, M. DePristo, R. Do, J.

Flannick, M. Fromer, L. Gauthier, J. Goldstein, N. Gupta, D. Howrigan, A. Kiezun, M. I. Kurki, A. L. Moonshine, P. Natarajan, L. Orozco, G. M. Peloso, R. Poplin, M. A. Rivas, V. Ruano-Rubio, S. A. Rose, D. M. Ruderfer, K. Shakir, P. D. Stenson, C. Stevens, B. P. Thomas, G. Tiao, M. T. Tusie-Luna, B. Weisburd, H. H. Won, D. Yu, D. M. Altshuler, D. Ardissino, M. Boehnke, J. Danesh, S. Donnelly, R. Elosua, J. C. Florez, S. B. Gabriel, G. Getz, S. J. Glatt, C. M. Hultman, S. Kathiresan, M. Laakso, S. McCarroll, M. I. McCarthy, D. McGovern, R. McPherson, B. M. Neale, A. Palotie, S. M. Purcell, D. Saleheen, J. M. Scharf, P. Sklar, P. F. Sullivan, J. Tuomilehto, M. T. Tsuang, H. C. Watkins, J. G. Wilson, M. J. Daly, D. G. MacArthur and C. Exome Aggregation (2016). "Analysis of protein-coding genetic variation in 60,706 humans." <u>Nature</u> **536**(7616): 285-291.

Lemaire, M., V. Fremeaux-Bacchi, F. Schaefer, M. Choi, W. H. Tang, M. Le Quintrec, F. Fakhouri, S. Taque, F. Nobili, F. Martinez, W. Ji, J. D. Overton, S. M. Mane, G. Nurnberg, J. Altmuller, H. Thiele, D. Morin, G. Deschenes, V. Baudouin, B. Llanas, L. Collard, M. A. Majid, E. Simkova, P. Nurnberg, N. Rioux-Leclerc, G. W. Moeckel, M. C. Gubler, J. Hwa, C. Loirat and R. P. Lifton (2013). "Recessive mutations in DGKE cause atypical hemolytic-uremic syndrome." <u>Nat Genet</u> **45**(5): 531-536.

Lemmers, R. J., R. Tawil, L. M. Petek, J. Balog, G. J. Block, G. W. Santen, A. M. Amell, P. J. van der Vliet, R. Almomani, K. R. Straasheijm, Y. D. Krom, R. Klooster, Y. Sun, J. T. den Dunnen, Q. Helmer, C. M. Donlin-Smith, G. W. Padberg, B. G. van Engelen, J. C. de Greef, A. M. Aartsma-Rus, R. R. Frants, M. de Visser, C. Desnuelle, S. Sacconi, G. N. Filippova, B. Bakker, M. J. Bamshad, S. J. Tapscott, D. G. Miller and S. M. van der Maarel (2012). "Digenic inheritance of an SMCHD1 mutation and an FSHDpermissive D4Z4 allele causes facioscapulohumeral muscular dystrophy type 2." <u>Nat Genet</u> **44**(12): 1370-1374.

Lennon, R., M. J. Randles and M. J. Humphries (2014). "The importance of podocyte adhesion for a healthy glomerulus." <u>Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)</u> **5**: 160.

Lennon, R., H. M. Stuart, A. Bierzynska, M. J. Randles, B. Kerr, K. A. Hillman, G. Batra, J. Campbell, H. Storey, F. A. Flinter, A. Koziell, G. I. Welsh, M. A. Saleem, N. J. Webb and A. S. Woolf (2015). "Coinheritance of COL4A5 and MYO1E mutations accentuate the severity of kidney disease." <u>Pediatr</u> <u>Nephrol</u> **30**(9): 1459-1465.

Levine, B. and J. Yuan (2005). "Autophagy in cell death: an innocent convict?" <u>J Clin Invest</u> **115**(10): 2679-2688.

Li, H., S. Lemay, L. Aoudjit, H. Kawachi and T. Takano (2004). "SRC-family kinase Fyn phosphorylates the cytoplasmic domain of nephrin and modulates its interaction with podocin." J Am Soc Nephrol **15**(12): 3006-3015.

Li, Q. L., J. Ni, S. L. Bian, L. C. Yao, H. Zhu and W. Zhang (2001). "Inhibition of steroidogenesis and induction of apoptosis in rat luteal cells by cell-permeable ceramide in vitro." <u>Sheng Li Xue Bao</u> **53**(2): 142-146.

Li, W., Y. Ding, C. Smedley, Y. Wang, S. Chaudhari, L. Birnbaumer and R. Ma (2017). "Increased glomerular filtration rate and impaired contractile function of mesangial cells in TRPC6 knockout mice." <u>Sci Rep</u> **7**(1): 4145.

Liakopoulos, V., P. I. Georgianos, T. Eleftheriadis and P. A. Sarafidis (2011). "Epigenetic mechanisms and kidney diseases." <u>Curr Med Chem</u> **18**(12): 1733-1739.

Liapis, H., P. Romagnani and H. J. Anders (2013). "New insights into the pathology of podocyte loss: mitotic catastrophe." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **183**(5): 1364-1374.

Liebau, M. C., F. Braun, K. Hopker, C. Weitbrecht, V. Bartels, R. U. Muller, S. Brodesser, M. A. Saleem, T. Benzing, B. Schermer, M. Cybulla and C. E. Kurschat (2013). "Dysregulated autophagy contributes to podocyte damage in Fabry's disease." <u>PLoS One</u> **8**(5): e63506.

Linares, L. K., R. Kiernan, R. Triboulet, C. Chable-Bessia, D. Latreille, O. Cuvier, M. Lacroix, L. Le Cam, O. Coux and M. Benkirane (2007). "Intrinsic ubiquitination activity of PCAF controls the stability of the oncoprotein Hdm2." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **9**(3): 331-338.

Liu, H., M. Sugiura, V. E. Nava, L. C. Edsall, K. Kono, S. Poulton, S. Milstien, T. Kohama and S. Spiegel (2000). "Molecular cloning and functional characterization of a novel mammalian sphingosine kinase type 2 isoform." J Biol Chem **275**(26): 19513-19520.

Liu, L., D. M. Scolnick, R. C. Trievel, H. B. Zhang, R. Marmorstein, T. D. Halazonetis and S. L. Berger (1999). "p53 sites acetylated in vitro by PCAF and p300 are acetylated in vivo in response to DNA damage." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **19**(2): 1202-1209.

Liu, X., X. Jian and E. Boerwinkle (2011). "dbNSFP: a lightweight database of human nonsynonymous SNPs and their functional predictions." <u>Hum Mutat</u> **32**(8): 894-899.

Liu, X., H. Yagi, S. Saeed, A. S. Bais, G. C. Gabriel, Z. Chen, K. A. Peterson, Y. Li, M. C. Schwartz, W. T. Reynolds, M. Saydmohammed, B. Gibbs, Y. Wu, W. Devine, B. Chatterjee, N. T. Klena, D. Kostka, K. L. de Mesy Bentley, M. K. Ganapathiraju, P. Dexheimer, L. Leatherbury, O. Khalifa, A. Bhagat, M. Zahid, W. Pu, S. Watkins, P. Grossfeld, S. A. Murray, G. A. Porter, Jr., M. Tsang, L. J. Martin, D. W. Benson, B. J. Aronow and C. W. Lo (2017). "The complex genetics of hypoplastic left heart syndrome." <u>Nat Genet</u> **49**(7): 1152-1159.

Liu, Y., W. Liang, Y. Yang, Y. Pan, Q. Yang, X. Chen, P. C. Singhal and G. Ding (2015). "IQGAP1 regulates actin cytoskeleton organization in podocytes through interaction with nephrin." <u>Cell Signal</u> **27**(4): 867-877.

Liu, Y., R. Wada, T. Yamashita, Y. Mi, C. X. Deng, J. P. Hobson, H. M. Rosenfeldt, V. E. Nava, S. S. Chae, M. J. Lee, C. H. Liu, T. Hla, S. Spiegel and R. L. Proia (2000). "Edg-1, the G protein-coupled receptor for sphingosine-1-phosphate, is essential for vascular maturation." J Clin Invest **106**(8): 951-961.

Locke, M. R., V. W. (1998). Microscopic anatomy of invertebrates. <u>Microscopic anatomy of invertebrates</u>. F. W. Harrison. Chichester [u.a.], Wiley: 687-709.

Lopez, L. C., M. Schuelke, C. M. Quinzii, T. Kanki, R. J. Rodenburg, A. Naini, S. Dimauro and M. Hirano (2006). "Leigh syndrome with nephropathy and CoQ10 deficiency due to decaprenyl diphosphate synthase subunit 2 (PDSS2) mutations." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **79**(6): 1125-1129.

Lorincz, P., Z. Lakatos, A. Varga, T. Maruzs, Z. Simon-Vecsei, Z. Darula, P. Benko, G. Csordas, M. Lippai, I. Ando, K. Hegedus, K. F. Medzihradszky, S. Takats and G. Juhasz (2016). "MiniCORVET is a Vps8-containing early endosomal tether in Drosophila." <u>Elife</u> **5**.

Love, I. M., P. Sekaric, D. Shi, S. R. Grossman and E. J. Androphy (2012). "The histone acetyltransferase PCAF regulates p21 transcription through stress-induced acetylation of histone H3." <u>Cell Cycle</u> **11**(13): 2458-2466.

Lovric, S., S. Goncalves, H. Y. Gee, B. Oskouian, H. Srinivas, W. I. Choi, S. Shril, S. Ashraf, W. Tan, J. Rao, M. Airik, D. Schapiro, D. A. Braun, C. E. Sadowski, E. Widmeier, T. Jobst-Schwan, J. M. Schmidt, V. Girik, G. Capitani, J. H. Suh, N. Lachaussee, C. Arrondel, J. Patat, O. Gribouval, M. Furlano, O. Boyer, A. Schmitt, V. Vuiblet, S. Hashmi, R. Wilcken, F. P. Bernier, A. M. Innes, J. S. Parboosingh, R. E. Lamont, J. P. Midgley, N. Wright, J. Majewski, M. Zenker, F. Schaefer, N. Kuss, J. Greil, T. Giese, K. Schwarz, V. Catheline, D. Schanze, I. Franke, Y. Sznajer, A. S. Truant, B. Adams, J. Desir, R. Biemann, Y. Pei, E. Ars, N. Lloberas, A. Madrid, V. R. Dharnidharka, A. M. Connolly, M. C. Willing, M. A. Cooper, R. P. Lifton, M. Simons, H. Riezman, C. Antignac, J. D. Saba and F. Hildebrandt (2017). "Mutations in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase cause nephrosis with ichthyosis and adrenal insufficiency." J Clin Invest **127**(3): 912-928.

Lowik, M., E. Levtchenko, D. Westra, P. Groenen, E. Steenbergen, J. Weening, M. Lilien, L. Monnens and L. van den Heuvel (2008). "Bigenic heterozygosity and the development of steroid-resistant focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Nephrol Dial Transplant</u> **23**(10): 3146-3151.

Lowik, M. M., P. J. Groenen, I. Pronk, M. R. Lilien, R. Goldschmeding, H. B. Dijkman, E. N. Levtchenko, L. A. Monnens and L. P. van den Heuvel (2007). "Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in a patient homozygous for a CD2AP mutation." <u>Kidney Int</u> **72**(10): 1198-1203.

Lucki, N. C., D. Li and M. B. Sewer (2012). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate rapidly increases cortisol biosynthesis and the expression of genes involved in cholesterol uptake and transport in H295R adrenocortical cells." <u>Mol Cell Endocrinol</u> **348**(1): 165-175.

Lugli, N., S. K. Sotiriou and T. D. Halazonetis (2017). "The role of SMARCAL1 in replication fork stability and telomere maintenance." <u>DNA Repair (Amst)</u>.

Lupski, J. R., J. W. Belmont, E. Boerwinkle and R. A. Gibbs (2011). "Clan genomics and the complex architecture of human disease." <u>Cell</u> **147**(1): 32-43.

Lyngbaek, S., J. L. Marott, T. Sehestedt, T. W. Hansen, M. H. Olsen, O. Andersen, A. Linneberg, S. B. Haugaard, J. Eugen-Olsen, P. R. Hansen and J. Jeppesen (2013). "Cardiovascular risk prediction in the general population with use of suPAR, CRP, and Framingham Risk Score." <u>Int J Cardiol</u> **167**(6): 2904-2911.

Maas, R. J., J. K. Deegens, B. Smeets, M. J. Moeller and J. F. Wetzels (2016). "Minimal change disease and idiopathic FSGS: manifestations of the same disease." <u>Nat Rev Nephrol</u> **12**(12): 768-776.

Maceyka, M., H. Sankala, N. C. Hait, H. Le Stunff, H. Liu, R. Toman, C. Collier, M. Zhang, L. S. Satin, A. H. Merrill, Jr., S. Milstien and S. Spiegel (2005). "SphK1 and SphK2, sphingosine kinase isoenzymes with opposing functions in sphingolipid metabolism." J Biol Chem **280**(44): 37118-37129.

Maezawa, Y., T. Onay, R. P. Scott, L. S. Keir, H. Dimke, C. Li, V. Eremina, Y. Maezawa, M. Jeansson, J. Shan, M. Binnie, M. Lewin, A. Ghosh, J. H. Miner, S. J. Vainio and S. E. Quaggin (2014). "Loss of the podocyte-expressed transcription factor Tcf21/Pod1 results in podocyte differentiation defects and FSGS." J Am Soc Nephrol **25**(11): 2459-2470.

Mallik, L., E. Arif, P. Sharma, Y. S. Rathore, H. N. Wong, L. B. Holzman, Ashish and D. Nihalani (2012). "Solution structure analysis of cytoplasmic domain of podocyte protein Neph1 using small/wide angle x-ray scattering (SWAXS)." J Biol Chem **287**(12): 9441-9453.

Mallipattu, S. K., R. Liu, F. Zheng, G. Narla, A. Ma'ayan, S. Dikman, M. K. Jain, M. Saleem, V. D'Agati, P. Klotman, P. Y. Chuang and J. C. He (2012). "Kruppel-like factor 15 (KLF15) is a key regulator of podocyte differentiation." J Biol Chem **287**(23): 19122-19135.

Mandal, L., U. Banerjee and V. Hartenstein (2004). "Evidence for a fruit fly hemangioblast and similarities between lymph-gland hematopoiesis in fruit fly and mammal aorta-gonadal-mesonephros mesoderm." <u>Nat Genet</u> **36**(9): 1019-1023.

Mandala, S., R. Hajdu, J. Bergstrom, E. Quackenbush, J. Xie, J. Milligan, R. Thornton, G. J. Shei, D. Card, C. Keohane, M. Rosenbach, J. Hale, C. L. Lynch, K. Rupprecht, W. Parsons and H. Rosen (2002). "Alteration of lymphocyte trafficking by sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor agonists." <u>Science</u> **296**(5566): 346-349.

Mao, J., D. Wang, P. Mataleena, B. He, D. Niu, K. Katayama, X. Xu, J. R. Ojala, W. Wang, Q. Shu, L. Du, A. Liu, T. Pikkarainen, J. Patrakka and K. Tryggvason (2013). "Myo1e impairment results in actin reorganization, podocyte dysfunction, and proteinuria in zebrafish and cultured podocytes." <u>PLoS</u> <u>One</u> **8**(8): e72750.

Marfella, C. G., N. Henninger, S. E. LeBlanc, N. Krishnan, D. S. Garlick, L. B. Holzman and A. N. Imbalzano (2008). "A mutation in the mouse Chd2 chromatin remodeling enzyme results in a complex renal phenotype." <u>Kidney Blood Press Res</u> **31**(6): 421-432.

Marfella, C. G., Y. Ohkawa, A. H. Coles, D. S. Garlick, S. N. Jones and A. N. Imbalzano (2006). "Mutation of the SNF2 family member Chd2 affects mouse development and survival." <u>J Cell Physiol</u> **209**(1): 162-171.

Margolin, D. H., M. Kousi, Y. M. Chan, E. T. Lim, J. D. Schmahmann, M. Hadjivassiliou, J. E. Hall, I. Adam, A. Dwyer, L. Plummer, S. V. Aldrin, J. O'Rourke, A. Kirby, K. Lage, A. Milunsky, J. M. Milunsky, J. Chan, E. T. Hedley-Whyte, M. J. Daly, N. Katsanis and S. B. Seminara (2013). "Ataxia, dementia, and hypogonadotropism caused by disordered ubiquitination." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **368**(21): 1992-2003.

Martin, C. and Y. Zhang (2005). "The diverse functions of histone lysine methylation." <u>Nat Rev Mol</u> <u>Cell Biol</u> **6**(11): 838-849.

Mason, P. D. H., P. F. (2010). Comprehensive clinical nephrology. <u>Comprehensive clinical nephrology</u>. J. r. Flöge, R. J. Johnson and J. Feehally. St. Louis, Mo., Saunders Elsevier: 218-227.

Mathew, S., X. Chen, A. Pozzi and R. Zent (2012). "Integrins in renal development." <u>Pediatr Nephrol</u> **27**(6): 891-900.

Matsuoka, Y., X. Li and V. Bennett (2000). "Adducin: structure, function and regulation." <u>Cell Mol Life</u> <u>Sci</u> **57**(6): 884-895.

Matsusaka, T., E. Sandgren, A. Shintani, V. Kon, I. Pastan, A. B. Fogo and I. Ichikawa (2011). "Podocyte injury damages other podocytes." J Am Soc Nephrol **22**(7): 1275-1285.

Matsusaka, T., J. Xin, S. Niwa, K. Kobayashi, A. Akatsuka, H. Hashizume, Q. C. Wang, I. Pastan, A. B. Fogo and I. Ichikawa (2005). "Genetic engineering of glomerular sclerosis in the mouse via control of onset and severity of podocyte-specific injury." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **16**(4): 1013-1023.

Mattie, M., G. Brooker and S. Spiegel (1994). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate, a putative second messenger, mobilizes calcium from internal stores via an inositol trisphosphate-independent pathway." J Biol Chem **269**(5): 3181-3188.

Maurice, T., F. Duclot, J. Meunier, G. Naert, L. Givalois, J. Meffre, A. Celerier, C. Jacquet, V. Copois, N. Mechti, K. Ozato and C. Gongora (2008). "Altered memory capacities and response to stress in p300/CBP-associated factor (PCAF) histone acetylase knockout mice." <u>Neuropsychopharmacology</u> **33**(7): 1584-1602.

McCarthy, H. J., A. Bierzynska, M. Wherlock, M. Ognjanovic, L. Kerecuk, S. Hegde, S. Feather, R. D. Gilbert, L. Krischock, C. Jones, M. D. Sinha, N. J. Webb, M. Christian, M. M. Williams, S. Marks, A. Koziell, G. I. Welsh, M. A. Saleem and R. t. U. S. S. Group (2013). "Simultaneous sequencing of 24 genes associated with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome." <u>Clin J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **8**(4): 637-648.

McIlwain, H. (1975). "The Second Thudichum Lecture. Cerebral isolates and neurochemical discovery." <u>Biochem Soc Trans</u> **3**(5): 579-590.

Meijers, B., R. J. Maas, B. Sprangers, K. Claes, R. Poesen, B. Bammens, M. Naesens, J. K. Deegens, R. Dietrich, M. Storr, J. F. Wetzels, P. Evenepoel and D. Kuypers (2014). "The soluble urokinase receptor is not a clinical marker for focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Kidney Int</u> **85**(3): 636-640.

Meijers, B., R. Poesen, K. Claes, R. Dietrich, B. Bammens, B. Sprangers, M. Naesens, M. Storr, D. Kuypers and P. Evenepoel (2015). "Soluble urokinase receptor is a biomarker of cardiovascular disease in chronic kidney disease." <u>Kidney Int</u> **87**(1): 210-216.

Meijers, B. and B. Sprangers (2014). "The hype cycle for soluble urokinase receptor in FSGS: passing the trough of disillusionment?" <u>Clin J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **9**(11): 1835-1836.

Mele, C., P. Iatropoulos, R. Donadelli, A. Calabria, R. Maranta, P. Cassis, S. Buelli, S. Tomasoni, R. Piras, M. Krendel, S. Bettoni, M. Morigi, M. Delledonne, C. Pecoraro, I. Abbate, M. R. Capobianchi, F. Hildebrandt, E. Otto, F. Schaefer, F. Macciardi, F. Ozaltin, S. Emre, T. Ibsirlioglu, A. Benigni, G. Remuzzi, M. Noris and C. PodoNet (2011). "MYO1E mutations and childhood familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **365**(4): 295-306.

Meroni, S. B., E. H. Pellizzari, D. F. Canepa and S. B. Cigorraga (2000). "Possible involvement of ceramide in the regulation of rat Leydig cell function." <u>J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol</u> **75**(4-5): 307-313.

Merrill, A. H., Jr. and G. M. Carman (2015). "Introduction to Thematic Minireview Series: Novel Bioactive Sphingolipids." J Biol Chem **290**(25): 15362-15364.

Merscher, S. and A. Fornoni (2014). "Podocyte pathology and nephropathy - sphingolipids in glomerular diseases." <u>Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)</u> **5**: 127.

Meyer-Schwesinger, C., C. Lange, V. Brocker, P. Agustian, U. Lehmann, A. Raabe, M. Brinkmeyer, E. Kobayashi, M. Schiffer, G. Busche, H. H. Kreipe, F. Thaiss and J. U. Becker (2011). "Bone marrow-derived progenitor cells do not contribute to podocyte turnover in the puromycin aminoglycoside and renal ablation models in rats." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **178**(2): 494-499.

Meyer zu Heringdorf, D., H. Lass, R. Alemany, K. T. Laser, E. Neumann, C. Zhang, M. Schmidt, U. Rauen, K. H. Jakobs and C. J. van Koppen (1998). "Sphingosine kinase-mediated Ca2+ signalling by G-protein-coupled receptors." <u>EMBO J</u> **17**(10): 2830-2837.

Michaud, J. L., L. I. Lemieux, M. Dube, B. C. Vanderhyden, S. J. Robertson and C. R. Kennedy (2003). "Focal and segmental glomerulosclerosis in mice with podocyte-specific expression of mutant alphaactinin-4." J Am Soc Nephrol **14**(5): 1200-1211.

Miesen, L., E. Steenbergen and B. Smeets (2017). "Parietal cells-new perspectives in glomerular disease." <u>Cell Tissue Res</u> **369**(1): 237-244.

Mishra, N., C. M. Reilly, D. R. Brown, P. Ruiz and G. S. Gilkeson (2003). "Histone deacetylase inhibitors modulate renal disease in the MRL-lpr/lpr mouse." J Clin Invest **111**(4): 539-552.

Mitroi, D. N., A. U. Deutschmann, M. Raucamp, I. Karunakaran, K. Glebov, M. Hans, J. Walter, J. Saba, M. Graler, D. Ehninger, E. Sopova, O. Shupliakov, D. Swandulla and G. van Echten-Deckert (2016). "Sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase ablation disrupts presynaptic architecture and function via an ubiquitin- proteasome mediated mechanism." <u>Sci Rep</u> **6**: 37064.

Mitroi, D. N., I. Karunakaran, M. Graler, J. D. Saba, D. Ehninger, M. D. Ledesma and G. van Echten-Deckert (2017). "SGPL1 (sphingosine phosphate lyase 1) modulates neuronal autophagy via phosphatidylethanolamine production." <u>Autophagy</u> **13**(5): 885-899.

Miyake, N., H. Tsukaguchi, E. Koshimizu, A. Shono, S. Matsunaga, M. Shiina, Y. Mimura, S. Imamura, T. Hirose, K. Okudela, K. Nozu, Y. Akioka, M. Hattori, N. Yoshikawa, A. Kitamura, H. I. Cheong, S. Kagami, M. Yamashita, A. Fujita, S. Miyatake, Y. Tsurusaki, M. Nakashima, H. Saitsu, K. Ohashi, N. Imamoto, A. Ryo, K. Ogata, K. Iijima and N. Matsumoto (2015). "Biallelic Mutations in Nuclear Pore Complex Subunit NUP107 Cause Early-Childhood-Onset Steroid-Resistant Nephrotic Syndrome." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **97**(4): 555-566.

Mizugishi, K., T. Yamashita, A. Olivera, G. F. Miller, S. Spiegel and R. L. Proia (2005). "Essential role for sphingosine kinases in neural and vascular development." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **25**(24): 11113-11121.

Moeller, M. J., A. Soofi, G. S. Braun, X. Li, C. Watzl, W. Kriz and L. B. Holzman (2004). "Protocadherin FAT1 binds Ena/VASP proteins and is necessary for actin dynamics and cell polarization." <u>EMBO J</u> **23**(19): 3769-3779.

Moeller, M. J. and V. Tenten (2013). "Renal albumin filtration: alternative models to the standard physical barriers." <u>Nat Rev Nephrol</u> **9**(5): 266-277.

Mohr, S. E. (2014). "RNAi screening in Drosophila cells and in vivo." <u>Methods</u> 68(1): 82-88.

Mohtat, D. and K. Susztak (2010). "Fine tuning gene expression: the epigenome." <u>Semin Nephrol</u> **30**(5): 468-476.

Moller, C. C., J. Flesche and J. Reiser (2009). "Sensitizing the Slit Diaphragm with TRPC6 ion channels." J Am Soc Nephrol **20**(5): 950-953.

Monzo, P., N. C. Gauthier, F. Keslair, A. Loubat, C. M. Field, Y. Le Marchand-Brustel and M. Cormont (2005). "Clues to CD2-associated protein involvement in cytokinesis." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **16**(6): 2891-2902.

Moore, A. N., A. W. Kampfl, X. Zhao, R. L. Hayes and P. K. Dash (1999). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate induces apoptosis of cultured hippocampal neurons that requires protein phosphatases and activator protein-1 complexes." <u>Neuroscience</u> **94**(2): 405-415.

Morimoto, M., K. Choi, C. F. Boerkoel and K. S. Cho (2016). "Chromatin changes in SMARCAL1 deficiency: A hypothesis for the gene expression alterations of Schimke immuno-osseous dysplasia." <u>Nucleus</u> **7**(6): 560-571.

Morimoto, M., C. Myung, K. Beirnes, K. Choi, Y. Asakura, A. Bokenkamp, D. Bonneau, M. Brugnara, J. Charrow, E. Colin, A. Davis, G. Deschenes, M. Gentile, M. Giordano, A. K. Gormley, R. Govender, M. Joseph, K. Keller, E. Lerut, E. Levtchenko, L. Massella, C. Mayfield, B. Najafian, D. Parham, J. Spranger, P. Stenzel, U. Yis, Z. Yu, J. Zonana, G. Hendson and C. F. Boerkoel (2016). "Increased Wnt and Notch signaling: a clue to the renal disease in Schimke immuno-osseous dysplasia?" <u>Orphanet J Rare Dis</u> **11**(1): 149.

Mucha, B., F. Ozaltin, B. G. Hinkes, K. Hasselbacher, R. G. Ruf, M. Schultheiss, D. Hangan, B. E. Hoskins, A. S. Everding, R. Bogdanovic, T. Seeman, B. Hoppe, F. Hildebrandt and A. P. N. S. G. Members of the (2006). "Mutations in the Wilms' tumor 1 gene cause isolated steroid resistant nephrotic syndrome and occur in exons 8 and 9." Pediatr Res **59**(2): 325-331.

Mullen, T. D. and L. M. Obeid (2012). "Ceramide and apoptosis: exploring the enigmatic connections between sphingolipid metabolism and programmed cell death." <u>Anticancer Agents Med Chem</u> **12**(4): 340-363.

Na, J., M. T. Sweetwyne, A. S. Park, K. Susztak and R. L. Cagan (2015). "Diet-Induced Podocyte Dysfunction in Drosophila and Mammals." <u>Cell Rep</u> **12**(4): 636-647.

Nabet, B., A. Tsai, J. W. Tobias and R. P. Carstens (2009). "Identification of a putative network of actin-associated cytoskeletal proteins in glomerular podocytes defined by co-purified mRNAs." <u>PLoS</u> <u>One</u> **4**(8): e6491.

Nagahashi, M., E. Y. Kim, A. Yamada, S. Ramachandran, J. C. Allegood, N. C. Hait, M. Maceyka, S. Milstien, K. Takabe and S. Spiegel (2013). "Spns2, a transporter of phosphorylated sphingoid bases, regulates their blood and lymph levels, and the lymphatic network." <u>FASEB J</u> **27**(3): 1001-1011.

Nagata, M., Y. Yamaguchi, Y. Komatsu and K. Ito (1995). "Mitosis and the presence of binucleate cells among glomerular podocytes in diseased human kidneys." <u>Nephron</u> **70**(1): 68-71.

Nagy, Z. and L. Tora (2007). "Distinct GCN5/PCAF-containing complexes function as co-activators and are involved in transcription factor and global histone acetylation." <u>Oncogene</u> **26**(37): 5341-5357.

Najafian, B., E. Svarstad, L. Bostad, M. C. Gubler, C. Tondel, C. Whitley and M. Mauer (2011). "Progressive podocyte injury and globotriaosylceramide (GL-3) accumulation in young patients with Fabry disease." <u>Kidney Int</u> **79**(6): 663-670.

Nakahara, K., A. Ohkuni, T. Kitamura, K. Abe, T. Naganuma, Y. Ohno, R. A. Zoeller and A. Kihara (2012). "The Sjogren-Larsson syndrome gene encodes a hexadecenal dehydrogenase of the sphingosine 1-phosphate degradation pathway." <u>Mol Cell</u> **46**(4): 461-471.

Nakatani, Y. and R. Inagi (2016). "Epigenetic Regulation Through SIRT1 in Podocytes." <u>Curr Hypertens</u> <u>Rev</u> **12**(2): 89-94.

Naphade, S., J. Sharma, H. P. Gaide Chevronnay, M. A. Shook, B. A. Yeagy, C. J. Rocca, S. N. Ur, A. J. Lau, P. J. Courtoy and S. Cherqui (2015). "Brief reports: Lysosomal cross-correction by hematopoietic stem cell-derived macrophages via tunneling nanotubes." <u>Stem Cells</u> **33**(1): 301-309.

Ng, S. B., E. H. Turner, P. D. Robertson, S. D. Flygare, A. W. Bigham, C. Lee, T. Shaffer, M. Wong, A. Bhattacharjee, E. E. Eichler, M. Bamshad, D. A. Nickerson and J. Shendure (2009). "Targeted capture and massively parallel sequencing of 12 human exomes." <u>Nature</u> **461**(7261): 272-276.

Nicolaou, N., C. Margadant, S. H. Kevelam, M. R. Lilien, M. J. Oosterveld, M. Kreft, A. M. van Eerde, R. Pfundt, P. A. Terhal, B. van der Zwaag, P. G. Nikkels, N. Sachs, R. Goldschmeding, N. V. Knoers, K. Y. Renkema and A. Sonnenberg (2012). "Gain of glycosylation in integrin alpha3 causes lung disease and nephrotic syndrome." J Clin Invest **122**(12): 4375-4387.

Nishi, S., Y. Ubara, Y. Utsunomiya, K. Okada, Y. Obata, H. Kai, H. Kiyomoto, S. Goto, T. Konta, Y. Sasatomi, Y. Sato, T. Nishino, K. Tsuruya, K. Furuichi, J. Hoshino, Y. Watanabe, K. Kimura and S. Matsuo (2016). "Evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for nephrotic syndrome 2014." <u>Clin Exp</u> <u>Nephrol</u> **20**(3): 342-370.

Nishi, T., N. Kobayashi, Y. Hisano, A. Kawahara and A. Yamaguchi (2014). "Molecular and physiological functions of sphingosine 1-phosphate transporters." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1841**(5): 759-765.

Ogretmen, B. and Y. A. Hannun (2004). "Biologically active sphingolipids in cancer pathogenesis and treatment." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **4**(8): 604-616.

Ohler, S., S. Hakeda-Suzuki and T. Suzuki (2011). "Hts, the Drosophila homologue of Adducin, physically interacts with the transmembrane receptor Golden goal to guide photoreceptor axons." <u>Dev Dyn</u> **240**(1): 135-148.

Ohse, T., A. M. Chang, J. W. Pippin, G. Jarad, K. L. Hudkins, C. E. Alpers, J. H. Miner and S. J. Shankland (2009). "A new function for parietal epithelial cells: a second glomerular barrier." <u>Am J Physiol Renal</u> <u>Physiol</u> **297**(6): F1566-1574.

Ohtoyo, M., N. Machinaga, R. Inoue, K. Hagihara, H. Yuita, M. Tamura, R. Hashimoto, J. Chiba, F. Muro, J. Watanabe, Y. Kobayashi, K. Abe, Y. Kita, M. Nagasaki and T. Shimozato (2016). "Component of Caramel Food Coloring, THI, Causes Lymphopenia Indirectly via a Key Metabolic Intermediate." <u>Cell Chem Biol</u> **23**(5): 555-560.

Ohtoyo, M., M. Tamura, N. Machinaga, F. Muro and R. Hashimoto (2015). "Sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase inhibition by 2-acetyl-4-(tetrahydroxybutyl)imidazole (THI) under conditions of vitamin B6 deficiency." <u>Mol Cell Biochem</u> **400**(1-2): 125-133.

Okamoto, H., N. Takuwa, T. Yokomizo, N. Sugimoto, S. Sakurada, H. Shigematsu and Y. Takuwa (2000). "Inhibitory regulation of Rac activation, membrane ruffling, and cell migration by the G protein-coupled sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor EDG5 but not EDG1 or EDG3." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **20**(24): 9247-9261.

Okumura, K., M. Mendoza, R. M. Bachoo, R. A. DePinho, W. K. Cavenee and F. B. Furnari (2006). "PCAF modulates PTEN activity." J Biol Chem **281**(36): 26562-26568.

Olivera, A., M. L. Allende and R. L. Proia (2013). "Shaping the landscape: metabolic regulation of S1P gradients." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1831**(1): 193-202.

Olivera, A., T. Kohama, L. Edsall, V. Nava, O. Cuvillier, S. Poulton and S. Spiegel (1999). "Sphingosine kinase expression increases intracellular sphingosine-1-phosphate and promotes cell growth and survival." J Cell Biol **147**(3): 545-558.

Ordovas, J. M. and C. E. Smith (2010). "Epigenetics and cardiovascular disease." <u>Nat Rev Cardiol</u> **7**(9): 510-519.

Ozaltin, F., T. Ibsirlioglu, E. Z. Taskiran, D. E. Baydar, F. Kaymaz, M. Buyukcelik, B. D. Kilic, A. Balat, P. Iatropoulos, E. Asan, N. A. Akarsu, F. Schaefer, E. Yilmaz, A. Bakkaloglu and C. PodoNet (2011). "Disruption of PTPRO causes childhood-onset nephrotic syndrome." Am J Hum Genet **89**(1): 139-147.

Pagliarini, R. A. and T. Xu (2003). "A genetic screen in Drosophila for metastatic behavior." <u>Science</u> **302**(5648): 1227-1231.

Palacios, J. A., D. Herranz, M. L. De Bonis, S. Velasco, M. Serrano and M. A. Blasco (2010). "SIRT1 contributes to telomere maintenance and augments global homologous recombination." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **191**(7): 1299-1313.

Papeta, N., Z. Zheng, E. A. Schon, S. Brosel, M. M. Altintas, S. H. Nasr, J. Reiser, V. D. D'Agati and A. G. Gharavi (2010). "Prkdc participates in mitochondrial genome maintenance and prevents Adriamycininduced nephropathy in mice." J Clin Invest **120**(11): 4055-4064.

Pappu, R., S. R. Schwab, I. Cornelissen, J. P. Pereira, J. B. Regard, Y. Xu, E. Camerer, Y. W. Zheng, Y. Huang, J. G. Cyster and S. R. Coughlin (2007). "Promotion of lymphocyte egress into blood and lymph by distinct sources of sphingosine-1-phosphate." <u>Science</u> **316**(5822): 295-298.

Park, S. W., M. Kim, M. Kim, V. D. D'Agati and H. T. Lee (2011). "Sphingosine kinase 1 protects against renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in mice by sphingosine-1-phosphate1 receptor activation." <u>Kidney</u> Int **80**(12): 1315-1327.

Pavenstadt, H. (1998). "The charge for going by foot: modifying the surface of podocytes." <u>Exp</u> <u>Nephrol</u> **6**(2): 98-103.

Pelletier, J., W. Bruening, C. E. Kashtan, S. M. Mauer, J. C. Manivel, J. E. Striegel, D. C. Houghton, C. Junien, R. Habib, L. Fouser and et al. (1991). "Germline mutations in the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene are associated with abnormal urogenital development in Denys-Drash syndrome." <u>Cell</u> **67**(2): 437-447.

Perico, L., S. Conti, A. Benigni and G. Remuzzi (2016). "Podocyte-actin dynamics in health and disease." <u>Nat Rev Nephrol</u> **12**(11): 692-710.

Perosa, F., E. Favoino, M. A. Caragnano and F. Dammacco (2006). "Generation of biologically active linear and cyclic peptides has revealed a unique fine specificity of rituximab and its possible cross-reactivity with acid sphingomyelinase-like phosphodiesterase 3b precursor." <u>Blood</u> **107**(3): 1070-1077.

Peti-Peterdi, J. and A. Sipos (2010). "A high-powered view of the filtration barrier." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **21**(11): 1835-1841.

Petrella, L. N., T. Smith-Leiker and L. Cooley (2007). "The Ovhts polyprotein is cleaved to produce fusome and ring canal proteins required for Drosophila oogenesis." <u>Development</u> **134**(4): 703-712.

Petrij, F., R. H. Giles, H. G. Dauwerse, J. J. Saris, R. C. Hennekam, M. Masuno, N. Tommerup, G. J. van Ommen, R. H. Goodman, D. J. Peters and et al. (1995). "Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome caused by mutations in the transcriptional co-activator CBP." <u>Nature</u> **376**(6538): 348-351.

Petrovski, S., Q. Wang, E. L. Heinzen, A. S. Allen and D. B. Goldstein (2013). "Genic intolerance to functional variation and the interpretation of personal genomes." <u>PLoS Genet</u> **9**(8): e1003709.

Philippakis, A. A., D. R. Azzariti, S. Beltran, A. J. Brookes, C. A. Brownstein, M. Brudno, H. G. Brunner, O. J. Buske, K. Carey, C. Doll, S. Dumitriu, S. O. Dyke, J. T. den Dunnen, H. V. Firth, R. A. Gibbs, M. Girdea, M. Gonzalez, M. A. Haendel, A. Hamosh, I. A. Holm, L. Huang, M. E. Hurles, B. Hutton, J. B. Krier, A. Misyura, C. J. Mungall, J. Paschall, B. Paten, P. N. Robinson, F. Schiettecatte, N. L. Sobreira, G. J. Swaminathan, P. E. Taschner, S. F. Terry, N. L. Washington, S. Zuchner, K. M. Boycott and H. L.

Rehm (2015). "The Matchmaker Exchange: a platform for rare disease gene discovery." <u>Hum Mutat</u> **36**(10): 915-921.

Pielage, J., V. Bulat, J. B. Zuchero, R. D. Fetter and G. W. Davis (2011). "Hts/Adducin controls synaptic elaboration and elimination." <u>Neuron</u> **69**(6): 1114-1131.

Pike, L. J. (2003). "Lipid rafts: bringing order to chaos." J Lipid Res 44(4): 655-667.

Pippin, J. W., P. T. Brinkkoetter, F. C. Cormack-Aboud, R. V. Durvasula, P. V. Hauser, J. Kowalewska, R. D. Krofft, C. M. Logar, C. B. Marshall, T. Ohse and S. J. Shankland (2009). "Inducible rodent models of acquired podocyte diseases." Am J Physiol Renal Physiol **296**(2): F213-229.

Pippin, J. W., N. V. Kaverina, D. G. Eng, R. D. Krofft, S. T. Glenn, J. S. Duffield, K. W. Gross and S. J. Shankland (2015). "Cells of renin lineage are adult pluripotent progenitors in experimental glomerular disease." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **309**(4): F341-358.

Poole, L. A., R. Zhao, G. G. Glick, C. A. Lovejoy, C. M. Eischen and D. Cortez (2015). "SMARCAL1 maintains telomere integrity during DNA replication." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **112**(48): 14864-14869.

Portela, A. and M. Esteller (2010). "Epigenetic modifications and human disease." <u>Nat Biotechnol</u> **28**(10): 1057-1068.

Posey, J. E., T. Harel, P. Liu, J. A. Rosenfeld, R. A. James, Z. H. Coban Akdemir, M. Walkiewicz, W. Bi, R. Xiao, Y. Ding, F. Xia, A. L. Beaudet, D. M. Muzny, R. A. Gibbs, E. Boerwinkle, C. M. Eng, V. R. Sutton, C. A. Shaw, S. E. Plon, Y. Yang and J. R. Lupski (2017). "Resolution of Disease Phenotypes Resulting from Multilocus Genomic Variation." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **376**(1): 21-31.

Postow, L., E. M. Woo, B. T. Chait and H. Funabiki (2009). "Identification of SMARCAL1 as a component of the DNA damage response." J Biol Chem **284**(51): 35951-35961.

Poynter, S. T. and C. Kadoch (2016). "Polycomb and trithorax opposition in development and disease." <u>Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol</u> **5**(6): 659-688.

Prasad, N., A. K. Jaiswal, V. Agarwal, B. Yadav, R. K. Sharma, M. Rai, H. Singh, S. Chaturvedi and A. Singh (2015). "Differential alteration in peripheral T-regulatory and T-effector cells with change in P-glycoprotein expression in Childhood Nephrotic Syndrome: A longitudinal study." <u>Cytokine</u> **72**(2): 190-196.

Prasad, R., I. Hadjidemetriou, A. Maharaj, E. Meimaridou, F. Buonocore, M. Saleem, J. Hurcombe, A. Bierzynska, E. Barbagelata, I. Bergada, H. Cassinelli, U. Das, R. Krone, B. Hacihamdioglu, E. Sari, E. Yesilkaya, H. L. Storr, M. Clemente, M. Fernandez-Cancio, N. Camats, N. Ram, J. C. Achermann, P. P. Van Veldhoven, L. Guasti, D. Braslavsky, T. Guran and L. A. Metherell (2017). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase mutations cause primary adrenal insufficiency and steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome." J Clin Invest **127**(3): 942-953.

Proia, R. L. and T. Hla (2015). "Emerging biology of sphingosine-1-phosphate: its role in pathogenesis and therapy." J Clin Invest **125**(4): 1379-1387.

Puri, P. L., V. Sartorelli, X. J. Yang, Y. Hamamori, V. V. Ogryzko, B. H. Howard, L. Kedes, J. Y. Wang, A. Graessmann, Y. Nakatani and M. Levrero (1997). "Differential roles of p300 and PCAF acetyltransferases in muscle differentiation." <u>Mol Cell</u> **1**(1): 35-45.

Puttagunta, R., A. Tedeschi, M. G. Soria, A. Hervera, R. Lindner, K. I. Rathore, P. Gaub, Y. Joshi, T. Nguyen, A. Schmandke, C. J. Laskowski, A. L. Boutillier, F. Bradke and S. Di Giovanni (2014). "PCAF-dependent epigenetic changes promote axonal regeneration in the central nervous system." <u>Nat</u> <u>Commun</u> **5**: 3527.

Quinta, R., D. Rodrigues, M. Assuncao, M. F. Macedo, O. Azevedo, D. Cunha, P. Oliveira and M. C. Sa Miranda (2014). "Reduced glucosylceramide in the mouse model of Fabry disease: correction by successful enzyme replacement therapy." <u>Gene</u> **536**(1): 97-104.

Reczek, D., M. Schwake, J. Schroder, H. Hughes, J. Blanz, X. Jin, W. Brondyk, S. Van Patten, T. Edmunds and P. Saftig (2007). "LIMP-2 is a receptor for lysosomal mannose-6-phosphate-independent targeting of beta-glucocerebrosidase." <u>Cell</u> **131**(4): 770-783.

Regard, J. B., I. T. Sato and S. R. Coughlin (2008). "Anatomical profiling of G protein-coupled receptor expression." <u>Cell</u> **135**(3): 561-571.

Reik, W. and A. Lewis (2005). "Co-evolution of X-chromosome inactivation and imprinting in mammals." <u>Nat Rev Genet</u> **6**(5): 403-410.

Reiser, J., W. Kriz, M. Kretzler and P. Mundel (2000). "The glomerular slit diaphragm is a modified adherens junction." J Am Soc Nephrol **11**(1): 1-8.

Reiser, J., K. R. Polu, C. C. Moller, P. Kenlan, M. M. Altintas, C. Wei, C. Faul, S. Herbert, I. Villegas, C. Avila-Casado, M. McGee, H. Sugimoto, D. Brown, R. Kalluri, P. Mundel, P. L. Smith, D. E. Clapham and M. R. Pollak (2005). "TRPC6 is a glomerular slit diaphragm-associated channel required for normal renal function." <u>Nat Genet</u> **37**(7): 739-744.

Reiter, L. T., L. Potocki, S. Chien, M. Gribskov and E. Bier (2001). "A systematic analysis of human disease-associated gene sequences in Drosophila melanogaster." <u>Genome Res</u> **11**(6): 1114-1125.

Reyes, C. C., M. Jin, E. B. Breznau, R. Espino, R. Delgado-Gonzalo, A. B. Goryachev and A. L. Miller (2014). "Anillin regulates cell-cell junction integrity by organizing junctional accumulation of Rho-GTP and actomyosin." <u>Curr Biol</u> **24**(11): 1263-1270.

Riehle, M., A. K. Buscher, B. O. Gohlke, M. Kassmann, M. Kolatsi-Joannou, J. H. Brasen, M. Nagel, J. U. Becker, P. Winyard, P. F. Hoyer, R. Preissner, D. Krautwurst, M. Gollasch, S. Weber and C. Harteneck (2016). "TRPC6 G757D Loss-of-Function Mutation Associates with FSGS." J Am Soc Nephrol **27**(9): 2771-2783.

Robledo, R. F., S. L. Ciciotte, B. Gwynn, K. E. Sahr, D. M. Gilligan, N. Mohandas and L. L. Peters (2008). "Targeted deletion of alpha-adducin results in absent beta- and gamma-adducin, compensated hemolytic anemia, and lethal hydrocephalus in mice." <u>Blood</u> **112**(10): 4298-4307.

Robson, A. M., J. Giangiacomo, R. A. Kienstra, S. T. Naqvi and J. R. Ingelfinger (1974). "Normal glomerular permeability and its modification by minimal change nephrotic syndrmone." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **54**(5): 1190-1199.

Rocca, C. J., A. Kreymerman, S. N. Ur, K. E. Frizzi, S. Naphade, A. Lau, T. Tran, N. A. Calcutt, J. L. Goldberg and S. Cherqui (2015). "Treatment of Inherited Eye Defects by Systemic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation." Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci **56**(12): 7214-7223.

Rodewald, R. and M. J. Karnovsky (1974). "Porous substructure of the glomerular slit diaphragm in the rat and mouse." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **60**(2): 423-433.

Ronconi, E., C. Sagrinati, M. L. Angelotti, E. Lazzeri, B. Mazzinghi, L. Ballerini, E. Parente, F. Becherucci, M. Gacci, M. Carini, E. Maggi, M. Serio, G. B. Vannelli, L. Lasagni, S. Romagnani and P. Romagnani (2009). "Regeneration of glomerular podocytes by human renal progenitors." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **20**(2): 322-332.

Roselli, S., O. Gribouval, N. Boute, M. Sich, F. Benessy, T. Attie, M. C. Gubler and C. Antignac (2002). "Podocin localizes in the kidney to the slit diaphragm area." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **160**(1): 131-139.

Ruotsalainen, V., P. Ljungberg, J. Wartiovaara, U. Lenkkeri, M. Kestila, H. Jalanko, C. Holmberg and K. Tryggvason (1999). "Nephrin is specifically located at the slit diaphragm of glomerular podocytes." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **96**(14): 7962-7967.

Ruotsalainen, V., J. Patrakka, P. Tissari, P. Reponen, M. Hess, M. Kestila, C. Holmberg, R. Salonen, M. Heikinheimo, J. Wartiovaara, K. Tryggvason and H. Jalanko (2000). "Role of nephrin in cell junction formation in human nephrogenesis." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **157**(6): 1905-1916.

Ruvolo, P. P., X. Deng, T. Ito, B. K. Carr and W. S. May (1999). "Ceramide induces Bcl2 dephosphorylation via a mechanism involving mitochondrial PP2A." J Biol Chem **274**(29): 20296-20300.

Sadowski, C. E., S. Lovric, S. Ashraf, W. L. Pabst, H. Y. Gee, S. Kohl, S. Engelmann, V. Vega-Warner, H. Fang, J. Halbritter, M. J. Somers, W. Tan, S. Shril, I. Fessi, R. P. Lifton, D. Bockenhauer, S. El-Desoky, J. A. Kari, M. Zenker, M. J. Kemper, D. Mueller, H. M. Fathy, N. A. Soliman, S. S. Group and F. Hildebrandt (2015). "A single-gene cause in 29.5% of cases of steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome." J Am Soc Nephrol **26**(6): 1279-1289.

Sagrinati, C., G. S. Netti, B. Mazzinghi, E. Lazzeri, F. Liotta, F. Frosali, E. Ronconi, C. Meini, M. Gacci, R. Squecco, M. Carini, L. Gesualdo, F. Francini, E. Maggi, F. Annunziato, L. Lasagni, M. Serio, S. Romagnani and P. Romagnani (2006). "Isolation and characterization of multipotent progenitor cells from the Bowman's capsule of adult human kidneys." J Am Soc Nephrol **17**(9): 2443-2456.

Sahr, K. E., A. J. Lambert, S. L. Ciciotte, N. Mohandas and L. L. Peters (2009). "Targeted deletion of the gamma-adducin gene (Add3) in mice reveals differences in alpha-adducin interactions in erythroid and nonerythroid cells." <u>Am J Hematol</u> **84**(6): 354-361.

Sakamoto, K., T. Ueno, N. Kobayashi, S. Hara, Y. Takashima, I. Pastan, T. Matsusaka and M. Nagata (2014). "The direction and role of phenotypic transition between podocytes and parietal epithelial cells in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol **306**(1)</u>: F98-F104.

Samuelsson, K. and R. Zetterstrom (1971). "Ceramides in a patient with lipogranulomatosis (Farber's disease) with chronic course." <u>Scand J Clin Lab Invest</u> **27**(4): 393-405.

Sanchez-Nino, M. D., D. Carpio, A. B. Sanz, M. Ruiz-Ortega, S. Mezzano and A. Ortiz (2015). "Lyso-Gb3 activates Notch1 in human podocytes." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **24**(20): 5720-5732.

Sanchez-Nino, M. D., A. B. Sanz, S. Carrasco, M. A. Saleem, P. W. Mathieson, J. M. Valdivielso, M. Ruiz-Ortega, J. Egido and A. Ortiz (2011). "Globotriaosylsphingosine actions on human glomerular podocytes: implications for Fabry nephropathy." <u>Nephrol Dial Transplant</u> **26**(6): 1797-1802.

Sandhoff, K., U. Andreae and H. Jatzkewitz (1968). "Deficient hexozaminidase activity in an exceptional case of Tay-Sachs disease with additional storage of kidney globoside in visceral organs." Life Sci **7**(6): 283-288.

Sanna-Cherchi, S., K. E. Burgess, S. N. Nees, G. Caridi, P. L. Weng, M. Dagnino, M. Bodria, A. Carrea, M. A. Allegretta, H. R. Kim, B. J. Perry, M. Gigante, L. N. Clark, S. Kisselev, D. Cusi, L. Gesualdo, L. Allegri, F. Scolari, V. D'Agati, L. S. Shapiro, C. Pecoraro, T. Palomero, G. M. Ghiggeri and A. G. Gharavi (2011). "Exome sequencing identified MYO1E and NEIL1 as candidate genes for human autosomal recessive steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome." <u>Kidney Int</u> **80**(4): 389-396.

Santin, S., G. Bullich, B. Tazon-Vega, R. Garcia-Maset, I. Gimenez, I. Silva, P. Ruiz, J. Ballarin, R. Torra and E. Ars (2011). "Clinical utility of genetic testing in children and adults with steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome." <u>Clin J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **6**(5): 1139-1148.

Sartorelli, V., P. L. Puri, Y. Hamamori, V. Ogryzko, G. Chung, Y. Nakatani, J. Y. Wang and L. Kedes (1999). "Acetylation of MyoD directed by PCAF is necessary for the execution of the muscle program." <u>Mol Cell</u> **4**(5): 725-734.

Sato, Y., B. L. Wharram, S. K. Lee, L. Wickman, M. Goyal, M. Venkatareddy, J. W. Chang, J. E. Wiggins, C. Lienczewski, M. Kretzler and R. C. Wiggins (2009). "Urine podocyte mRNAs mark progression of renal disease." J Am Soc Nephrol **20**(5): 1041-1052.

Schmahl, J., C. S. Raymond and P. Soriano (2007). "PDGF signaling specificity is mediated through multiple immediate early genes." <u>Nat Genet</u> **39**(1): 52-60.

Schnabel, E., J. M. Anderson and M. G. Farquhar (1990). "The tight junction protein ZO-1 is concentrated along slit diaphragms of the glomerular epithelium." J Cell Biol **111**(3): 1255-1263.

Schumann, J., A. Grevot, D. Ledieu, A. Wolf, A. Schubart, A. Piaia, E. Sutter, S. Cote, C. Beerli, F. Pognan, A. Billich, P. Moulin and U. J. Walker (2015). "Reduced Activity of Sphingosine-1-Phosphate Lyase Induces Podocyte-related Glomerular Proteinuria, Skin Irritation, and Platelet Activation." <u>Toxicol Pathol</u> **43**(5): 694-703.

Schwab, S. R., J. P. Pereira, M. Matloubian, Y. Xu, Y. Huang and J. G. Cyster (2005). "Lymphocyte sequestration through S1P lyase inhibition and disruption of S1P gradients." <u>Science</u> **309**(5741): 1735-1739.

Schwartz, Y. B. and V. Pirrotta (2007). "Polycomb silencing mechanisms and the management of genomic programmes." <u>Nat Rev Genet</u> **8**(1): 9-22.

Schwarz, K., M. Simons, J. Reiser, M. A. Saleem, C. Faul, W. Kriz, A. S. Shaw, L. B. Holzman and P. Mundel (2001). "Podocin, a raft-associated component of the glomerular slit diaphragm, interacts with CD2AP and nephrin." J Clin Invest **108**(11): 1621-1629.

Scott, R. P., S. P. Hawley, J. Ruston, J. Du, C. Brakebusch, N. Jones and T. Pawson (2012). "Podocyte-specific loss of Cdc42 leads to congenital nephropathy." J Am Soc Nephrol **23**(7): 1149-1154.

Sellier-Leclerc, A. L., A. Duval, S. Riveron, M. A. Macher, G. Deschenes, C. Loirat, M. C. Verpont, M. Peuchmaur, P. Ronco, R. C. Monteiro and E. Haddad (2007). "A humanized mouse model of idiopathic nephrotic syndrome suggests a pathogenic role for immature cells." J Am Soc Nephrol **18**(10): 2732-2739.

Sellin, J., S. Albrecht, V. Kolsch and A. Paululat (2006). "Dynamics of heart differentiation, visualized utilizing heart enhancer elements of the Drosophila melanogaster bHLH transcription factor Hand." <u>Gene Expr Patterns</u> **6**(4): 360-375.

Sentelle, R. D., C. E. Senkal, W. Jiang, S. Ponnusamy, S. Gencer, S. P. Selvam, V. K. Ramshesh, Y. K. Peterson, J. J. Lemasters, Z. M. Szulc, J. Bielawski and B. Ogretmen (2012). "Ceramide targets autophagosomes to mitochondria and induces lethal mitophagy." <u>Nat Chem Biol</u> **8**(10): 831-838.

Shah, M. V., R. Zhang, R. Irby, R. Kothapalli, X. Liu, T. Arrington, B. Frank, N. H. Lee and T. P. Loughran, Jr. (2008). "Molecular profiling of LGL leukemia reveals role of sphingolipid signaling in survival of cytotoxic lymphocytes." <u>Blood</u> **112**(3): 770-781.

Shalhoub, R. J. (1974). "Pathogenesis of lipoid nephrosis: a disorder of T-cell function." Lancet **2**(7880): 556-560.

Shankland, S. J., J. Floege, S. E. Thomas, M. Nangaku, C. Hugo, J. Pippin, K. Henne, D. M. Hockenberry, R. J. Johnson and W. G. Couser (1997). "Cyclin kinase inhibitors are increased during experimental membranous nephropathy: potential role in limiting glomerular epithelial cell proliferation in vivo." <u>Kidney Int</u> **52**(2): 404-413.

Shankland, S. J., J. W. Pippin and J. S. Duffield (2014). "Progenitor cells and podocyte regeneration." <u>Semin Nephrol</u> **34**(4): 418-428.

Shankland, S. J., B. Smeets, J. W. Pippin and M. J. Moeller (2014). "The emergence of the glomerular parietal epithelial cell." <u>Nat Rev Nephrol</u> **10**(3): 158-173.

Sharma, T., R. Bansal, D. T. Haokip, I. Goel and R. Muthuswami (2015). "SMARCAL1 Negatively Regulates C-Myc Transcription By Altering The Conformation Of The Promoter Region." <u>Sci Rep</u> **5**: 17910.

Sheikh, B. N., W. Bechtel-Walz, J. Lucci, O. Karpiuk, I. Hild, B. Hartleben, J. Vornweg, M. Helmstadter, A. H. Sahyoun, V. Bhardwaj, T. Stehle, S. Diehl, O. Kretz, A. K. Voss, T. Thomas, T. Manke, T. B. Huber

and A. Akhtar (2016). "MOF maintains transcriptional programs regulating cellular stress response." <u>Oncogene</u> **35**(21): 2698-2710.

Shelton, C., K. S. Kocherlakota, S. Zhuang and S. M. Abmayr (2009). "The immunoglobulin superfamily member Hbs functions redundantly with Sns in interactions between founder and fusion-competent myoblasts." <u>Development</u> **136**(7): 1159-1168.

Sheng, R., T. T. Zhang, V. D. Felice, T. Qin, Z. H. Qin, C. D. Smith, E. Sapp, M. Difiglia and C. Waeber (2014). "Preconditioning stimuli induce autophagy via sphingosine kinase 2 in mouse cortical neurons." J Biol Chem **289**(30): 20845-20857.

Shi, S., J. Lin, Y. Cai, J. Yu, H. Hong, K. Ji, J. S. Downey, X. Lu, R. Chen, J. Han and A. Han (2014). "Dimeric structure of p300/CBP associated factor." <u>BMC Struct Biol</u> **14**: 2.

Shibata, S., M. Nagase and T. Fujita (2006). "Fluvastatin ameliorates podocyte injury in proteinuric rats via modulation of excessive Rho signaling." J Am Soc Nephrol **17**(3): 754-764.

Shibata, S., M. Nagase, S. Yoshida, W. Kawarazaki, H. Kurihara, H. Tanaka, J. Miyoshi, Y. Takai and T. Fujita (2008). "Modification of mineralocorticoid receptor function by Rac1 GTPase: implication in proteinuric kidney disease." <u>Nat Med</u> **14**(12): 1370-1376.

Shih, N. Y., J. Li, V. Karpitskii, A. Nguyen, M. L. Dustin, O. Kanagawa, J. H. Miner and A. S. Shaw (1999). "Congenital nephrotic syndrome in mice lacking CD2-associated protein." <u>Science</u> **286**(5438): 312-315.

Shiohira, S., T. Yoshida, H. Sugiura, M. Nishida, K. Nitta and K. Tsuchiya (2013). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate acts as a key molecule in the direct mediation of renal fibrosis." <u>Physiol Rep</u> **1**(7): e00172.

Siddiqi, F. S., S. Majumder, K. Thai, M. Abdalla, P. Hu, S. L. Advani, K. E. White, B. B. Bowskill, G. Guarna, C. C. Dos Santos, K. A. Connelly and A. Advani (2016). "The Histone Methyltransferase Enzyme Enhancer of Zeste Homolog 2 Protects against Podocyte Oxidative Stress and Renal Injury in Diabetes." J Am Soc Nephrol **27**(7): 2021-2034.

Simon, A. J., A. Lev, M. Jeison, Z. U. Borochowitz, D. Korn, Y. Lerenthal and R. Somech (2014). "Novel SMARCAL1 bi-allelic mutations associated with a chromosomal breakage phenotype in a severe SIOD patient." J Clin Immunol **34**(1): 76-83.

Simons, K. and E. Ikonen (1997). "Functional rafts in cell membranes." <u>Nature</u> **387**(6633): 569-572.

Simons, M., K. Schwarz, W. Kriz, A. Miettinen, J. Reiser, P. Mundel and H. Holthofer (2001). "Involvement of lipid rafts in nephrin phosphorylation and organization of the glomerular slit diaphragm." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **159**(3): 1069-1077.

Singh, N., N. Nainani, P. Arora and R. C. Venuto (2009). "CKD in MYH9-related disorders." <u>Am J Kidney</u> <u>Dis</u> 54(4): 732-740.

Siskind, L. J. (2005). "Mitochondrial ceramide and the induction of apoptosis." <u>J Bioenerg Biomembr</u> **37**(3): 143-153.

Slavcev, A., J. Brozova, J. Slatinska, Z. Sekerkova, E. Honsova, J. Skibova, I. Striz and O. Viklicky (2016). "Soluble BAFF Cytokine Levels and Antibody-Mediated Rejection of the Kidney Allograft." <u>Arch</u> <u>Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)</u> 64(Suppl 1): 47-53.

Slavotinek, A., J. Kaylor, H. Pierce, M. Cahr, S. J. DeWard, D. Schneidman-Duhovny, A. Alsadah, F. Salem, G. Schmajuk and L. Mehta (2015). "CRB2 mutations produce a phenotype resembling congenital nephrosis, Finnish type, with cerebral ventriculomegaly and raised alpha-fetoprotein." <u>Am</u> J Hum Genet **96**(1): 162-169.

Smeets, B., C. Kuppe, E. M. Sicking, A. Fuss, P. Jirak, T. H. van Kuppevelt, K. Endlich, J. F. Wetzels, H. J. Grone, J. Floege and M. J. Moeller (2011). "Parietal epithelial cells participate in the formation of sclerotic lesions in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." J Am Soc Nephrol **22**(7): 1262-1274.

Smeets, B., F. Stucker, J. Wetzels, I. Brocheriou, P. Ronco, H. J. Grone, V. D'Agati, A. B. Fogo, T. H. van Kuppevelt, H. P. Fischer, P. Boor, J. Floege, T. Ostendorf and M. J. Moeller (2014). "Detection of activated parietal epithelial cells on the glomerular tuft distinguishes early focal segmental glomerulosclerosis from minimal change disease." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **184**(12): 3239-3248.

Sobreira, N., F. Schiettecatte, D. Valle and A. Hamosh (2015). "GeneMatcher: a matching tool for connecting investigators with an interest in the same gene." <u>Hum Mutat</u> **36**(10): 928-930.

Spiegel, S. and S. Milstien (2000). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate: signaling inside and out." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **476**(1-2): 55-57.

Steffan, J. S., L. Bodai, J. Pallos, M. Poelman, A. McCampbell, B. L. Apostol, A. Kazantsev, E. Schmidt, Y. Z. Zhu, M. Greenwald, R. Kurokawa, D. E. Housman, G. R. Jackson, J. L. Marsh and L. M. Thompson (2001). "Histone deacetylase inhibitors arrest polyglutamine-dependent neurodegeneration in Drosophila." <u>Nature</u> **413**(6857): 739-743.

Steri, M., V. Orru, M. L. Idda, M. Pitzalis, M. Pala, I. Zara, C. Sidore, V. Faa, M. Floris, M. Deiana, I. Asunis, E. Porcu, A. Mulas, M. G. Piras, M. Lobina, S. Lai, M. Marongiu, V. Serra, M. Marongiu, G. Sole, F. Busonero, A. Maschio, R. Cusano, G. Cuccuru, F. Deidda, F. Poddie, G. Farina, M. Dei, F. Virdis, S. Olla, M. A. Satta, M. Pani, A. Delitala, E. Cocco, J. Frau, G. Coghe, L. Lorefice, G. Fenu, P. Ferrigno, M. Ban, N. Barizzone, M. Leone, F. R. Guerini, M. Piga, D. Firinu, I. Kockum, I. Lima Bomfim, T. Olsson, L. Alfredsson, A. Suarez, P. E. Carreira, M. J. Castillo-Palma, J. H. Marcus, M. Congia, A. Angius, M. Melis, A. Gonzalez, M. E. Alarcon Riquelme, B. M. da Silva, M. Marchini, M. G. Danieli, S. Del Giacco, A. Mathieu, A. Pani, S. B. Montgomery, G. Rosati, J. Hillert, S. Sawcer, S. D'Alfonso, J. A. Todd, J. Novembre, G. R. Abecasis, M. B. Whalen, M. G. Marrosu, A. Meloni, S. Sanna, M. Gorospe, D. Schlessinger, E. Fiorillo, M. Zoledziewska and F. Cucca (2017). "Overexpression of the Cytokine BAFF and Autoimmunity Risk." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **376**(17): 1615-1626.

Stiban, J., L. Caputo and M. Colombini (2008). "Ceramide synthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum can permeabilize mitochondria to proapoptotic proteins." <u>J Lipid Res</u> **49**(3): 625-634.

Strahl, B. D. and C. D. Allis (2000). "The language of covalent histone modifications." <u>Nature</u> **403**(6765): 41-45.

Straussman, R., D. Nejman, D. Roberts, I. Steinfeld, B. Blum, N. Benvenisty, I. Simon, Z. Yakhini and H. Cedar (2009). "Developmental programming of CpG island methylation profiles in the human genome." <u>Nat Struct Mol Biol</u> **16**(5): 564-571.

Suh, J. H. and J. H. Miner (2013). "The glomerular basement membrane as a barrier to albumin." <u>Nat</u> <u>Rev Nephrol 9(8)</u>: 470-477.

Sun, H., J. Schlondorff, H. N. Higgs and M. R. Pollak (2013). "Inverted formin 2 regulates actin dynamics by antagonizing Rho/diaphanous-related formin signaling." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **24**(6): 917-929.

Sun, H., J. S. Schlondorff, E. J. Brown, H. N. Higgs and M. R. Pollak (2011). "Rho activation of mDia formins is modulated by an interaction with inverted formin 2 (INF2)." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **108**(7): 2933-2938.

Sun, X. J., C. Wang, L. X. Zhang, F. Yu, M. Chen and M. H. Zhao (2017). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate and its receptors in anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis." <u>Nephrol Dial Transplant</u>.

Sun, Z. J., K. H. Ng, P. Liao, Y. Zhang, J. L. Ng, I. D. Liu, P. H. Tan, S. S. Chong, Y. H. Chan, J. Liu, S. Davila, C. K. Heng, S. C. Jordan, T. W. Soong and H. K. Yap (2015). "Genetic Interactions Between TRPC6 and

NPHS1 Variants Affect Posttransplant Risk of Recurrent Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis." <u>Am J</u> <u>Transplant</u> **15**(12): 3229-3238.

Sural-Fehr, T. and E. R. Bongarzone (2016). "How membrane dysfunction influences neuronal survival pathways in sphingolipid storage disorders." <u>J Neurosci Res</u> **94**(11): 1042-1048.

Suzuki, C., Y. Daigo, N. Ishikawa, T. Kato, S. Hayama, T. Ito, E. Tsuchiya and Y. Nakamura (2005). "ANLN plays a critical role in human lung carcinogenesis through the activation of RHOA and by involvement in the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT pathway." <u>Cancer Res</u> **65**(24): 11314-11325.

Takabe, K., S. W. Paugh, S. Milstien and S. Spiegel (2008). ""Inside-out" signaling of sphingosine-1-phosphate: therapeutic targets." <u>Pharmacol Rev</u> **60**(2): 181-195.

Tasaki, M., A. Shimizu, I. Hanekamp, R. Torabi, V. Villani and K. Yamada (2014). "Rituximab treatment prevents the early development of proteinuria following pig-to-baboon xeno-kidney transplantation." J Am Soc Nephrol **25**(4): 737-744.

Tatematsu, M., K. Imaida, N. Ito, H. Togari, Y. Suzuki and T. Ogiu (1981). "Sandhoff disease." <u>Acta</u> <u>Pathol Jpn</u> **31**(3): 503-512.

Tejani, A., K. Phadke, A. Nicastri, O. Adamson, C. K. Chen, H. Trachtman and C. Tejani (1985). "Efficacy of cyclophosphamide in steroid-sensitive childhood nephrotic syndrome with different morphological lesions." <u>Nephron</u> **41**(2): 170-173.

Thangada, S., K. M. Khanna, V. A. Blaho, M. L. Oo, D. S. Im, C. Guo, L. Lefrancois and T. Hla (2010). "Cell-surface residence of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1 on lymphocytes determines lymphocyte egress kinetics." J Exp Med **207**(7): 1475-1483.

Thangada, S., L. H. Shapiro, C. Silva, H. Yamase, T. Hla and F. A. Ferrer (2014). "Treatment with the immunomodulator FTY720 (fingolimod) significantly reduces renal inflammation in murine unilateral ureteral obstruction." J Urol **191**(5 Suppl): 1508-1516.

Tharaux, P. L. and T. B. Huber (2012). "How many ways can a podocyte die?" <u>Semin Nephrol</u> **32**(4): 394-404.

Thoma, C. (2014). "Glomerular disease: To the rescue--migrating renin lineage cells heal the injured glomerular mesangium." <u>Nat Rev Nephrol</u> **10**(8): 424.

Thomson, R., G. Genovese, C. Canon, D. Kovacsics, M. K. Higgins, M. Carrington, C. A. Winkler, J. Kopp, C. Rotimi, A. Adeyemo, A. Doumatey, G. Ayodo, S. L. Alper, M. R. Pollak, D. J. Friedman and J. Raper (2014). "Evolution of the primate trypanolytic factor APOL1." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **111**(20): E2130-2139.

Thong, K. M., Y. Xu, J. Cook, A. Takou, B. Wagner, B. Kawar and A. C. Ong (2013). "Cosegregation of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis in a family with familial partial lipodystrophy due to a mutation in LMNA." <u>Nephron Clin Pract</u> **124**(1-2): 31-37.

Thurberg, B. L., H. Rennke, R. B. Colvin, S. Dikman, R. E. Gordon, A. B. Collins, R. J. Desnick and M. O'Callaghan (2002). "Globotriaosylceramide accumulation in the Fabry kidney is cleared from multiple cell types after enzyme replacement therapy." <u>Kidney Int</u> **62**(6): 1933-1946.

Trimarchi, H., R. Canzonieri, A. Schiel, C. Costales-Collaguazo, J. Politei, A. Stern, M. Paulero, T. Rengel, J. Andrews, M. Forrester, M. Lombi, V. Pomeranz, R. Iriarte, A. Muryan, E. Zotta, M. D. Sanchez-Nino and A. Ortiz (2016). "Increased urinary CD80 excretion and podocyturia in Fabry disease." J Transl Med **14**(1): 289.

Tryggvason, K., J. Patrakka and J. Wartiovaara (2006). "Hereditary proteinuria syndromes and mechanisms of proteinuria." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **354**(13): 1387-1401.

Turner, B. M. (2002). "Cellular memory and the histone code." <u>Cell</u> **111**(3): 285-291.

Tutor, A. S., S. Prieto-Sanchez and M. Ruiz-Gomez (2014). "Src64B phosphorylates Dumbfounded and regulates slit diaphragm dynamics: Drosophila as a model to study nephropathies." <u>Development</u> **141**(2): 367-376.

Uchida, N., Y. Kushida, M. Kitada, S. Wakao, N. Kumagai, Y. Kuroda, Y. Kondo, Y. Hirohara, S. Kure, G. Chazenbalk and M. Dezawa (2017). "Beneficial Effects of Systemically Administered Human Muse Cells in Adriamycin Nephropathy." J Am Soc Nephrol.

Uchida, Y., M. Hara, H. Nishio, E. Sidransky, S. Inoue, F. Otsuka, A. Suzuki, P. M. Elias, W. M. Holleran and S. Hamanaka (2000). "Epidermal sphingomyelins are precursors for selected stratum corneum ceramides." J Lipid Res **41**(12): 2071-2082.

Ugur, B., K. Chen and H. J. Bellen (2016). "Drosophila tools and assays for the study of human diseases." <u>Dis Model Mech</u> **9**(3): 235-244.

Urs, A. N., E. Dammer, S. Kelly, E. Wang, A. H. Merrill, Jr. and M. B. Sewer (2007). "Steroidogenic factor-1 is a sphingolipid binding protein." <u>Mol Cell Endocrinol</u> **265-266**: 174-178.

Ushijima, T. (2005). "Detection and interpretation of altered methylation patterns in cancer cells." <u>Nat Rev Cancer</u> **5**(3): 223-231.

Vainio, S., I. Bykov, M. Hermansson, E. Jokitalo, P. Somerharju and E. Ikonen (2005). "Defective insulin receptor activation and altered lipid rafts in Niemann-Pick type C disease hepatocytes." <u>Biochem J</u> **391**(Pt 3): 465-472.

Van Beneden, K., C. Geers, M. Pauwels, I. Mannaerts, D. Verbeelen, L. A. van Grunsven and C. Van den Branden (2011). "Valproic acid attenuates proteinuria and kidney injury." <u>J Am Soc Nephrol</u> **22**(10): 1863-1875.

van Duijn, T. J., E. C. Anthony, P. J. Hensbergen, A. M. Deelder and P. L. Hordijk (2010). "Rac1 recruits the adapter protein CMS/CD2AP to cell-cell contacts." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **285**(26): 20137-20146.

van Echten-Deckert, G., N. Hagen-Euteneuer, I. Karaca and J. Walter (2014). "Sphingosine-1-phosphate: boon and bane for the brain." <u>Cell Physiol Biochem</u> **34**(1): 148-157.

van Roeyen, C. R., F. Eitner, P. Boor, M. J. Moeller, U. Raffetseder, L. Hanssen, E. Bucher, L. Villa, M. C. Banas, K. L. Hudkins, C. E. Alpers, T. Ostendorf and J. Floege (2011). "Induction of progressive glomerulonephritis by podocyte-specific overexpression of platelet-derived growth factor-D." <u>Kidney</u> Int **80**(12): 1292-1305.

Venkataraman, K., Y. M. Lee, J. Michaud, S. Thangada, Y. Ai, H. L. Bonkovsky, N. S. Parikh, C. Habrukowich and T. Hla (2008). "Vascular endothelium as a contributor of plasma sphingosine 1-phosphate." <u>Circ Res</u> **102**(6): 669-676.

Verma, R., I. Kovari, A. Soofi, D. Nihalani, K. Patrie and L. B. Holzman (2006). "Nephrin ectodomain engagement results in Src kinase activation, nephrin phosphorylation, Nck recruitment, and actin polymerization." J Clin Invest **116**(5): 1346-1359.

Verma, R., B. Wharram, I. Kovari, R. Kunkel, D. Nihalani, K. K. Wary, R. C. Wiggins, P. Killen and L. B. Holzman (2003). "Fyn binds to and phosphorylates the kidney slit diaphragm component Nephrin." J Biol Chem **278**(23): 20716-20723.

Vidal, F., D. Aberdam, C. Miquel, A. M. Christiano, L. Pulkkinen, J. Uitto, J. P. Ortonne and G. Meneguzzi (1995). "Integrin beta 4 mutations associated with junctional epidermolysis bullosa with pyloric atresia." <u>Nat Genet</u> **10**(2): 229-234.

Vienken, H., N. Mabrouki, K. Grabau, R. F. Claas, A. Rudowski, N. Schomel, J. Pfeilschifter, D. Lutjohann, G. van Echten-Deckert and D. Meyer Zu Heringdorf (2017). "Characterization of cholesterol homeostasis in sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase-deficient fibroblasts reveals a Niemann-Pick disease type C-like phenotype with enhanced lysosomal Ca2+ storage." <u>Sci Rep</u> **7**: 43575.

Villeneuve, L. and R. Natarajan (2010). "The role of epigenetics in the pathology of diabetic complications." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **299**(1): F14-F25.

Vogel, P., M. S. Donoviel, R. Read, G. M. Hansen, J. Hazlewood, S. J. Anderson, W. Sun, J. Swaffield and T. Oravecz (2009). "Incomplete inhibition of sphingosine 1-phosphate lyase modulates immune system function yet prevents early lethality and non-lymphoid lesions." <u>PLoS One</u> **4**(1): e4112.

Vogelmann, S. U., W. J. Nelson, B. D. Myers and K. V. Lemley (2003). "Urinary excretion of viable podocytes in health and renal disease." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol **285**(1)</u>: F40-48.

Voskarides, K., M. Arsali, Y. Athanasiou, A. Elia, A. Pierides and C. Deltas (2012). "Evidence that NPHS2-R229Q predisposes to proteinuria and renal failure in familial hematuria." <u>Pediatr Nephrol</u> **27**(4): 675-679.

Wakashima, T., K. Abe and A. Kihara (2014). "Dual functions of the trans-2-enoyl-CoA reductase TER in the sphingosine 1-phosphate metabolic pathway and in fatty acid elongation." J Biol Chem **289**(36): 24736-24748.

Wang, D., G. K. Chadha, A. Feygin and A. I. Ivanov (2015). "F-actin binding protein, anillin, regulates integrity of intercellular junctions in human epithelial cells." <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> **72**(16): 3185-3200.

Wang, F., J. R. Van Brocklyn, J. P. Hobson, S. Movafagh, Z. Zukowska-Grojec, S. Milstien and S. Spiegel (1999). "Sphingosine 1-phosphate stimulates cell migration through a G(i)-coupled cell surface receptor. Potential involvement in angiogenesis." J Biol Chem **274**(50): 35343-35350.

Wang, H., E. A. Oestreich, N. Maekawa, T. A. Bullard, K. L. Vikstrom, R. T. Dirksen, G. G. Kelley, B. C. Blaxall and A. V. Smrcka (2005). "Phospholipase C epsilon modulates beta-adrenergic receptordependent cardiac contraction and inhibits cardiac hypertrophy." <u>Circ Res</u> **97**(12): 1305-1313.

Wang, S., J. Yang, A. Tsai, T. Kuca, J. Sanny, J. Lee, K. Dong, N. Harden and C. Krieger (2011). "Drosophila adducin regulates Dlg phosphorylation and targeting of Dlg to the synapse and epithelial membrane." <u>Dev Biol</u> **357**(2): 392-403.

Wang, X., J. Liu, J. Zhen, C. Zhang, Q. Wan, G. Liu, X. Wei, Y. Zhang, Z. Wang, H. Han, H. Xu, C. Bao, Z. Song, X. Zhang, N. Li and F. Yi (2014). "Histone deacetylase 4 selectively contributes to podocyte injury in diabetic nephropathy." <u>Kidney Int</u> **86**(4): 712-725.

Wang, Z., C. Zang, K. Cui, D. E. Schones, A. Barski, W. Peng and K. Zhao (2009). "Genome-wide mapping of HATs and HDACs reveals distinct functions in active and inactive genes." <u>Cell</u> **138**(5): 1019-1031.

Wangler, M. F., S. Yamamoto and H. J. Bellen (2015). "Fruit flies in biomedical research." <u>Genetics</u> **199**(3): 639-653.

Wanner, N., B. Hartleben, N. Herbach, M. Goedel, N. Stickel, R. Zeiser, G. Walz, M. J. Moeller, F. Grahammer and T. B. Huber (2014). "Unraveling the role of podocyte turnover in glomerular aging and injury." J Am Soc Nephrol **25**(4): 707-716.

Wartiovaara, J., L. G. Ofverstedt, J. Khoshnoodi, J. Zhang, E. Makela, S. Sandin, V. Ruotsalainen, R. H. Cheng, H. Jalanko, U. Skoglund and K. Tryggvason (2004). "Nephrin strands contribute to a porous slit diaphragm scaffold as revealed by electron tomography." J Clin Invest **114**(10): 1475-1483.

Watanabe, S., K. Okawa, T. Miki, S. Sakamoto, T. Morinaga, K. Segawa, T. Arakawa, M. Kinoshita, T. Ishizaki and S. Narumiya (2010). "Rho and anillin-dependent control of mDia2 localization and function in cytokinesis." <u>Mol Biol Cell</u> **21**(18): 3193-3204.

Weavers, H., S. Prieto-Sanchez, F. Grawe, A. Garcia-Lopez, R. Artero, M. Wilsch-Brauninger, M. Ruiz-Gomez, H. Skaer and B. Denholm (2009). "The insect nephrocyte is a podocyte-like cell with a filtration slit diaphragm." <u>Nature</u> **457**(7227): 322-326.
Weber, C., A. Krueger, A. Munk, C. Bode, P. P. Van Veldhoven and M. H. Graler (2009). "Discontinued postnatal thymocyte development in sphingosine 1-phosphate-lyase-deficient mice." <u>J Immunol</u> **183**(7): 4292-4301.

Wei, C., S. El Hindi, J. Li, A. Fornoni, N. Goes, J. Sageshima, D. Maiguel, S. A. Karumanchi, H. K. Yap, M. Saleem, Q. Zhang, B. Nikolic, A. Chaudhuri, P. Daftarian, E. Salido, A. Torres, M. Salifu, M. M. Sarwal, F. Schaefer, C. Morath, V. Schwenger, M. Zeier, V. Gupta, D. Roth, M. P. Rastaldi, G. Burke, P. Ruiz and J. Reiser (2011). "Circulating urokinase receptor as a cause of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Nat Med</u> **17**(8): 952-960.

Wei, C., C. C. Moller, M. M. Altintas, J. Li, K. Schwarz, S. Zacchigna, L. Xie, A. Henger, H. Schmid, M. P. Rastaldi, P. Cowan, M. Kretzler, R. Parrilla, M. Bendayan, V. Gupta, B. Nikolic, R. Kalluri, P. Carmeliet, P. Mundel and J. Reiser (2008). "Modification of kidney barrier function by the urokinase receptor." <u>Nat Med</u> **14**(1): 55-63.

Weins, A., J. S. Schlondorff, F. Nakamura, B. M. Denker, J. H. Hartwig, T. P. Stossel and M. R. Pollak (2007). "Disease-associated mutant alpha-actinin-4 reveals a mechanism for regulating its F-actinbinding affinity." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **104**(41): 16080-16085.

Wessells, R. J. and R. Bodmer (2004). "Screening assays for heart function mutants in Drosophila." <u>Biotechniques</u> **37**(1): 58-60, 62, 64 passim.

Wessells, R. J., E. Fitzgerald, J. R. Cypser, M. Tatar and R. Bodmer (2004). "Insulin regulation of heart function in aging fruit flies." <u>Nat Genet</u> **36**(12): 1275-1281.

Wharram, B. L., M. Goyal, J. E. Wiggins, S. K. Sanden, S. Hussain, W. E. Filipiak, T. L. Saunders, R. C. Dysko, K. Kohno, L. B. Holzman and R. C. Wiggins (2005). "Podocyte depletion causes glomerulosclerosis: diphtheria toxin-induced podocyte depletion in rats expressing human diphtheria toxin receptor transgene." J Am Soc Nephrol **16**(10): 2941-2952.

Whittaker, K. L., D. Ding, W. W. Fisher and H. D. Lipshitz (1999). "Different 3' untranslated regions target alternatively processed hu-li tai shao (hts) transcripts to distinct cytoplasmic locations during Drosophila oogenesis." J Cell Sci **112 (Pt 19)**: 3385-3398.

Wiggins, R. C. (2007). "The spectrum of podocytopathies: a unifying view of glomerular diseases." <u>Kidney Int</u> **71**(12): 1205-1214.

Wigglesworth, V. B. (1972). <u>The principles of insect physiology</u>. London,, Chapman and Hall.

Winn, M. P., P. J. Conlon, K. L. Lynn, M. K. Farrington, T. Creazzo, A. F. Hawkins, N. Daskalakis, S. Y. Kwan, S. Ebersviller, J. L. Burchette, M. A. Pericak-Vance, D. N. Howell, J. M. Vance and P. B. Rosenberg (2005). "A mutation in the TRPC6 cation channel causes familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." <u>Science</u> **308**(5729): 1801-1804.

Worgall, T. S. (2011). "Sphingolipid synthetic pathways are major regulators of lipid homeostasis." Adv Exp Med Biol **721**: 139-148.

Wu, J., S. Spiegel and T. W. Sturgill (1995). "Sphingosine 1-phosphate rapidly activates the mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway by a G protein-dependent mechanism." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **270**(19): 11484-11488.

Xu, K., G. Zhong and X. Zhuang (2013). "Actin, spectrin, and associated proteins form a periodic cytoskeletal structure in axons." <u>Science</u> **339**(6118): 452-456.

Xu, W., D. G. Edmondson, Y. A. Evrard, M. Wakamiya, R. R. Behringer and S. Y. Roth (2000). "Loss of Gcn5l2 leads to increased apoptosis and mesodermal defects during mouse development." <u>Nat Genet</u> **26**(2): 229-232.

Xu, W., D. G. Edmondson and S. Y. Roth (1998). "Mammalian GCN5 and P/CAF acetyltransferases have homologous amino-terminal domains important for recognition of nucleosomal substrates." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **18**(10): 5659-5669.

Yamada, E. (1955). "The fine structure of the renal glomerulus of the mouse." <u>J Biophys Biochem</u> <u>Cytol</u> **1**(6): 551-566.

Yamamoto, S., M. Jaiswal, W. L. Charng, T. Gambin, E. Karaca, G. Mirzaa, W. Wiszniewski, H. Sandoval, N. A. Haelterman, B. Xiong, K. Zhang, V. Bayat, G. David, T. Li, K. Chen, U. Gala, T. Harel, D. Pehlivan, S. Penney, L. E. Vissers, J. de Ligt, S. N. Jhangiani, Y. Xie, S. H. Tsang, Y. Parman, M. Sivaci, E. Battaloglu, D. Muzny, Y. W. Wan, Z. Liu, A. T. Lin-Moore, R. D. Clark, C. J. Curry, N. Link, K. L. Schulze, E. Boerwinkle, W. B. Dobyns, R. Allikmets, R. A. Gibbs, R. Chen, J. R. Lupski, M. F. Wangler and H. J. Bellen (2014). "A drosophila genetic resource of mutants to study mechanisms underlying human genetic diseases." <u>Cell</u> **159**(1): 200-214.

Yanagida-Asanuma, E., K. Asanuma, K. Kim, M. Donnelly, H. Young Choi, J. Hyung Chang, S. Suetsugu, Y. Tomino, T. Takenawa, C. Faul and P. Mundel (2007). "Synaptopodin protects against proteinuria by disrupting Cdc42:IRSp53:Mena signaling complexes in kidney podocytes." <u>Am J Pathol</u> **171**(2): 415-427.

Yanagida, K., C. H. Liu, G. Faraco, S. Galvani, H. K. Smith, N. Burg, J. Anrather, T. Sanchez, C. Iadecola and T. Hla (2017). "Size-selective opening of the blood-brain barrier by targeting endothelial sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor 1." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **114**(17): 4531-4536.

Yoo, T. H., C. E. Pedigo, J. Guzman, M. Correa-Medina, C. Wei, R. Villarreal, A. Mitrofanova, F. Leclercq, C. Faul, J. Li, M. Kretzler, R. G. Nelson, M. Lehto, C. Forsblom, P. H. Groop, J. Reiser, G. W. Burke, A. Fornoni and S. Merscher (2015). "Sphingomyelinase-like phosphodiesterase 3b expression levels determine podocyte injury phenotypes in glomerular disease." J Am Soc Nephrol **26**(1): 133-147.

Yu, H., M. Artomov, S. Brahler, M. C. Stander, G. Shamsan, M. G. Sampson, J. M. White, M. Kretzler, J. H. Miner, S. Jain, C. A. Winkler, R. D. Mitra, J. B. Kopp, M. J. Daly and A. S. Shaw (2016). "A role for genetic susceptibility in sporadic focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." J Clin Invest **126**(3): 1067-1078.

Yu, H., H. Suleiman, A. H. Kim, J. H. Miner, A. Dani, A. S. Shaw and S. Akilesh (2013). "Rac1 activation in podocytes induces rapid foot process effacement and proteinuria." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **33**(23): 4755-4764.

Yue, L. and A. C. Spradling (1992). "hu-li tai shao, a gene required for ring canal formation during Drosophila oogenesis, encodes a homolog of adducin." <u>Genes Dev</u> **6**(12B): 2443-2454.

Yusufzai, T. and J. T. Kadonaga (2008). "HARP is an ATP-driven annealing helicase." <u>Science</u> **322**(5902): 748-750.

Zamora-Pineda, J., A. Kumar, J. H. Suh, M. Zhang and J. D. Saba (2016). "Dendritic cell sphingosine-1-phosphate lyase regulates thymic egress." J Exp Med **213**(12): 2773-2791.

Zankl, A., E. L. Duncan, P. J. Leo, G. R. Clark, E. A. Glazov, M. C. Addor, T. Herlin, C. A. Kim, B. P. Leheup, J. McGill, S. McTaggart, S. Mittas, A. L. Mitchell, G. R. Mortier, S. P. Robertson, M. Schroeder, P. Terhal and M. A. Brown (2012). "Multicentric carpotarsal osteolysis is caused by mutations clustering in the amino-terminal transcriptional activation domain of MAFB." <u>Am J Hum Genet</u> **90**(3): 494-501.

Zenker, M., T. Aigner, O. Wendler, T. Tralau, H. Muntefering, R. Fenski, S. Pitz, V. Schumacher, B. Royer-Pokora, E. Wuhl, P. Cochat, R. Bouvier, C. Kraus, K. Mark, H. Madlon, J. Dotsch, W. Rascher, I. Maruniak-Chudek, T. Lennert, L. M. Neumann and A. Reis (2004). "Human laminin beta2 deficiency causes congenital nephrosis with mesangial sclerosis and distinct eye abnormalities." <u>Hum Mol Genet</u> **13**(21): 2625-2632.

Zhang, F., Y. Zhao, Y. Chao, K. Muir and Z. Han (2013). "Cubilin and amnionless mediate protein reabsorption in Drosophila nephrocytes." J Am Soc Nephrol **24**(2): 209-216.

Zhang, F., Y. Zhao and Z. Han (2013). "An in vivo functional analysis system for renal gene discovery in Drosophila pericardial nephrocytes." J Am Soc Nephrol **24**(2): 191-197.

Zhang, Y., X. Li, K. A. Becker and E. Gulbins (2009). "Ceramide-enriched membrane domains-structure and function." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1788**(1): 178-183.

Zhou, K. and T. Blom (2015). "Trafficking and Functions of Bioactive Sphingolipids: Lessons from Cells and Model Membranes." <u>Lipid Insights</u> **8**(Suppl 1): 11-20.

Zhu, J., O. Attias, L. Aoudjit, R. Jiang, H. Kawachi and T. Takano (2010). "p21-activated kinases regulate actin remodeling in glomerular podocytes." <u>Am J Physiol Renal Physiol</u> **298**(4): F951-961.

Zhu, J. Y., Y. Fu, A. Richman, Z. Zhao, P. E. Ray and Z. Han (2017). "A Personalized Model of COQ2 Nephropathy Rescued by the Wild-Type COQ2 Allele or Dietary Coenzyme Q10 Supplementation." J <u>Am Soc Nephrol</u>.

Zhuang, S., H. Shao, F. Guo, R. Trimble, E. Pearce and S. M. Abmayr (2009). "Sns and Kirre, the Drosophila orthologs of Nephrin and Neph1, direct adhesion, fusion and formation of a slit diaphragm-like structure in insect nephrocytes." <u>Development</u> **136**(14): 2335-2344.

Zigdon, H., A. Meshcheriakova, T. Farfel-Becker, G. Volpert, H. Sabanay and A. H. Futerman (2017). "Altered lysosome distribution is an early neuropathological event in neurological forms of Gaucher disease." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **591**(5): 774-783.

Zimmerman, S. W. (1984). "Increased urinary protein excretion in the rat produced by serum from a patient with recurrent focal glomerular sclerosis after renal transplantation." <u>Clin Nephrol</u> **22**(1): 32-38.